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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY

Science and Technology
Department: 

REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA 

science
& technology

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we confirm the 
following:

All information and amounts disclosed in the annual report 
are consistent with the Annual Financial Statements audited 
by the Auditor General.

The annual report is complete, accurate and free from 
any omissions. The annual report has been prepared in 
accordance with the guidelines on the annual report as 
issued by National Treasury.

The Annual Financial Statements (page 159) have been 
prepared in accordance with the standards applicable to the 
public entity. The accounting authority is responsible for the 
preparation of the Annual Financial Statements and for the 
judgements made in this information.

The accounting authority is responsible for establishing and 
implementing a system of internal control that has been 
designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity 
and reliability of the performance information, the human 
resources information and the Annual Financial Statements.

The external auditors are engaged to express an 
independent opinion on the Annual Financial Statements.

In our opinion, the annual report fairly reflects the 
operations, the performance information, the human 
resources information and the financial affairs of the 
organisation for the financial year ended 31 March 2018.

Yours faithfully

___________________ 
Dr Molapo Qhobela
Chief Executive Officer
July 2018

___________________ 
Prof Loyiso Nongxa
NRF Board Chairman
July 2018



NRF Annual Report 2017/184

CONTENTS 

PART A: STRATEGIC OVERVIEW 23

1. STRATEGIC SUMMARY  24
1.1  NRF Strategy 2020 24

2. LEGISLATIVE AND OTHER MANDATES 27
2.1  Policy environment 27
2.2  Contributors to the NRF mandate 27
2.3 Strategy implementation 28

3. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE 30
3.1 Programmes 30
3.2  Organisational structure per Programme 31

4. ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SUMMARY 32
4.1 Financial overview 32
4.2 Income per business unit 34

PART B: PERFORMANCE 39

5. OVERVIEW OF NRF PERFORMANCE 40 
5.1  Service delivery environment and strategic partners  40
5.2 Performance overview 41
5.3 Challenges 41
5.4 Organisational environment 42
5.5 Performance against strategic outcome-oriented goals 43

6. NRF RESPONSE TO STRATEGIES AND PLANS 45
6.1 Value of the NRF to the NSI 45
6.2 System Performance 46
6.3 Performance against national imperatives 46



NRF Annual Report 2017/18 NRF Annual Report 2017/18 5

7. PROGRAMME 1 (CORPORATE): STRATEGIC OVERSIGHT,  
ADMINISTRATION AND SHARED SERVICES 49

7.1 Situational analysis 49
7.2 Performance against objective 5: Grow NRF influence, impact and reputation 50
7.3 Performance against strategic objective 6: Optimise NRF return on investment 55
7.4 Performance against strategic objective 8: Improve NRF talent management 59

8. PROGRAMME 2: SCIENCE ENGAGEMENT 63
8.1 Situational analysis 63
8.2 Performance against strategic objective 7 67

9. PROGRAMME 3 (RISA): HCD THROUGH BURSARIES AND RESEARCH  
AND EQUIPMENT GRANTS 71 

9.1 Situational analysis 71
9.2 Performance against strategic objective 1: Promote globally competitive research and   

innovation 72
9.3 Performance against strategic objective 2: Enhance strategic international engagements 78
9.4 Performance against strategic objective 3: Provide best practice systems in support of    

grantmaking, reviews and evaluation 81
9.5 Performance against strategic objective 4: Leading-edge research and infrastructure platforms 85
9.6 Special projects 87

10. PROGRAMME 4: NATIONAL RESEARCH INFRASTRUCTURE  
PLATFORMS (NATIONAL RESEARCH FACILITIES) 88

10.1 Nuclear science – iThemba LABS 91
10.2 Nuclear science performance 92
10.3 Biodiversity, environmental and conservation sciences: SAIAB and SAEON 98
10.4 Biodiversity, environmental and conservation sciences research performance 101
10.5 Astronomy and geodetic sciences: SAAO and SARAO 109
10.6 Astronomy performance 111



NRF Annual Report 2017/186

PART C: REGULATORY REPORTING 119

11. GOVERNANCE 120
11.1 Introduction 120
11.2 Accountability structure 120
11.3 PPC on Science and Technology 120
11.4 Minister of Science and Technology as Executive Authority 120
11.5 NRF Board as Accounting Authority 121
11.6 NRF Board Charter 121
11.7 Shareholder Compact between Accounting Authority and Executive Authority 122
11.8 NRF Board term of office 122
11.9 Composition of the NRF Board 122
11.10 NRF Board members with Board directorships 123
11.11 Competencies of NRF Board members 124
11.12 NRF Board committees – purpose and composition 125
11.13 Remuneration of the Board 127
11.14 NRF organisational structure 128
11.15 Risk management 130
11.16 Internal control 130
11.17 Internal Audit 130
11.18 Fraud and corruption 132
11.19 Minimising conflict of interest 132
11.20 Code of conduct 132
11.21 Health safety and environmental issues 132
11.22 Social and ethics responsibility 132
11.23 Corporate social investment 133
11.24 Compliance with laws and regulations 133
11.25 SCM 135

12. HUMAN RESOURCES 136
12.1 Introduction 136
12.2 Human resource oversight statistics  138



NRF Annual Report 2017/18 NRF Annual Report 2017/18 7

13. KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR REPORT 144
13.1 Statement of Responsibility for performance information for the year ended 31 March 2018 144
13.2 Auditor’s report: Predetermined objectives 144
13.3 KPI report 145

PART D: ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 151

15 BOARD’S RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL  153

16 AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT  154

17  REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT ON  
THE NATIONAL RESEARCH FOUNDATION 155

18 ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED  
MARCH 31, 2018 159

 Statement of Financial Position  159
 Statement of Financial Performance  160
 Statement of Changes in Net Assets  161
 Cash Flow Statement  162
 Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts  163
 Accounting Policies 164
 Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 184

19 ACRONYMS 219



NRF Annual Report 2017/188

FOREWORD BY THE CHAIRMAN

Introduction
On behalf of the Board, it is my pleasure to present the Annual 
Report of the National Research Foundation (NRF) for the 2017/18 
financial year and to congratulate the Executive on achieving the 
goals they have set out. 

High-level overview of strategy and performance 
In her keynote speech at the 2017 NRF awards, the Honourable Mrs 
Naledi Pandor spoke of the value of the knowledge enterprise in 
meeting South Africa’s developmental challenges and sustainable 
growth. During the past year, the organisation proudly continued 
to solidify its contribution to the National System of Innovation 
through the development and implementation of strategies and 
policies in support of a transformed knowledge economy. 

The consolidation of the radio astronomy sector has progressed 
with the merger of the SKA SA project and the Hartebeesthoek 
Radio Astronomy Observatory to form the South African Radio 
Astronomy Observatory (SARAO). The Board would like to 
express great pride in the successful completion of the MeerKAT 
telescope and looks forward to the rich collaboration that will be 
stimulated through MeerKAT science. 

The Board welcomes the National Research Foundation 
Amendment Bill and its valuable amendments such as the clarity 
on the role and responsibilities of the organisation in terms of 
science engagement and the support of the National Science 
System.

Strategic Relationships
Stakeholder relationships are paramount to the successful 
delivery of the NRF mandate. Through leveraging the new 
Strategy Planning and Partnerships division, the NRF is exploring 
synergies and opportunities for collaboration with government, 
industry, and academic institutions both locally and abroad. The 
work of this new division will support the progress of the NRF 
towards “a vibrant and globally connected national system of 
innovation”.  

Challenges faced by the NRF Board
Global and domestic economic growth outlooks remain challenging. 
Fiscal constraints in the public sector have negatively affected the 
investment in research and development. A further decline of the 
NRF parliamentary grant, in real terms, has escalated the risk of 
financial and operational sustainability. In response, the NRF is 
working on a policy proposal regarding the resourcing of the NRF 
mandate with a view to improving the long-term sustainability of 
the organisation.

Ageing infrastructure remains a shared challenge at the national 
research facilities. The 30-year-old separated-sector cyclotron 
(SSC) situated at the iThemba Laboratory for Accelerator Based 
Sciences (iThemba LABS) has been identified as a major strategic 
risk to the future of nuclear physics research on the continent.  
With the support of the NRF Board, there is a coordinated effort, 
in collaboration with the Department of Science and Technology 
(DST), to seek funding for the acquisition of a new 70-MeV 
cyclotron. This will not only ensure operational sustainability, but 
also expand the globally competitive research agenda.  

The Board acknowledges the challenge around the transformation 
agenda of the research system. While the NRF remains 
unrelenting in its pursuit of an integrated and representative 
researcher cohort, the limited reach of the organisation due to 
funding constraints, hinders progress in this area. 
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The year ahead
The penultimate year of the NRF Strategy 2020, will usher in some 
change at the NRF with the term of the current Board ending in 
September 2018. The organisation is also gearing up to design 
the new strategy for the five years, beyond 2020.

During the new financial year, the NRF will continue to support the 
national research facilities, through an investment of R620 million, 
in infrastructure maintenance and operations. Through the grant 
making programme of the NRF, an investment of R2.3 billion will 
be made in research, researchers and the provision of access to 
research infrastructures.

Appreciation
On behalf of the Board and Executive, I would like to express 
appreciation to the former Minister of Science and Technology, 
the Honourable Mrs Naledi Pandor for her unwavering leadership, 
support and willingness to engage with the NRF Board and 
Executive Committee. I would also like to acknowledge the 
Portfolio Committee on Science and Technology for their regular 
and constructive engagements with the NRF. 

To the current Minister of Science and Technology, the Honourable 
Mrs Mamoloko Kubayi-Ngubane, who commenced her term of 
office in February 2018, I wish to extend a warm word of welcome 
and express the Board’s commitment to achieving the strategic 
imperatives of the NRF. 

To the Corporate Executive Committee, go our sincere 
acknowledgements for their continued commitment to the 
organisation and their meaningful and pro-active engagement 
with the Board. I would also like to thank my fellow board members 
for their conscientious attention to board matters and for bringing 
their diverse expertise to bear on the challenges confronting the 
organisation.

 

Prof Loyiso Nongxa
NRF Board Chairman
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ISENDLALELO NGUSIHLALO

Egameni leBhodi, kuyintokozo kimi ukwethula Umbiko Wonyaka 
we-National Research Foundation (NRF) wonyaka wezimali ka-
2017/18 futhi ngihalalisela izikhulu eziphethe ngokufeza izinhloso 
ebezizibekile.

Umbiko ofingqayo wezinga eliphezulu wesu kanye 
nokwenziwa komsebenzi 
Enkulumeni yakhe ekunikezelweni kwemivuzo ye-NRF ngonyaka 
ka-2017, uMhlonishwa uNkk Naledi Pandor wakhuluma 
ngokubaluleka komsebenzi wolwazi ekuhlangabezaneni 
nezinselele zentuthuko zeNingizimu Afrika kanye nokukhula 
okuqhubekayo. Ngonyaka owedlule, inhlangano iqhubeke 
ngokuziqhenya nokuqinisa ukufaka kwayo isandla oHlelweni 
Lukazwelonke ngokuthuthukisa nokusebenzisa amasu kanye 
nezinqubomgomo ukweseka umnotho wolwazi oluguquliwe. 

Ukuhlanganiswa kwengxenye ye-astronomi yomsakazo 
iqhubekile nokuhlanganiswa kwephrojekthi i-SKA SA kanye 
ne-Hartebeesthoek Radio Astronomy Observatory ukwakha 
i-South African Radio Astronomy Observatory (SARAO). 
IBhodi ithanda ukuzwakalisa ukuziqhenya ngempumelelo 
yokuqedwa kwethelesikophu i-MeerKAT futhi ibheke ngabomvu 
ukuhlanganyela okunothile okuzokhuthazwa ngokusebenzisa 
isayensi ye-MeerKAT. 

Ibhodi lamukela Umthethosivivinyo Ochibiyelayo We-National 
Research Foundation kanye nezichibiyelo zawo ezibalulekile 
ezifana nokucacisa ngeqhaza kanye nemisebenzi ebhekene 
nenhlangano ngokokubandakanyeka kwesayensi kanye 
nokweseka Uhlelo Lwesayensi Lukazwelonke.

Ubudlelwano Obuyisu
Ubudlelwano bababambiqhaza bubalulekile ekwenziweni 
komsebenzi okuyimpumelelo wegunya le-NRF. Ngokulawula 
ingxenye entsha Yokuhlela Okuyisu Nokubambisana, i-NRF ihlola 
ukubambisana namathuba okuhlanganyela nohulumeni, nemboni, 
kanye nezikhungo zezemfundo la ekhaya kanye nasemazweni 
aphesheya. Umsebenzi wale ngxenye entsha uzokweseka 
inqubekela phambili ye-NRF ephokophele “ yohlelo lukazwelonke 
loguquko oluphilayo noluxhumene nomhlaba wonke”.   

Izinselele ebezibhekene neBhodi Ye-NRF
Imibono yokukhula kwezomnotho emazweni omhlaba nasekhaya 
isalokhu iyinselele. Izingcindezi zezimali engxenyeni yomphakathi 
ikuphazamise kabi ukutshalwa kwezimali ocwaningweni 
nasentuthukweni. Okunye ukwehla esibonelelweni sephalamende 
se-NRF, okwangempela, kuqhubekise ingozi kwezezimali 
nasekwenziweni komsebenzi. Ukuphendula, i-NRF isebenza 
kusiphakamiso senqubomgomo maqondana nokubhekelela 
igunya le-NRF ngombono wokwenza ngcono ukuqhubeka 
kwesikhathi eside kwenhlangano.

Ingqalasizinda egugayo isalokho iyinselele okushiyelwana 
ngayo ezindaweni zocwaningo zikazwelonke. I-separated-sector 
cyclon (SSC) eneminyaka engama-30 ubudala ese-iThemba 
Laboratory for Accelerator Based Sciences (IThemba LABS) 
ikhonjwe njengengozi enkulu ekusaseni locwaningo lwe-physics 
yenuzi ezwenikazi.  Ngokwesekwa yiBhodi ye-NRF, kunomzamo 
ohlanganisiwe, ngokuhlanganyela noMnyango Wezesanyensi 
Nobuchwepheshe (DST), wokufuna uxhaso lwezimali ukuthenga 
i-70-MeV cyclotron entsha. Lokhu kuzoqinisekisa kuphela 
ukuqhubeka kokusebenza, kodwa futhi kwandise i-ajenda 
yocwaningo oluncintisanayo emhlabeni jikelele.  

Ibhodi iyayivuma inselele ebhekene ne-ajenda yoguquko yohlelo 
locwaningo. Nakuba i-NRF isalokhu iqinile ekulandeleni kwayo 
iqembu locwaningo elihlanganiswe nelimelelekile, ukufinyelela 
okunomkhawulo kwenhlangano ngenxa yezinkinga zoxhaso 
lwemali, kuphazamisa inqubekela phambili kulo mkhakha. 

Unyaka ophambi kwethu
Unyaka owandulela owokugcina weSu 2020 le-NRF, uzongenisa 
olunye uguquko ku-NRF lapho isikhathi seBhodi yamanje siphela 
ngoSepthemba 2018. Inhlangano nayo izilungiselela ukwenza isu 
elisha leminyaka emihlanu, ngale kuka-2020.

Ngonyaka omusha wezimali, i-NRF izoqhubeka nokweseka 
izindawo zocwaningo zikazwelonke, ngokutshala izigidi 
eziwu-R620, ekunakekelweni kwengqalasizinda kanye 
nemisebenzi eyenziwayo. Ngohlelo lokwenza isibonelelo 
lwe-NRF, ukutshalwa kuka-R2.3 bhiliyoni kuzokwenziwa 
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ocwaningweni, abacwaningi kanye nokuhlinzekwa kokufinyelela 
eziingqalasizindeni zocwaningo.

Ukubonga
Egameni leBhodi neZikhulu Eziphethe, ngithanda ukuzwakalisa 
ukubonga kuNgqongqoshe Wesayensi Nobuchwepheshe 
wangaphambilini uMhlonishwa Nkk Naledi Pandor ngobuholi 
bakhe obungaguquki, usizo kanye nokufisa ukuxoxisana neBhodi 
ye-NRF kanye neKomiti Lezikhulu Eziphethe. Ngithanda futhi 
ukubonga Ikomiti Lephothifoliyo yeSayensi Nobuchwepheshe 
ngezingxoxo ne-NRF  ezivamile nezakhayo. 

KuNgqongqoshe Wesayensi Nobuchwepheshe wamanje, 
uMhlonishwa Nkk Mamoloko Kubayi-Ngubane, oqale isikhathi 
sakhe ehhovisi ngoFebhruwari 2018, ngifisa ukudlulisa 
ukumamukela ngemfudumalo futhi ngizwakalisa ukuzinikela 
kweBhodi ukufeza izidingo eziyisu ze-NRF. 

EKomitini Lezikhulu Eziphethe Zenhlangano siyabonga kakhulu 
ngokuzinikela kwayo okuqhubekayo enhlanganweni kanye 
nokuxoxisana okunomqondo neBhodi kanye nokusukuma 
kuqala. Ngithanda futhi ukubonga amalungu enginawo kubhodi 
ngokunakisisa kwawo izindaba zebhodi kanye nokuletha 
ulwazi lwawo oluhlukahlukene ukuthwala izinselele ezibhekene 
nenhlangano.

Prof Loyiso Nongxa
NRF Board Chairman
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KETAPELE KA MODULASETULO

Legatong la Boto, ke ka le lethabo le legolo go nna go 
hlagiša Pego ya Ngwaga ka ngwaga ya Setheo Bosetšhaba 
sa Dinyakišišo (NRF) ya ngwaga wa ditšhelete wa 2017/18 
le go lebogiša khuduthamaga ka ga go fihlelela dinepo tšeo 
ba di hlagišitšego. 

Tebelelokakaretšo ya maemo a godimo ya leano le 
phethagatšo  

Ka polelongkgolo ya gagwe difokeng tša NRF tša 2017, 
Mohlomphegi Mdi Naledi Pandor o boletše ka ga mohola 
wa go itshepa kgwebong go fihlelela ditlhohlo tša tlhabollo 
le kgolo ya go ya go ile. Ngwageng wo o fetilego, mokgatlo 
o tšwetše pele ka boikgantšho bja yona go tiišetša go ba 
le seabe ka go Tshepedišo ya Bosetšhaba ka tlhabollo le 
phethagatšo ya maano le melawana  go thekga  tsebo le 
ekonomi ye fetotšwego. 

Kopantšho ya lekala la bonepadinaledi ka radio le 
tšwetše pele le kopanyo ya protšeke ya SKA SA le 
Setiši sa Bonepadinaledi ka Radio sa Hartebeesthoek 
(Hartebeesthoek Radio Astronomy Observatory [HartRAO]) 
go bopa Setiši sa Bonepadinaledi ka Radio sa Afrika Borwa  
(South African Radio Astronomy Observatory [SARAO]). 
Boto e tla rata go tšweletša boikgantšho bjo bogolo ka 
katlego ya phethagatšo ya theleskoupu ya MeerKA gomme 
e lebeletše tirišanommogo ye e tlago hlohleletšwa ka 
saense ya MeerKAT. 

Boto e amogela Molaokakanywaphetošwa wa Setheo 
sa Bosetšhaba sa Dinyakišišo le diphetošo tše bohlokwa 
tša go swana le tlhathollo ya mošomo le maikarabelo a 
mokgatlo go ya ka mabaka a therišano ya saense le thekgo 
ya Tshepedišo ya Saense ya Bosetšhaba.

Dikamano tša Leano

Dikamano tša bakgathatema di bohlokwa go kabo ye e 
atlegilego ya taolelo ya NRF. Go ya ka peakanyo ya  karolo 
ya Leanophethagatšo le Dikamano, NRF ka ditirišano le 
menyetla ya tirišano le mmušo, intasteri, le dihlongwa tša 
dithuto ka bobedi ka nageng le moše. Mošomo wa karolo 
ye mpsha ye o tla thekga tšwelopele ya NRF go ya go “ 
tshepedišo bosetšhaba ya boithomedi ya go šoma gabotse 
yeo e kgokaganego lefaseng ka bophara”.  

Ditlhohlo tšeo di lebanego le Boto ya NRF

Kgolo ya ekonomi ya lefase ka bophara le ya selegae e sa  
tšwela pele go tlhohlo ye kgolo. Mathata a ditšhelete ka go 
lekala la setšhaba di amile gampe  peeletšo ya dinyakišišo 
le tlhabollo. Go phuhlama go ya pele ga ditšhelete tša thušo 
tša palamente tša  NRF, ka nnete, e hlatlošitše kotsi ya 
ditšhelete le tshepedišo ya go ile. Go araba, NRF ke go 
šoma ka tšhišinyo ya pholisi mabapi le pholisi le kabo ya 
taolelo ya NRF ka nepo ya go kaonafatša tšwetšopele ya 
lebaka le letelele ya go ya go ile ya mokgatlo.

Mananeokgoparara a kgale a tšwela pele go ba tlhohlo 
ya kabelano ya mafelong a bosetšhaba ya dinyakišišo.  
Saeltrone ya go kgaoganya lekala (SSC) yeo e nago le 
mengwaga ye 30 yeo e lego ka ye e lego mo go theilwego 
go iThemba Laboratory for Accelerator Based Sciences 
(IThemba LABS) e laeditšwe bjalo ka kotsi ye kgolo ya 
leano la ka moso ya dinyakišišo tša fisika ya nyuklea ka 
kontinenteng.  Ka thekgo ya Boto ya NRF, go na le tsela 
ye e kopantšwego, maiteko, ka tšhomišano le Kgoro ya 
Saense le Theknolotši (DST), go nyaka thušo ya ditšhelete 
ya khwetšo ya saeklotrone ye mpsha ya  70-MeV. Se se se 
ka se netefatše fela go šoma go ya go ile, eupša gape go 
katološa lenaneo la phadišano la dinyakišišo lefaseng ka 
bophara.  
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Boto e dumela tlhohlo yeo e amanago le lenaneo la 
phethošo ya tshepedišo ya dinyakišišo. Le ge e le gore NRF 
e tšwela pele go kgonthišiša sehlopha se se  kopantšwego 
le moemedi wa dinyakišišo, phihlelelo ye e kgaoleditšwego 
ya mokgatlo ka lebaka la mathata a thekgo ya ditšhelete ao 
a thibelago kgatelopele ka mo lefelong le. 

Ngwaga wo o tlago

Ngwaga wo o tlago pele ga wa Leano la NRF la 2020, o 
tla laetša diphetogo tše mmalwa ka  go NRF ka paka ya 
Boto ya bjale yeo e  felago ka Lewedi 2018. Mokgatlo o 
ikemišeditše gape go hlama leano le leswa la mengwaga 
ye mehlano, go feta 2020.

Mo nakong ya  ngwaga wa ditšhelete wo moswa, NRF e 
tla tšwela pele go thekga dinolofatši tša bosetšhaba tša 
dinyakišišo, ka peeletšo ya R620 milione, ka go tlhokomelo 
ya mananeokgoparara le ditshepedišo. Ka lenaneo la go 
dira thušo ya tšhelete la NRF, peeletšo ya R2.3 bilione e 
tla dirwa ka dinyakišišo, badiradinyakišišo ba le kabo ya 
phihlelelo ya mananeokgoparara a  dinyakišišo.

Tebogo

Legatong la Boto le Khuduthamaga, ke rata go leboga Tona 
ya peleng ya Saense le Theknolotši, Mohlomphegi Mdi 
Naledi Pandor mabapi le boetapele bjo bogolo kudu, go 
thekga le go nyaka go rerišana le Boto ya NRF le Komiti ya 
Khuduthamaga. Gape ke rata go leboga Komiti ya Potfolio 
ya Komiti ya Saense le Theknolotši bakeng sa dipeeletšano  
tša go ba le mohola le NRF. 

Go Tona ya Saense le Theknolotši ya bjale, Mohlomphegi 
Mdi Mamoloko Kubayi-Ngubane, yo a thomilego paka ya 
gagwe ya ofisi ka Hlakola 2018, ke rata go lebiša kamogelo 
ye borutho le go tšweletša  boitlamo bja Boto go fihlelela 
leano le bohlokwa la NRF. 

Go Komiti ya Khuduthamaga ya Mokgatlo re re ditebogo tša 
boikokobetšo bakeng sa boitlamo bja bona bjo bo tšwelago 
pele go mokgatlo le peeletšano ya bona ye bohlokwa le 
go rerišana ka mafolofolo le Boto. Ke rata go leboga gape 
maloko ka nna a boto mabapi le  tlhokomelo ya merero ya 
go fapafapana le go tliša bokgoni bja bona go ya ka ditlhohlo 
tšeo di lebanego le mokgatlo.

 

 

Prof Loyiso Nongxa
NRF Board Chairman
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Introduction 
I have the pleasure of presenting the Annual Report of the National 
Research Foundation (NRF) for the year ending 31 March 2018. 
The Annual Report provides an account of the organisational 
performance against pre-determined objectives in line with the 
Annual Performance Plan for 2017/18 and the NRF Strategy 
2020.

Organisational Performance highlight
The NRF was proud to deliver the fully operational MeerKAT radio 
telescope at the end of March 2018. With an investment of close 
to R4 billion, the 64 dish array is a precursor to the mid-frequency 
component of the international Square Kilometre Array (SKA) 
telescope, and will form part of SKA phase 1. SKA will be the 
largest radio telescope in the world however, for now, MeerKAT 
is one of the most sensitive radio telescopes. The SKA South 
Africa project started in 2004 with a mandate of ‘mission driven 
innovation’. Through international collaboration and a vibrant 
human capacity development programme, South Africa has 
developed a globally competitive cohort of artisans, technicians, 
engineers, and scientists in support of radio astronomy and the 
telescope. With 75% of the MeerKAT components being locally 
manufactured, MeerKAT is truly home-grown.

High Level financial review of the public entity 
Total income increased in nominal terms by 5%, but declined 
in real terms by 0.2%, year on year from R4.5 billion to R4.7 
billion. The Parliamentary grant, allocated to the NRF to deliver 
on its mandate, increased marginally by 4.9% in nominal terms, 
this constituted a decline of 0.3% in real terms. This has been a 
consistent trend over the last 5 years.

Ring-fenced funding increased by 9% from R2.2 billion in the prior 
year, to R2.4 billion due to increased carry forwards related to 
the SKA project and the South African Research Chairs Initiative 
(SARChI). Newly allocated ring-fenced funding for the year 
contributed to 3% of the total increase. Contract income increased 
marginally by 2.5% due to a phase-out of funding received from 

the Department of Trade and Industry (the dti) for the Technology 
and Human Resources for Industry Programme (THRIP).

At 6%, the NRF operational overheads remained well below 
the threshold of 10%. This was due to continued emphasis on 
enhanced efficiency and prudent cost management.

Spending trends and performance against the 
strategic outcome orientated goals of the public 
entity 
The organisation achieved an overall 64% of its APP performance 
targets for the year in review. 

In contributing to the long term goal of “an internationally 
competitive and transformed science and technology workforce”, 
a total of R2.6 billion was invested in the research system for 
researcher and infrastructure support as well as human capacity 
development. This resulted in 14 598 postgraduate students being 
supported, of which 78% were black against a target of 69% and 
57% were female against a target of 58%. Funding was awarded 
to 5 435 masters, and 3 519 doctoral students. This exceeded the 
targets for postgraduate students funded per level, by 2% and 9% 
respectively. 

A total of 4 700 researchers were supported over the period, of 
which 36% were black and 38% female. While the number of 
black and female researchers supported increased by 8% and 
5% year on year. The slow growth in numbers is indicative of a 
transformation challenge across the system. 

A total of R734 million was allocated for strategic investments of 
which 56% or R413 million, was invested in SARChI.  By 31 March 
2018, 226 research chairs were awarded, of which 215 were 
operational. SARChI has directly supported 1 147 postgraduate 
students (52% females and 61% black) through grant-holder 
linked bursaries over the period. The 15 Centres of Excellence 
(CoEs) were allocated R168 million over the financial year and 
supported 840 postgraduate students of which 56% were females 
and 59% were black.

OVERVIEW BY THE  
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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Towards the goal of providing “Leading-edge research and 
infrastructure platforms”, the organisation invested R11.8 billion. 

A total of R159 million was allocated in the form of research 
infrastructure grants to the universities through the National 
Equipment Programme (NEP).  A further R633 million was invested 
in the National Research Facilities and R1 billion was invested 
in the newly created radio astronomy facility, the South African 
Radio Astronomy Observatory (SARAO), for the completion of 
the MeerKAT Array. The National Research Facilities are highly 
productive research platforms aimed at providing research 
infrastructure and supervisory capacity to the university system 
while engaging in globally competitive research and development. 
The National Research Facilities produced 574 Web of Science 
(WoS) accredited publications over the year and improved the 
annual cumulative citation impact to 1.47 from the previous year’s 
1.33. The National Research Facilities including SKA SA also 
supervised 629 post-graduate students.  

In the pursuit of the goal of a “Scientifically literate and engaged 
society”, the organisation invested R106 million in science 
engagement activities. Through various initiatives across the 
country, the organisation trained 2 741 educators and engaged 
with 179 315 learners. A total of 1 191 892 members of the public 
participated in various science engagement activities over the 
reporting period. 

As an organisation committed to institutional transformation, 
and in pursuit of the goal of creating “A representative research 
and technical workforce” the NRF exceeded the transformation 
targets in the area of senior technical and managerial staff 
from designated groups. Black representation of 52% was 
achieved against a target of 45% and female representation of 
35% was achieved against a target of 32%. The realisation of 
our transformation targets is attributable to the deliberate and 
consistent application of the NRF transformation framework and 
the employment equity plan.

Discontinued activities 
The National Zoological Gardens (NZG) operations were 
transferred to the South African National Biodiversity Institute 
(SANBI) with effect from 1 April 2018 as it has a better mandate fit.  

The NRF Board supported a proposal to discontinue the Particle 
Therapy Unit at iThemba LABS. The proposal aligned to the 
expert panel recommendations on the new research agenda of 
the facility. The expert panel highlighted a sharp decline in clinical 
particle therapy activities at the facility as a result of the global 
evolution in clinical particle therapy treatments, and the increased 
availability of turnkey treatment machines, set up in hospitals. 

Challenges experienced
Designated funding makes up 76% of the total NRF allocation and 
is earmarked for specific initiatives. The remaining 24% of the total 
funding allocation consists of the Parliamentary Grant (20%) and 
other income (4%).  With negligible growth year on year in nominal 
terms (4.9%), the parliamentary grant has declined by 0.3% in real 
terms for the year ending March 2018.  This ongoing decline of the 
parliamentary grant in real terms remains an area of concern for 
the operational and financial sustainability of the organisation. In 
order to improve the ability of the NRF to appropriately resource 
its mandate, it will be necessary for the designated and contract 
income to be included in the parliamentary grant.  

Audit Report Matters
The external audit conducted by the office of the Auditor-General 
of South Africa (AGSA) resulted in an unqualified audit for the year 
ending 31 March 2018. The organisation unfortunately declared 
irregular expenditure of R30.4 million relating to the procurement 
of goods and services in its delivery endeavour. It should be noted 
however, that the NRF received the full value for the goods and/
or services procured and no expenditure was incurred in vain. 
For more information, refer to Note 40 of the Annual Financial 
Statements on page 211. Although the NRF has aligned its Supply 
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Chain Management (SCM) policy with the PFMA and National 
Treasury Guidelines/Instruction notes, greater emphasis will 
be placed on staff training and focus in the areas of SCM and 
contract management.

Plans for the future to address financial 
challenges 
Next year (2019) marks 25 years of democracy for South Africa. 
The NRF is taking stock and preparing for the development of the 
new strategy for the five years beyond 2020.  The organisation 
will initiate conversations with stakeholders on the future research 
agenda, as well as measures to accelerate transformation.  
Conversations will be informed in part by the National Development 
Plan Vision 2030, the  anticipated new white paper on Science 
and Technology,  and the ongoing foresight exercise led by the 
National Advisory Council on Innovation (NACI).

Following the significant acquisition of land, for the MeerKAT and 
SKA projects, the NRF through SARAO has initiated discussions 
with SANParks with the intention of this land being declared a 
National Park.  The NRF looks forward to the engagement with 
SANParks, who will act as the Land Management Authority and 
will be responsible for implementing the Park Management plan. 

Internally, the organisation continues to work on a policy proposal 
for the appropriate resourcing of the NRF mandate. The NRF 
has also identified the need for an Enterprise Resource Planning 
(ERP) system that will integrate the core business systems 
and provide enhanced data collection, and integrated reporting 
capabilities.

Events after the reporting date
There were no significant matters after the reporting date.

Economic Viability
The NRF remaining a strong and financially viable organisation is 
a going concern.
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Kuyintokozo ukwethula Umbiko Wonyaka we-National Research 
Foundation (NRF) wonyaka ophele ngomhla ka-31 Mashi 
2018. Umbiko Wonyaka uhlinzeka ngencazelo yokusebenza 
kwenhlangano uma kuqhathaniswa nezinjongo ebezibekwe 
ngaphambilini ngokuhambisana noHlelo Lokwenziwa Komsebenzi 
Lonyaka luka-2017/18 kanye neSu Le-NRF 2020. 

Ukugqamisa Ukusebenza Kwenhlangano
I-NRF yaziqhenya ngokwethula ithelesikophu yomsakazo 
i-MeerKAT esebenza ngokuphelele ekupheleni kukaMashi 2018. 
Ngokutshalwa kwemali ecishe ibe wu-R4 bhiliyoni, umbonisi 
wendishi ewu-64 okuyisiqalo engxenyeni yokuvama kwamaza 
ephakathi nendawo ethelesikophu i-Square Kilometre Array 
(SKA) yamazwe omhlaba, futhi izokwenza isigaba soku-1 se-
SKA. I-SKA kuzoba ithelesikophu yomsakazo enkulu kunazo 
zonke emhlabeni kodwa-ke, okwamanje, i-MeerKAT ngenye 
yamathelesikophu omsakazo azwela kakhulu. Iphrojekthi i-SKA 
South Africa yaqala ngonyaka ka-2004 negunya ‘loguquko 
oluqhutshwa yimishini’. Ngokuhlanganyela namazwe omhlaba 
kanye nohlelo lokuthuthukisa abantu olunamandla, iNingizimu 
Afrika yenze iqoqo losomaciko abancintisana nomhlaba wonke, 
ochwepheshe, onjiniyela, kanye nososayensi ukweseka 
i-asitronomi yomsakazo kanye nethelesikophu. Ngama-75% 
ezingxenye ze-MeerKAT ezenziwa lapha ekhaya, i-MeerKAT 
yenziwe lapha ekhaya ngokuphelele.

Ukuhlolwa kwezimali kweZinga Eliphezulu 
kwenhlangano yomphakathi 
Imali engenayo isiyonke yakhula ngokusemthethweni ngo-5%, 
kodwa yehla ngokwemibandela yangempela ngo-0.2%, unyaka 
nonyaka ukusuka ku-R4.7 bhiliyoni. Isibonelelo sasePhalamende, 
esabelwe i-NRF ukuthi yethule igunya layo elikhulile kakhulu ngo-
4.9% ngemibandela esemthethweni, lokhu okwenza ukwehla 
kuka-0.3% ngokweqiniso. Lona bekuwumkhuba oqhubekayo 
eminyakeni emi-5 eyedlule.

Ukuxhaswa ngemali eqinisekisiwe kukhule ngo-9% ukusuka 
ku-R2.2 bhiliyoni onyakeni owandulelayo, ukuya ku-R2.4 
bhiliyoni ngenxa yokusiwe phambili okukhulisiwe okuphathelene 
nephrojekthi i-SKA kanye ne-South African Research Chairs 
Initiative (SARChl). Ukuxhaswa ngemali eyabiwa entsha 
okuqinisekisiwe yonyaka yafaka isandla ukufika ku-3% 
yokukhulisiwe sekukonke. Imali engenayo yenkontileka yakhula 
kancane ngo-2.5% ngenxa yokuqedwa koxhaso olwaluvela 
kuMnyango Wezohwebo Nemboni (the dti) ye-Technology and 
Human Resources for Industry Programme (THRIP).

Ku-6%, izikweletu zokusebenza ze-NRF zahlala zingaphansi 
komngcele ka-10%. Lokhu kwakungenxa yokugcizelela 
okuqhubekayo ekusebenzeni kahle okuthuthukisiwe kanye 
nokuphatha izindleko ngendlela enobuhlakani.

Imikhuba yokusebenzisa imali kanye nokwenza 
umsebenzi uma kuqhathaniswa nezinhloso 
ezincike emphumeleni wesu zenhlangano 
yomphakathi 
Inhlangano yazuza u-64% jikelele yokuhlosiwe kokwenziwa 
komsebenzi wayo we-APP konyaka okukhulunywa ngawo.  

Ukufaka isandla enhlosweni yesikhathi eside “abasebenzi 
besayensi nobuchwepheshe abancintisana namazwe omhlaba 
nabaguqukile,” kwatshalwa u-R2,6 bhiliyoni ohlelweni 
locwaningo losizo lomcwaningi kanye nengqalasizinda 
kanjalo nokuthuthukiswa kwabasebenzi. Lokhu kwaholela 
ekusizweni kwezitshudeni ezineziqu ezingaphezulu kweziqu 
zokuqala eziwu-14 598, eziwu-78% zazo kwakungabamnyama 
kuqhathaniswa nezazihlosiwe eziwu-69% kanti u-57% 
kwakungabesifazane kuqhathaniswa no-57% owawuhlosiwe. 
Ukuxhaswa ngemali kwanikezwa izitshudeni zeziqu ze-masters 
eziwu-5 435, kanye nezobudokotela eziwu-3 519. Lokhu kweqela 
ngale kokwakuhlosiwe ngezitshudeni zeziqu ezingaphezu 
kwezokuqala ezaxhaswa izinga ngalinye, ngo-2% nango-9%. 

UMBIKO OFINGQAYO WESIKHULU  
ESIPHEZULU ESIPHETHE
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Kwesekwa abacwaningi abawu-4700 sebebonke ngesikhathi, 
u-36% kwakungabamnyama futhi u-38% kungabesifazane. 
Nakuba isibalo sabacwaningi abamnyama nabesifazane 
abesekwa, sakhula ngo-8% nango-5% unyaka nonyaka, ukukhula 
okuhamba kancane ezibalweni kuyinkomba yenselele yoguquko 
ohlelweni lonke. 

Isamba sezigidi eziwu-R734 sabelwa ukutshalwa kwezimali 
okuyisu u-56% noma izigidi eziwu-R413, wawutshalwe ku-South 
African Research Chairs Initiative SARChI.  Ngomhla ka-31 Mashi 
2018, osihlalo bocwaningo abawu-226 banikezwa, abawu-215 
kwakungabenza umsebenzi. I-SARChl seyeseke ngokuqondile 
izitshudeni ezineziqu ezingaphezu kwezokuqala eziwu-1147 (u-
52% ngabesifazane kanti u-61% ngabamnyama) ngokusebenzisa 
imifundaze exhunywe nabanikazi bezibonelelo ngokuhamba 
kwesikhathi. Izikhungo ezingama-Centre of Excellence eziyi-15 
(ama-CoE) zabelwa izigidi eziwu-R168 ngonyaka wezimali futhi 
kwesekwa izitshudeni ezineziqu ezingaphezu kweziqu zokuqala 
eziwu-840 eziwu-56% zazo kwakungabesifazane kanti u-59% 
kwakungezimnyama.

Enhlosweni yokuhlinzeka “ngamaplatifomu aholayo ngocwaningo 
nengqalasizinda”, inhlangano yatshala u-R11.8 bhiliyoni. 
Isamba esiyizigidi eziwu-R159 sabelwa ngesimo sezibonelelo 
zengqalasizinda yocwaningo kumanyuvesi ngokusebenzisa 
uhlelo i-National Equipment Programme (NEP).  Ezinye izigidi 
eziwu-R633 zatshalwa eziNdaweni Zocwaningo Zikazwelonke 
futhi u-R1 bhiliyoni watshalwa endaweni eyenziwa ye-
astronomi yomsakazo, i-South African Radio Astronomy 
Observatory (SARAO), ukuqedela Umboniso we-MeerKAT. 
Izindawo Zocwaningo Zikazwelonke amaplatifomu ocwaningo 
akhiqiza kakhulu okuhloswe ngazo ukuhlinzeka ingqalasizinda 
yocwaningo kanye namandla okusuphavayiza ohlelweni 
lwenyuvesi ngesikhathi kubandakanywa ocwaningweni 
nasentuthukweni okuncintisana umhlaba jikelele. Izindawo 
Zocwaningo Zikazwelonke zakhiqiza i-Web of Science (ISI) ewu-
574 yoshicilelo olunezitifiketi ngonyaka kanye nokwenza ngcono 
umthelela wokucaphuna onqwabelanayo wonyaka ukuya ku-
1.47 ukusuka ku-1.33 wonyaka owedlule. Izindawo Zocwaningo 
Zikazwelonke kubandakanya i-SKA SA nazo zasuphavayiza 
izitshudeni ezineziqu ezingaphezu kweziqu zokuqala eziwu-629.  

Ekulandeleni inhloso “Yomphakathi ofundile ngesayensi 
nobandakanyekayo”, inhlangano yatshala izigidi eziwu-R106 
emisebenzini ebandakanya isayensi.  Ngemizamo ehlukene 
ezweni lonke, inhlangano yaqeqesha abafundisi abawu-2741 
yabandakanya abafundi abawu-179 315. Isamba samalungu 
awu- 1 191 892 somphakathi sahlanganyela emisebenzini 
yokubandakanya isayensi ehlukene ngesikhathi sokubika. 

Njengenhlangano ezimisele ngokuguqula isikhungo, 
nasekulandeleni inhloso yokwenza “abasebenzi bocwaningo 
abamelelayo nabanobuchwepheshe” i-NRF yeqela 
ngale kokuhlosiwe koguquko emkhakheni wabasebenzi 
bobuchwepheshe abakhulu nabaphethe ababevela emaqenjini 
akhethiwe. Ukumelelwa kwabamnyama abawu-52% kwafezwa 
kuqhathaniswa nokuhlosiwe okuwu-45% kanye nokumelelwa 
kwabesifazane abawu-35% kuqhathaniswa nokuhlosiwe 
okuwu-32%. Ukufezwa kokuhlosiwe koguquko kwethu 
kuqathaniswa nokusebenza okuhlosile nokuqhubekayo kohlaka 
loguquko lwe-NRF kanye nohlelo lobulungiswa emsebenzini.

Imisebenzi emisiwe 
Imisebenzi ye-National Zoological Gardens (NZG) yadluliselwa 
ku-South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI) kusukela 
mhla ka-1 Ephreli 2018 njengoba beyinegunya elifanele elingcono.  

Njengengxenye yomsebenzi wokuhlela wezinhlobo zohlu olude, 
ze-iThemba LABS, ithimba longcweti lahlangana ukubukeza 
imisebenzi eNdaweni Yocwaningo Lukazwelonke futhi bahlinzeka 
ngezincomo kubaphathi maqondana negunya locwaningo. 
Ukubheka iyunithi yokwelapha yengxenye nekakhulukazi 
‘isibhedlela’, ukwehla okukhula emisebenzini yokwelapha 
engxenyeni yokwelapha kwaba sobala oguqukweni lomhlaba 
ekwelapheni okwaholela ekubeni khona kwemishini yokwelapha 
esikulungele ukusebenza eyabekwa ezibhedlela esezisimeme. 
Ngenxa yalesi sizathu, Ibhodi ye-NRF yeseka isiphakamiso 
sokumisa uhlelo loKwelapha Lwengxenye e-iThemba LABS. 

Izinselele ezaba khona
Ukuxhasa ngemali okukhethiwe kwenza u-76% wesabelo sisonke 
se-NRF kanti ibekelwe imizamo ethize ngqo.  U-24% osele 
wesabelo soxhaso sonke kuneZibonelelo Zasephalamende 
(20%) kanye nenye imali engenayo (4%).  Ngokukhula okuncane 
unyaka nonyaka emibandeleni emincane (4.9%), isibonelelo 
sasephalamende sehlile ngo-0,3% ezikhathini zangempela 
zonyaka ophela ngoMashi 2018.   Ukwehla okuqhubekayo 
kwesibonelelo sasephalamende ngemibandela yangempela 
kusalokhu kuwumkhakha okhathazayo ekuqhubekeni 
kwemisebenzi nasezimalini zenhlangano. Ukuze kwenziwe 
ngcono amandla e-NRF ukwenza ngendlela efanele igunya 
layo, kuyodingeka ukuthi imali ekhethelwe kanye neyenkontileka 
ibandakanywe esibonelelweni sasephalamende.  

Izindaba Zombiko Wokucwaningwa Kwamabhuku
Ukucwaningwa kwamabhuku kwangaphandle okwenziwa 
yihhovisi loMcwaningi Mabhuku Jikelele waseNingizimu 
Afrika (AGSA) kwaholela ekucwaningweni kwamabhuku 
okungenagcobho onyakeni owaphela ngomhla ka-31 Mashi 2018. 
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Ngeshwa inhlangano yamemezela ukusetshenziswa kwemali 
ngendlela engalungile eyizigidi eziwu-R30.4 okuphathelene 
nokuthengwa kwezimpahla kanye nezinsizakalo emizamweni 
yayo yokwenza umsebenzi. Kodwa-ke, kufanele kwaziwe 
ukuthi i-NRF yathola okubalulekile ngokugcwele ngezimpahla 
kanye/noma ngezinsizakalo ezathengwa futhi akukho zindleko 
ezathwalelwa ize. Ukuthola olunye ulwazi, bheka kuNothi 40 
weZitatimende Zezimali Zonyaka ekhasini 211. Nakuba i-NRF 
iqondanise inqubomgomo yayo yoKuphathwa Kochunge 
Lokunikezela Ngempahla (SCM) ne-PFMA kanye namanothi 
eZiqondiso/Omyalelo, kugxilwe kakhulu ekuqeqeshweni 
kwabasebenzi futhi kwagxilwa emikhakheni ye-SCM kanye 
nokuphathwa kwezinkontilaki.  

Izinhlelo zesikhathi esizayo zokubhekana 
nezinselele zezimali 
INingizimu Afrika iqeda iminyaka engama-25 yokubusa ngentando 
yeningi  ngonyaka ka-2019. I-NRF ilungiselela ukwenziwa 
kwesu elisha leminyaka emihlanu ngale konyaka ka-2020. 
Maqondana nalokhu, i-NRF izoqalisa izingxoxo nababambiqhaza 
ku-ajenda yocwaningo lwesikhathi esizayo ye-NRF kanjalo 
nezindlela zokusheshisa i-ajenda yethu yoguquko. Lokhu kuzoba 
nolwazi kancane oluvela ku-National Development Plan Vision 
2030 kanjalo nombiko kahulumeni omusha ocatshangwayo 
kwezeSayensi Nobuchwepheshe kanye nomsebenzi wamanje 
oqhubekayo ocatshangwayo owawuholwa yi-National Advisory 
Council on Innovation (NACI). 

Ngaphakathi ku-NRF, inhlangano iyaqhubeka nokusebenza 
kusiphakamiso senqubomgomo ukuthola igunya le-NRF 
elifanele. Inhlangano iphinde futhi yakhomba isidingo sohlelo 
lwe-Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) olungeke nje kuphela 
luhlanganise izinhlelo zomsebenzi obalulekile we-NRF kodwa 
oluzohlinzeka ukuqoqwa kolwazi oluthembekile kakhulu, kanye 
nokubika okuhlanganisayo ukweseka ubufakazi obuncike 
ekwenzeni isinqumo.  Lolu hlelo luzokwesekwa wukuhlolwa 
kwezinhlelo zomsebenzi okuzokwenziwa yingxenye ye-Research 
Innovation and Systems Administration (RISA) ngomqondo 
wokwandisa ukusebenza kahle nangempumelelo.

Izehlakalo ngemuva kosuku lokubika
Akukho ludaba olubalulekile ngemuva kosuku lokubika.

Ukukwazi ukwenza Ezomnotho
I-NRF isalokhu iyinhlangano enamandla nesebenza kahle 
ngokwezimali njengento ekhathazayo eqhubekayo.

Ukubonga
Bengithanda ukuzwakalisa ukubonga kwami kuBhodi nakuSihlalo 
uSolwazi Loyiso Nongxa ngokuhlinzeka ngomsebenzi wobuholi 
ngonyaka odlule. Ngifisa futhi ukuzwakalisa ukubonga kwethu 
okujulile ngosizo nobuholi bukaNgqongqoshe Wezesayesi 
Nobuchwepheshe wangaphambilini, uMhlonishwa uNkk GNM 
Pandor osebenze kwaze kwaba wuFebhruwari 2018. Ngithanda 
futhi nokubonga iqhaza lokwengamela leKomiti Lephothifoliyo 
YasePhalamende Yesayensi Nobuchwepheshe ngaphansi 
kobuholi boMhlonishwa uNkk L Maseko. 

I-NRF yamukela uNgqongqoshe wethu omusha, uMhlonishwa 
uNk M Kubayi-Ngubane futhi iyambonga ngobuholi bakhe bohlelo 
lukazwelonke loguquko kusukela aqokwa.

Ngithanda ukuthatha leli thuba ngibonge uSolwazi Errol Tyobeka, 
owasebenza kuBhodi ye-NRF kuskela ngonyaka ka-2011 kuze 
kube sekwedluleni kwakhe emhlabeni ngoJuni 2018, ngesikhathi 
sokulungisa lo mbiko. Ukuzinikela kwakhe okungabeki 
engcupheni ukusebenza okuncomekayo, ukukhuthala, isibindi 
nokuzinikela kanye nokuzimisela ekwakheni izwe konke kube 
nesandla ekuhlonishweni i-NRF enakho ku-NSI. USolwazi 
Tyobeka, uzokhunjulwa kodwa simbungaza futhi simkhumbula 
ngokuziqhenya njengomunye wethu.

Izwi lokubonga liya kubaphathi nabasebenzi be-NRF, 
abaqhubekile nokuphokophela ukuhlangabezana negunya 
lenhlangano. Ngokufanayo, ngifisa ukuzwakalisa ukubonga 
kwami ngokuzithoba kubalingani bethu ikakhulukazi emphakathini 
wezemfundo esiwusevayo noqhubekayo nokufaka isandla 
ngendlela enkulu ekwesekeni i-NRF.

Dr Molapo Qhobela
Chief Executive Officer
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Ke lethabo go nna go le nea Pegongwaga ya Setheo sa Dinyakišišo 
tša Bosetšhaba (National Research Foundation (NRF)), ya 
ngwaga wo o felago ka 31 Matšhe 2018. Pegongwaga ye e fa 
kanego mabapi le mediro ya lekgotla go elana le maikemišetšo 
ao a rulagantšwego malebana le Leanotšhomo la Ngwaga wa 
2017/18 gotee le Leanotaolo  la NRF 2020. 

Dintlhakgolo tša mediro ya Setheo
NRF e ile ya ikgodiša ka go neelana ka MeerKAT radio theleskoupu 
yeo e bego e loketše go ka tsenywa tirišong mafelelong a Matšhe 
2018. Ka dipeeletšo tše e ka bago R4 bilione, boikgantšho bjo bja 
dikotlelo tše kgethegilego tše 64, ke ketapele go karolo-bogare 
ya theleskoupu ya Dikgethwa tša Sekwere sa Kilometara (SKA) 
sa boditšhabatšhaba, gomme e tlo kgathatema go SKA karolo 
1. SKA e tlo ba radio theleskoupu ye kgolo lefaseng ka bophara 
efela, gabjale, MeerKAT ke ye nngwe ya ditheleskoupu tšeo di 
šišimošegago gabonolo ge e bapetšwa le tše dingwe. Setšema 
sa SKA Afrika Borwa se thomile ka 2004 ka taelelo ya ‘thomego 
yeo e laolago ke maikemišetšo a tšwetšopele’. Ka tirišano le 
ditšhaba tše dingwe gotee le lenaneo la mafolofolo tšwetšongpele 
ya bašomedi, Afrika Borwa e kgonne go tšwetšapele botsebi le 
botswerere go dihlopha tša bašomedi, ditsebi tša bothekniki, 
baentšeneare le boradisaense bao tsebo ya bona e hlompšhago 
lefase ka bophara, moholeng wa radio-astronomi gotee le 
theleskoupu. Ka ge 75% ya ditlabakelo tša MeerKAT di tšweletšwa 
ka nageng yee, MeerKAT e tloga e le setšweletšwa sa mono gae.  

Tekololefsa ye e Phagamego ya ditheo tše 
ikemetšego tša setšhaba 
Palomoka ya letseno e oketšegile, ka seka fela, ka 5% fela, mo 
nneteng, e fokotšegile ka 0.2%,  mo mengwaga ka tatelana, go 
tloga go R4.5 bilione go iša go R4.7 bilione. Moneelo go tšwa 
Palamenteng, woo o abelwago NRF gore e kgone go phethagatša 
taolelo ya yona e oketšegile gannyane ka 4.9% e lego ditaetšo 
fela tšeo di laetšago phokotšego ya 0.3%  mo nneteng. Se e bile 
phegelelo yeo e sa fetogego mo mengwageng ye fetilego ye 5.

Matlole ao a šireleditšwego sedikong (Ring-fenced funding) 
a hlatlogile ka 9%  mo ngwageng o fetilego go ya go R2.2 
bilione mo ngwageng wo o fetilego go iša go R2.4 bilione; ka 
baka la koketšego ya matlole ao a fetišetšwago mengwageng 
ye mengwe ao a amanago le setšema se sa SKA, gotee le 
Maiteko a Badulasetulo ba Dinyakišišo ka Afrika Borwa (South 
African Research Chairs Initiative (SARChI)). Matlole a Mafsa 
a šireleditšwego sedikong, a sa tšwago go abja ngwageng 
wo, a tlaleleditše ka 3% go palomoka ya dikoketšego. Letseno 
la kontraka le oketšegile gannyane ka 2.5% ka lebaka la go 
phumulwa ga matlole ao a bego a amogelwa go tšwa go Kgoro ya 
Kgwebo le Intasteri (dti) go fetišetšwa go Theknolotši le Dithušo 
tša Batho lebakeng la Mananeo a Intasteri (THRIP).

Ka tlaleletšo ya 6%, matlole a thekgo a NRF a sa eme ka fase ga 
serepudi goba kelo ya  tirišego ya 10%. Se se hlotše ke kgatelelo 
ye e sa kgaotšego ya bokgoni bjo phagamišitšwego le taolo ye 
matsetseleko ya theko. 

Ditsela tša tirišo ya matlole le tirišego malebana 
le dinepo tša mano a dipoelo tša ditheo tše 
ikemetšego tša setšhaba 
Setheo se kgonne go fihlelela palomoka ye lekanago 64% ya 
dinepo-tirišego tša di-APP tša ngwaga wa tekolo. Ge o neela go 
nepo ya nako ye telele ya “bodiredi bja boditšhabatšhaba, bjoo bo 
nago le bokgoni gotee le diphetogo go tša saense le theknolotši” 
palomoka ya R2,6 bilione e beeleditšwe ka peakanyong ya 
dinyakišišo go thekga monyakišiši gotee le dinyakwa tša ka mehla 
gape le tšwetšo pele ya mothamo wa badiredi. Dipoelo tša se e 
bile kgonagalo ya go ka thekga baithuti ba dithuto tša ka godimo 
ga tša tikree  ba palo ya 14 598, bao e lego gore go bona 78% e 
be e le bathobaso ge go bapetšwa le palo ye e bego e letetšwe 
ya 69% le 57%, yeo e bego e le basadi kgatlhanong le nepo ye e 
bego e letetšwe ya 58%. Thekgo ya mašeleng e abetšwe baithuti 
ba 5 435 ba mastase, le 3 519 ya baithuti ba tša bongaka.  Se se 
fetišitše kelo ye e beetšwego dikabelo tša baithuti ba dithuto tša 
ka godimo ga tikree, magatong a thekgo ka moka ka 2% le 9%. 

TEKOLO-KAKRETŠO KA  
MOHLANKEDIMOGOLO-PHETHIŠI 
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Palomoka ya banyakišiši ba 4700 ile ya thekgwa mo mengwageng, 
fao 36% e bego e le baswana, gomme 38% e le basadi. Mola e le 
gore palo ya bathekgwa ba baswana ebile e le basadi e oketšegile 
ka 8% le ka 5% ngwaga ka ngwaga, kgolo ka go nanya e laetša 
gore go na le dikgwetlho tše dintši go tša diphetogo peakanyong 
ye. 

Palomoka ya R734 milione ile ya abelwa leano le la dipeeletšo tše 
nepilwego tšeo go tšona 56% goba R413 milione e beeleditšwego 
sekhwameng sa Maiteko a Badulasetulo ba Dinyakišišo ka Afrika 
Borwa (SARChI). Nakong ya 31 Matšhe 2018, palomoka ya 
badulasetulo ba 226 e be e abilwe, fao e lego gore 215 ba be ba 
šetše ba le mošomong. SARChI ka boyona e thekgile-thwii baithuti 
ba dithuto tša ka godimo ga tša tikree ba ba 1147 (52% e le basadi 
mola  61% e le baswana) ka thušo ya bao e lego baabi ba dipasari 
tše tša tlemagano, mo nakong ye telele. Mafelo a Bokgoni ka go 
fetišiša (CoEs) a 15 a abetšwe 168 milione mongwageng wo o 
fetilego wa ditšhelete, gomme a thekga baithuti ba ka godimo ga 
tikree ba 840, bao go bona  go bego go le basadi ba 56% gomme 
ba 59% e le baswana.

Go latela nepo ya go neela go “Dinyakišišo tša maemo a godimo 
le diplatfomo tša dinyakwa tša ka mehla” setheo se se bolokile 
tšhelete ye e lekanago R11.8 bilione. Palomoka ya bokana ka 
R159 milione ile ya abja ka tsela ya dikabo tša dinyakišišo ka ga 
dinyakwa tša ka mehla go diyunibesithi ka Lenaneo la Didirišwa 
tša Bosetšhaba (NEP). Tšhelete ye nngwe ya bokana ka R633 
milione e bolokilwe ka sekhwameng-polokelo sa Dinolofatši 
tša Dinyakišišo tša Bosetšhaba  mola R1 bilione e bolokilwe 
ka sekhwameng-polokelo se sefsa sa dinolofatši tša radio 
ya bonepadinaledi (astronomi), Radio ya Hlokomedišišo ya 
Bonepadinaledi ka Afrika Borwa (SARAO), phethagatšong ya 
lenane la MeerKAT. Dinolofatši tša Dinyakišišo tša Bosetšhaba ke 
diplatefomo tšeo di atlegilego kudu, ka maikemišetšo a go neelana 
ka dinyakwa tša dinyakišišo le bohlokomedi bjo nepagetšego 
tshepetšong ya diyunibesithi, gola di gare di ikamanya le 
dinyakišišo gammogo le tšwetšo pele. Dinolofatši tša Dinyakišišo 
tša Bosetšhaba  di tšweleditše diWeb tša Saense (ISI) tše 574 
tšeo di nago le dikgatišo tšeo di nago le ditokelo nakong ye fetago 
ya ngwaga, gomme di godišago, ka ngwaga, kgoboko ya tsebo 
ka 1.47 go fapana le 1.33 ya mengwaga ye fetilego. Dinolofatši 
tša Dinyakišišo tša Bosetšhaba tšeo di akaretšago SKA SA (Afrika 
Borwa) le tšona di thušitše tekolong ya baithuti ba dithuto tša ka 
godimo ga tekiri, ba ba 629.  

Maihlomong a phihlelelo ya tebanywa tša “Setšhaba seo se nago 
le tsebo ya go bala le go ngwala saense”, setheo se beeleditše 
R106 milione mo medirong ye tlemaganego le tša disaense. Ka 
maiteko a fapanego, nageng ka bophara, setheo se se hlahlile 
barutiši ba 2741gomme sa buša sa tlemagana le baithuti ba 179 
315. Palomoka ya maloko a setšhaba a 1 191 892 a šetše a 

kgathiletema mo medirong ye fapanego ya saense, mo nakong 
ya peakanyo ya pego ye. 

Bjalo ka setheo seo se ikemišeditšego go tliša diphetogo go 
ditheo gape le mo maikemišetšong a nepo ya go bopa “Kemedi 
ye maatla ya bošomedi go tša dinyakišišo le bothekniki”, NRF ile 
ya fetiša ditetelo tšeo di bego di letetšwe, go tšwa mafapheng a 
hlophišitšwego a  dihlopha tša bašomedi ba balaodi-bagolo le sa 
theknikhale. Kemedi ya Bathobaso ya 52% ile ya fihlelelwa ge go 
bapetšwa le yeo e bego e letetšwe ya 45%, gape le kemedi ya 
basadi ya 35% ile ya fihlelelwa, ge go bapetšwa le yeo e bego 
e holofetšwe ya 32%. Go kgona go fihlelela dinepo tša rena tša 
diphetogo, ke dipoelo tša phegelelo-ntle le kgaotšo, go rena, 
tirišong ya motlhako wa diphetogo wa NRF gape le wa leano la 
khiro-ka-tekano mešomong.

Ditiro Tšeo di emišitšwego
Mediro ya Serapa sa Diphoofolo sa Bosetšhaba (NZG) e 
fetišeditšwe go Institšhute ya Bosetšhaba ya Biodiversity ya 
Afrika Borwa (SANBI) go tloga ka 1 Aporele 2018, bjalo ka ge 
ditaelelo tša tšona di swana.   

Bjalo ka karolo ya maiteko go dipeakanyo tša leano-telele la 
iThemba LABS, sehlopha sa ditsebi se ile sa rapša go tla go 
lekola ditiragalo Senolofatšing sa Dinyakišišo tša Bosetšhaba, 
gomme sa neelana ka ditšhišinyo, go bolaodi mabapi le ditaelelo 
tša dinyakišišo. Ge go hlohlomišwa yuniti yeo ya kimollo, kudu 
‘bookelo’, go ile gwa tšwela pepeneneng gore lehlakore la kimollo 
kalafong ya malwetše le phuhlame, ka baka la diphetogo go 
tša kalafo lefaseng ka bophara, fao gabjale boati bo dirišago 
metšhene yeo e hwetšagalago fela ka dipetleleng tša maemo a 
godimo. Ka lona lebaka le, Boto ya NRF ile ya thekga tšhišinyo 
ya go emiša lenaneo la Particle Therapy madirelong a iThemba 
LABS. 

Dikgwehlo tšeo di lemogilwego
Dipeeletšo tše kgethilwego di dira 76% ya palomoka ya 
dikgobelwa tša NRF, gomme di kgethetšwe go dirišwa fela mo 
mererong ye itseng. Mašaledi a 24% ya palomoka ya dikabo 
e bopšwa ke (20%) ya dithušo tša Palamente gotee le letseno 
le lengwe leo e lego (4%) fela. Ka baka la go gola ga bohloka-
tlhokomelo mo mengwageng, go ditšhelete (4.9%), dithušo tša 
Phalamente di theogile kudu ka 0.3% mo ngwageng wo o felago 
ka Matšhe 2018. Phuhlamo ye e sa emišego ye, ya dithušo 
go tšwa Palamenteng, e no dula e le karolo ya ditlhobaboroko 
tirišong-kgotlelelo ya matlole a Setheo. Go ka kgona go godiša 
bokgoni bja NRF tefelong ya ditaelelo tša yona, go tla hlokega 
gore ditseno tšeo di šetšego di abilwe gotee le ditšhelete tšeo 
di kontrakilwego di akaretšwe ka dithušong tša dithušo go tšwa 
Palamenteng. 
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Mabaka a amago Pego ya Bohlakiši
Dipoelo tša hlakišo ya ka ntle yeo e dirilego ke kantoro ya 
Mohlakišimogolo-pharephare wa Afrika Borwa (AGSA) e bile 
tšeo di se nago bosodi, ngwageng wa ditšhelete wo o felago ka 
31 Matšhe 2018. Ka bomadimabe, setheo se se begile tirišo-
bohlaswa ya ditšhelete tša bokana ka 

R30.4 milione tšeo di amanago le khwetšo ye e fošagetšego 
ya diphahlo le ditirelo, mo maitekong a go neelana ka ditirelo. 
Efela go swanetše go lemogwa gore, NRF e hweditše diphahlo 
le ditirelo tša ditšhelete tšeo ka botlalo, ka fao ga go na phošo 
ye e diragetšego. Go hwetša tshedimošo ka botlalo bala Note 40 
ka ga Statamente  sa Ditšhelete tša Ngwaga, mo letlakaleng la 
211. Le ge NRF e beakantše pholisi ya yona ya Taolo ya Tsela 
ya Kamogetšo (SCM) go  elana le Dithalohlahli le Ditaelo tša 
PFMA gotee le Matlotlo a Bosetšhaba, šedi e tla ba kudu godimo 
ga tlhahlo le tlhokomelo ya bašomi mabapi le kwešišo ya SCM 
gammogo le taolo ya dikontraka. 

Maano a kamoso a nepilego dikgwehlo tša 
ditšhelete
Afrika Borwa e tla phetha mengwaga ye 25 ya temokrasi ka 2019. 
NRF e itokišetša go tšwetšapele leano le lefsa la mengwaga ye 
mehlano morago ga 2020. Mo lebakeng le, NRF e tla thakgola 
dipoledišano le bao ba amegago mabapi le manane a dinyakišišo 
tša NRF mo nakong e tlago, gape le magato ao a swanetšego 
go tšewa go akgofiša diphetogo ka setheong se. Dikeletšo, ka 
ntlha ye nngwe, di tla tšwa go Pono ya Leano la Tšwetšopele ya 
Bosetšhaba (2030) gotee le pegosemmušo, yeo e sa letetšwego, 
mabapi le Saense le Theknolotši gape le diponelopele tše dingwe 
tšeo di lego gona gabjale tšeo di etilwegopele ke Khansele ya 
Bosetšhaba ya Dikeletšo ka ga Mpshafatšo (NACI). 

Ka gare ga NRF, setheo se gare se tšwelapele go hlama pholisi 
ya ditšhišinyo tša dikabelo tša maswanedi go phethagatša taelelo 
ya NRF. Gape, setheo se se lemogile hlokego ya Setlamo sa 
Togamano ka ga Dithušo (ERP) yeo e ka se hlakanyego fela 
dipeakanyo tša mediro ya NRF eupša ya neelana ka tshedimošo 
ya maemo a godimo gotee le bobegi bjoo bo sa kgethišigo, go 
thekga go kgontšha go tšea diphetho tšeo di theilwego godimo ga 
bohlatse bja maleba. Peakanyo ye e tla tlaleletša ke tekolosefsa 
ya tshepetšo tša kgwebo ke Lekala la Mpšafatšo ya Dinyakišišo 
le Taolo ya Dipeakanyo (RISA), ka maikemišetšo a go godiša 
bokgoni bja maswanedi.

Ditiragalo morago ga lebaka la pego
Ga se gwa ba le taba e bohlokwa morago ga pego.

Kgonegolo ya Ekonomi
NRF e no dula e le sehlongwa se maatla gape se  nago le bokgoni 
bja ditšelete go tšwelapele ka mediro ya sona. 

Ditumelo le Ditebogo
Ke rata go leboga go menagane Boto le Modulasetulo Prof Loyiso 
Nongxa go fana ka boetapele bja maswanedi  mo ngwageng wo 
o fetilego. Ke rata gape go hlagiša ditebogo tša rena go thekgo 
le boeteledipele bja Tona ya pele go tša Saense le Theknolotši, 
Mohlomphegi Mrs GNM Pandor yoo a bilego modirong go fihla 
ka Feberware 2018. Ke rata gape go leboga tlhokomedišišo ya 
Potfolio-Komiti ya Saense le Theknolotši Palamenteng, ka fase 
ga boeteledipele bja Mohlomphegi Mrs L. Maseko. 

NRF e amogela Tona ya rena ye mpsha e lego Mohlomphegi 
Ms M Kubayi-Ngubane gape ke mo lebogele boeteledipele bja 
gagwe go peakanyo ye ya mpshafatšo, go tlogela mola a tsenago 
modirong. 

Ke tla rata gape go tšea sebaka se go hloboša Prof Errol 
Tyobeka, yo a šometšego Boto ya NRF go tloga ka 2011 go fihla 
lehung la gagwe ka June 2018, nakong yeo pego ye e bego e 
sa beakanywa. Boineelo bja gagwe modirong o mobotse wo, 
mafolofolo, kgothalo le kgotlelelo maikemišetšong a go tšwetša 
pele naga ye, ka moka di bile le seabo tlhomphong yeo NRF e 
ipshinago ka yona lehono go tšwa go NSI. Prof Tyobeka, otla dula 
a gopolwa ka mehla e bile a tumiša ka nako tšohle; bjalo ka yo 
mong wa bao re ikgantšhago ka bona.

Lentšu le le kgethegilego la ditumišo le lebišwa go bolaodi gotee 
le bašomedi ba NRF, bao ba phegeletšego go ka kgonagatša 
diphethagatšo tša taelelo ya setheo se. Go sa le bjalo, Ke rata 
go leboga go menagane badirišane ba rena, kudu setšhaba sa 
dirutegi, seo re se hlankelago e bile se tšwelago pele go neela 
ntle le kgonono, go thekga NRF.

Dr Molapo Qhobela
Chief Executive Officer
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STRATEGIC SUMMARY1

PART A:  STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

The National Reasearch Foundation (NRF) was established 
in 1998 as a Schedule 3A Public Entity through the 
National Reasearch Foundation Act (Act 23 of 1998). The 
organisation welcomes the pending NRF amendment Bill of 
2016, particularly with regard to the main areas as outlined 
in the object. The object of the NRF is to contribute to 
national development by:

• supporting, promoting and advancing research and 
human capacity development, through funding and the 
provision of the necessary research infrastructure, in 
order to facilitate the creation of knowledge, innovation 
and development in all fields of science and technology, 
including humanities, social sciences and indigenous 
knowledge;

• developing, supporting and maintaining national 
research facilities;

• supporting and promoting public awareness of, and 
engagement with, science; and

• promoting the development and maintenance of the 
national science system in support of Government 
priorities.

The strategy of the NRF is aligned to and enables the 
mandate as articulated in the Act. The environment within 
which the NRF is operating is ever-evolving and is affected 
by factors such as global research priorities; data intensive 
science (big data, high density storage systems); and new 
enabling or disruptive technologies.

The NRF is dedicated to promote an informed discourse 
between science and society through its focus on science 
engagement, and facilitate the creation of knowledge, 
innovation and development in all spheres of science, 
including indigenous knowledge. Leveraging on its 
reputation for excellence and performance, the NRF is able 
to establish partnerships with both local and international 
universities, research institutes, and industry. These 
collaborations enable increased knowledge production 
and exchange, global access to research infrastructure, 
and the cohesive implementation of national imperatives to 
improve the quality of life of the people of the Republic, 
with a particular emphasis on responding to the current 
challenges of unemployment, poverty and inequality. 

1.1  NRF Strategy 2020

The NRF executes its mandate through a strategy and 
implementation plan. NRF Strategy 2020 takes cognisance 
of:

• The National Development Plan (NDP), articulated 
through the 14 priority outcomes in the Medium-Term 
Strategic Framework (MTSF) for 2014–2019;

• National government’s Nine-Point Plan;
• Emerging developments in national policy and strategy 

that potentially impact the execution of the NRF 
mandate;

• Department of Science and Technology (DST) strategic 
objectives, plans and policies aligned to the mandate; 

• Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET) 
strategic objectives, plans and policies aligned to the 
mandate; and

• Global goals and strategies (including the UN 
Sustainability Goals and the Paris Agreement).

1.1.1  NRF vision

The NRF identifies and initiates pertinent and strategic 
partnerships with role-players within and beyond the 
National System of Innovation (NSI) to respond to national 
priorities and international agendas to benefit society and 
ensure a better life for all. The NRF vision is: 

VISION

Catalysing knowledge production for societal benefit

26m Radio astronomy dish at SARAO Hartebeesthoek
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1.1.2  NRF mission

The South African research and development (R&D) system is small compared to the global R&D system. The country 
contributes 0.4% to the global R&D spend, but produced 0.79% of global Web of Science (WoS) publications in 2017. This 
represents an increase of 76% over five years. Given the need for the country to significantly increase influence in the 
global science and technology arena, the organisational mission is:

MISSION

 

To contribute to the knowledge economy in South Africa by attaining at least 1% of the global R&D output by 2020

1.1.3  NRF values 

The NRF values underpin the strategic intent of the organisation and inform its approach to delivering on its public mandate. 
The values as shown in Figure 1 below,  are grounded in inclusivity and a tapestry of individual, cultural and societal values 
and ethics, and promote strength in diversity, equality, equity, community and sustainability. 

FIGURE 1: NRF VALUES

World-class 
service

Ethics &
integrity

Passion for 
excellence

Accountability

People- 
centred

Respect

VALUES

1.1.4  Strategic outcomes and objectives 

The strategic outcomes and objectives were crafted to enable the organisation to deliver on its mandate. The NRF leverages 
off the complementarity of its various and geographically dispersed business units. The NRF’s objectives integrate 
seamlessly with the objectives of the DST and complement the objectives of the DHET and other government departments.

Figure 2 depicts the strategic outcomes and in Figure 3 shows the alignment between outcomes and objectives as 
demonstrated through the use of  colours that have been applied throughout this document.



NRF Annual Report 2017/18

PART A: STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

26

FIGURE 2: NRF STRATEGIC OUTCOMES 
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FIGURE 3: NRF STRATEGIC OUTCOMES LINKED TO STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

1

Establish and maintain research infrastructure  
and platforms2

Grow NRF influence, impact and reputation

Optimise return on investment
3

Improve talent management5

Entrench science engagement4

Promote globally competitive research and innovation

Enhance strategic international engagements

Provide best-practice systems in support  
of grant-making, reviews and evaluations

A 
vib

ra
nt

 an
d 

gl
ob

all
y c

on
ne

ct
ed

  
na

tio
na

l s
ys

te
m

 o
f i

nn
ov

at
io

n



NRF Annual Report 2017/18

PART A: STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

NRF Annual Report 2017/18 27

2.1  Policy environment

The NRF mandate is influenced by national policies 
and strategies and its strategic objectives and key 
performance indicators (KPIs) are a response to these.

2.2  Contributors to the NRF mandate

The mandate of the NRF is “to support and promote research 
through funding, human resource development and the 
provision of the necessary research facilities to facilitate 
the creation of knowledge, innovation and development in 
all fields of science and technology, including indigenous 
knowledge, and thereby to contribute to the improvement of 
the quality of life of all the people of the Republic”. 

The NRF also supports and promotes awareness of, and 
engagement with, science to improve science literacy and 
public participation in Science Technology Engineering 
Mathemethics and Innovation (STEMI). In executing this 
mandate, the organisation supports the commitment to 
“improve the quality of life of all the citizens of the Republic”. 

The NRF mandate supports the NDP 2030 as contextualised 
through the MTSF priorities (2014–2019), as well as 
strategies and policies of the DST, the DHET and other 
government departments if applicable. Figure 4 sets out 
this policy environment. Over and above these factors, the 
organisation considers shifts in the global research agenda 
in the pursuit of research excellence with relevance. 

The NRF takes cognisance of and responds to national 
priorities, including the urgent need to reduce poverty, 
inequality and unemployment through knowledge 
production and human capacity development. 

LEGISLATIVE AND OTHER MANDATES2

NATIONAL 
POLICIES, PLANS
AND STRATEGIES

SCIENCE AND
TECHNOLOGY

STRATEGIC 
PLANS AND 

POLICIES

INTERNATIONAL
STRATEGIES

• National Development Plan Vision 
2030 (NDP)

• National Research and Development 
Strategy (NRDS)

• National Plan for Higher Education
• Human Resource Development 

Strategy (HRDS)
• White Paper on Science and 

Technology
• White Paper on Post-school 

Education and Training

• Ten-Year Innovation Plan of 2007
• Strategy for Human Capacity Development for 

Research Innovation and Scholarships
• DST Science Engagement Framework
• South African Research Infrastructure 

Roadmap (SARIR)
• Ministerial Guidelines for Improving Equity in 

the Distribution of DST/NRF Bursaries and 
Fellowships

• Discipline specific strategies and plans

• Science, Technology and 
Innovation Strategy for Africa 2024 
(STISA)

• 2013 Agenda for Sustainable 
Development

• Agenda 2063 of the African Union
• SADC Protocol on Education and 

Training 

FIGURE 4: NRF POLICY ENVIRONMENT
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The NDP endeavours to ‘… chart a new course and write 
a new story’ for South Africa. The Plan maps a way for the 
country to eliminate poverty, address inequality and ensure 
that all citizens are able to seize available opportunities. 
The DST and DHET, supported by the NRF, address the 
challenges by: 

• Increasing the number of academic staff with doctoral 
qualifications from 34% to 75%;

• Increasing the number of postgraduate enrolments at 
Higher Education Institutions (HEIs) from 16% to 25% 
or more; and 

• Growing the number of doctoral graduates from 2 000 
to 5 000 a year and, in so doing, increase the number 
of PhDs/million of population from 36 in 2015 to 100 by 
2030. 

National Research and Development Strategy (NRDS)

This Strategy highlights the importance of globally 
competitive and contextually relevant research outputs in 
addressing the needs of the country. These are expressed 
through the geographic and knowledge advantage areas.

National Plan for Higher Education

This Plan is an implementation framework for realising the 
objectives of White Paper 3 on Science and Technology on 
transforming the higher education system to meet the social 
and economic development needs of the country. 

Human Resource Development Strategy (HRDS)

The HRDS recognises the need to implement a systemic 
strategy for human resource development to address 
the disparities between wealth and poverty through the 
institutionalisation of human resource development planning 
and implementation, as well as effective monitoring of 
progress against national targets. 

2.2.2  Science and technology strategies and 
policies 

The DST has developed a number of strategies and policies 
to shape the future landscape of the science system. These 
include:

• Ten-Year Innovation Plan (TYIP) of 2007;
• Strategy for Human Capacity Development for Research;
      Innovation and Scholarships;
• DST Science Engagement Framework;
• South African Research Infrastructure Roadmap 

(SARIR);
• Ministerial Guidelines for Improving Equity in the 

Distribution of DST/NRF Bursaries and Fellowships; and
• Discipline-specific strategies and plans such as the 

National Strategy for Multiwavelength Astronomy, the 
South African Marine and Antarctic Research Strategy,and 
the South African Strategy for the Palaeosciences.

2.2.3  International strategies

Among the international strategies that shape the future 
landscape of the science systems on the continent are the:

• Science, Technology and Innovation Strategy for Africa 
2024;

• SADC Protocol on Education and Training;
• 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development; and
• Agenda 2063 of the African Union.

2.3 Strategy implementation

The NRF, as a public institution, functions within the 
parameters of legislation and best practice. It is committed 
to entrenching a culture of transparency, ethical behaviour, 
fiscal prudence and accountability, thereby enhancing public 
trust and stakeholder assurance.
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2.3.1  Accountability structures

The accountability structures of the NRF include systems 
that direct, manage and hold the organisation accountable.
These systems are based on the NRF Act, the Public 
Finance Management Amendment Act (PFMA) (Act 29 of 
1999), the National Treasury Reporting Framework, the 
Governance Framework for Public Entities, and the South 
African Companies Act (Act 71 of 2008). In addition, the 
NRF subscribes to the requirements of the King Report on 
Corporate Governance for South Africa (King IV).

Parliament, through the Parliamentary Portfolio Committee 
(PPC) on Science and Technology of the National 
Assembly, maintains high-level oversight of the entity, 
while the Executive Authority (the Minister of Science and 
Technology) and the Accounting Authority (the NRF Board) 
are accountable for the entity. The Figure below depicts the 
accountability structures.

NRF Annual Report 2017/18 29

Parliamentary Portfolio Committee (PPC)

Accounting Officer: 
Chief Executive Officer of the NRF

Corporate Executive Committee

Accounting Authority: NRF Board

Executive Authority: Minister of Science and 
Technology

FIGURE 5: NRF ACCOUNTABILITY STRUCTURES
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3.1 Programmes

The following Programmes enable the NRF to deliver on its 
mandate:

3.1.1 Programme 1 – Corporate

This Programme provides an enabling governance and 
shared services structure to support the organisation 
through the provision of business systems, policies 
and procedures. The programme also provides thought 
leadership, strategic foresight and impact assessments to 
both the NRF and the NSI.

3.1.2 Programme 2 – Science Engagement

Programme 2 supports the transition towards a knowledge 
economy through science engagement, communication 
and education initiatives and operates within the science 
engagement framework that enables the relationship 
between science and society. 

3.1.3 Programme 3 – Research and Innovation 
Support and Advancement (RISA) 

As the grant-making function of the NRF, RISA supports 
and promotes research through the development of human 
capacity, the generation of knowledge, and the provision of 
and access to cutting-edge research infrastructure. 

3.1.4 Programme 4 – National Research 
Infrastructure Platforms

The NRF is mandated to provide leading-edge research 
infrastructure platforms to support knowledge generation, 
and HCD. This Programme includes the research facilities 
in the following areas: 
• Nuclear science;
• Biodiversity and environmental sciences; and 
• Astronomy and geosciences.

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE3

NRF East wing
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

3.2  Organisational structure per Programme

The programmes of the NRF separately and collectively enable the execution of the NRF mandate. The operational 
Programmes 2, 3, and 4 are supported by Program 1 i.e. the cross cutting corporate function.

FIGURE 6: NRF ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE PER PROGRAMME

For explanations of acronyms, please refer to the list of acronyms on page 219.
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4.1 Financial overview

A detailed statement of the NRF’s financial position is 
provided in the annual financial statements for 2017/18. 
The section below provides a brief analytical overview.

4.1.1 Income sources

The NRF has three primary income streams, and one minor 
source of income, as follows:
• Parliamentary grant: The MTEF parliamentary grant is 

used primarily to fund the Programmes and operational 
activities of the NRF; 

• Ring-fenced funding: Ring-fenced funding is received 
from the DST to fund specific projects and may be used 
only for these projects; 

• Contract income: Contract income represents formal 
contracts with the DST, other government departments, 
and organisations. Such funds can be used only 
according to objectives laid down by the sponsors 
through formal contractual agreements; and

• Other income: Interest received on funds invested and 
trading income for non-core business activities. 

The NRF total income increased in nominal terms by 5%, 
but declined in real terms by 0.2%, from R4.5 billion in 
2016/17 to R4.7 billion in 2017/18. Details of income trends 
are highlighted in Figure 7.

Income trend

The Parliamentary grant increased marginally in nominal 
terms by 4.9% in 2017/18, slightly below the average 
inflation of 5.2%. In real terms, this is a 0.3% decline.

Ring-fenced funding increased from R2.2 billion in 2016/17 
to R2.4 billion in 2017/18. The increase of 9% resulted from 
the increased carry-forward of funding to 2017/18 mainly 
for the SKA project and the South African Research Chairs 
Initiative (SARChI). The actual new ring-fenced funding for 
the year contributes to only 3% of the total increase.

Contract income increased marginally in nominal terms 
by 2.5%, due to phase-out funding received from the 
Department of Trade and Industry (the dti) for the Technology 
and Human Resources for Industry Programme (THRIP). 

Other income decreased by 24% due to lower interest 
income resulting from the accelerated spending of cash 
holdings in the SKA project and delays in income received 
from DST due to the contract consolidation process. In 
addition, the National Zoological Gardens (NZG) entrance 
fees, retail and other sales decreased due to the poor 
economic climate and a decline in the use of the facility.

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SUMMARY4
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FIGURE 7: NRF INCOME TREND 

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Parlimentary grant 816 203 851 286 878 399 882 805 925 964
Ring-fenced funding 596 676 717 470 1 735 687 2 177 930 2 383 803
Contract income 1 593 721 1 352 120 1 305 988 1 218 254 1 249 078
Other income 153 936 176 787 242 518 222 131 167 867
Total income 3 160 536 3 097 663 4 162 592 4 501 120 4 726 712
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Income ratios

The income ratios presented in Figure 8 reflect a flat trend in the core Parliamentary grant, while the ring-fenced funds 
have increased over time due to the transfer of certain contracts previously given to the NRF as contract funds, now being 
included by DST in the ring-fenced allocation. The pro-rata portion of all income streams remained stable in comparison 
to the previous financial year.

FIGURE 8: NRF INCOME RATIOS
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Programme Business unit 2016/17
R’000

2017/18
R’000

1 Corporate support 159 660 94 088

2 South African Agency for Science and Technology Advancement 90 853 91 263

3 Research and Innovation Support and Advancement, and THRIP 2 835 176 2 937 317

4 iThemba Laboratory for Accelerator Based Sciences 240 492 251 995

4 South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity 30 921 33 296

4 South African Environmental Observation Network 35 802 77 770

4 National Zoological Gardens of South Africa 119 151 120 169

4 South African Astronomical Observatory 85 029 92 161

4 SARAO Hartebeesthoek Radio Astronomy Observatory 28 694 32 160

4 SARAO Square Kilometre Array project 875 342 996 493

Total income 4 501 120 4 726 712

4.2.1 Expenditure Trend 

As depicted in Figure 9, there was an increase of 5% in the 
total expenditure, from R4 514m in 2016/17 to R4 730m 
in 2017/18, attributable mainly to increased spending on 
grants and bursaries at RISA as well as a performance 
bonus provision for the SKA project.

Capital expenditure increased due to the conclusion of 
the land acquisition programme in Carnarvon to create 
an astronomy reserve for the SKA SA project. Operating 
expenditure decreased as the prior year included a large 
investment in sealing the road in Carnarvon.

Increased research funding expenditure of 4.5% includes 
mainly the following programmes:
• R80m re-prioritised from SARChI resulted in additional 

funding allocated for human capacity development 
(HCD); and

• R72m to complete THRIP.

The increase in employees’ remuneration is attributed to 
the general salary increase at an average of 6.5% and a 
performance bonus for SKA project employees, based on 
the successful completion of MeerKAT and the first station 
of the African VLBI Network (AVN) in Ghana.

4.2 Income per business unit

The total income per business unit is shown in Table 1 below:

TABLE 1: INCOME PER BUSINESS UNIT
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2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Net capital expenditure 365 867 238 079 344 500 501 421 535 713
Employee remuneration 473 744 532 170 577 904 627 096 717 782
Programme, operating and other expenditure 434 837 512 665 666 001 786 203 757 769
Grants and bursaries 1 863 232 1 788 421 2 556 223 2 599 677 2 718 821
Total expenditure 3 137 680 3 071 335 4 144 628 4 514 677 4 730 085

4.2.2 Expenditure per business unit

The expenditure (including capital expenditure) per NRF business unit is presented in Table 2 below:

TABLE 2: EXPENDITURE PER BUSINESS UNIT

Programme Business unit 2016/17
R’000

2017/18
R’000

1 Corporate Support 100 716 108 048

2 South African Agency for Science and Technology Advancement  98 599 93 358

3 Research and Innovation Support and Advancement, and THRIP 2 639 546 2 780 222

4 iThemba Laboratory for Accelerator Based Sciences  325 035 302 899

4 South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity  49 147 57 556

4 National Zoological Gardens of South Africa  142 159 146 692

4 South African Environmental Observation Network 55 917 99 652

4 South African Astronomical Observatory 124 190 112 125

4 SARAO Hartebeesthoek Radio Astronomy Observatory 68 103 40 881

4 SARAO Square Kilometre Array project  871 854 988 652

Total expenditure 4 514 397 4 730 085

FIGURE 9: MAJOR EXPENDITURE TRENDS PER CATEGORY OF EXPENSE 
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RISA National Research 
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  2013 3.7% 15.8% 13.8% 12.9% 7.2%

  2014 4.0% 16.2% 12.9% 10.6% 7.5%

  2015 2.8% 13.4% 12.9% 9.9% 5.5%

  2016 3.1% 13.0% 8.6% 8.2% 5.3%

  2017 3.6% 13.1% 15.2% 11.3.% 6.2%

FIGURE 10: NRF OVERHEAD RATIO

4.2.3 Overhead expenditure

The focus on ensuring financial sustainability and improved 
cost management due to economic pressures and austerity 
measures, has resulted in greater emphasis being placed 
on the management of overheads, which have remained 
well below 10%. However, overheads increased by 0.9%, 
from 5.3% in 2016/17 to 6.2% in 2017/18. The increase 
is attributed to science advancement as a result of the 
reduction in the management fee of DST contracts and the 
filling of vacancies in the support office. SARAO overheads 
increased as the business unit ramped up for MeerKAT 
operations and corporate overheads increased due to the 
creation of a new Strategy, Planning and Partnerships 
division. The consolidated overheads figure, on a multi-
year basis, remains well within innovative system-type 
international benchmarks for similar organisations. The 
overhead ratio is reflected in Figure 10.

4.2.4 Remuneration expenditure

The NRF’s highly technical and unique world-class 
infrastructure necessitates labour-intensive programmes 
for infrastructure.  The numerous initiatives aimed at 
enhancing development necessitate a baseline specialist 
human resource capacity, which is in-sourced in line with 
strategic sourcing to promote cost-effectiveness.

The ratio of remuneration to total expenditure of the NRF 
remains below the benchmark of 22% set by the NRF, at 
15.2%. The ratio of each programme is in line with the 
level of operational activity performed by each Programme. 
The National Research Facilities have the highest ratio 
of remuneration expenditure due to their largely labour-
intensive research and number of technical maintenance 
staff developing and maintaining research infrastructure 
platforms used by both local and international researchers. 
The ratio of remuneration to total expenditure per entity is 
disclosed in Figure 11.
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  2016 1.0% 2.3% 0.5% 9.5% 13.3%

  2017 1.2% 2.3% 0.6% 11.0% 15.2%

FIGURE 11: REMUNERATION EXPENDITURE 

4.2.5 Grant expenditure

Approximately 96% of the grant expenditure is managed by RISA (Figure 12). Within RISA, research funding expenditure 
remained stable, with a 5% increase compared to 2016/17. Programme and operating expenditure decreased by 13.6%, 
whilst salaries remained stable, and including the annual inflationary adjustment, increased by only 0.2%. The main 
contributor to the reduction of RISA operating expenditure is the transfer of the Strategy, Planning and Partnerships 
division from RISA to Corporate. RISA managed to contain salaries and operating expenditure to 7% of total grants and 
bursaries expenditure.
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FIGURE 12: RISA GRANT EXPENDITURE
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4.2.6 NRF five-year financial trend

The five-year financial review at 31 March 2018 provides a summary of financial trends for the period between 2013/14 
and 2017/18 (Table 3).

TABLE 3: NRF FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL TREND

FINANCIAL INDICATORS 2014
R'000

2015
R'000

2016
R'000

2017
R'000

2018
R'000

INCOME & EXPENDITURE

Total income 3 160 536 3 097 663 4 162 592 4 501 120 4 726 712 

Total expenditure 3 137 680 3 071 335 4 144 628 4 514 397 4 730 085 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  

Current Assets 1 283 449 1 970 808 2 143 119 1 998 576 1 534 182 

Current Liabilities 1 396 432 1 969 808 2 094 018 1 941 962 1 478 819 

Total Assets 2 590 803 3 424 700 3 910 582 4 246 710 4 315 857 

RATIO ANALYSIS  

Current ratio 0.92 1.00 1.02 1.03 1.04

EMPLOYEES AND INTERNS  

Number of permanent employees 1 301 1 389 1 404 1 444 1 483

5%
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110
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5.1  Service delivery environment and strategic partners 

The NRF, as a government agency, provides a world-class grant systems in support of postgraduate human capacity 
development, cutting-edge research and the provision of access to competitive research infrastructure. The NRF also acts 
as a research performer through the national research facilities. Figure 13 shows a map of the NSI, and the dual role of 
the NRF as a grant-making agency and a research and innovation performer.

FIGURE 13:  THE NRF IN THE PUBLIC RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT SYSTEM  
   (based on the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development [OECD] map)

OVERVIEW OF NRF PERFORMANCE5

PART B:  PERFORMANCE
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the list of acronyms on page 219.



NRF Annual Report 2017/18

PART B: PERFORMANCE

NRF Annual Report 2017/18 41

The NRF discharges its mandate in line with the objectives 
of the DST and other strategic partners, including the DHET. 
The organisation also functions closely with the broader 
stakeholders of the NSI, including the National Student 
Financial Aid Scheme (NSFAS), the Council on Higher 
Education (CHE), the Human Sciences Research Council 
(HSRC) and the National Advisory Council on Innovation 
(NACI). Moreover, the organisation actively engages with 
the public and has fostered long-standing relationships with 
museums, professional associations and key local private 
sector partners, including international and multi-national 
organisations.
 
5.2 Performance overview

Performance of the NRF is measured against the Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs). The organisation achieved 
64% of its targets for the year. 

The KPI targets not achieved are discussed below

5.2.1 Number and proportion of NRF-funded   
researchers from designated groups

A total of 1 698 black and 1 786 female researchers were 
funded for the financial year, against targets of 1 069 and 
2 450 respectively. An investigation has been performed to 
identify systemic challenges and a transformation roadmap 
that focuses on the researcher cohort has been developed.
 
5.2.2 Number and proportion of funded 

postgraduate students from designated 
groups

A total of 8 266 female postgraduate students were 
supported against a target of 8 700. This constitute a 
proportion of 57%. The shortfall was mainly at Honours level 
and due to the reduction in the Scarce Skills Development 
Fund, which resulted in 920 fewer students supported. To 
improve representation, as well as throughput and time 
to completion, the NRF has made a number of policy 
recommendations for postgraduate student support in the 
future. 

5.2.3 Number of publications

There were 908 publications, related to the use of equipment 
funded by the National Equipment Programme (NEP) against 
a target of 1 250 publications. The 27% underachievement 
is attributable to timing differences between commissioning 
of the equipment and the production of research outputs. 
This factor will be taken into account during future planning 
processes. 

5.2.4 Staff turnover

The cumulative annual staff turnover was 8.8%. Of that, 
7.3% can be classified as controllable and includes 
resignations and expiring contracts. This is well above the 
stated target of 6% and the organisation will continue to find 
innovative ways to engage and incentivise staff and create 
an environment conducive to retention of key personnel.

5.3 Challenges

The NRF continuously reviews the organisational 
environment to identify challenges that may influence 
the ability to deliver on the mandate. Ongoing challenges 
remain the need to significantly increase investments to 
improve adequacy  of support for postgraduate students; 
and the renewal and acquisition of essential research 
infrastructure. Over the reporting period, the NRF identified 
the following primary challenges.

5.3.1 Financial and operational sustainability 

Pervasive financial constraints have affected the public 
sector and, specifically, investment in R&D. The year on year  
decline in the NRF Parliamentary grant in real terms, amid 
rising operating costs, has escalated the risk of financial and 
operational sustainability beyond the mitigation of stringent 
cost containment measures. Whilst the organisation has 
managed to deliver on its mandate to date, further funding 
deficits will negatively impact performance going forward. 
In response, a resource allocation framework and policy are 
being developed to ensure high yield and optimal impact 
investments to improve long-term sustainable execution of 
the NRF mandate.
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5.3.2 Ageing research infrastructure 

Ageing infrastructure is commonplace at the national 
research facilities. Specifically, the 30-year-old separated-
sector cyclotron (SSC) has been identified as a major 
strategic risk to the future sustainability of iThemba LABS. A 
strategy has been developed to ensure that the facility will not 
only remain operational, but improve its globally competitive 
research agenda. At its heart is the South African Isotope 
Facility (SAIF) project and the acquisition of a new 70-MeV 
cyclotron. Concerted efforts are underway to secure funding.

5.3.3 Systemic transformation

The NRF’s role and contribution to the transformation agenda 
of the research system have been significant and evident. 
Despite its limited scope, the NRF remains unrelenting in 
its pursuit for transformation of the research cohort, and 
actively manages ongoing challenges to the achievement of 
related transformation targets. An overarching framework, A 
Catalyst for Transformation of the NSI, was developed to 
drive transformation in four main areas, namely the equity 
profile of postgraduate students and researchers; the 
knowledge enterprise; the relationship between science and 
society; and the transformation of the NRF itself.

5.4 Organisational environment

5.4.1 NRF Amendment Bill 

Amendments to the NRF Act were considered by the National 
Assembly through the PPC on Science and Technology. The 
draft Amendment Bill proposes enhancements to the current 
mandate of the organisation as follows:

• supporting, promoting and advancing research and 
human capacity development, through funding and the 
provision of the necessary research infrastructure, in 
order to facilitate the creation of knowledge, innovation 
and development in all fields of science and technology, 
including humanities, social sciences and indigenous 
knowledge;

• developing, supporting and maintaining national research 
facilities;

• supporting and promoting public awareness of, and 
engagement with, science; and

• promoting the development and maintenance of the 
national science system in support of Government 
priorities.

5.4.2 Significant developments 

The organisation negotiated a more streamlined approach 
to managing DST contracts. There are now five main 
contracts, namely strategic science missions, human capital 
development, research and development infrastructure 
platforms, science engagement and management on the 
Square Kilometre Array (SKA) project. The new arrangement 
will allow greater flexibility to respond to changing needs 
and priorities, and enable the NRF to be responsive and 
proactive to the needs of the research community.

The SPP division, was established and resourced over the 
period, incorporating the functions of the former International 
Relations Cooperation (IRC) and Institutional Engagement 
and Partnership Development (IEPD) directorates, as well 
as the information and analysis capability previously in 
corporate governance. SPP focuses on the implementation 
and management of mature and integrated business 
intelligence channels to continuously contribute to evidence-
based policy and decision making. 

Construction of the MeerKAT telescope was completed by 
31 March 2018 and science readiness of the entire MeerKAT 
signal processing chain was demonstrated by successfully 
observing a calibrator source.The observation confirmed that 
the required system components have been successfully 
integrated to an appropriate level. A large survey project 
(LSP) observation that is considered acceptable by the 
LSP’s principal investigator is still to be obtained.

In July 2017, the former radio astronomy facility, 
Hartebeesthoek Radio Astronomy Observatory (HartRAO) 
and the SKA SA project were combined to form the National 
Research Facility, SARAO. SARAO will consolidate the 
activities of the HartRAO, SKA SA, the African VLBI Network 
(AVN) and associated research infrastructure, including big 
data storage, data transport and computing facilities. It will 
also consider the existing and future global strategy within 
the respective science fields, and will respond effectively to 
the operational and management responsibilities that the 
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international Square Kilometre Array Organisation (SKAO) 
will place on South Africa with SKA1_MID. 

SARAO has the following strategic objectives:
• Optimise South Africa’s contribution to, and benefit from, 

the international SKA project; 
• Establish and sustain globally competitive and 

transformed radio astronomy and space geodesy 
research and infrastructure in South Africa and abroad, 
where appropriate; 

• Optimise national socio-economic benefit from radio 
astronomy and space geodesy activities; and 

• Promote radio astronomy and space geodesy in Africa. 

With the adoption of appropriate objectives and goals that 
flow from these strategic objectives, the facility will enable 
the following efficiencies and opportunities:

• Shared resources for the design and building of new 
instrumentation; 

• Access to skills and platforms across varied but related 
disciplines; 

• Array and network-based science; 
• Astronomical and geodetic very long baseline 

interferometry (VLBI); 
• Single and multi-dish astronomy; 
• Geodesy; 
• Technical workshop and laboratory capabilities; and 
• Global networks and synergistic platforms. 

The National Zoological Gardens (NZG) transfer to the 
South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI) was 
effective as at 1 April 2017, but it was agreed that the NRF 
would continue to manage the NZG until March 2018 to 
allow SANBI to be fully prepared. The NZG is, therefore, 
reported under a separate cover and forms an annexure to 
this report in line with the NZG  Annual Performance Plan 
(APP) approved in February 2017. It has been confirmed 
that the NZG will be transferred to SANBI with effect from 
1 April 2018.

Due to budget constraints, the NRF was forced to propose 
a reduction in the Incentive Funding for Rated Researchers.
This has caused concern in the research community.

5.4.3 Key policy developments and legislative 
changes

The NRF welcomes the development of the new White Paper 
on Science and Technology, as it presents an opportunity to 
reflect on numerous successes, and lessons learnt over the 
22 years since 1996. 

5.5 Performance against strategic  
outcome-oriented goals

In contributing to its long-term goal of an ‘internationally 
competitive and transformed science and technology 
workforce’, RISA has provided postgraduate funding support 
to 11 328 black students (78%) and 8 266 female students 
(57%). A total of 4 730 honours, 5 435 masters and 3 519 
doctoral students were supported over the reporting period.

In addition, 1 698 (36%) black researchers and 1 786 
(38%) female researchers were supported through NRF 
funding instruments. The number of black and female NRF 
rated researchers increased by 10% to 1 069  and 1 285 
respectively. In terms of providing ‘World-class benchmarking 
and grant-making systems’, RISA expensed R2.6b in grant 
funding to institutions and administered 8 413 applications 
through the peer review process. 

Investment in strategic funding instruments, including 
SARChI and CoEs, amounted to a third (R734m) of the 
investment in human capital development (HCD). To date, 
226 Research Chairs have been awarded, of which 215 
are operational. Fifteen communities of practice were 
established by chairholders to ensure socially beneficial 
research outputs.

Towards the goal of providing ‘Leading-edge research and 
infrastructure platforms’, the organisation invested R158m 
in research infrastructure grants to the universities through 
the NEP. A further R1.6b in National Research Facilities 
including the SKA SA project. These facilities produced 574 
WoS accredited publications over the year and improved the 
cumulative citation impact from 1.33 to 1.47. The facilities 
including SKA SA, supervised 612 postgraduate students. 
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To achieve the goal of a ‘Scientifically literate and engaged 
society’, the organisation invested R106m in science 
engagement activities, training 2 741 educators and engaging 
with 179 315 learners. A total of 1 191 892 members of the 
public participated in science engagement activities over the 
reporting period. 

To create ‘A representative research and technical workforce’, 
internal to the NRF, the organisation increased the number 
of black and female technical staff in senior technical and 
managerial positions. Black representative of 52% was 
achieved against a target of 45%, and female representivity 
reached 35%, against a target of 32%. The organisation 
spent a total of R718m on salaries for the period under 
review, which is 15% of total expenditure.

The NRF is honoured to confer its Lifetime Achievement Award on Prof Brian O’Connell.

The NRF paid tribute to Prof Brian O’ Connell by awarding him the NRF Lifetime Achievement Award for 2017. Prof O’Connell 
graduated with a Bachelor of Arts and qualified as a teacher at the University College of the Western Cape (now UWC). As recipient 
of the Fulbright Scholarship, he achieved MA and MEd degrees at Columbia University, New York. Between 1970 and 1985 he 
worked as a teacher, Vice-Principal and Principal at schools in Cape Town, before taking up the position of Senior Lecturer in 
Education at UWC. Four senior positions followed: Acting Vice-Rector of the Peninsula Technikon; Rector of the Athlone College of 
Education; Head of the Provincial Department of Education (responsible for all schools in the Western Cape); and, in 2001, Rector 
and Vice-Chancellor of UWC, a position from which he retired in 2014.

Brian O’Connell is recognised for his passionate conviction, intellectual clarity and engaged leadership in education and development 
and is the recipient of honorary doctorates from the University of Missouri and the University of South Africa, as well as the Belgian 
Order of Knighthood (Commander of the Order of Leopold II), and the Paul Harris Award of Rotary International. 
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6.1 Value of the NRF to the NSI

The NRF value proposition is underpinned by its contribution to the NSI as enabler, initiator, facilitator and performer. The 
NRF delivers on its mandate as a single cohesive organisation in strategy and operation, and actively collaborates and 
coordinates with public and private partners both locally and internationally. 

FIGURE 14: VALUE PROPOSITION SNAPSHOT

NRF RESPONSE TO STRATEGIES AND PLANS6

VALUE ADDITION VALUE ADDITION IMPACT

INITIATOR

ENABLER

PERFORMER

FACILITATOR

Pursuit of socially relevant 
knowledge generation

National postgraduate 
students funding through the 
human capacity development 
pipeline

Centres of Excellence to 
enable convergent research

Research Chairs to increase 
scientific research and 
innovation capacity

Expert input on Policy
Strategies for mandate 
delivery

Formulation of a policy to enhance research excellence: “A 
catalyst for transformation of the NSI” Formulation of Marine 
and Antarctic Regional Strategies

Participation in National Biodiversity assessment

Participation in National shale gas environmental assessment

Sound partnerships and 
collaborations
Science Engagement

Various country to country 
agreements 
Agreements with African 
countries
Multinational agreements and 
strategic initiatives 
Collaborations with similar 
type entities

Science engagements with 
learners and students 

Science engagements 
and communication with 
communities

Research performer (National 
Research Facilities) Granting 
Agency
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across the NSI

Web of Science (WoS) publications by SA authors and
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technology and innovation platforms
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6.3 System performance

The NRF contributes to the performance of the NSI Figure 15 represents the growth over the last 5 years (2013/14- 2017/18).

FIGURE 15: NSI PERFOMANCE 2013/14 - 2017/18

17% 
Increase 

in National 
Research 
Facilities 

normalized 
citation impact 

(1.26 to 1.47)

60% 
Increase in 
number of 
rated black 
researchers 

(668 to 1 069)

45% 
Increase in 
number of 

rated female 
researchers 

(889 to 1 285)

20% 
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NRF funded 
researchers 
contribution 

of global WoS 
publications

(0.27% to 0.33%)

29% 
Increase in 

South African 
contribution 

to global WoS 
publications

 

 (0.61% to 0.79%)

58% 
Increase in 

number of South 
African WoS 
publications 

(12 787 to 22 553)

55% 
Increase 

in number 
of doctoral 
students 

supported by 
NRF 

(2 265 to 3 519)

6.4 Performance against national imperatives

The NRF responds to the priorities and strategies of 
government through supporting research, HCD and platform 
provisioning in support of government addressing the triple 
challenges. Through the strategic investment portfolio, the 
NRF addresses relevant MTSF priorities as well as the 
grand challenges and geographic advantages from the TYIP 
and NRDS as discussed below.

6.4.1 National Development Plan 2030 (NDP) 

The NRF contributes to specific priorities of the NDP and 
some areas of contribution are highlighted in Figure 16. The 
Medium Term Strategic Framework (MTSF) priorities set out 
actions to be taken to implement the NDP over a five year 
period. A detailed mapping to the NRF’s contribution to the 
MTSF is on page 149.

6.4.2  Ten Year Innovation Plan (TYIP)

The TYIP was developed to use science and technology to 
enhance socio-economic development. The plan identifies 
five grand challenges, which are bio-economy, energy 
security, global change, human and social dynamics, and 
astronomy. The key principles of the plan are to: 

• Support strategic decision-making to enable government 
to make informed decisions; 

• Pursue competitive advantage – ensuring that investment 
is made in areas with the highest return;

• Create critical mass – the investment strategy should 
support the creation of critical mass in high-yield areas; 

• Scale up sustainable research and development.

6.4.3 National Research and Development Strategy 
(NRDS)

The NRDS articulates the need for a competitive research 
funding system built on international best practice and on the 
benefits of and need for knowledge generation and innovation. 
HCD underpins the strategy, which focuses on transforming 
the research system through the upliftment of designated  
groups. The strategy highlights the importance of globally 
competitive and contextually relevant research outputs in 
addressing the needs of the country. These are expressed 
through the geographic and knowledge advantage areas of 
paleaosciences, Antarctic research, indigenous knowledge 
systems (IKS) related to Southern Africa, biodiversity and 
astronomy.

Figure 17 is an indication of the NRF average contribution to 
the TYIP and NRDS, over 5 years.
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SUSTAINABLE RURAL COMMUNITIES
 � 15 SARChI Chairs focussing on a rage of contributing 
themes including Human mobility; Social-Ecological Systems 
Resilience; Applied poverty Reduction and the Sociology of 
Land. Environmental and Sustainable Development, etc; 

 � 2 CoEs: Human Development and Food Security have certain 
complementary themes in researching the socio-economic 
development of individuals and societies.

INFRASTRUCTURE NETWORKS
 � The NRF funds Research in Renewable Energy Solutions 
through: Energy Human Capacity Development and 
Knowledge Generation (EHCD&KG) Programme; the Energy 
Research Programme (ERP); 

 � iThemba LABS provide nuclear research infrastructure; 
 � 3 SARChI Chairs operating at National Research Facilities.
 � The NRF also provided world-class research infrastructure in 
various science domains.

PROTECTION OF ENVIRONMENTAL ASSETS
 � 30 SARChI Chairs focussing on environmental research 
in areas such as Agricultural Sciences; Agro-chemistry; 
Evolution Biology;  Climate Change; Earth System Science; 
Marine Ecosystems and Paleo environmental Studies; 

 � 3 CoEs in Biodiversity, Conservation and Biotechnology. 
 � The National Research Facilities through SAEON and SAIAB 
have contributed to National Policy development around the 
protection of Environmental assets.

FOOD SECURITY
 � 2 UK/ SA SARChI Bilateral Chairs focussing on Food 
Security;

 � 2 SARChI Chairs focussing on systems Biology for Food 
Security and Phytochemical food networks from a nutrition 
perspective.

 � 10 SARChI Chairs dealing with areas related to food security 
and food research, these include Meat science, Postharvest 
technology, Marine ecology and fisheries. 

 � 1 CoE focussing on sustainable food systems to realise food 
security for poor, vulnerable and marginal populations.

A COHESIVE SOCIETY
 � The NRF contributes through the effective generation, 
communication and dissemination of knowledge to society. To 
this end, the NRF has: 

 � 2 SARChI Chairs in Science Communication.
 � 15 CoEs: All CoEs have information brokerage as key 
performance area and thus are activiely involved in science 
communication and public engagement.

CONTRIBUTING TO A BETTER WORLD
 � The NRF builds on its brand and reputation to foster 
international research partnerships and scientific collaboration 
on the African continent and globally, thus playing a role in 
creating a better South Africa and Africa.

 � 4 SARChI; SA-UK Bilateral Chair, SA-Canada Trilateral Chair, 
SA-Namibia Astronomy Chair 

 � Research chairs Communities of Practice (COP)

HEALTH
 � 41 SARChI Chairs focussing on HIV vaccination translation; 
Detection of cardiovascular diseases; Poverty related 
diseases; TB biomarkers; Malaria etc.

 � 5 CoEs focussing on epidemiology, HIV prevention, Human 
development, Centre for indigenous knowledge system and 
Biomedical TB Research.

 � iThemba LABS supplies rare isotopes globally for the early 
detection and treatment of cancers and provides the only 
cancer treatment facility of its kind on the continent.

BASIC EDUCATION
 � 15 SARChI Chairs focussing on Mathematics; Numeracy 
Education; Integrated studies of learning languages, 
Mathematics and Science; Teacher Education; Higher 
Education and Human development; and Work integrated 
learning. 

 � Science Education is an integral component in encouraging 
the exploration of STEMI as a career. Focussed initiatives 
cater for teacher training and learner engagement 
opportunities.

FIGURE 16: NRF CONTRIBUTION TO THE NDP
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Geographic Advantage Areas
Average 2013/14 - 2017/18

Grand Challenges
Average 2013/14 - 2017/18

Astronomy
Average 2013/14 - 2017/18

The investment supported:
• 5 CoEs, 
• 49 Research Chairs, 
• 131 research grants and 
• 810 postgraduate students.

18% 
GEOGRAPHIC 
ADVANTAGE  

AREAS. 

The investment supported 
• 9 CoEs, 
• 82 Research Chairs, 
• 127 research grants and 
• 1 407 postgraduate students.

37% 
 GRAND  

CHALLENGES.

The investment supported 
• 12 Research Chairs, 
• 26 research grants and 
• 206 postgraduate students. 

45% 
ASTRONOMY

(NRDS AND TYIP).

Funding Distribution
 2017/18

Funding Distribution
 2017/18

Funding Distribution
 2017/18

R542m 
(in nominal 

terms)

R406m 
(in real terms)

R275m 
(in nominal 

terms)

R205m 
(in real terms)

R515m 
(in nominal 

terms)

R385m 
(in real terms)

39 %
Human  

and Social 
Dynamics

12 %
Paleosciences

64 %
Biodiversity

71 %
SKA Project  

(Construction of  
KAT-7 MeerKAT)

8%
SARAO 

 Excluding SKA

5%
SALT

16%
SARAO 

 Excluding SKA

16 %
Energy  

Security
10 %

Bio-
Economy

35 %
Global 
Change

16 %
Antarctic 
Research

7%
Indigenous Knowledge 

Systems (IKS)

FIGURE 17: STRATEGIC INVESTMENTS -  FIVE YEAR AVERAGE (2013/14 – 2017/18)
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7 PROGRAMME 1 (CORPORATE): STRATEGIC OVERSIGHT, ADMINISTRATION 
AND SHARED SERVICES

7.1 Situational analysis

SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS

The Corporate Programme is a cross-cutting support function responsible for providing enabling systems and 
structures that support the organisation. The Programme is premised on a shared services model that sets the 
tone and direction for good governance, policy direction and statutory compliance.
 
The Programme is underpinned by fair and transparent business practices and the responsibility to drive 
organisational-level compliance, through a system of policies and legislative frameworks.

OPERATIONAL DIVISIONS

Strategy, Planning 
and Partnerships

Finance and Business 
Systems

Human Resources 
and Legal Services Corporate Relations

This division provides 
leadership and 
management oversight 
for system planning and 
foresight. The division 
also provides information 
and data analytics for the 
NRF and advances the 
strategic partnerships of 
the organisation.

This division supports 
the organisation through 
the interpretation and 
application of legislation 
and best practice; and 
the creation and support 
of enabling business 
systems, policies and 
procedures.

This function provides the 
NRF with comprehensive 
HR management, and 
legal advisory and 
contract management 
services.

The Corporate Relations unit 
facilitates both internal and 
external communications, 
brand building and 
awareness, and stakeholder 
relations and is a key enabler 
of the science engagement 
strategy.

  PROGRAMME 1 IS MANDATED TO:

• Provide strategic leadership and management oversight 
• Promote good governance as a strategic asset
• Provide leading edge ICT systems
• Provide effective combined assurance 
• Provide comprehensive human resources and legal services
• Facilitate internal and external communications
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7.2 Performance against objective 5: Grow 
NRF influence, impact and reputation

7.2.1 Provide system intelligence that informs  
strategy and policy

Business intelligence:

High-fidelity system intelligence in support of evidence-
based policy and decision making is provided to strategic 
stakeholders through the implementation and management 
of mature and integrated business intelligence (BI) 
channels. 

Various projects were managed in the financial year, 
including the further development of the DHET’s Research 
Output Submission System (ROSS).

DHET annual reporting was refined and final research 
output subsidy reporting was compiled through ROSS. 
Research output submission templates were refined to be 
used by HEIs to ensure increased depth of reporting. This 
revised template will be distributed to HEIs and the ROSS 
system will be adjusted to ensure readiness to absorb the 
new templates.

The internal QlikView BI system is being expanded to include 
reporting on awarded and released grants, scholarships 
and bursaries to enable active grants management. 
Inefficiencies in the staging area and developer capacity 
were identified and mitigating actions were initiated. 

Policy development: 

A concept document for a ‘Framework on researcher 
pathways from doctoral holder level to established 
researcher level’ was developed. The NRF has also 
developed a policy and a framework on transformation 
to support postgraduate students. The paucity of black 
South African world leader researchers who went through 
the NRF human resource capacity development pipeline 
challenges the organisation to re-examine its approach. 
While researchers are funded, minimal effort was put into 
developing pathways from doctoral student to emerging 
researcher, and from emerging researcher to established 

researcher. This framework will outline the pathways that 
a researcher can take from doctoral qualification to world 
leader.

7.2.2 Build the NRF brand 

Corporate Relations facilitated collaboration between the 
NRF and Universities South Africa (USAf) in an initiative 
to showcase national media and the contribution of South 
Africa’s public universities to national development. 
Through this initiative, NRF-funded projects/ programmes 
stand a chance to be showcased through SABC radio 
stations. Following extensive consultations between USAf 
and the NRF, an agreement has been signed between the 
SABC and USAf and recordings of the series are underway. 

Brandbuilding

Brandbuilding activities included:
• Media coverage for the launch of Iziko Planetarium;
• Facilitation of interviews with China Central TV Africa 

(a Chinese media initiative focused on bringing news 
about Africa to a large Chinese audience) on the Climate 
Change Centre of Excellence with the Research Chairs 
and Centres of Excellence (RCCE) business unit and 
the healthcare system challenges in Africa; 

• Coordination of media relations for the RCCE annual 
community of practice workshop entitled ‘Strategies to 
overcome poverty and inequality in South Africa’, with 
Prof Ben Cousins interviewed on the topic and the 
event;

• Coordination of media relations in various media 
platforms for the DST-NRF CoE Directors Forum; 

• Ad hoc interviews and media queries for RCCE and 
Human and Infrastructure Capacity Development 
(HICD) on World Population Day, discussions on health 
and harmful substances, and NRF funding for women 
under the age of 35;

An extensive media relations plan was implemented 
for the NRF Awards event, which was attended by nine 
media houses. More than 55 pieces of coverage were 
achieved in online, print and broadcast media, including a 
documentary on the awards for eTV’s ‘Closing the Gaps’, 
which features stories of aspiring scientists.
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• Assistance with media relations for iThemba LABS 
30-year celebration of operating a nuclear physics 
accelerator (SSC);

• Issue of a press statement on behalf of National Research 
Facilities’ astronomy cluster on the announcement of 
the South African Astronomical Observatory (SAAO)/
SKA gravitational wave-generating event to showcase 
the important role of the NRF. An interview was carried 
out with Dr Steve Crawford of SAAO on the start of a 
new field of astrophysics; 

• Coordination, in collaboration with the DST, on the 
participation of the NRF, its facilities and RISA in the 
2017 Science Forum;

• Issue of a press statement in commemoration of the 
United Nations International Women and Girls in 
Science Day (9 February 2018); and

• Issue of a press statement for the launch of the NRF-
funded exhibition exploring the relationship of humans, 
the environment and astronomy at Iziko South African 
Museum on 8 March 2018.

Coverage during this financial year totaled 112 pieces: 
13 radio, six TV, 33 print and 60 online media. The total 
advertising value equivalency, both earned and bought, 
was R2.75m, with a total reach by the media platforms of 
R37.2m. Coverage was 80% national and 20% regional. 

Stakeholder communications: During the year, editing, 
copywriting and design products produced for the NRF 
included fact sheets, articles, videos, exhibition stands and 
invitations. 

Online engagement (social media)
Awareness of the NRF and its business units was created 
through social media content that encourages engagement 
(likes, shares and comments). Social media platforms are 
also used for engagement with communities focusing on 
interesting and meaningful science content.

NRF Twitter follower numbers increased from 7 067 to 9 
227, with the biggest conversation drivers being: 
• The DST-NRF internship call and the honours/BTech 

funding call; and
• Science hero stories: Prof Ingrid Woolard was profiled 

as the first female dean at Stellenbosch University’s 
Faculty of Economic and Management Sciences, and 
the University of Cape Town (UCT)-awarded grant by 
Chan Zuckerberg for the work of Prof Musa Mhlanga to 
map human cells. 

NRF Facebook follower numbers increased from 14 079 to 
17 190 and major conversation drivers were: 
• The DST-NRF internship call and the honours/BTech 

funding call;
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• Science hero stories: Prof Sibongile Muthwa was 
appointed as the first female vice-chancellor at Nelson 
Mandela Metropolitan University (NMMU); Murendi 
Mafumo designed a solar-powered water purification 
system that will provide safe drinking water to rural 
communities; at the age of 32, Dr Viwe Mtwesi is South 
Africa’s youngest black female cardiologist; five South 
African women were honoured at the 2017 L’Oréal-
UNESCO awards; 

• Science hero stories: Lloyd Gordon, a 25-year-old 
University of KwaZulu-Natal computer science student, 
developed an application to make maths education free 
and accessible to students from all socio-economic 
backgrounds; how Tebogo Moremadi Mashile, a junior 
astronomy policy researcher at the SKA SA, is reaching 
for the stars; and

• International Day of Women and Girls in Science: Pelly 
Malebe (doctoral candidate at the University of Pretoria) 
is researching genetic markers for drought tolerance 
and yield in crops; Dr Mmaki Jantjies, one of the first and 
youngest black female doctoral graduates in computer 
science, is continuing to contribute to her field. 

NRF LinkedIn follower numbers increased from 2 872 to 
3 606 during the reporting period, and a total of 132 237 
visitors accessed the website during the 2017/18 financial 
year. Users spent about three minutes on a website session 
and visited about three pages per session. The number 
of new visitors to the website continues to increase and 
outnumbers returning visitors.

Social investment programmes 
The NRF participated in the following social investment 
programmes: 
• Nelson Mandela Day: Employee donations were handed 

over to the Mohau House and the Mandela Day clear 
river campaign;

• The NRF donated used information technology (IT) 
equipment in support of the DST’s Nelson Mandela Day 
event; and

• Casual day stickers were sold to employees on behalf 
of more than 500 non-profit organisations and schools, 
as well as 12 national organisations that provide shelter, 
employment, education, counselling and advocacy for 
persons with disabilities. 

Promote system-wide local and international 
engagement and partnerships

Partnerships are key enablers for research and researcher 
development, and the NRF establishes and promotes high-
level strategic local and international collaborative networks 
in both public and private sectors. National partnerships are 
aligned with and support a coherent strategy of engagement. 

The organisation continued to foster partnerships over 
the reporting period and focused on engagements on 
the continent through its programmes. South Africa has 
concluded a number of bilateral agreements with African 
countries aimed at: 

• Promoting collaborative scientific advancement through 
the funding of joint research activities in specified 
research fields;

• Providing an opportunity for young researchers to 
engage;

• Supporting the advancement of research; and
• Meaningful contribution to research capacity 

development. 

At a meeting in Livingstone, Zambia, during the reporting 
period, 13 African Heads of Research Councils (AHORCs) 
and their representatives - Uganda, Tanzania, Kenya, 
Cameroon, Ghana, Senegal, Cote d’Ivoire, Burkina Faso, 
Zambia, Malawi, Zimbabwe, South Africa and Botswana - 
agreed on principles linked to the chosen topics. Alignment 
of the Global Research Council’s regional meetings with 
the Science Granting Councils Initiative (SGCI) in Sub-
Saharan Africa annual forum and activities has provided 
an opportunity to strengthen not only the voice of African 
science granting councils on the Global Research Council 
(GRC) but also bilateral and multilateral partnerships among 
many of the councils.

The SGCI was established to strengthen the ability of science 
granting councils (SGCs) to manage research, design and 
monitor research programmes based on robust indicators, 
support science engagement and establish partnerships 
with other science sector role-players. During the period, 
27 training and other events were completed - 12 by the 
Southern African Research and Innovation Management 
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Association (SARIMA), 12 by the New Partnership for 
Africa’s Development (NEPAD) and three by the African 
Centre for Technology Studies. 

The University of Sussex Science Policy Research Unit  
(SPRU) completed a political economy analysis of councils 
in five countries (Kenya, Rwanda, Tanzania, Ethiopia and 
Senegal), and two regional analyses, in west and southern 
Africa. These studies are a baseline against which future 
outputs and outcomes can be measured, and provide 
additional context for the ongoing design and implementation 
of the SGCI’s capacity-strengthening activities. 

Following the endorsement by GRC members of the 
statement of principles on ‘Equality and status of women in 
research’ to guide the SGC gender approach, a GRC gender 
working group, co-chaired by the NRF, was established to 
support international benchmarking and sharing of good 
practices among GRC members. The group focuses on 
collecting, analysing and reporting gender-disaggregated 
data. To date, an implementation action plan has been 
finalised focusing on:

• Understanding the types of gender-disaggregated data 
sets collected by select SGCs;

• Developing a data-gathering tool that aids gender-
disaggregated data collection across SGCs; 

• Collecting, analysing and reporting comparative gender-
disaggregated data on research funding decisions 
across the GRC; and 

• Collating indicators of success in the SGC research and 
grants management cycle. 

This will aid benchmarking across the GRC and is linked to 
ongoing NRF work on the organisation’s gender approach 
and position.

The NRF and DST hosted the first conference on the 
Transformative Innovation Policy (TIP). The TIP Consortium 
comprises the University of Sussex (UK), the Research 
Council of Norway, the Swedish biotechnology innovation 
system, the Finnish Funding Agency for Innovation and 
the Colombian Administration Department of Science, 
Technology and Innovation, (Colciencias). The project 

explores the future of innovation policy – its foundation, 
formulation and governance. The NRF will continue 
investing in this initiative for its strategic advantage. 

A joint meeting of the International Social Science Council 
(ISSC) and the International Council for Science (ICSU), 
which was held in Taipei, took a momentous decision to 
merge the two into a single organisation, the International 
Science Council (ISC). South Africa will continue to be 
represented by the NRF and the HSRC. The NRF is 
developing a new framework of engagement for ISC 
activities and national strategic intent for South Africa. 

Southern African Systems Analysis Centre (SASAC) and 
International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis (IIASA) 
activities during the financial year included:

• Negotiations for the support of an additional 10 doctoral 
students under the SASAC 2018 cohort with the British 
Council. The 10 students will be co-supervised by 
researchers based at UK higher learning institutions; 
and

• Publication of a book on systems analysis approaches 
to showcase selected research outputs emanating from 
the South Africa-IIASA partnership.

Other strategic events during the financial year included 
the:

• IAU committee meeting;
• International Union for Quaternary Science convened 

the Southern African Society for Quaternary Research 
conference; 

• International Union of Radio Science committee 
meeting; 

• Joint International Association for the Physical Sciences 
of the Oceans-International Association of Meteorology 
and Atmospheric Sciences-International Association of 
Geomagnetism and Aeronomy Assembly;

• Scientific Committee on Oceanic Research (SCOR) 
committee meeting; 

• South African Association of Food Science and 
Technology Governing Council biennial congress; 

• SCOR IAPSO-IAMAS-IAGA conference;
• International Union of Nutritional Sciences/International 
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Union of Food Science and Technology executive 
meeting; and

• International Union of Biological Sciences national 
committee meeting.

7.2.3 Communication of science and research  
achievements

One of the Corporate Relations unit’s core mandates is 
building the NRF brand with the South African public and key 
stakeholder communities. Through various interventions, 
the unit builds a positive reputation for the organisation and 
fosters appreciation of its value proposition and the impact 
of its work. This is achieved through media relations, social 
media, marketing products and continuous engagement 
with NRF staff. 

Corporate communication activities include:

• Profiling the NRF and its funded researchers;
• Facilitating media coverage and exposure for the NRF;
• Managing the rollout of Mzansi for Science campaign 

(NSI marketing campaign);
• Developing content and communication products;
• Organising the NRF Science for Society lectures series 

(and other public lectures); and
• Managing stakeholder surveys.

Internally, the unit promotes a positive organisational culture, 
facilitates management development and information 
forums and supports key internal organisational initiatives. 

  STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE
A reputable and 

influential agency 
shaping the science 

and technology  
system

NRF Objective 
5 links to:

• MTSF 
priorities 11 
and 14.

Contribute to building the NRF brand through the provision of consistently 
excellent customer-centric service offerings.

• Provide system intelligence that informs strategy and policy;
• Communication of science and research achievements (including 

Mzansi for Science);
• Build NRF brand through partnerships and service excellence; and
• Leverage off NRF reputation through strategic public, private sector and 

international partnerships.

Objective  
statement

Critical  
implementation 
activities

5

INDICATORS Actual 
2016/17

Target
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Multimedia coverage 
items 87 110 112 2%

The NRF received good coverage as a result 
of newsworthy events hosted in the period 
including the NRF Awards and the CoE 
Directors Forum.

Number of internal and 
external users of NRF 
business intelligence 
systems

74 70 129 84%

The increasing need for data analysis in the 
sector resulted in more users requesting 
access to inform business decisions. 
Specifically, the number of HEIs using the BI 
systems has increased significantly.

BUDGET (R (000)) Actual 
2016/17

Budget
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Corporate Relations 8 737  14 204  5 124  9 080

Grow NRF influence, impact and reputation

TABLE 4: PERFORMANCE AGAINST OBJECTIVE 5 – 2017/18
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7.3 Performance against strategic objective 6: 
Optimise NRF return on investment

In order to contribute successfully to strategic objective 
6, maximising the return of investment of public funds, 
programme 1 provides a system of shared services to all 
the business units that will allow the NRF to efficiently and 
effectively: 

• Promote good governance as a strategic asset;
• Provide leading-edge business systems and operational 

processes; and 
• Provide effective combined assurance to the accounting 

and executive authorities.

7.3.1 Promote good governance as a strategic 
asset

Corporate Governance

The Corporate Governance unit provides and supports a 
framework of governance and control structures to enable 

the organisation’s officers and directors to discharge 
their duties effectively. Compliance and assurance based 
business units support an enabling structure against which 
the business maintains and measures its compliance with 
legislation and best practice.

Performance Planning and Reporting 

The unit is charged with the monitoring of performance 
in order to meet the reporting obligations of the NRF. As 
a public entity the NRF adheres to the statutory reporting 
cycles of the PFMA. Table 5 is an indication of the unit’s 
deliverables over the reporting period.

Safety, health, environment and risk management 

The insurance declaration process was concluded, securing 
a suite of risk-based policies for the NRF at competitive 
rates. Important changes such as the transfer of the NZG 
to SANBI and discontinuation of the  iThemba LABS’ 
therapy centre needed to be taken into account. Various 
improvement opportunities on the insurance cover were 
explored. This included employment practices liability, 
cyber liability and contract works insurance. 

SATUTORY DEADLINES STAKEHOLDER DUE DATE

Quarterly Reporting (fourth quarter report – 2016/17) DST 20 April 2017

Annual Performance Report (for audit purposes – 2016/17) Office of the Auditor-General 31 May 2017

Quarterly Reporting (first quarter report – 2017/18) DST 20 July 2017

Annual Reporting (Annual Report 2016/17) DST 31 August 2017

Annual Performance Planning (first draft APP – 2018/19 - 2020/21) DST 1 August 2017

Quarterly Reporting (second quarter report – 2017/18) DST 20 October 2017

Quarterly Reporting (third quarter report – 2017/18) DST 19 January 2018

Annual Performance Planning (APP 2018/19 – 2020/21) DST 28 February 2018

TABLE 5: COMPLIANCE REPORTING
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An intensive maturity assessment was performed on the 
Business Continuity Management (BCM) programme and 
the Information and Communication Technology Readiness 
for Business Continuity (IRBC) programme of the NRF, using 
the International Organisation for Standardisation (ISO) 
standards for BCM, namely ISO 22301 - Societal Security: 
Business Continuity Management Systems (BCMS) and 
ISO standard for IRBC ISO 27031 - Guidelines for IRBC. 
The audit indicated a relatively low maturity rate. This was 
considered a baseline assessment and improvements will 
be implemented in the 2018/19 financial year. 
Implementation of the enterprise risk management (ERM) 
and compliance management software solution started in 
January 2018. Training for risk and compliance champions 
and licensing requirements were also concluded. Ingested 
risk register data will be analysed. 

Internal audit

The NRF Internal Audit unit has adopted a co-sourced 
model, which makes use of an internal audit service 
providers to augment in-house capacity. For the period 
under review, the unit implemented the 2017/18 risk-based 
audit plan approved by the Audit and Risk Committee in 
March 2017, which consisted of 12 process reviews, one 
maturity assessment and various fraud awareness sessions. 
Implementation tracking of prior-year recommendations 
(internal and external audits) continued. The unit also 
facilitated the successful forensic audit. 

Knowledge management corporate

The NRF views information as a corporate asset that must be 
managed, controlled and shared in line with legislative and 
governance standards. Knowledge management corporate 
(KMC) is a cross-cutting corporate function responsible for 
internal records and documents management in line with 
legislation. The data, content and curation management 
function is responsible for the population and management 
of databases and data produced across the system 
of innovation. Other services include scientometrics, 
bibliometrics, and content and curation management 
services. 

Over the reporting period, the records and documents 
management function facilitated access to, and control 
of, NRF records. This included support and guidance 
on archiving, off-site storage, disposal and electronic 
repositories. Unrestricted access to files and records was 
provided to the Office of the Auditor-General to ensure 
a seamless external audit process such as that of the 
previous financial year. 

Digitisation is the conversion of analogue information into 
digital information. As digitisation capabilities expand, 
virtually every aspect of life is captured and stored in 
some digital form. The impact of this is a real-time global 
exchange of information between multiple connected 
devices (fixed and mobile). 
(Ernst & Young: The digitisation of everything)

The Digitisation and Digital Data Preservation Centre 
is a collaborative initiative hosted at the NRF to provide 
technical digitisation support and services to institutions 
not able to provide this capabilty. The NRF supports the 
mobilisation of experts to conduct training and support for 
institutions starting a digitisation and digital preservation 
exercise. During the review period, the NRF embarked on 
the SAAO Astronomy Heritage Digitisation Project and the 
Sellschop project at iThemba LABS, Gauteng. The former 
requires the digitisation of 24 509 individual items. Phase 
one, completed in quarter four, included thick scientific 
handwritten record books, handwritten reports, notebooks, 
meteorological notebooks and observation notebooks. 
Phase two will include photographic prints, artworks, glass 
slides and spectroscopic plates etc. and will be completed 
in the 2018/19 financial year.

Corporate finance 

The mandate of the corporate finance is the management 
and control of financial processes through business systems, 
management accounting support, policy development, 
financial change management, statutory reporting, workflow 
development and financial control. It is through the corporate 
finance function that the NRF ensures prudent and optimal 
use of resources directed with accountability. The controls 
and processes developed and enforced ensure that the 
organisation meets the statutory obligations of a Schedule 
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3A public entity in terms of the Public Finance Management 
Act (PFMA). Operational costs were effectively managed, 
with corporate overheads remaining below 3% and overall 
NRF overheads below 10%. 

An external audit process was concluded during the second 
quarter and an unqualified audit opinion was expressed by 
the Auditor-General for the 2017/18 financial year. 

Sound internal controls were maintained for the financial 
year and several policies and guidelines were developed or 
amended in line with best practice, including the following: 

• Foreign Currency Guidelines and Procedures; 
• NRF Prevention, Detection and Resolution of Fraud and 

Corruption Policy; and 
• Supply Chain Management Policy.

Supply chain management 

The corporate supply chain management (SCM) function 
provides directives, communiques, advisories, training and 
support to the business units on a case-by-case basis. The 
function also supports the NRF Bid Adjudication Committee 
(BAC) by providing secretariat and quality assurance 

services for bids submitted. Table 6 is a summary of BAC 
consideration for the year.

An SCM Policy review was initiated in terms of treasury 
instruction No 4 of 2015/16 on the ‘Standard for infrastructure 
(construction) procurement and delivery management’. The 
amendments were concluded and a change management 
process has been developed to manage implementation of 
the amendments. 

7.3.2 Providing leading-edge ICT systems to 
support effective and efficient operations

Over the period in review, ICT systems were stable 
and available for 99% of the time, excluding scheduled 
maintenance time. Cyber security was a key focus of the 
corporate IT function as the global risk of cyber threats 
continued to escalate. NRF firewalls were upgraded 
and various filters installed to ensure security. The ICT 
governance environment was further enhanced through 
the approved Cyber and Information Security Framework, 
the TENET EduRoam Policy, the ICT Standards Policy 
Statement, and the review and update of the NRF 
consolidated ICT policies. 

Description Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Cumulative

Number of specifications on which 
advice was provided by BSAC 12 13 13 22 60

Number of BAC Meetings held 5 3 4 4 16

Bids recommended for awarding 
including multiple year contracts

16  
(R93 993 935

13
(R46 063 319)

10
(R57 364 030)

19  
(R51 094 105

58
(R248 515 389)

Variations considered and 
approved

5  
(R3 206 884)

8  
(R38 967 786)

2  
(R1 532 000

2  
(556 306)

17 
 (R44 262 976)

Cancelled Bids 3 10 2 2 17

Deviations recommended and 
approved

1 
(R1 200 000

3 
(R13 646 787)

7 
(R136 178 590)

2 
(R14 421 142)

2 
(R14 421 142)

TOTALS 47
 (R98 400 819)

55 
(R98 677 892)

46 
(R195 074 620)

23
(R66 071 553)

88
( R458 224 884)

TABLE 6: BAC AND BID SPECIFICATION ADVISORY COMMITTEE (BSAC) CONSIDERATIONS
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The NRF call provisioning tool was implemented in quarter 
one of 2017/18, to reduce the complexity and increase the 
efficiencies of the call provisioning process. 

Furthermore, the team automated the Annual Progress 
Report (APR) submission process through which NRF 
grantholders report annual progress, to improve statutory 
reporting, including the collection of data for the NRF BI 
system. 

During the financial year, the NRF contracted technical 
consultants to map key business processes as the first 
step in a feasibility study to determine whether a business 
case  could be supported for the acquisition of an enterprise 

resource planning (ERP) system to replace its current suite 
of disparate systems. Numerous suggestions were made 
and the NRF Board approved a project for the identification, 
evaluation and procurement of an ERP system.

7.3.3  Provide effective combined assurance

The customised combined assurance model for the NRF is 
aimed at ensuring optimal coverage from management, and 
internal and external assurance providers on the day-to-day 
risks facing the organisation. The organisation continued to 
conduct business based on effective combined assurance 
methodologies, processes and principles.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE
A reputable and 

influential agency 
shaping the science 

and technology  
system

NRF Objective 6 links to:

• MTSF Priority 4 – Decent 
employment through inclusive 
growth through the promotion 
of governance and compliance 
as a strategic asset, and 
drives compliance with 
respect to Broad Based Black 
Empowerment and the Industrial 
Policy Action Plan (IPAP).

Design and implement customised enabling support 
systems based on compliance.

• Promote good governance as a strategic asset;
• Provide leading-edge ICT systems to support 

efficient and effective operations; and
• Provide effective combined assurance.

Objective  
statement

Critical  
implementation 
activities

6

INDICATORS Actual 
2016/17

Target
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Unqualified  
Audit report YES YES YES -

Corporate 
overheads: 
calculated as a  
percentage of total 
expenditure

1.4% <3% 1.8% -40%

Management of overheads is well within the threshold set for the NRF 
and aligned to the operational and financial sustainability initiative. 
The marginal increase in comparison to the previous financial year 
is primarily due to the creation of the new Strategy Planning and 
Partnerships division.

Organisational  
Overheads: 
calculated as a 
percentage of total 
expenditure

5.3% <10% 6.2% -38%

Management of overheads is well within the threshold set for the NRF 
and aligned to the operational and financial sustainability initiative. 
The increase in comparison to the previous financial year is due to a 
reduction in the Science Advancement management fee following the 
DST contracts consolidation exercise. There is also an increase in the 
SARAO (SKA) overheads as the business unit ramps up for MeerKAT 
operations, as well as the increase in cost for the initial relocation and 
refurbishment of the new lease building in Cape Town.

BUDGET (R (000)) Actual 
2016/17

Budget 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

NRF corporate 107 258  86 427 99 752  -13 325 The variance is largely due to a delay in the handover of the new 
building extension and vacancies across the business unit being filled. 

Optimise return on investment 

TABLE 7: PERFORMANCE AGAINST OBJECTIVE 6 - 2017/18
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• Ensure that the organisation attract, retains, develops and trains the right number and quality of staff.
• Improve the quality and efficiency of the recruitment, selection, and placement process.
• Pay particular attention to the attraction, development and retention of scarce skills categories.

• Develop, implement, and improve a sustainable human resource and payroll management system and 
processes.

• Contribute to improvements in employee performance and productivity.
• Ensure that the organisation has a robust system of policies and processes to manage its employee 

pipeline in the short- and long-term.

• Implement internal organisational development initiatives to encourage and sustain the ‘Living the NRF 
values’ campaign.

• Ensure that staff are aware of and able to adapt to change and transformation to deliver on the NRF’s 
mandate and the country’s transformation objectives.

• Contribute to the development of a team-base organisational culture through appropriate development 
interventions and programmes.

• Build, embed and maintain positive staff perceptions.

• Support the business of the NRF through drafting, vetting, negotiating, reviewing and advising on all 
types of contracts managed by the NRF’s various bussiness units.

• Manage litigation by or against the NRF in the various legal forums (Courts, Council for Conciliation, 
Mediation and Arbitration- CCMA- and alternative dispute resolution - ADR). 

• Provide robust legal opinions and advice in support of the NRF business.
• Provide support during processes of employee grievances and disciplines, as well as managing 

relations with labour unions.
• Create and maintain a harmonious and stable labour relations environment.
• Manage the NRF’s intellectual property portfolio.

TALENT 
MANAGEMENT

HR  
SYSTEMS  

AND  
PROCESSES

TRAINING AND 
ORGANISATIONAL 

DEVELOPMENT

LEGAL AND 
EMPLOYEE 
RELATIONS 
SERVICES

FIGURE 18: HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEGAL SERVICES ACTIVITIES

7.4 Performance against strategic objective 8:  
Improve talent management

Talent management includes the successful attraction, 
placement, retention and continuous development of 
committed, skilled and representative staff. The NRF 
human resources and legal services function provides 
policy direction and strategy for effective human resource 
management.

7.4.1  Provide policy direction and strategy for 
effective human resource management

The corporate human resources and legal services (HRLS) 
function responds to needs in the strategic and annual 
performance plans of NRF divisions and business units by 
providing the suite of services set out below.
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TABLE 8: EMPLOYMENT EQUITY PERFORMANCE AS AT 31 MARCH 2018

Employment equity and transformation 

The NRF’s transformation framework and employment 
equity plan (EEP) are at the core of its commitment to achieve 
transformation and representative employment equity at 
all occupation levels and within the various categories of 
its workforce. The NRF Employment Equity and Redress 
Policy adopted by the Board sets out measures to ensure 
legal compliance with the Employment Equity Act, 1998 
(Act 55 of 1998). It includes objectives, activities, numerical 
goals and targets to achieve representation of designated 
groups across the organisation.

Whilst progress on long-term employment equity targets 
continues steadily, achievement against set targets has 
been affected by the transfer of the NZG to SANBI. For 
2017/18, representation of black staff was 71.2% against 
a target of 76%, while female representation was 40.9% 
against a target of 43% (foreign nationals excluded). Key 
challenges remain gender representation at executive 
and senior management levels and black representation 
in the three highest employment categories. People with 
disabilities account for 0.6% against a target of 1.4%. There 
was, however, significant improvement in the achievement 
of employment equity targets for senior technical and 
managerial positions. The employment equity profile is 
depicted below.

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t E

qu
ity

Occupational level

Designated Non-Designated

TotalMale Female Male Foreign Nationals

A C I A C I W W Male Female

Top Management 3 0 2 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 8

Senior Management 6 2 1 1 0 2 0 11 3 0 26

Professionally qualified and experienced 
specialists and mid-management 44 27 7 16 5 4 30 115 34 10 292

Skilled technical and academically 
qualified workers, junior management, 
supervisors, foremen and superintendents

150 102 9 187 63 12 70 89 9 6 697

Semi - skilled and discretionary decision 
making 21 17 0 15 14 0 0 1 0 0 68

Unskilled and defined decision making 9 21 0 9 19 0 1 1 0 0 60

TOTAL PERMANENT 233 169 19 229 102 18 101 218 46 16 1151

Non - permanent employees 15 11 0 8 0 0 4 3 0 1 42

GRAND TOTAL 248 180 19 237 102 18 105 221 46 17 1193
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Proportion of staff with masters and doctoral degrees 

At the end of the 2017/18 financial year, 141 staff members 
held a masters degree and 164 had doctorates. A total of 35 
staff members are currently enrolled for doctoral degrees, 
with 59 staff members pursuing a masters qualification. 
The research-intensive National Researach Facilities had 
128 researchers, which represents 15% of the total staff 
complement of Programme 4.

Staff turnover

There were 105 terminations and 185 vacancies were 
filled by the end of the financial year. The cumulative 
annual staff turnover is 8.8%, 7.3% of which is classified 
as controllable as it includes resignations, expiring 
contracts and retrenchments. The achieved staff turnover 
is above the target of 6%, and the NRF will continue to find 
innovative ways to engage and incentivise staff and create 
an environment conducive to retention of key personnel.

A vacancy control system has been developed to monitor 
and improve recruitment efficiency. The NRF LinkedIn 
and other social media accounts have provided additional 
platforms for recruitment as part of the talent sourcing 
strategy.

Cultivate a learning organisation based on the NRF 
values

The NRF recognises the need for ongoing skills development 
at all levels of staff and across a range of skills development 
areas. In addition to development programmes that are 
domain specific, there are development areas that are 
common across the organisation. These aspects are 
facilitated by the Corporate Training unit and include 
people management, leadership, stakeholder relations and 
financial management.

A workplace skills plan (WSP) that addresses both 
functional (core) and support (behavioural) skills needs 
across business divisions is in place and is maintained 
in accordance with performance plans, requirements and 
legislation. 

The training interventions were undertaken and expenditures 
incurred by the NRF human resources corporate training 
function during the financial year. (refer to page 140)

7.4.2 Improve and maintain harmony among staff,  
management and labour 

Union representation 

The labour relations climate in the organisation is generally 
stable and there is continued progress in addressing 
challenges that still exist in some business divisions, 
particularly in RISA, where greater investment in relationship-
building is required. Shopstewards and managers were 
trained on their roles in the workplace. Interventions put 
in place to strengthen the local management shopsteward 
committees (MSSCs) have resulted in fewer grievances. 
Membership of the union remains steady, with overall union 
representation showing an increase from the previous 
year’s 38.7% to 39.2%.

Corporate legal services and industrial relations 

Corporate legal services and industrial relations (CLS 
and IR) entails intellectual property (IP) management and 
provides the NRF with a range of legal, employee relations 
and IP management services. These comprise negotiation, 
and vetting and drafting of contracts, including rendering 
of legal opinions and advice. The function supports 
maintenance of labour stability in the workplace, including 
compliance with the NRF IP Policy. The function consists of 
six pillars that deal with the legal matters of the NRF and its 
business units:

• Documentation support (drafting, reviewing and vetting 
of contracts);

• Management of employee relations processes;
• Interpretation of statutes and compliance assurance;
• Rendering of legal opinions and advice on various legal 

matters;
• Litigation management; and
• Protection of NRF IP.

Various contracts were drafted, reviewed and vetted, 
including service level agreements, specific funding 
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agreements, international and local memoranda of 
understanding (MoUs) and memoranda of agreement 
(MoAs), collaboration agreements, and employment- and 
secondment contracts. 

The following services were provided by the CLS and 
IR function: 

• Legal advice to business units;
• Management of employee relations through support on 

grievance handling and disciplinary cases; and

• Preparation of agreements in which the protection 
of IP is emphasised in the interest of the broader 
South African society as envisaged in the Intellectual 
Property Rights from Publicly Financed Research and 
Development Act, 2008. 

During the financial year, 283 contractual documents 
were drafted, 10 court cases* managed, 61 labour-related 
cases processed, and 180 general legal opinions and 44 
intellectual property-related advisory services provided. 

TABLE 9: PERFORMANCE AGAINST OBJECTIVE 8 - 2017/18

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE
A skilled, committed 
and representative 
NRF research and 

technical workforce

NRF Objective 8 
links to:

• MTSF Priorities 
4 and 5.

Strive to attract, retain, and train a vibrant; skilled and representative 
staff cohort.

• Provide policy direction and strategy for effective Human Resource 
Management;

• Cultivate a learning organisation based on the NRF values; and
• Facilitate academia-NRF exchanges.

Objective  
statement

Critical  
implementation 
activities

8

INDICATORS Actual 
2016/17

Target 
2017/18

Actual
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Proportion of 
South Africans 
from designated 
groups in senior 
technical and 
managerial 
positions 
(Peromnes 1-8)

Black  
Number  287 262 277 6% Deliberate and consistent application of the NRF 

Employment Equity Plan has resulted in the 
black targets being exceeded. Black % 46% 45% 52% 14%

Female  
Number  198  187  185 -1% The NRF actively promotes the appointment 

of female staff in its recruitment strategies to 
reach the target. Every effort is made to ensure 
representivity in the management structure in 
accordance with the employment equity policy.Female % 32% 32% 35% 7%

% staff turnover 5.9% 6% 8.5% -41%

Although higher than the target, the turnover is 
relatively low compared to the national average. 
Continued efforts are required to retain staff 
and to find innovative ways of engaging and 
incentivising staff to reduce the risk of losing key 
personnel.

BUDGET (R (000)) Budget 
2016/17

Budget 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Training and development  2 648  5 400  4 395  1 004 
The underspent is due to the management 
development programme being reviewed and not 
expended.

Improve talent management
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8.1 Situational analysis

PROGRAMME 2: SCIENCE ENGAGEMENT8

SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS

To promote a scientifically literate and engaged society, the NRF is mandated to entrench science engagement 
throughout the organisation, the NSI, and within the broader society. 

Programme 2 conceptualises, implements, and coordinates initiatives towards the integration of natural 
sciences, engineering, social sciences, and humanities into society in order to enhance appreciation of its 
critical role in national prosperity and sustainable development, as well as to promote interest and study in 
such fields while engaging critically with society.

OPERATIONAL DIVISIONS

SAASTA RISA National Research Facilities

SAASTA is the national 
coordinating unit for the science 
engagement strategy.

RISA engages with and 
communicates sectoral science 
and technology strategy and 
policy.

National Research Facilities are 
mandated to support discipline-
specific knowledge dissemination 
to their stakeholder communities 
and the public at large through 
access, collaboration and 
community outreach initiatives.

  PROGRAMME 2 FUNCTIONS:

Science Education Science Communication Science Awareness

Create tomorrow’s scientists and 
innovators.

• Celebrate the country’s research 
achievements.

• Expand the public’s appreciation 
for science.

• Encourage engagement with 
science issues that impact on the 
daily lives of ordinary people.

Encourage exploration 
through hands-on 
experience while 
creating enthusiasm for 
STEMI.
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8.2 Performance against strategic objective 7: 
Entrench science engagement

Strategic objective 7 is achieved by promoting a vibrant 
national research culture through the implementation of 
effective science awareness, education and communication 
activities. Programme 2 responds by cultivating science 
awareness through education and communication, and 
implementing effective science engagement initiatives 
within and across all NRF programmes.

8.2.1 Cultivate science awareness through 
education and communication and implement 
effective science engagement initiatives

Learner and educator support 

The main activities in this area focus on improving learner 
and educator participation in science, engineering, 
mathematics, and technology (STEMI)-based programmes. 
Projects include science camps, STEMI olympiads, techno 
programmes and educator development programmes. 

A total of 179 315 learners were reached in 36 (69%) of 
the 52 district municipalities through learner and educator 
development activities, against an annual target of 215 000. 
This was achieved through numerous interventions focusing 
on participation and performance in mathematics, physical 
science, life science, natural science and technology, as 
well as career guidance.

The following were the highlights for the period under 
review:

Olympiads and competitions 

• The Natural Science Olympiad™ and round one of 
AstroQuiz™ were concluded in all nine provinces. 
AstroQuiz is increasing its footprint, having grown 
participating science centres from 22 to 28.

• The National Science Olympiad™ and Famelab® 
demonstrated their effectiveness in identifying and 
nurturing talent in SET. Learner Angus Thring placed 
first in the National Science Olympiad (NSO) physical 
sciences stream for two consecutive years, competing 

against more than 30 000 learners. Mintek scientist 
Tshiamo Legoale, national winner of Famelab, secured 
the top spot at the international finals in the UK; 

• An impact study was conducted after the 2018 
National Science Olympiad. Of 101 learners of the 500 
top performers over a five-year period (top 100 per 
year) from 2013 to 2017, 72.5% indicated that their 
participation and performance in NSO influenced them 
to pursue studies in STEMI at HEIs across the country 
and globally;

• National Science Olympiad female winner, Anzo 
Tshipetane, attended the London International Youth 
Science Forum.She left matric one of the top national 
performers in mathematics and physical science and is 
now studying medicine at the University of Cape Town; 

• The SAASTA South African Science Lens™ 
implemented a pilot competition on the social media 
platform, Instagram, targeted at ages 13 to 25. Each 
week focuses on a different theme and, since inception, 
follower numbers have increased from 81 to 124;

• SAAO initiated an astronomy quiz for grade 7 learners 
in the Northern Cape and Western Cape, which stirs 
curiosity and creates a desire to learn more about 
astronomy and science. It also boosts the confidence 
of educators, thereby improving readiness of these 
educators to teach the ‘Earth and beyond’ theme. A 
further 180 learners participated in its national telescope 
naming competition; and

• The National School Debates and AstroQuiz concluded 
their competitions at national finals in October 2017. 
The winners of the National School Debates, SJ van 
der Merwe Technical High School, will receive an all-
expenses paid educational trip to the east coast of the 
USA. 

Learner workshops and camps

• Robotic workshops (part of the SAASTA TechnoYouth™ 
programme) trains learners in programming and 
sharpens mathematical skills. The University of South 
Africa (UNISA) robotics team provided robotics training, 
continuing its partnership with the NRF. 

• The SKA hosted the First Lego League Junior Kids 
training in Carnarvon. This provided learners with an 



NRF Annual Report 2017/18

PART B: PERFORMANCE

NRF Annual Report 2017/18 65

introduction to robotics by allowing them to build various 
robotics models from Lego components; 

• iThemba LABS facilitated international physics 
masterclasses in collaboration with the Department 
of Subatomic Physics of the European Organisation 
for Nuclear Research (CERN). An international video 
conference concluded the event and allowed learners 
to interact with their counterparts from Poland and 
Bangladesh, as well as with CERN moderators. The 
facility also resumed its Siyophumelela programme for 
primary school science learners; 

• SAAO hosted learner workshops in the Northern 
Cape and Western Cape. Learners were engaged on 
content and hands-on experiments. These workshops 
supported, clarified and improved the understanding of 
learners in mathematics, natural and physical sciences; 

• South African Environmental Observation Network 
(SAEON) hosted several science camps for grade 10 
learners in the Ndlovu and Elwandle nodes that exposed 
learners to environmental observation, data collection, 
analysis and reporting skills. The facility also visited 
schools in the nodes and engaged with learners on 
weather and climate lessons. Instructions were provided 
on how to build a weather station, analyse the subsequent 
data and understand the factors that influence weather 
in the immediate environment. The facility also hosted 
an educational tour of the marine research vessel Ellen 

Khuzwayo and learners observed and learnt about the 
science behind seamanship;

• SARAO provided workshops that included interactive 
astronomy-related activities and introduced learners 
to geodesy to broaden their knowledge. In addition, 
learners were given a tour of the observatory and were 
able to view the iconic 26m and 15m radio telescopes; 
and 

• SKA SA participated in Zulfest in Richard’s Bay, where 
SKA SA content specialists facilitated daily workshops, 
including the ‘Colour by numbers’ workshop presented 
to 1 139 primary school learners and the ‘Make your own 
spectroscope’ workshop presented to 1 015 high school 
learners.

Career profiling 

• The SAASTA ‘Role modelling’ project implemented 
12 campaigns and profiled 24 different careers. Role 
models motivated the learners by sharing their struggles 
and subsequent successes; 

• iThemba LABS and SAEON participated in the SA 
Agulhas II open day for schools, hosting exhibitions on 
careers and showcasing science fields; 

• SAAO participated in the JB Marks Career Exhibition in 
Umtata where the main discussion was STEM subject 
choices as the key to success. Learners were exposed 
to various science studies and careers including 
astronomy;

The 2017 SAASTA National School 
Debates Champions from SJ van 
der Merwe Technical High School, 
with Anja Fourie (SKA SA science 
engagement coordinator)



NRF Annual Report 2017/18

PART B: PERFORMANCE

66

• SKA SA and HartRAO participated in the Mamelodi 
West Parish Young Adults League Annual Career Day 
in Gauteng, where bursary and career opportunities 
were communicated to 300 learners; 

• SKA SA participated in the University of the Western 
Cape (UWC) open day and presented a motivational 
lecture that provided 51 educators, 3 100 high school 
learners, 1 000 students and 300 members of the public 
with information about MeerKAT, SKA, astronomy, 
bursaries and career opportunities at SKA SA;

• SAEON implemented a marine science career 
programme to expose learners to unfamiliar careers in 
biological sciences; and

• The South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity 
(SAIAB) engaged learners and educators at Rhodes 
University Science Faculty open day through five 
displays manned by researchers, interns and students. 

Educator support 

The role of an educator is imperative in the nurturing of 
a learner’s evident or latent talent. To ensure that learner 
performance in the critical areas of SET is improved, 
continuous educator development is vital. Over the 
reporting period, 2 741 educators in natural, physical and 
life sciences were reached through educator development 
workshops and intensive STEMI profiling. Highlights over 
the reporting period included: 

Educator workshops and development programmes

• SAAO hosted a week-long educator development 
programme that involved 442 educators and was 
titled ‘Earth and beyond’. The workshop was held 
in Gert Sibande District and included Piet Retief, 
Ermelo, Balfour, Standerton, Badplaas and Elikwatini. 
Educators were provided with the necessary theme-
focused educational resource materials to supplement 
classroom learning; 

• SAEON focused its training interventions on preparing 
educators for science camps. Teachers attended a 
workshop at the Arid Lands node teacher’s centre, 
which focused on practical experiments and teaching 
methods that educators can implement to stimulate 
learners and improve performance; 

• In preparation for the World Robotics Olympiad (WRO), 
educators from schools in the Karoo SKA operational 
area participated in EV3 Lego Mindstorms training 
held in Carnarvon. SKA SA content specialists focused 
on training in introduction to robotics, introduction 
to EV3 Lego Mindstorms and robot programming. 
An opportunity to tackle the WRO 2016 challenge, 
instructions on how to enter WRO 2017 and 
development of lesson plans for students were also 
discussed; and

• SAASTA implemented several workshops for the 
educator support in mathematics, physical science, 
life science and life orientation programme. These 
workshops were implemented with StepSud and 
Rural-to-Rural Development in Makapanstad and 
Lebowakgomo respectively. 

Student support 

To build on support for undergraduate and postgraduate 
students, the NRF used a mix of role modelling and 
industry exposure. Students were placed as volunteers 
at host institutions in various fields, providing them with 
the opportunity to gain work experience. A total of 3 554 
students were supported, with the following highlights 
reported: 

Undergraduate students 

• SKA SA participated in the University of the Western 
Cape open day, where content specialists hosted 
an exhibition and presented a motivational lecture 
that provided 1 000 students with information about 
MeerKAT, SKA, astronomy, bursaries and career 
opportunities. In addition, SKA participated in a career 
fair at Sol Plaatje University in Kimberley with an 
exhibition that provided 500 students with information 
about the SKA, MeerKAT, astronomy, bursaries and 
career opportunities at SKA SA;

• SARAO hosted information sessions on careers in 
astronomy and geodesy; and

• The SAASTA Undergraduate Support Programme 
exposed 680 undergraduate students in second to 
fourth year courses with a physics component, to 
role models and industries that apply physics, to 
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encourage them to study physics in their postgraduate 
programmes.

Postgraduate students

• SKA SA collaborated with the International Astronomical 
Union (IAU) Office for Young Astronomers to host 
a science communication workshop for 30 African 
postgraduate astronomy students from Addis 
Ababa, Ethiopia. In addition, SKA hosted a science 
communication workshop that introduced the theory of 
science engagement as an extension of the IAU 2017 
International School for Young Astronomers (ISYA);

• SAIAB offered a workshop on molecular techniques, 
among other topics, to honours and masters students 
from University of Fort Hare (UFH) and Walter Sisulu 
University (WSU); and 

• As part of the National Science Youth Programme, 
SAASTA identified and placed 125 unemployed SET 
graduates with host institutions such as science centres, 
to provide them with work experience and life skills to be 
marketable and employable. 

Public outreach and awareness 

Participation and awareness programmes are targeted 
at educators, learners and the general public. They 
stimulate the communication of SET and provide access 
to relevant scientific and technological information through 
exhibits and resources. During the period under review,  
1 191 892 participants were reached through festivals and 

mass participation events as well as open public access to 
facilities and guided facility tours.  

Festivals and mass events

National Science Week (NSW) pre-launch activities included 
lectures, seminars, presentations and tours of the facilities. 
Daily activities were publicised on the SAASTA website to 
alert the public to select activities of interest at the different 
sites. Sites implemented facility tours, night-sky viewing, 
science shows, parachute demonstrations, science cafes, 
and presentations on diamonds;

• SKA SA collaborated with the National Science and 
Technology Forum (NSTF) on motivational lectures and 
workshops in four Cape Peninsula high schools during 
NSW;

• SAASTA and SARAO Hartebeesthoek participated in 
and exhibited at the Mpumalanga Science Festival and 
a Ministerial event in Ladysmith where the Honourable 
Mrs Naledi Pandor, former Minister of Science and 
Technology, handed over a mobile computer laboratory 
to Sigidisabathembu Primary School in iLenge-Majuqule 
village;

• The NRF provided funding and was represented at 
national festivals such as Science Tube in Thohoyandou, 
EiSEF in Polokwane, Zululand Science Festival 
(ZuluFest) and Science Unlimited in Kwalata through 
astronomy presentations, interactive exhibitions, sky 
viewing and science shows. SAASTA won a bronze 

Dr Don Thomas from NASA 
addresses learners at Cosmo 
City Secondary School
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award for the best exhibition in the edutainment category 
at the Rand Easter Show in Gauteng;

• SAEON, SARAO Hartebeesthoek and SKA participated 
in the SA Agulhas open day. SKA SA collaborated with 
SARAO Hartebeesthoek on an exhibition that provided 
visitors with information about geodesy research 
conducted by SARAO Hartebeesthoek on Gough and 
Marion islands, among others; and

• SAASTA exhibited nanotechnology and hydrogen fuel 
cells at the SMME Opportunity Roadshow, YSTI Summit, 
and Sustainability Week Summit. A presentation titled 
‘Youth business opportunities in hydrogen and fuel cells’ 
was delivered at the YSTI Summit. 

Open public access and guided tours of facilities 

• SAASTA and SAAO continued to support schools 
looking to expose their learners to science awareness 
and curriculum-related activities. School visits and tailor-
made activities are designed for each group depending 
on need/preference; 

• SAAO hosted six open nights and two public lectures. 
Members of the public were also given a site tour and an 
opportunity to view the stars through small telescopes. 
Special lectures were given to the Rotary Club and 
Seamen Club;

• Visitors to SARAO were given a tour of the observatory 
in Hartebeesthoek where they were introduced to 
the iconic 26m and 15m radio telescopes, as well as 
geodetic equipment for satellite tracking. Younger 
visitors enjoyed hands-on activities. Tours ended with 
night-sky viewing, weather permitting;

• SAIAB periodically offers tours that include 
presentations on the coelacanth and other interesting 
marine research;

• SKA SA collaborated with NSTF to host 2016’s top 20 
matriculants in mathematics and physical sciences. 
Members of the NSTF Brilliance Programme - on a 
week-long astronomy tour. The tour included visits 
to various astronomy sites, including the SKA site 
outside Carnarvon, South African Large Telescope 
(SALT) outside Sutherland, SAAO in Observatory, Iziko 
Planetarium in Cape Town and other scientific tourism 

sites en route, including iThemba LABS; and
• SAASTA awarded 27 grants to science centres to 

develop exhibitions, initiate science engagement 
interventions, develop infrastructure and procure mobile 
laboratories.

Science communication 

Specialist areas in science communication include media 
engagement, audience analysis, scientific editing, ICT 
specialisation and discipline-specific science communication 
(currently in biotechnology, nanotechnology, hydrogen fuel 
cell technology and space science). During the period under 
review, 17 researchers were profiled in the media and 119 
researchers engaged with the public. 

The Conversation Africa (TC-Africa) is an independent 
source of news and views for the public from the academic 
and research community. It is a collaboration between 
editors and academics to provide informed news analysis 
and commentary that is free to read and republish. The 
collaboration between the NRF and TC-Africa aims to 
unlock research and expertise in the university and research 
sector, democratise knowledge, rebuild the foundation and 
informed debate, contribute to research for solutions to 
the most pressing problems in Africa through cross-border 
cooperation and sharing knowledge and best practice, and 
encourage collaboration across continents through TC-
Africa’s global capability. 

To date, 123 NRF-funded researchers and scientists have 
authored and published 262 articles on various scientific 
and other topics. Open-access articles were accessed  
3 948 592 times. 

Other contributions were as follows: 

• The SKA SA communications division established a 
science engagement content specialist database on 
which radio astronomy content specialists, including 
postgraduate students, researchers and scientists, 
submit their qualifications, area of expertise, languages 
spoken and experience in science engagement, then 
participate in science engagement activities;
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• SAASTA Science Communication Division appointed 
a pool of science communication training facilitators to 
offer training to CoEs and South African research chairs. 
Planning is underway for the rollout of this support 
programme to researchers and research centres; 

• Young scientists and students from various universities, 
SAIAB and SAEON participated in Ocean Acidification 
Awareness on World Oceans Day 2017; 

• SKA provided training for content specialists on 
presentation of interactive exhibitions and a number 
of other workshops, such as ‘Spectroscope’, ‘Pinwheel 
galaxy’, ‘Solar system hats’ and ‘Colour by numbers’; 
and 

• Two scientists delivered motivational talks to learners 
during a SAEON science symposium. One of the 
scientists explained that her journey into the scientific 
field was motivated by the SAEON environmental 
science camps she attended during school. In addition, 
three scientists implemented programmes on water 
and the future of irrigation with schools and community 
members in the Western Cape. 

The NRF and its facilities ensure consistent communication 
with the public through media platforms that include live and 
recorded radio and television broadcasts, print media, online 
and social media. The media monitoring service provided 
to the NRF by SAASTA, as a national coordinator of the 
Science Engagement Strategy, is constantly improving in 
both the quantity and quality of media monitored. 

International participation and facilitation 

SAASTA is gradually expanding its collaboration with the 
international community, including a responsible research 
and innovation conglomerate with Germany, Switzerland, 
Georgia, Scotland, England, Ireland, China, France, Italy, 
Austria, Netherlands, UK, Serbia and Malta. The project will 
focus on engagement through project Nucleus. SAIAB will 
lead the South African participation.
An MoU between SAASTA and the Beijing Association 
for Science and Technology was renewed for five years. 
SAASTA attended the 2017 Beijing International Science 
Communication Roundtable (‘Innovating ideas and leading 

practices in science communication’) and presented at 
the fifth Beijing International Science and Technology 
Film Festival. The title of this presentation was ‘Science 
communication through film: A case study of tuberculosis 
in South Africa’.

In collaboration with the Department of Subatomic 
Physics, iThemba LABS facilitated international physics 
masterclasses.

Other performance highlights 

NRF facilities assist in capacitating individual community 
members or in general community development. Some of 
these initiatives included:

• Comprehensive science kits were donated to 10 schools 
across the country;

• SAEON scientists assisted community members with 
their tertiary academic assignments. The facility also 
donated four binoculars to the Bushbabies group to use 
during SANParks Kids events;

• SAIAB provided assistance to the Good Shepherd 
School Library and the Library for the Blind in 
Grahamstown, and provided guidance and assistance 
to the understaffed Albany Museum (a declared cultural 
institution) in cataloguing its library holdings. Through 
the Margaret Smith Library digitisation project, Albany 
Museum publications have now been uploaded to the 
Biodiversity Heritage Library; and

• SKA SA facilitated Microsoft 365 training to 22 
educators from Carnarvon High School in Northern 
Cape. Training included an introduction to Microsoft 
365, a demonstration on how to use the software for 
collaborative learning, and an introduction to the tools 
and the online support community for educators.
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

Scientifically literate 
and engaged 

society

NRF Objective 7 
links to:

•  NRF Objective 
7 links to MTSF 
Priorities 1 and 
14.

Science engaging with society for the promotion of a vibrant national 
research culture through the implementation of effective science 
awareness, science education and science communication activities.

• Cultivate science awareness through education and communication 
and the implementation of effective science engagement initiatives;

• Implementation of science engagement in RISA; 
• Implementation of science engagement in Programmes 4 and 5; and
• Provide effective combined assurance.

Objective  
statement

Critical  
implementation 
activities

7

INDICATORS Actual 
2016/17

Target 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Investments in science engagement 
activities (SAASTA and National 
Research Facilities)(Rm)

106.1 86.3 105.7 22%

More NSW grants payments finalised earlier 
than expected, also the training sessions of the 
National Youth Service (NYS) programme for the 
volunteers were conducted earlier than initially 
planned.

Interactions with 
the public (learners, 
educators and the 
general public) 
focusing on science 
awareness activities 
(SAASTA)

Number of 
interactions 10  11 12 9% One more interaction could be presented.

Approximate 
number of 

public reached
1 084 760  1 080 000 1 191 892 10% It is noted that with uncontrolled public access, it 

is not possible to accurately set a target.

Interactions  
focusing on  
educator  
development  
and learner 
performance 
 in mathematics, 
technology and  
science

Number of 
interactions 17  10 16 60%

Target was exceeded due to several collaborative 
efforts with stakeholders to meet the stretched 
targets.

Educators 
reached 17 997 2 500 2741 10%-

Target was exceeded due to several collaborative 
efforts with stakeholders to meet the stretched 
targets.

Learners 
reached 374 457 215 000 179 315 -17%

The variance is mainly attributed to the learners 
stretched targets of over 150 000 that were 
not initially planned and budgeted for in the 
2017/18 financial year. Additional funding was 
made available in November 2017 to address 
the stretch targets. Whilst SAASTA manage to 
exceed the stretch target, the combined efforts 
of the National Research Facilities’s could 
not address the shortfall as projected. (Reach 
includes HEI students)

BUDGET (R (000)) Actual 
2016/17

Budget 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Science engagement 174 826 126 144 118 887 -7 256

Entrench science engagement

TABLE 10: PROGRAMME 2 PERFORMANCE AGAINST OBJECTIVE 7 - 2017/18
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SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS

The Research and Innovation Support and Advancement division (RISA) of the NRF supports and promotes 
human capacity development, knowledge generation, and platform provisioning through the provision and 
administration of, among other initiatives, a world-class granting system. The work of the programme is 
informed by a range of national policies , priorities and strategies, including the strategy for Human Capacity 
Development for Research, Innovation and Scholarships and the 2013 Ministerial guidelines for improving 
equity in the distribution of the DST-NRF bursaries and fellowships.

OPERATIONAL DIVISIONS

Reviews and 
Evaluation (RE)

  

Knowledge 
Advancement 
and Support 

(KAS)   

Research Chairs 
and Centres 

of Excellence 
(RCCE)   

Grant 
Management 
and Systems 

Administration 
(GMSA)   

Human 
Infrastructure 

Capacity 
Development 

(HICD)

  PROGRAMME 3 FUNCTIONS:

• Promoting and supporting internationally competitive research; 
• Providing access to cutting-edge research, infrastructure platforms; and
• Operating a world-class grant-making, review and evaluation system.

PROGRAMME 3 (RISA): HCD THROUGH BURSARIES, RESEARCH AND  
EQUIPMENT GRANTS9

9.1 Situational analysis
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9.2 Performance against strategic objective 1:  
 Promote globally competitive research 
and innovation

9.2.1 Investment in next generation, emerging and  
established researchers through the human  
capacity development pipeline

Funding is disbursed across an HCD pipeline through a 
suite of funding instruments supporting national strategies 
and priorities. RISA provides support to postgraduate 
students through bursaries and scholarships awarded 
according to the ‘Ministerial guidelines on improving 
equity in the distribution of bursaries and fellowships 
made through the NRF and funded by the Department of 
Science and Technology (2013)’ (Ministerial Guidelines). 

Researchers are supported through funding of research 
projects and providing research equipment, and a research 
infrastructure, and facilitating international and industry 
collaboration funding opportunities. 

As is illustrated in Figure 19, a significant investment is 
made in next generation (postgraduate student) support, 
thus contributing to transforming the researcher cohort for 
the future. The second largest investment is in strategic 
investment areas such as the CoEs and SARChI to build 
excellence in chosen areas, thereby improving the country’s 
global relevance and competitiveness in R&D. Going forward, 
the support for emerging and established researchers will 
be assessed to ensure that critical throughput continues to 
be enabled optimally.

FIGURE 19: NRF INVESTMENT TRENDS IN THE HCD PIPELINE
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Next generation researchers (postgraduate student 
support)

The NRF provided funding to 14 598 postgraduate students 
during the reporting period, 78% of whom are black students 
(target 69%). Female students comprised 57% against 
a target of 58%.The organisation initiated an in-depth 
analysis to understand and address systemic challenges. 
A total of 5 435 masters students were supported against a 
target of 5 350. The number of doctoral students supported 
also exceeded the target. A total of 3 519 doctoral students 
were supported against a target of 3 230. In addition, 4 730 
honours students received funding.

Postgraduate students are supported in nine broad 
categories, as listed  below: 

Emerging researchers (early career researchers)

Emerging researchers are postdoctoral fellows and 
early career researchers. The NRF has created funding 
instruments to support the development and mentoring 
of this cohort. However, due to funding constraints, 
throughput is not sufficient to enhance transformation of the 
established researchers. An invigorated funding strategy for 
this category is being explored in collaboration with the DST 
and other role-players in the NSI. 

The Thuthuka Research funding instrument provided 
support for emerging researchers in full-time, permanent or 
fixed-term contract appointments at public universities and 
research institutions. Academics and researchers entering 
the doctoral track may receive funding for up to three 

cycles of three years each, giving them up to nine years 
in which to complete their doctoral degrees and establish 
themselves as researchers. During the period under review, 
636 Thuthuka grantholders were supported, 73% of whom 
were black and 60% female. 

The Newton Fellowships for Early Career Researchers is a 
partnership of the NRF, the Academy of Medical Sciences, 
the British Academy and the Royal Society of the UK. To 
date, 26 fellows have been supported, with an additional 18 
grants to be awarded in 2018/19.

The New Generation of Academics Programme appointed 
103 academics at 24 HEIs across South Africa. Of those, 68 
were eligible for a research development grant. 

Postdoctoral fellowships enable doctoral graduates, 
particularly those from designated groups, to obtain further 
experience in research and innovation in preparation for 
research and development positions and future leadership 
roles within the South African NSI. For the period under 
review, 107 Innovation, the World of Sciences and green 
economy postdoctoral fellowships were taken up. Eighty 
percent of the fellows are black and 53% are female.

Customised funding instruments: Mobility support was 
provided to 25 academics at the University of Mpumalanga 
to enable them to meet with supervisors conducting 
fieldwork. The South African Technology Network conducted 
a workshop on writing for publication attended by scholars 
from all six universities of technology. The purpose was to 
accelerate the production of high-quality research outputs 
and participants were guided to complete a scientific 
manuscript for submission to accredited peer-reviewed 
journals. For the period under review, five manuscripts 
were submitted for publication, eight were in draft format 
and one manuscript needed to be revised for resubmission. 
Funding was provided for a three-year structured mentoring 
programme at the University of Pretoria for 60 black women 
academics to become rated. 

• Biology, Chemestry, Earth and Marine,  
Enviromental, Maternal, Physics and  
Technology (41%)

• Art, Humanities, Social Science (18%)
• Agriculture (8%)
• Medical and Health Sciences (8%)
• Mathematical Science (3%)
• Law (2%)
• Engineering (7%)
• Computer and Information Science (3%)
• Economics (11%)
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Established researchers

The investment in established researchers supports and 
promotes research at the top end of the HCD pipeline. 
Established researchers are professional or career 
researchers based at HEIs, science councils and at National 
Research Facilities. Established researchers not only 
contribute to the generation of knowledge, but supervise 
and train future researchers.

RISA provides funding instruments for self-initiated, 
discipline-based research projects, notably the Competitive 
Programme for Rated Researchers (CPRR) and the 
Competitive Support for Unrated Researchers (CSUR). 
CPRR and CSUR are discipline-based funding instruments 
that support basic research as a foundation of knowledge 
production in all disciplines, including the humanities, 
social, natural and physical sciences. In addition, theme-
based instruments are offered such as the African Origins 
Platform, IKS and the South African National Antarctic 
Programme that comprise science missions and geographic 
advantage areas of the country. The Global Change 
Research Programme, and Human and Social Dynamics 
for Development that address the government’s identified 
grand challenges provide further opportunities for directed 
knowledge generation and HCD. 

Over the reporting period, 1 698 black researchers were 
funded against a target of 1 960. Female researchers 
comprised 38% of the total, or 1 786 against a target of 
2 450. Black (35%) and female (35%) grantholders are 
under-represented in research infrastructure, mobility and 
nanotechnology flagship grants. This underperformance will 
be addressed through a transformation roadmap or strategy, 
on which development has started, and by a concerted and 
collaborative effort from all key role-players in the NSI, 
including the HEIs. 

Strategic investments

Through strategic investments in, inter alia, SARChI and the 
CoEs, the NRF creates multidisciplinary research platforms 
that support the exploration of innovative research to 
nationally and globally relevant subjects. 

South African Research Chairs Initiative (SARChI) 

SARChI aims to increase the scientific research and 
innovation capacity of the NSI by attracting and retaining 
established researchers who are considered global experts 
to local HEIs, National Research Facilities and science 
councils. The initiative attempts to build a critical mass of 
supervisory capacity, equipment, researchers and students 
around the research chair in support of domain-specific 
research where the domains are selected with consideration 
of socio-economic needs as well as global research trends. 
To date, 226 chairs have been awarded, 215 of which are 
operational. Of the 215 operational chairs, 33% are in 
human and social dynamics, 18% in the industry sector of 
the bio-economy, 16% in the health innovation sector of the 
bio-economy, 13% in biodiversity, 7% in astronomy and 3% 
in the agriculture sector of the bio-economy. For the period 
under review, 1 147 postgraduate students (52% female 
and 61% black) were directly supported under the SARChI 
grantholders linked bursaries. 

Chair: Computational Modelling of Materials 
Chair holder: Prof Phuti Ngoepe, UL

This SARChI chair researches computational 
modelling technology in order to examine the structure 
of materials at an atomic level, thereby speeding up 
the process of calculating their strength and other 
properties. Ngoepe also heads up the pilot plant for 
manganese beneficiation which was established at 
the University of Limpopo where research for energy 
storage will be advanced.

The establishment of the plant is especially useful to 
South Africa as it attempts to optimise the industrial 
applications of its wealth of natural resources, adding 
to the market value.
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Chair: Land Use: Planning and Management 
Chairholder: Prof Onisimo Mutanga (Interim 
chair holder), UKZN 

The SARChI chair is mandated to develop and sustain 
a partnership to strengthen the link between research 
and policy makers in local communities. The Durban 
Research Action Partnership (D’RAP), established 
by the Chair, resulted in a network of scientists and 
practitioners working together on three major research 
programmes around issues of restoration, climate 
change and integrated planning. The close partnership 
with the eThekwini Municipality is a good example of 
successful partnership to bridge the gap between 
science and practice.

Centres of Excellence (CoEs) 

CoEs are physical or virtual centres of research that 
concentrate existing capacity and resources to enable 
researchers to collaborate across disciplines and institutions 
on long-term locally relevant and internationally competitive 
projects to enhance research excellence and capacity 
development. CoEs also contribute to the development and 
promotion of next generation (postgraduate students) and 
emerging (postdoctoral) researchers. 

For the period under review, 840 postgraduate students 
(55% female and 58% black) were approved for funding 
and 335 masters students nominations were approved. 
The number of doctoral students nominated and approved 
in the fourth quarter was 321, 167 (52 %) of whom were 
female and 187 (58 %) black. 

The number of CoEs, including the National Institute for 
Theoretical Physics (NITheP), remains at 15 and the 
demographics of CoE directors remains unchanged, with 
12 males [10 white and two black (Indian)] and three 
females (white). 
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9.2.2 Support multidisciplinary research and   
innovation – knowledge development 

To facilitate the advancement of existing knowledge and 
develop new fields of knowledge, RISA continuously 
surveys the research landscape, tracks and analyses 
research trends globally, and reviews needs within the 
national system. Most of the knowledge-generating funding 
instruments within the NRF serve a dual function:

• To generate new knowledge and/or grow the knowledge 
base; and

• To train and develop a transformed research cohort.

During the period under review, vulnerable disciplines 
received continued support from the NRF, including 
FUNDISA (Forum of Nursing Deans in South Africa) to 
further academic nursing. A total of R5.8m was awarded for 
17 doctoral students and related activities.

Support for mathematics and statistics as a vulnerable 
discipline continued through a special R6m NRF grant 
for strengthening academic statistics. Working with the 
mathematics and statistics community, the NRF established 
a mathematical and statistical steering committee to drive 
the development of the national virtual Graduate Academy 
for Mathematical and Statistical Sciences. The R25m 
DHET staff development grant has been awarded through 
the Faculty of Science, University of Pretoria. The NRF 
is also working with the steering committee to develop a 
governance and management structure and the terms of 
reference of the proposed graduate academy that will also 
incorporate the centre for doctoral training.

Impact study: Student tracking and the alumni digital 
platform 

A tracking study has been initiated to determine the socio-
economic impact of DST-NRF investments in postgraduate 
training. The first iteration of the alumni digital platform has 
been developed and is currently undergoing testing and 
reconfiguration protocol.

SANTRUST –NRF project produces doctoral  
capacity in Nursing

“To address sustainability and capacity in nations 
scaling up nurse education and healthcare insurance, 
it was recommended that top-up degrees for diploma 
educated nurses be developed along with, the 
implementation of a national nursing strategy for 
PhD and post-doctoral training encompassing clinical 
practice implementation and collaboration” Scaling 
up nurse education : an evaluation of a national PhD 
capacity development programme in South Africa, 
in the context of the global shortage of nursing 
graduates – Prof Judith Bruce

In response to the need for scaling up nurse education, 
specifically to create national PhD capacity in the field, 
the Santrust PhD Proposal Development Programmes 
were created and funded by Irish Aid, and the NRF. 
The programmes consisted of top-up degrees for 
diploma educated nurses and post-doctoral training 
encompassing clinical practice implementation and 
collaboration. The project was launched in 2015, and 
provided funding for 52 doctoral students in the field 
of nursing, with one candidate leaving the project. To 
date, 45 candidates graduated. The remaining seven 
are expected to graduate in the next academic year.
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE
An internationally 

competitive, 
transformed and 
representative 

research system

NRF Objective 1 links to:

• MTSF priorities 2, 5, 
6, 7, 8 and 10 through 
the implementation and 
support of the HCD 
excellence pipeline, 
including the creation 
of research chairs and 
CoEs.

Driving research competitiveness through the support of high 
quality research and innovation, as well as the generation of 
knowledge and the development of human capacity, in critical 
areas.

• Increase and provide support for next generation, emerging 
and established researchers in order to grow the Doctoral 
pipeline; and

• Support multidisciplinary research and innovation.

Objective  
statement

Critical  
implementation 
activities

1

INDICATORS Actual 
2016/17

Target 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Number of 
NRF funded 
researchers 
from designated 
groups

Black 1 563 1 960 1 698 -13% 
The variance is attributed to the slow rate of transformation 
within the national human capacity development pipeline from 
next generation, emerging to established researchers. An 
exercise has been undertaken to determine the full cost of 
study for post graduate students with a view to providing full 
cost bursaries . The transformation strategy in this regard will  
be informed through a comprehensive roadmap and policies.

Female 1 699 2 450 1 786 -27% 

Number of  
postgraduate 
students funded 
from designated
groups

Black 10 747 10 350 11 328 9% 
The target has been exceeded through concerted efforts to 
achieve the Ministerial Guideline target of 80% black students 
supported. The higher percentage is due to an achievement of 
94% black for honours bursary beneficiaries.

Female 8 017 8 700 8 266 -5% 

The variance is attributed to the slow rate of transformation 
within the national human capacity development pipeline 
from next generation, emerging to established researchers. 
An addition an exercise has also been undertaken to 
determine the full cost of study for post graduate students. The 
transformation strategy in this regard will informed through a 
comprehensive roadmap and policies.

Number of  
NRF-rated
researchers  
from designated
groups

Black 970 936 1 069 14%

There is an overall growth in the credibility of the rating system 
that has attracted a higher number of applicants since the 
Higher Education system has started to use the NRF rating 
system as a proxy and criteria for performance management 
and promotion. The NRF in a prior year through the office of 
the DCEO: RISA encouraged the DVCs of research institutions 
to identify female and  black researchers  to apply for a rating. 
This was well received resulting in an increased number of 
successful applications.

Female 1176 1 188 1 285 8%

Number of 
post graduate 
students funded 
per level

Masters 4 995 5 350 5 435 2%
Additional awards were made in quarter 3 against the set 
target. The 2% over performance is a result of a high uptake 
of awarded bursaries.

Doctoral 3 363 3 230 3 519 9%
Additional awards were made in quarter 3 against the set 
target. The 9% over performance is a result of a high uptake 
of awarded bursaries.

BUDGET (R (000)) Actual 
2016/17

Budget 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Globally competitive 
research 2 269 2 168 2 347 -179 794

TABLE 11: PERFORMANCE AGAINST OBJECTIVE 1 - 2017/18

Promote globally competitive research and innovation
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9.3 Performance against strategic objective 
2: Enhance strategic international 
engagements

9.3.1 Promote system-wide international 
engagement and facilitate access to local and 
international research platforms 

The NRF facilitates the enhancement of international 
scientific collaboration among individual scientists, 
HEIs, research bodies, and scientific and professional 
associations (unions) in South Africa and abroad. 

Africa cooperation

The NRF, in partnership with the National Research Fund of 
Kenya, hosted a workshop during Kenya National Science 
Week for the funded joint projects under the South Africa-
Kenya science and technology agreement in Nairobi. 

In partnership with the Uganda National Council for Science 
and Technology (UNCST), the organisation hosted a two-
day launch workshop in Uganda for funded joint projects 
under the South Africa-Uganda science and technology 
cooperation agreement. 

South Africa-Mozambique: The NRF hosted a delegation 
from the National Research Fund, Mozambique, as 
part of intra-Africa relations. The NRF has supported 
the strengthening of similar institutions on the African 
continent in the area of grants managements and systems 
administration.

The SASAC initiative offers dedicated three-year bursaries 
for South African and African doctoral students based at 
a South African university to complete their studies with a 
South African supervisor experienced in systems analysis. 
For the 2017 intake, the NRF facilitated a partnership with 
the British Council Newton Fund Programme to increase 
the number of African students supported by increasing 
the pool of supervisors to include experts based at HEIs 
in the UK. Through this partnership, the British Council 
Newton Fund Programme will provide three-year doctoral 
scholarships for 10 students being co-supervised by a UK 
research institution or HEI, including mobility grants to 

support collaboration on the doctoral study. Following the 
partnership, a call for doctoral scholarships for research 
using a systems analysis methodology was made in August 
2017. For the 2018 intake, SASAC will support 30 students 
(20 from NRF funding and 10 from UK funding).

During the period under review, the NRF announced 
the publication of a seminal work aligned with its multi-
year investment in research and capacity development 
for systems analysis. The Springer-published ‘Systems 
analysis approach for complex global challenges’, edited 
by Priscilla Mensah (NRF), David Katerere (Tshwane 
University of Technology), Sepo Hachigonta (NRF) and 
Andreas Roodt (University of Free State), contains a 
collection of review articles with a focus on evidence-
based policy making. It will serve as a valuable resource 
for policy makers, researchers and postgraduate students, 
providing an analytical foundation for the management and 
governance of natural resources, disasters and climate 
change for technological and ecological transitions to 
sustainability.

Overseas cooperation 

South Africa/UK Newton Fund: The researcher links allow 
South African early-career and established researchers 
to form and develop new collaborations with their UK 
counterparts. The NRF has partnered with the Academy of 
Medical Sciences, the British Academy, the Royal Academy 
of Engineering, the Royal Society and the British Council to 
support researcher links. The NRF reviewed applications 
from its trilateral call with the British Council and its Kenyan 
counterpart during the last quarter of the financial year.

South Africa/Germany: The NRF and the German Academic 
Exchange Service (DAAD) are renewing the postgraduate 
scholarship programme for two years. The 2017 call (for 
2018 intake) closed during the reporting period. 

South Africa/Austria: Bi-annual calls for joint research 
projects: The NRF and the Austrian Agency for International 
Cooperation in Education and Research (OeAD-GmbH) 
organised a launching workshop for the 17 funded projects 
in Vienna, Austria.
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South Africa/Mexico: The NRF and the National Council for 
Science and Technology (CONACYT) launched the first call 
for 3-year joint research projects (starting from January 2018 
and ending December 2020) in Advanced Manufacturing, 
Astronomy and Oceanography between South African and 
Mexican researchers. 

South Africa/Iran: The first call for joint proposals in 
biotechnology, marine and oceanographic studies, 
renewable energy, HCD, and sciences and environment 
was announced at the end of the financial year. 

South Africa/Oman: The NRF and the Sultan Qaboos 
University of Oman (SQU) issued a call for joint research 
projects. Received applications are currently being 
reviewed. 

Strategic initiatives

LEAP-Agri Era-Net co-fund partnership: The first joint 
call for preliminary multilateral proposals in research and 
innovation went out in early 2017 and closed in June 
2017. Two hundred joint applications were received and 
are currently being reviewed by funders and the LEAP-
Agri Call secretariat. The independent international review 
panel (IRP) meeting for the evaluation of the preliminary 
proposals took place during the year. 

ESASTAP 2020 partnership: The Strengthening of 
Technology Research and Innovation between Europe 
and South Africa of Project (ESASTAP 2020) and its 
predecessors (i.e. FP6 and FP7 INCO projects SAccess, 
ESASTAP, ESASTAP-2 and ESASTAP Plus) have 
enhanced the success of the South African-European 
Union Research and Innovation cooperation. The NRF, 
as part of its objectives under ESASTAP 2020, organised 
a matchmaking workshop in marine science in July 2017 
on the margins of the Lisbon event. At this workshop, the 
NRF announced and presented the future call for mobility 
grants in the field of Marine Science to be launched by the 
ESASTAP Consortium. The NRF launched this ESASTAP 
2020 twinning call in August, with a closing date of 6 
October 2017. The review committee meeting was held on 
30 November 2017 at the NRF offices. Three joint projects 
were approved for funding and awarded in December 2017.

Knowledge, interchange and collaboration (KIC): The first 
round of 2017 KIC call was launched in March 2017 for the 
funding period 1 June 2017 to 31 December 2017. Of the 
921 applications reviewed, 513 were approved for funding. 
All applications were reviewed virtually, with extensive 
feedback provided to each application.
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE
An internationally 

competitive, 
transformed and 
representative 

research system

NRF Objective 2 links to:

• MTSF Priorities 10 and 
11.Promote system-wide international engagement and collaboration 

in order to support emerging knowledge fields and provide local 
researchers with access to innovative research infrastructure.

• Promote system-wide international engagement; and
• Facilitate international research platform access.

Objective  
statement

Critical  
implementation 
activities

2

INDICATORS Actual 
2016/17

Target 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Number of active grants 
emanating from binational, 
multinational as well 
as agency to agency 
agreements

1 008 1 404 996 -29% The underperformance is due to international partners 
not always being able to adhere to the NRF timeframes.

BUDGET (R (000)) Actual 
2016/17

Budget 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Internationalisation 194 975  222 825  197 208  25 617 
R39 million was committed and carried forward to the next 
financial year due to international partners not always 
being able to adhere to the NRF timeframes.

Enhance strategic international engagements

TABLE 12: PERFORMANCE AGAINST OBJECTIVE 2 – 2017/18
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FIGURE 20: RATED RESEARCHERS DEMOGRAPHICS PER RATING CATEGORY 2016/17 AND 2017/18

9.4 Performance against strategic objective 3: 
Provide best practice systems in support 
of grant making, reviews and evaluation

A system of planning, evaluations and reviews in support of 
research ratings; institutional and programme reviews and 
the assessment of funding proposals through a peer-review 
process.
 
9.4.1 Reviews and evaluation

The unit facilitates processes, planning, evaluations and 
reviews for individual rating, programme and institutional 
reviews, including the mandatory NRF five-year review, 
and peer review processes through which the organisation 
awards grants and bursaries. 

Rating of researchers

During the 207/18 financial year, 3 885 researchers were 
rated through the NRF rating system. Of these, 33% were 
female and 27% black, slightly exceeding the target set for 
the year. 

Ratings fall into the following categories:

A – Leading international researchers
B – Internationally acclaimed researchers
C – Established researchers
P – Prestigious awards
Y – Promising young researchers
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Evaluation of institutions

The unit produced the second update of the NRF review 
management response, addressing the undertakings 
therein for submission to the Board. Overall, progress on 
delivery has been satisfactory.

Evaluation of instruments

During the period, evaluations of the French South Africa 
Institute of Technology (F’SATI) and the Energy Research 
Programme were in progress. A report was produced and 
submitted for a management response from the F’SATI 
Advisory Board. 

  Black Female
 Black Male
 White Female
 White Male

2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18
A B C P Y
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The findings were positive and a recommendation was 
made for continuation of funding. The Energy Research 
Programme evaluation was concluded during the last quarter 
of the year. Following the review of the Centre for High 
Resolution Transmission Electron Microscope (C-HRTEM) 
at the end of the previous financial year, a management 
response, acknowledging the recommendation for 
continued support, was concluded, accepted and published 
in 2017/18. 

Reviewing applications

Review processes are ongoing and continuously monitored 
and assessed to improve efficiencies. Cost-saving initiatives 
implemented during the previous financial year (remote or 
video panel meetings) have become standard practice. The 
table below presents the status of processing of applications 
from emerging and next-generation researchers. As the 
financial year ended 31 March 2018 and the academic year 
ends December 2018, awards will be made during the first 
half of the new financial year. 

Processing Status
Received Reviewed Approve Awarded

Years

20
16

/17

20
17

/18

20
16

/17

20
16

/18

20
16

/17

20
17

/18

20
16

/17

20
16

/18

Emerging researchers’ applications

1. Collaborative Postgraduate Training Programme 56 66 54 53 45 36 42 -

2. New Generation of Academics Programme 34 19 34 19 34 19 34 19

3. Newton Fund For Early Career UK Researchers 9 10 8 8 6 8 6 8

4. NRF-DST FISS Postdoctoral Scholarships 799 870 717 805 488 549 78 78

5. NRF-FRF Sabbatical Grants Programme - 75 - 67 - 49 - 43

6. Professional Development Programme 19 16 19 15 19 14 19 -

7. The World Academy of Science Postdoctoral 
Fellowships 39 99 16 37 7 22 7 10

SUB-TOTAL 956 1 155 848 1 004 599 697 186 158

Next generation researchers’ applications

8. DAAD-NRF Doctoral Scholarships 311 533 296 460 209 341 60 60

9. DAAD-NRF Masters Scholarships 716 917 679 846 487 612 60 60

10. Doctoral Abroad Scholarships 52 33 52 33 35 23 11 3

11. Extended Support for M&D Completion 638 650 588 594 504 474 364 273

12. NRF-DST FISS Masters Scholarships 4141 3377 3674 3254 2703 - 1252 -

13. NRF-DST FISS Doctoral Scholarships 2671 2536 2336 2338 1569 1710 593 -

14. Sabbatical Grants for Completion of Doctoral 
Degrees 163 89 156 87 118 65 93 39

15. Study Support for Part-time Doctoral Studies 
completion 46 93 41 72 35 47 35 42

16 The World Academy of Science Doctoral 
Scholarships 101 185 64 127 36 87 38 74

Sub-Total 8 839 8 413 7 886 7 811 5 696 3 359 2 506 551*

* award process continues into next financial year

TABLE 13: STATUS OF POSTGRADUATE AND EMERGING SUPPORT APPLICATIONS AT 31 MARCH 2018
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It is evident from the data that the NRF is unable to support 
a large number of qualifying applications. For the 2017/18 
financial year, only 44% of fundable applications could be 
supported (the award process of the 2018 academic year 
continues into the next financial year). In-depth analysis is 
underway to explore the implications on transformation and 
impact, as well as how to expand the NRF reach given its 
limited fiscal growth. 

9.4.2 Grants Management and Systems Administration 

The Grants Management and Systems Administration 
(GMSA) directorate manages grants systems administration 
on behalf of the funding directorates of RISA. 

Business process mapping 

Business process mapping relating to the current (as 
is) processes has been completed in collaboration with 
UNISA and a consolidated report has been prepared for the 
Corporate Executive.

Rationalisation of call categories and provisioning tool

To streamline the NRF call process and enhance reporting 
capabilities, the number of call categories has been reduced 
significantly to ensure cohesion across funding initiatives. 
An enabling desktop application, the call provisioning tool, 
was designed and implemented, allowing process owners to 

manage calls without IT development. Streamlining the tool 
for greater efficiency is ongoing. In addition, the designated 
authorities tool is finalised and being implemented.

Institutional visits

During the first quarter, the Systems Administration and 
Support unit of GMSA held regional workshops with the 
designated authorities to discuss system enhancements 
and compliance issues. These regional workshops focus 
on better communication with stakeholders and the NRF’s 
value of service delivery.

Alumni database

Scoping of the online portal for the DST/NRF alumni 
database was completed in the third quarter. The portal 
will be developed in-house due to the reprioritisation of 
internal projects and possible extension of contracts. Also, 
the in-house developers have a better understanding of 
NRF processes and integration modules, which will hasten 
delivery. A resource has been employed to undertake the 
front end of the database.

Grants expenditure

The grants expenditure status is summarised in Figure 21 
and the awarded amount includes carry forwards from the 
previous financial year:

FIGURE 21: GRANTS EXPENDITURE 

Expensed

Released

Awarded

2 400 2 600 2 800 3 000 3 200

2 639

2 882

3 056

R’mil
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE
World-class 

benchmarking 
and grantmaking 

systems

NRF Objective 1 links to:

• MTSF priorities 2, 5 6 7 
8 and 10.

The support of research and innovation through the provision of 
world-class grantmaking, rating and evaluation systems, while 
striving to double investment in research to R8b over five years.

• Pursue best practice grantmaking, evaluation and rating 
systems.

Objective  
statement

Critical  
implementation 
activities

3

INDICATORS Actual 
2016/17

Target 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Number of researchers 
rated through the NRF 
system

3 663 3 600 3 885 8%

Overall, the net effect of growth in popularity and 
credibility of the rating system. In the case of black 
scientists, probably because the transformation agenda 
of the NRF is reaching all instruments, including the 
rating instrument. In the case of female scientists, in 
addition to the above, it is likely that the NRF call to 
institutions to identify female black scientists who could 
be encouraged and supported to apply for a rating, and 
the follow-up engagements with the institutions and the 
scientists they identified, have had the desired effect. 
This is despite the fact that this project was only partly 
rolled out.

BUDGET (R (000)) Actual 
2016/17

Budget 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

RISA support systems 61 908  60 916  135 443  -74 527 R72.5m was allocated to THRIP and was not budgeted for. 
There was an over expenditure of R6.8m on IT.

Provide best practice systems in support of grant making, reviews and evaluations

TABLE 14: PERFORMANCE AGAINST OBJECTIVE 3 - 2017/18
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9.5 Performance against strategic objective 4:  
Leading-edge research and infrastructure  
platforms

9.5.1 Provide science infrastructure in priority 
areas

The NRF facilitates access to global infrastructure such 
as the European Synchrotron Radiation Facility (ESRF), 
CERN (including the Larger Hadron Collider (LHC) and the 
Joint Institute for Nuclear Research (JINR). 

9.5.2 Incubate, nurture and strategically locate  
research platforms 

The organisation places emphasis on research infrastructure 
investment in HEIs, and through RISA, provides grants that 
enable researchers to access equipment both nationally 
and internationally.

National Equipment Programme (NEP)

The NRF was represented at the official unveiling of the 
TEK-15 RF Plasma spheroidisation and alloying system at 
the South African Nuclear Energy Corporation (NECSA) on 
21 June 2017. The grant for this equipment of R4 143 was 
awarded to Dr JT Nel through the NEP funding instrument 
in 2015. This system will be used for spheroidisation and 
densification of metal and alloy powder used in additive 
manufacturing applications such as 3D printing. 

Analysis of funding recipient APRs spanning a five-year 
reporting period was concluded. A total number of 2 881 
users for the 2017/18 financial year utilised the research 
equipment exceeding the target of 2 000 users. A total of 
908 publications (552 ISI journal; 11 book chapters, 14 
Technical Reports and 331 conference proceedings) for the 
2017/18 financial year were produced falling short of the 
target of 2 300. 

Equipment-related travel and training grants

Of 62 individuals awarded grants, 25 (40%) researchers are 
black and 37 (60%) white, 23 (37%) female and 39 (63%) 
are male. This initiative is a critical enabler for researchers 
accessing facilities both nationally and internationally. 

Access to global infrastructures

Establishment began in the 2017/18 financial year of 
a national management structure for all access global 
infrastructure (AGI) initiatives, to create a coherent 
approach to investing, reporting, monitoring and evaluating 
these research collaborative agreements. 

SA-JINR 

This initiative extends to three investment areas, namely 
student practice, mobility grants and research projects.
• Student practice: Phases one and two have been 

completed and 18 students have been selected to travel 
to the SA-JINR summer school in June 2018: and 

• Research projects continued to be funded as part of a 
three-year funding cycle.

SA-CERN

The SA-CERN programme recorded a number of highlights 
in infrastructure development and technology transfer 
during the year. The South African team hosted Dr Michele 
Floris, a collaborator from CERN from 12 to 17 August 
2017. He gave a colloquium titled ‘Heavy and light collisions 
in the ALICE (A Large Ion Collider Experiment) at the LHC’ 
at UCT and iThemba LABS. ALICE spokesperson, Prof 
Federico Antinori, and Dr Pedrag Buncic (ALICE offline 
coordinator) visited UCT, iThemba LABS and the Centre for 
High-Performance Computing.

SA-ESRF

The NRF commissioned a review of this agreement to 
evaluate its performance and it was recommended that it 
renewed for a second term, with the current membership of 
0.3%. The panel further recommended the establishment of 
a governance/management structure between the NRF and 
ESRF for budget allocations, joint decision making, efficient 
communication, monitoring and evaluation of South African 
beneficiaries, and outputs and outcomes.
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE
Leading-edge 
research and 
infrastructure 

platforms

NRF Objective 4 links to:

• MTSF priorities 2 and 
10, since the provision of 
research equipment and 
platforms supports research 
across all areas of the HCD 
excellence pipeline.

Providing and facilitating access to world-class equipment 
and infrastructure through the acquisition of high-end 
equipment and support of National Research Facilities.

• Providing and facilitating access to world-class 
equipment and infrastructure through the acquisition of 
high-end equipment and support of National Research 
Facilities.

Objective  
statement

Critical  
implementation 
activities

4

INDICATORS Actual 
2016/17

Target 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Number of users of 
equipment funded by 
the NEP and NNEP 
programmes

2 937 2 000 2 881 44%

The performance on KPI numbers is not entirely 
within the NRF control and is proving not to be easily 
predictable. In 2016/17, 157 pieces of equipment were 
used by 2 937 users with an average of 18.7 users 
per equipment grant. In 2017/18, 157 equipment were 
used by 2 881 users with an average of 18.3 users 
per equipment grant. The targets were adjusted in the 
2018/19 NRF APP.

Number of publications 
emanating from use 
of equipment funded 
by the NEP and NNEP 
programme

779 1 250 908 -27%

The general lag period between the commissioning 
of equipment and the outputs produced has been 
factored into the APP planning process. The number 
of publications emanating from the use of equipment 
decreased due to the implementation of the improved 
online annual reporting system which was launched in 
December 2017.

BUDGET (R (000)) Actual 
2016/17

Budget 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Platform and  
infrastructure  
provision

345.366  312 618  255 792  56 826 The research infrastructure allocation had been cut.

Establish and maintain research infrastructure and platforms

TABLE 15: PERFORMANCE AGAINST OBJECTIVE 4 - 2017/18
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9.6 Special projects

The NRF is the custodian of the following special project 
through Programme 3:

9.6.1 DST/NRF Internship Programme

The DST-NRF Internship Programme provides accelerated 
work experience to unemployed graduates in the broader 
SET disciplines. Interns are also afforded an opportunity to 
venture into research management under the banners of 
both SARIMA and RIMS sub-programmes. The aim of this 
programme is to:

• Establish and increase a pool of skilled human resources 
for the public and private sectors, science councils and 
institutions and the NSI;

• Provide university graduates and postgraduates with 
work experience in SET fields, thus increasing their 
chances of employment;

• Provide SET graduates and postgraduates with 
exposure to research and development projects that 
are critical to the NSI and attract them to pursue careers 
in the NSI; and

• Build capacity in research management at HEIs and 
research institutions throughout the country.

The programme is achieving its main goal of providing work 
experience and exposure to unemployed SET graduates 
through the continued cooperation of hosting institutions. 

A total of 622 interns enrolled on the programme and were 
placed at participating host institutions throughout the 
country to be trained under the guidance of experienced 
mentors. These interns started their internship between 
April and June 2017. A total of 84 (14%) interns exited 
the programme early for job opportunities, while 73 (12%) 
interns received NRF Innovation bursaries to pursue 
higher qualifications that would enable them to contribute 
to the knowledge economy. There were also 75 interns 
who applied for honours degree funding and are awaiting 
approval from HEis.
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10.1 Situational analysis

PROGRAMME 4: NATIONAL RESEARCH INFRASTRUCTURE PLATFORMS (NATIONAL 
RESEARCH FACILITIES)10

SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS

Access to adequate and relevant research infrastructure is a key enabler of globally competitive research, 
development and innovation. Programme 4 executes the research obligation as determined by the NRF 
mandate. The National Research Facilities of the NRF provide unique infrastructure with highly qualified 
researchers and technicians in nuclear sciences, biodiversity and environmental sciences, and astronomy and 
geosciences.

OPERATIONAL DIVISIONS

iThemba LABS

  
SAIAB

  
SAEON

  
SAAO

  
SARAO

  PROGRAMME 4 FUNCTION:

• Promote globally competitive research and innovation;
• Enhance strategic international engagements; and
• Establish and maintain research infrastructure and platforms.
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The schematic representation of the typology of research 
infrastructure is depicted in Figure 22 and classifies 
infrastructure into four broad categories in accordance with 
SARIR as follows:

• Single-sited global research infrastructures: unique, 
geographically localised facilities with international 
governance;

• Globally distributed research infrastructures: national or 
institutional nodes that are part of a global network and 
with international governance. While there is an element 

of mobility, the primary commodity is access to data. The 
NRF supports the sharing of collection and observation 
data with the global science networks;

• National Research Facilities of global interest: facilities 
with unique capabilities that are significant contributors 
to the global research network. The NRF is mandated 
by the NRF Act to support and maintain the National 
Research Facilities in South Africa; and 

• Equipment and data provisioning: RISA provides cutting-
edge small to medium-sized equipment to the National 
Research Facilities, science centres and universities.

Examples: CERN, JINR, SALT, SARAO, and SSC
The NRF:
• Provides access to international infrastructure 

through mobility grants; and
• Funds the construction of local single-sited global 

infrastructure.

Examples: Argo; GEOSS
The NRF:
• Is a partner and/or contributor through the National 

Research Facilities, e.g SARAO (VLBI, Geodetics), 
SAEON and SAIAB (global earth observation); and

• In future through SARAO, i.e. AVN and MeerKAT/
SKA.

The NRF:
• Supports and maintains National Research Facilities 

in nuclear sciences (iThemba LABS), biodiversity 
and environmental sciences (SAIAB and SAEON), 
and astronomy and geosciences (SAAO and 
SARAO).

The NRF through targeted granting activities 
provides funding:
• For research centres, institutions and universities to 

procure equipment in support of high-end research 
equipment; and

• For access to strategic databases.

FIGURE 22: RESEARCH INFRASTRUCTURE TYPOLOGY ACCORDING TO SARIR 2016

EQUIPMENT  
AND DATA  

PROVISIONING

NATIONAL  
FACILITIES OF  

GLOBAL  
INTEREST

GLOBALLY  
DISTRIBUTED 

RESEARCH 
INFRASTRUCTURES

SINGLE-SITED  
GLOBAL 

INFRASTRUCTURES
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The National Research Facilities, declared by the Minister 
of Science and Technology in accordance with the NRF 
Act, provide a critical mass of equipment, cutting-edge 
platforms, unique technologies and researchers to support 
domain-specific research, HCD and science engagement.

The main criteria for the establishment of National 
Research Facilities are: 

• A unique position in the South African knowledge 
production; 

• Offer core technologies, research methodology or data 
pools/collections that live up to international standards;

• Goals, well aligned with the objectives of the NSI, 
especially diffusion of new knowledge;

• A critical mass of equipment, skills and users; 
• Potential for networking and for attracting international 

collaborators to South Africa;
• Provide opportunities human resource development 

with special efforts to involve researchers from formerly 
disadvantaged communities; and

• Provide opportunities for the interface between science 
and society (refer to Programme 2 for details).

The National Research Facilities support the NRDS by 
exploiting geographic and knowledge advantage areas 
that are unique to southern Africa. They provide unique 
and cutting-edge research platforms; support research 
of strategic importance; provide access to ‘big science’ 
infrastructure to national and international researchers; 
and contribute to the NRF strategic goal of growing a 
representative research workforce through focussed HCD 
initiatives. National Research Facilities allow South Africa 
to compete and cooperate effectively with international 
counterparts in the selected strategic research areas.

NF education and training mandates enrich and empower 
individuals to function as productive knowledge workers. 
The NRF currently manages facilities in:

• Nuclear science; 
• Biodiversity and environmental sciences; and 
• Astronomy and geosciences. 
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 iThemba LABS SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS

iThemba LABS is the premier nuclear research facility within the NSI and in the African continent that offers 
accelerated particle beams towards the advancement of its transdisciplinary research agenda and the 
production of isotopes for use in research and medical sciences. The nuclear sciences not only endeavour to 
illuminate the structure and origin of matter that constitutes our universe, but also apply basic research in the 
physical, medical and biological sciences into knowledge that solves real-world problems. In this regard, the 
work of iThemba LABS complements astronomy research undertaken by SAAO and SARAO.

RESEARCH INFRASTRUCTURE

  iThemba LABS’ RESEARCH AGENDA SUPPORTS: 

• Subatomic physics research (hadron physics, nuclear physics);
• Accelerator-based materials sciences;
• Radiation biology and applications in medicine; 
• Radioisotopes research, development, and production; and 
• K600 Accelerator mass spectrometry (AMS).

10.1 Nuclear science – iThemba LABS

6MV Tandem K11 PET Cyclotron
K200 Separated 
Sector Cyclotron

K8 Injector  
Cyclotron 1

K8 Injector  
Cyclotron 2

3 MV Tandetron  
Accelerator
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10.2 Nuclear science performance 

Promote globally competitive research and innovation 

Human Capacity Development (HCD)

Research at iThemba LABS supports postgraduate 
training in nuclear physics and materials sciences, applied 
accelerator-based sciences, radiation biophysics and 
radionuclide production. Extensive in-house expertise is 
also used in formal education (teaching at HEIs).

iThemba LABS’ HCD activities include establishing 
postgraduate student support programmes jointly with 
HEIs, such as masters degree in Accelerator and Nuclear 
Science and masters degree in Materials Science, and 
collaborations with universities of technology and further 
education and training colleges. A functional Education, 
Training, and Development Committee, together with 
an approved training plan, ensures further monitoring of 
training and development interventions for staff.

Achievements over the reporting period included:

• Lectures:
 – Basic radiation biology lectures were offered at 

Wits University to medical physics postgraduate 
students;

 – Clinical radiation biology lectures were well 
received by radiotherapy registrars; 

 – Undergraduate students from the Cape Peninsula 
University of Technology attended lectures and 
demonstrations in the Medical Radiation Biophysics 
Department on specialised radiotherapy treatment 
and planning methods; 

 – Subatomic physics staff gave nuclear physics 
lectures to honours students from the University of 
Fort Hare;

 – The radiation protection and radiation biology 
course (for postgraduate medical physics students) 
was offered at the Department of Physics, 
Stellenbosch University; 

 – A lecture on biological dosimetry was presented 
to second-year students at UWC dentistry faculty; 
and

 – Practical radiation biology training was provided 
to students from the Centre of Applied Radiation 
Science and Technologies (CARST) at North West 
University.

• The Environmental Radioactivity Laboratory hosted a 
masters student from Botswana International University 
of Science and Technology for one month and provided 
a student from TUT with a six-month in-service training 
opportunity;

• The facility collaborated with the University of Oslo 
and Stellenbosch University to present a nuclear 
astrophysics summer school. The school was attended 
by 10 Norwegian and 11 South African students and 
highlighted, in particular, the connections between 
nuclear physics data to astrophysics; and

• The iThemba LABS’ radiation safety officer attended 
the inaugural joint International School of Nuclear and 
Radiological Leadership for Safety, and European 
Nuclear Safety at the University of Côte d’Azur. 
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Knowledge generation performance highlights

Several high-impact knowledge generation initiatives were 
carried out including:
• Physics Letters B 779, 269 (2018) were published 

investigating the phenomenon of fine structure of the 
Isoscalar Giant Quadrupole Resonance (ISGQR). This 
was studied with high energy-resolution proton inelastic 
scattering in the chain of stable even-mass Nd isotopes 
covering the transition from spherical to deformed 
ground states;

• The K600 spectrometer was used to publish papers 
on proton inelastic scattering experiments at energy 
Ep=200MeV and a spectrometer scattering angle of 
0°, which was performed on 144,146,148,150Nd and 
152Sm exiting the IsoVector Giant Dipole Resonance 
(IVGDR). Comparison with results from photo-
absorption experiments reveals a shift of resonance 
maxima towards higher energies for vibrational and 
transitional nuclei;

• Nickel-62 isotope is difficult to generate because of its 
low natural abundance of 3.6%. However, 98% enriched 
62-Nickelocene (Ni(C5H5)²) were produced. The beam 
experiments with this metalocene were very successful, 
resulting in a 62Ni8+ beam with an intensity that is 
suitable for most experiments;

• The analysis of micro-dosimetry readings in collaboration 
with the University of Wollongong was concluded with 
cell survival studies conducted in different depths along 
the proton Bragg curve. Clear increases in lineal energy 
with depth were observed for the clinical proton beam. 
The relative biological effectiveness could be estimated 
using the micro-dosimetric kinetic model and was in very 
close agreement with the experimental radiobiological 

data determined at iThemba LABS. Major advances 
have been made to assess the cytogenetic damage 
in normal brain tissue following proton therapy. As 
expected, a large increase could not be observed in 
the biological effectiveness as a result of secondary 
neutron contaminations; and

• The accelerator mass spectronomy (AMS) facility is 
focusing on the detection of rare cosmogenic isotopes 
14C, 10Be and 26Al at abundances in the order of 10−16. 
These are atoms that are formed at the earth surface 
or in the atmosphere in response to cosmic radiation 
that bombards the earth. They are radioactive and their 
predictable decay makes them suitable for dating a 
range of materials, from rocks to organic materials. The 
technique can also be used to trace products of nuclear 
bombs detonated during the Cold War era and 236U 
found in corals, which provides a unique insight into the 
distribution of nuclear byproducts through the oceans.

A method was developed by the Medical Radiation 
Biophysics Department in collaboration with UWC and 
the Central Analytical Facility at SU to measure the up-
take of gold nanoparticles AuNP’s in cells cultivated in 
vitro. This masters project aims to quantify biological 
response as a result of enhanced radiation dose 
absorbed in cells as a result of the AuNP’s when treated 
with X-rays and protons.
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STRATEGIC OUTCOME
An internationally 

competitive, 
transformed and 
representative 

research system

NRF Objective 1 links to:

• MTSF priorities 2, 5, 
6, 7, 8 and 10 through 
the implementation and 
support of the HCD 
excellence pipeline, 
including the creation 
of Research Chairs 
and CoEs.

Driving research competitiveness through the support of high-
quality research and innovation, as well as the generation of 
knowledge and the development of human capacity in critical 
areas.

• Increase and provide support for next generation, emerging 
and established researchers to grow the doctoral pipeline; and

• Support multidisciplinary research and innovation.

Objective  
statement

Critical  
implementation 
activities

1

INDICATORS Actual 
2016/17

Target 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Number of postgraduate 
students supported by 
the National Research 
Facilities

234 251 242 -4% The decline in numbers is due to the delay in the full 
operational start-up of the new tandem accelerator.

Institute for Scientific 
Information (ISI) 
publications at the National 
Research Facilities

141 120 172 43% Several publications were produced by external users, 
citing the facility.

Number of users of 
National Research 
Facilities

454 475 206 -57%
The performance numbers were revised to exclude 
the postgraduate students who are only supervised or 
receive financial support from the National Research 
Facilities.

Citation impact of 
NF outputs (annual 
cumulative)

1.63 >2 1.61 -29%
A greater than 2 citation impact is an aspirational target, 
given that the global benchmark is 1. Though the facilities 
strive to reach the target, the actual performance is a 
very good result.

BUDGET (R (000)) Actual 
2016/17

Budget 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Globally  
competitive research 92 849  87 958  98 295  -10 337 

 Promote globally competitive research and innovation

TABLE 16: NUCLEAR SCIENCE PERFORMANCE AGAINST STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 1 – 2017/18
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Enhance strategic international engagements 

iThemba LABS concluded and maintained the following 
strategic international collaborations:

• A collaboration with Integrating Activity (IA), the 
European Nuclear Science and Applications Research 
2 (ENSAR2), with financial support from the European 
Commission through the Horizon 2020 framework 
programme, which provided access to African 
researchers and students and access to iThemba LABS 
for European physicists;

• A collaboration of iThemba LABS, Stellenbosch 
University, University of Oslo and University of California, 
Berkeley, received a grant of R7,5m over three years 
from the International Partnerships for Excellent 
Education and Research through the Norwegian 
Research Council. The participating universities will 
evaluate each other’s courses to determine a list of 
pre-approved undergraduate courses that will be a 
component of a ‘semester abroad’ pilot project;

• An agreement was reached with the National Institute 
for Nuclear Science and Technology in Saclay, France, 
for support for the establishment of the South African 
Institute of Nuclear Technology and Science;

• An MoU has been signed between iThemba LABS 
and Botswana International University of Science and 
Technology (BIUST). A pilot study to extend the shelf 
life of high-value perishable products by gamma/
electron beam irradiation, was initiated by the iThemba 
LABS-BIUST collaboration. The primary objective is to 
investigate the dose-effect relationship for meat products 
exposed under different temperature conditions; and

• JINR was funded by the DST to conduct a study with 
iThemba LABS on the effects of low doses of proton 
and neutron irradiations on neurotransmitters of the 
central nervous system to understand late normal tissue 
responses following particle therapy. Ethical approval 
for this study has been obtained from the Medical 
Research Council and specialised irradiation jigs are 
being prepared.

BRACCO, a major stakeholder in the isotope Sr-82 
business in the USA, has signed an MOU and NDA for 
the future supply of Sr-82 by iThemba LABS. This will 
strengthen the facility’s market share and enhance the 
business case for the acquisition of a 70MeV cyclotron. 



NRF Annual Report 2017/18

PART B: PERFORMANCE

96

Establish and maintain research infrastructure and 
platforms

The Tandem accelerator was commissioned and a 
commissioning licence obtained from the Directorate: 
Radiation Control of the Department of Health. The large 
switcher magnet and the nuclear microprobe (NMP) 
facility in the zero-degree line were installed and the first 
beam on target was achieved in March 2018. After the 
recommissioning of the two previously available beamlines 
for nuclear microscopy and thin films characterisation, it 
is expected that the lateral resolution on the ion probe at 
the NMP, with a theoretical estimate of between 300 and 
400nm, will be one order of magnitude better than with the 
replaced Van de Graaff accelerator. Of most significance 
will be the availability to scan smaller areas with better 
current intensities. 

The AMS Department in Gauteng commissioned a laser 
water isotope analyser (LWIA) bought by the International 
Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) under its Technical 

Cooperation Programme. The LWIA analyses ratios of 
hydrogen isotopes in water and performs much faster than 
the Delta Mass Spectrometer, which will now be used for 
analysis of heavier isotopes.

A new control system has been implemented in the SSC, 
which has improved the transmission efficiency of the beam 
through the cyclotron. Efficiency levels at various currents 
are above 99%.

A new liquid nitrogen filling system has been developed 
for AFRODITE Clover detectors. This system is expected 
to decrease liquid nitrogen usage by 30% and span 40 
detectors. The newly launched Tier 3 High-Performance 
Data Cluster allows researchers to perform local simulations 
and analysis. Software distribution is through the CERN 
virtual machine-file system pointing to repositories at CERN 
and JINR. This affords users access to software shared 
at CERN and JINR. This software includes old and latest 
versions of ROOT, Geant (for Monte-Carlo simulations), 

STRATEGIC OUTCOME
An internationally 

competitive, 
transformed and 
representative 

research system

NRF Objective 2 
links to:

• MTSF priorities 
10 and 11.

Promote system-wide international engagement and collaboration to 
support emerging knowledge fields and provide local researchers with 
access to innovative research infrastructure.

• Promote system-wide international engagement; and
• Facilitate international research platform access.

Objective  
statement

Critical  
implementation 
activities

2

INDICATORS Actual 
2016/17

Target 
2017/18 

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Number of joint 
international agreements 
at National Research 
Facilities

28 28 25 -11%  The tightening of the TID resulted in some agreements 
not being included.

BUDGET (R (000)) Actual 
2016/17

Budget 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Internationalisation 13 947  20 058  11 738  8 320 
The underspent is due to travel advances not finalised as 
well as payment of international membership fees being 
deferred.

Enhance strategic international engagements

TABLE 17: NUCLEAR SCIENCE PERFORMANCE AGAINST OBJECTIVE 2 - 2017/18
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STRATEGIC OUTCOME 
Leading-edge 
research and 
infrastructure 

platforms

NRF Objective 4 links to:

• MTSF priorities 2 and 10, 
since the provision of research 
equipment and platforms 
supports research across all 
areas of the HCD excellence 
pipeline.

Providing and facilitating access to world-class equipment 
and infrastructure through the acquisition of high-end 
equipment and the support of NFs.

• Provide science infrastructure in priority areas; and
• Incubate, nurture and strategically locate research 

platforms.

Objective  
statement

Critical  
implementation 
activities

4

INDICATORS Actual 
2016/17

Target 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Total infrastructure 
investment in NFs (R’000) 94.62 95 66.5 -30% Earlier than anticipated completion of the installation of 

the tandedron, reducing investment expenditure.

BUDGET (R (000)) Actual 
2016/17

Budget 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Platform and  
infrastructure  
provision

175 597  237 720  196 954  40 766 

Establish and maintain research infrastructure and platforms

TABLE 18: NUCLEAR SCIENCE PERFORMANCE AGAINST OBJECTIVE 4 - 2017/18

GNU compiler collections, parallel programming frameworks 
(MPI, OpenMP, CUDA etc.) and others. 

The Department of Energy granted iThemba LABS open 
authorisation to use, import and export depleted uranium 
during the 2017/18 financial year using a newly developed 
small DU-containing transport vessel for the export of 
radionuclides to Nordion, Canada. 

The dose monitor system originally developed for the 
proton beam line, has been installed and tested in the 
6MV Linear Particle Accelerator (LINAC). An absolute dose 
calibration was realised and the LINAC is now ready for use 
in radiobiology research experiments and in-house detector 
development.

NRF approves funding for  
state-of-the-art spectrometer  
for probing the structure of 
subatomic matter.

 
GAMKA, is the Khoisan word for Lion and stands for GAMma-
ray spectrometer for Knowledge in Africa. The project received 
R35m in funding from the Strategic Research Equipment Grant 
(SREG). GAMKA based at iThemba LABS, will bolster the 
country’s ability to perform cutting-edge nuclear research. 

The SREG grant was awarded to a consortium consisting of 
four South African universities and iThemba LABS. The state-
of-the-art spectrometer consists of an array of high resolution 
detectors that will be used to measure scattered gamma 
radiation as a result of experiments at the National Research 
Facility. 

Gamma radiation is the most precise observable in the studying 
of nuclei i.e. the heart of matter and the fuel of stars. GAMKA 
will offer the ideal tool to produce globally competitive research 
into the processes that generate chemical elements that trigger 
the creation of planets like earth.
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10.3 Biodiversity, environmental and conservation sciences – SAIAB and SAEON

10.3.1 The South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity (SAIAB)

SAIAB actively engages in a range of national research interventions and provides research which is relevant to a range of 
different national priorities. Recent strategic interventions in which SAIAB has played a significant role are: 

• Operation Phakisa – Oceans Economy (DST);
• Formulation of the Marine and Antarctic Research Plan (DEA);
• Drafting of the South African Marine Research Strategy (DEA);
• Steering Committee of the South African Research Infrastructure Roadmap (SARIR);
• Partner in the SARIR South African Marine and Coastal Research Infrastructure programme (SMCRI);
• Partner in the Natural Science Collections Facility (NSCF);
• National Biodiversity Assessment in partnership with South African National Biodiversity Institute – SANBI; and
• National Shale Gas Strategic Environmental Assessment (SANBI).

  The South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity (SAIAB) SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS

SAIAB provides scientific leadership and expertise in aquatic biodiversity that is vital to national interests 
when dealing with issues arising from exponentially increasing pressures of human population growth and 
development. The facility focuses on the full spectrum of African aquatic biodiversity, from marine offshore to 
continental freshwater catchments.

RESEARCH INFRASTRUCTURE

 SAIAB RESEARCH AGENDA SUPPORTS: 

• Conservation biology and ecology, which focuses on understanding aquatic biodiversity in order to inform 
the conservation of those resources; and

• Molecular biology and systematics, which is the exploration and description of Southern African 
biodiversity from the molecular to a faunal level.

Remote  
Imagery- ROV

Coastal Craft-  
RW Ukwabelana

Coastal Craft- 
Phakisa

Collection  
Platform
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 South African Environmental Observation Network (SAEON) SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS

SAEON is a comprehensive, sustained, coordinated and responsive national network of in-situ environmental 
observatories that delivers long-term reliable data for scientific research, and informs decision-making for a 
knowledge society and improved quality of life. 

RESEARCH INFRASTRUCTURE (PLATFORMS)

ELWANDLE COASTAL NODE EGAGASINI NODE
GRASSLANDS-FORESTS-

WETLANDS NODE

ARID LANDS NODE FYNBOS NODENDLOVU NODE

  SAEON RESEARCH AGENDA SUPPORTS: 

• Detecting and translating environmental change, and predicting the impact of such change on terrestrial 
and marine ecosystems;

• Driving and facilitating research on long-term change of South Africa’s terrestrial biomes, and coastal and 
marine ecosystems; 

• Developing and maintaining collections of accurate, consistent and reliable long-term environmental 
databases; 

• Promoting access to data for research and/or informed decision-making; and 
• Contributing to capacity building and education in environmental sciences.

10.3.2 South African Environmental Observation Network (SAEON)
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Several Acts of parliament and government strategies depend directly or indirectly on environmental monitoring and 
research, including the:

• Conservation of Agricultural Resources Act (Republic of South Africa 1984);
• Marine Living Resources Act (Republic of South Africa 1998a);
• National Water Act (Republic of South Africa 1998b);
• National Forests Act (Republic of South Africa 1998c);
• National Environmental Management Act (Republic of South Africa 1998d);
• Minerals and Petroleum Resources Development Act (Republic of South Africa 2002);
• National Energy Act (Republic of South Africa 2008);
• White Paper on Science and Technology (Republic of South Africa 1996a);
• National Agricultural Research and Development Strategy (Department of Agriculture 2008);
• National Sustainable Development Strategy (Department of Environmental Affairs 2011); and
• National Climate Change Response Strategy (Republic of South Africa 2011).

The uLwazi Node of the South African Environmental Observation Network (SAEON) is dedicated to hosting and providing 
online tools for research data infrastructure and associated decision making. Their tools can be used by a range of 
stakeholders and interest groups, from local and national government, to academics, to NGOs, who wish to better 
understand the geographic relationships between resources, people and potential risks. They are dedicated to providing 
useful geographic information to those making South Africa a better place.

 

The uLwazi Node of the South African Environmental 
Observation Network (SAEON) is dedicated to 
hosting and providing online tools for research data 
infrastructure and associated decision-making. Their 
tools can be used by a range of stakeholders and 
interest groups, from local and national government, 
academics, and NGOs, who wish to better 
understand the geographic relationships between 
resources, people and potential risks. They are 
dedicated to providing useful geographic information 
to those making South Africa a better place.
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10.4 Biodiversity, environmental and 
conservation research performance

10.4.1 Promote globally competitive research and  
innovation 

Human Capacity Development (HCD)

SAIAB’s contribution to HCD continues at a high level 
through multiple programmes such as: 

• A total of 66 postgraduate students (44% black and 
52% female) are supported, well above target despite 
there being only seven permanent staff researchers. 
The articulation gap associated with many students, 
particularly students from historical black universities 
(HBUs), requires significant additional supervisory 
time. As SAIAB strives to transform its postgraduate 
school, the total numbers of students will decrease to 
ensure supervisors concentrate on the quality of their 
input; 

• The Internship programme target was met with eight 
black interns, 63% of whom were female;

• SAIAB scientists have given 56 intensive, specialist 
lectures to undergraduate and graduate students this 
year. NRF-SAIAB’s relationship with UFH and WSU 
continues to grow and these lectures are expected to 
become an annual feature; 

• WRC, SAIAB and three HBUs (Venda, UFH and UWC) 
have joined forces on a R1.5m project linking long-term 
monitoring to BSc Honours courses at the HBUs. 

• The African Coelacanth Ecosystem Programme (ACEP) 
Phuhlisa facilitated the attendance of 64 students from 
WSU, UFH, UWC, University of Zululand (UniZulu) and 
SAIAB at the South African Marine Science Symposium. 
Two participants won the best and runner-up student 
presentation awards.

SAIAB runs the African Coelacanth Ecosystem 
Programme (ACEP). This is a marine research platform 
which provides access to research infrastructure and 
associated funding to the research community to 
undertake research along the east coast of South Africa. 
ACEP is a flagship programme of the DST and the NRF. 
Its key partners are the Department of Environmental 
Affairs (DEA) (Oceans and Coasts), the Department 
of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF), and 
SAEON. Financial assistance is also provided in the 
form of running costs including costs related to the 
student research projects as well as study bursaries. The 
programme currently supports 72 students comprising 
24 Honours; 40 Masters; and 8 Doctoral all of which are 
black. To ensure an open, transparent, and competitive 
funding structure, an open research Call is distributed 
by the NRF every three years. The ACEP marine 
platform enables successful applicants to sample the 
entire coastal ecosystem from physical oceanography, 
marine geology, phytoplankton and zooplankton to 
animals burrowing into the marine sediment, fish, marine 
mammals, and birds from near-shore to 40 nautical miles 
offshore. • 

 

• SAEON contributes meaningfully to the development 
and transformation of human capital. A total of 90 
postgraduate students have been supervised/co-
supervised by SAEON staff. Fifteen interns were 
mentored as part of the activities of SAEON’s science, 
data and information management programmes; 

• Staff members attended several courses, including the 
geophysical fluid dynamics and Matlab course, SASS5 
aquatic biomonitoring course, SAMSA eye tests for 
pilot exemption certificates; visionary leadership, basic 
accounting and accounts preparation and R-statistics 
course, and a pension fund and a transformation 
workshop. Leadership development also took place via 
a course in visionary leadership;

• Northern Cape Wetlands Forum was officially launched 
at the Sol Plaatje University in Kimberley. Dr Betsie 
Milne, representing the SAEON Arid Lands Node, was 
elected as one of four committee members; 

• The manager of SAEON’s Egagasini Node was invited 
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to be the vice-chair (standards and best practices) of 
the Joint Technical Commission for Oceanography 
and Marine Meteorology (JCOMM) observation 
coordination group. JCOMM is an intergovernmental 
body of technical experts that provides a mechanism 
for international coordination of oceanographic and 
marine meteorological observation, data management 
and services. JCOMM further combines the expertise, 
technologies and capacity-building capabilities of the 
meteorological and oceanographic communities; and

• The ocean observers workshop brought together ocean 
scientists, education authorities and teachers, marine 
communicators, sailing community members, public 
policymakers and other stakeholders to share marine 
science educational resources and experiences, with 
a view to establishing new international collaborative 
activities. A key focus of the initiative was to gather and 
share experience on education activities related to in-situ 
ocean observations ultimately to assemble all education 
materials in a unique repository under UNESCO. The 
repository, the Ocean Teacher Global Academy, will be 
free and will help to build a global ocean observations 
learning platform.

Knowledge generation 

SAIAB’s high-impact knowledge generation initiatives 
included the following:

• A record total of 112 WoS publications published; 

• With WRC funding, SAIAB is coordinating a multi-
institutional collaboration under the leadership of 
principal scientist Dr Olaf Weyl, which involves 
researchers and students from SAIAB, Cape Nature, 
the Centre for Invasion Biology, the Freshwater 
Research Centre and the Venda, Western Cape, Fort 
Hare, Stellenbosch and Rhodes universities; 

• SAIAB continues to collaborate with five NRF SARChIs, 
namely NMU shallow water ecosystems, NMU marine 
spatial planning, Rhodes University marine ecosystems 
and resources, Rhodes University marine natural 
product research, and Stellenbosch University and the 

African Institute for Mathemicatical Sciences South 
Africa’s mathematical and physical biosciences;

• Work on the coastal fishes of the western Indian 
Ocean, with contributions from more than 50 local and 
international authors, is in its final stage; 

• In line with the goals of NDP 2030, the DST/NRF 
Research Chair in inland fisheries and freshwater 
ecology was awarded to Dr Olaf Weyl, principal scientist 
in freshwater research at SAIAB. The Chair’s goal is 
to develop regional capacity and research on inland 
fisheries to support their sustainable development. The 
award will increase impetus of this important area of 
research and understanding of human interactions with 
aquatic ecosystems. It will also allow for additional posts 
to be created at entry level, which will be advertised in 
late 2018 and 2019 and filled by black South African 
doctoral graduates; 

• Dr Albert Chakona, freshwater scientist, and Prof Paul 
Skelton, research associate, described two new South 
African freshwater fish species;

• SAEON researchers have produced 69 WoS publications 
and contributed to 22 policy and/or management-related 
contributions, in the form of reports, publications, 
comments on draft policies and presentations; 

• SAEON implemented an identifier of datasets through 
the digital object identifier (DOI) system and, in so 
doing, became the first African member of DataCite, 
ensuring that SAEON’s ownership of open access data 
cannot be compromised;

• SAEON has published the online version of the South 
African Carbon Sinks Atlas on behalf of the DEA. The 
data is hosted in the SAEON open data platform. The 
atlas consists of model data for carbon stocks and 
fluxes, summary statistics on carbon sinks, and spatial 
datasets showing the distribution of carbon sinks and 
climate-related information. The data and content of the 
atlas were curated by the CSIR Meraka Institute;

• A SAEON student attended the fourth International 
Marine Phytoplankton Taxonomy Workshop organised 
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and hosted by the Sir Alister Hardy Foundation for 
Ocean Science (SAHFOS), Plymouth (UK) from 3 
to 14 July 2017. The Workshop was aimed at early 
career scientists, technicians, postgraduates and 
marine ecologists with a basic knowledge of marine 
phytoplankton. It focused on the identification of 
key marine phytoplankton in the Atlantic Ocean and 
European waters, but was also useful for species from 
other oceans; and

• Three SAEON emerging researchers were among 27 
emerging researchers from 12 countries who attended 
the SASAC three-week programme held at Wits 
University (Gauteng) and Wits Rural Facility (Limpopo). 
They were exposed to a wide variety of fields, such 
as environmental sciences, biotechnology, medicine, 
engineering and social sciences presented by speakers 
from South Africa and Europe.

Highlights at the nodes included: 

• The SAEON’s Arid Lands node started a project to 
study the ecology of dryland wetlands to determine the 
ecology and sensitivity of these periodically wet and dry 
ecosystems and how they may be affected by, and serve 
as indicators for, global change and land-use changes. 
The Kalahari region received more than the annual 
rainfall of 200mm in January 2018 and a number of 
freshwater specialists are keen to partner with SAEON 
in the pans project, which identified Hakskeenpan as a 
key opportunity for collaborative research; and 

• The Ndlovu node continued to maintain the automatic 
weather station and the 10 camera traps deployed 
around Letaba exclosures (Kruger National Park) and 
transcribed animal sighting from the photos obtained. 
SANParks continued with monthly downloading of the 
remaining soil moisture probes at the site and shared the 
data with the Ndlovu node; and Fynbos node continued 
to maintain the drought monitor in the Western Cape. 
The latest trends revealed a slightly lower rainfall in 
August 2017 than the long-term average. Despite being 
low, rainfall was much better than in 2015 and 2016.
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NRF Objective 1 links to:

• MTSF priorities 2, 5, 
6, 7, 8 and 10 through 
the implementation 
and support of the 
HCD excellence 
pipeline, including the 
creation of Research 
Chairs and CoEs.

STRATEGIC OUTCOME
An internationally 

competitive, 
transformed and 
representative 

research system

Driving research competitiveness through the support of high-
quality research and innovation, as well as the generation of 
knowledge and development of human capacity in critical areas.

• Increase and provide support for next-generation, emerging and 
established researchers to grow the doctoral pipeline; and

• Support multidisciplinary research and innovation.

Objective  
statement

Critical  
implementation 
activities

1

INDICATORS Actual 
2016/17

Target 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Number of postgraduate 
students supported 
by National Research 
Facilities

320 238 262 10%

Higher than anticipated enrolments at all facilities, 
increase in supervisory capacity at SAEON through 
Professional Development Programme post-docs and 
higher enrolments from UWC and UniZulu students in 
ACEP.

ISI publications at National 
Research Facilities 180 86 185 115%

More publications were accepted and published 
online before appearing in print. A number of research 
programme publishing cohorts coinciding.

Number of users of 
National Research 
Facilities

716 556 495 -11%
The performance numbers were revised to exclude 
the postgraduate students who are only supervised or 
receive financial support from the National Research 
Facilities.

Citation impact of 
NF outputs (annual 
cumulative)

2.47 >1,25 1.29 36%
A greater than 2 citation impact is an aspirational target, 
given that the global benchmark is 1. Though the facilities 
strive to reach the target, the actual performance is a 
very good result.

BUDGET (R (000)) Actual 
2016/17

Budget 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Internationalisation 58 781  94 892  90 330  4 562 

 Promote globally competitive research and innovation

TABLE 19:  BIODIVERSITY AND ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES PERFORMANCE AGAINST STRATEGIC  
   OBJECTIVE 1 – 2017/18 (SAIAB AND SAEON)
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10.4.2 Enhance strategic international 
engagements 

SAIAB is actively involved regionally and internationally at 
a number of levels, including active research collaborations 
(formal and informal), international workshops and 
conferences, international organisation representation, 
editorships of international journals and research visits.

The facility has brokered 12 active joint international 
agreements/collaborations, and collaborated formally and 
informally with 21 countries during the year. Highlights 
included: 

• Collaboration with scientists from Norway, Canada, 
France, Australia and Seychelles to study the movement 
patterns and behaviour of coastal fishery species, sharks 
and stingrays, using acoustic telemetry technology. 
The facility also hosted the national Acoustic Tracking 
Array Platform (a partner of the Canadian-based Ocean 
Tracking Network project) that collects data on aquatic 
animals tagged by 12 local organisations, which also 
have global reach collaborations; and

• Long-term collaborations are being fostered with, 
among others, the Technische Universität Dresden, 
Germany and University of Hong Kong.

SAEON, as a leading international environmental research 
institution, served on 31 international and 47 local 
scientific committees and working groups during the year 
- including the Southern African Science Service Centre 
for Climate Change and Adaptive Land Management, the 
Indian Ocean Rim Country Academic Group, the National 
Spatial Planning Data Repository and JCOMM of the 
Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity 
and Ecosystem Services. Other international collaborative 
highlights included: 

• The new era of blue enlightenment that was ushered 
in by the launch of Brazil-EU-SA cooperation in Atlantic 
research and innovation. This flagship initiative, 
launched in Lisbon in July, aims to improve scientific 
understanding and promote technological advances that 
will facilitate sustainable growth of the blue economy 
within the broader perspective of climate change; and 

• Oslo, Norway, Petroleum Geo-Services ASA (PGS) has 
entered into a data-sharing agreement with the South 
African Marine Research and Exploration Forum for 
use of surplus data to improve understanding of the 
oceans. Data recordings such as temperatures and 
salinity through the water column, currents and weather 
observations are collected as a part of the PGS seismic 
acquisition process to improve seismic imaging. This 
activity has created an extensive multi-client data 
library with corresponding surplus data. In 2017, PGS 
announced its intention to open the surplus database 
for research on the ocean dating back to 1991.

Two SAEON employees attended and presented posters 
at the 2017 Wetlands in Drylands Research Network 
Conference at Macquarie University in Sydney. Thereafter, 
they were involved in activities such as:

• Field trip to the Macquarie marshes to learn how local 
scientists manage large-scale (in both time and area) 
research projects and interventions in a semi-arid 
climate, with multiple stakeholders and confounding 
influences of drought and flood cycles;

• Visit Prof Brian Timms, a retired aquatic ecologist, 
during a field trip to the ephemeral pans of the Paroo 
(Pai-Roo) region located in the north-west of New South 
Wales and south-west Queensland. The collection of 
swamps, lakes and clay pans found here is the best 
reference for the pans of the Northern Cape; and

• Visit to the laboratories of the University of New South 
Wales to exchange ideas on egg-bank sampling 
and hatching strategies. The University is currently 
characterising pans in the Pilbara region of Western 
Australia, which could be comparative with the Northern 
Cape pans.

 
SAEON was represented at the 26th annual conference 
of the Southern African Association for Research in 
Mathematics, Science and Technology Education, hosted 
by the University of Botswana in Gabarone. The theme of 
the Conference was ‘Pursuing sustainable and inclusive 
quality education through research informed practice in 
mathematics, science and technology’. SAEON presented 
on how participation in marine science camps influences 
learners’ perception of science.
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NRF Objective 1 
links to:

• MTSF priorities 10 
and 11.

STRATEGIC OUTCOME
An internationally 

competitive, 
transformed and 
representative 

research system

Promote system-wide international engagement and collaboration to 
support emerging knowledge fields and provide local researchers with 
access to innovative research infrastructure. 

• Promote system-wide international engagement; and
• Facilitate international research platform access.

Objective  
statement

Critical  
implementation 
activities

2

INDICATORS Actual 
2016/17

Target 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Number of joint 
international agreements 
at National Research 
Facilities

14 32 16 -50%  Several agreements at SAEON have not been formally 
renewed.

BUDGET (R (000)) Budget 
2016/17

Budget 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Internationalisation 1 064  1 279  1 108  171 

TABLE 20:  BIODIVERSITY AND ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES PERFORMANCE AGAINST STRATEGIC  
   OBJECTIVE 2 – 2017/18 (SAIAB AND SAEON)

Enhance strategic international engagements
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10.4.3 Establish and maintain research 
infrastructure and platforms

SAIAB provides three distinct research platforms to the 
research community. Growth in these platforms has been 
exponential with a number of major upgrades taking place. 
Performance highlights included:

• ACEP facilitated three cruises during the financial 
year, two on the R/V Phakisa and one on the R/V 
AngraPequena. A total of 17 students from various 
universities who are on the Ocean Stewards programme 
and a further eight postgraduate students participated 
on the R/V AngraPequena cruise; Seventy two (72) 
dives were undertaken during these cruises using the 
Seaeye Falcon ROV (a robot which dives hundreds 
of meters into the ocean). A new depth record of 248 
meters was achieved;

• Molecular Genetics Laboratory: Sequencing capabilities 
have increased since the acquisition of new equipment. 
The lab is fully subscribed and discussions are under 
way to develop a Genomics “hub” between SAIAB and 
Rhodes University. A new state-of-the-art sequencer is 
in the process of being procured; 

• Ecophysiology Laboratory: Experiments in the new 
state-of-the-art laboratory are extensive with students 
and staff from SAIAB, Rhodes University and University 
of Fort Hare making use of the platform; and

• A state-of-the-art coastal research vessel, Phakisa, with 
precision ROV and high resolution mapping capabilities 
is stationed in KwaZulu-Natal. This platform provides 
access to research infrastructure and associated funding 
to the research community to undertake research 
along the east coast of South Arica. This access is in 
the form of physical oceanography, marine geology, 
phytoplankton and zooplankton to animals burrowing 
into the marine sediments, fish, marine mammals and 
birds from nearshore to 40 nautical miles offshore.

SAEON has been awarded two new observational 
research infrastructures through South African Research 
Infrastructure Roadmap (SARIR), the Expanded Freshwater 
and Terrestrial Environmental Observation Network 
(EFTEON); and the Shallow Marine and Coastal Research 

Infrastructure (SMCRI). These, in addition to the Agulhas 
System Climate Array (ASCA) and the Strategic Research 
Infrastructure Grant (SRIG), will accelerate knowledge 
about the interconnectedness of earth systems.

A new 9.3 m Catamaran research vessel was acquired 
by SAEON Elwandle node. The research vessel Calanus 
was procured in 2017 to serve as a research platform in 
the Algoa Bay Sentinel Site for Long Term Ecological 
Research Network (LTER). The vessel has been used 
extensively for the Pelagic Ecosystem programme, service 
and maintenance of the Continuous Monitoring Programme, 
Benthic Reef programme as well as ad hoc for several 
research projects from NMU, RU, SAIAB and DAFF.

SAEON Grassland node expanded the Maputaland coastal 
plain research infrastructure platform with the completion 
of several new monitoring boreholes in the Vazi area, 
north of Lake Sibayi. This contributes to monitoring and 
understanding the relative impacts of climate and land use 
of the groundwater resources of this catchment.  Funding for 
this expansion was provided by the DEA Natural Resource 
Management programme. This has been identified by 
government as one of the priority areas requiring focal 
attention. 

The expansion of the SAEON Grasslands-Forests-Wetlands 
(GFW) platform into this area as an extension of the existing 
long-term groundwater monitoring project in iSimangaliso 
Wetland Park has been guided by a WRC project. In 
addition, temporary monitoring wells were installed on the 
edge of Lake Sibayi. Lake levels have dropped significantly 
over the last few years and DWS currently has no means 
to monitor lake level. A workshop held by SAEON GFW 
node in May 2017 identified monitoring and data gaps that 
SAEON is now filling in order to enable work to determine 
relative contribution of land use and climate to the dropping 
groundwater level in the area. SAEON, DWS and the 
academic community surveyed all the key monitoring wells, 
identifying the need to improve their model calibrations.



NRF Annual Report 2017/18

PART B: PERFORMANCE

108

STRATEGIC OUTCOME
Leading-edge 
research and 
infrastructure 

platforms

NRF Objective 1 links to:

• MTSF priorities 2 and 
10, since the provision of 
research equipment and 
platforms supports research 
across all areas of the HCD 
excellence pipeline.

Providing and facilitating access to world-class equipment and 
infrastructure through the acquisition of high-end equipment 
and the support of National Research Facilities.

• Provide science infrastructure in priority areas; and
• Incubate, nurture and strategically locate research platforms.

Objective  
statement

Critical  
implementation 
activities

4

INDICATORS Actual 
2016/17

Target
2017/18 Actual Variance Summary comment on variance

Total Infrastructure 
Investment in the National 
Research Facilities.

40.32 81.40 56.37 31%  
Acquisition of equipment such as small aircraft, research 
vessels and field equipment and two new infrastructure 
projects are behind schedule.

BUDGET (R (000)) Actual 
2016/17

Budget 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Platform and  
infrastructure  
provision

118 196  100 027  77 877  22 150 
Acquisition of equipment such as small aircraft, research 
vessels and field equipment and two new infrastructure 
projects are behind schedule.

Establish and maintain research infrastructure and platforms

TABLE 21: BIODIVERSITY AND ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES PERFORMANCE AGAINST OBJECTIVE 4  
  (2017/18) (SAIAB AND SAEON)
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The South African Astronomical Observatory (SAAO) SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS

The SAAO is the national facility for optical and infrared astronomy in South Africa. Its primary function is to 
conduct fundamental research in astronomy and astrophysics. The SAAO operates a number of telescopes, 
including the Southern African Large Telescope (SALT). The latter is owned by the SALT Foundation, formed by 
an international consortium of institutions with the NRF as the major shareholder.

RESEARCH INFRASTRUCTURE PLATFORMS – OPTICAL AND INFRARED ASTRONOMY

South African Large  
Telescope (SALT)

Optical and Infrared Research 
Infrastructure at Sutherland

SAAO RESEARCH AGENDA SUPPORTS: 

• Galaxy formation; 
• Time domain astrophysics (transients); and
• Exoplanets.

10.5 Astronomy and geosciences: SAAO and SARAO

10.5.1 The South African Astronomical Observatory (SAAO)
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South African Radio Astronomy Observatory (SARAO) SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS

Radio astronomy was historically conducted by the two separate business units of the NRF, namely HartRAO, 
a designated national research facility, and the SKA SA project. The new facility, SARAO will consolidate the 
activities of SARAO Hartebeesthoek, SKA SA, the AVN and associated research and development infrastructure, 
including big data storage, data transport and computing facilities. It will also consider the existing and future 
global strategy within the respective science fields, global commitments and the NSI, and will respond effectively 
to the operational and management responsibilities that the international Square Kilometre Array Organisation 
(SKAO) will place on South Africa with respect to SKA1_MID.

RESEARCH INFRASTRUCTURE PLATFORMS – RADIO ASTRONOMY

SARAO RESEARCH AGENDA SUPPORTS: 

• Astrophysical masers;
• Interplanetary scintillation caused by the solar wind;
• Radio-bright supernovae in other galaxies; 
• International Celestial Reference Frame to provide a link to optical astrometric measurements from the new 

GAIA spacecraft;
• Tests of the General Theory of Relativity; and
• Positioning services to support astronomers and users of Global Navigation Satellite Systems (GNSS) 

precise positioning.

10.5.2 South African Radio Astronomy Observatory (SARAO) 

26m Radio Telescope MeerKAT VGOS KAT-7
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10.6 Astronomy performance

10.6.1 Promote globally competitive research and  
innovation 

Human Capacity Development (HCD)

To increase equity of access to postgraduate students, 
SARAO has approved a ‘Policy on transformation of the 
equity profile of SARAO-funded postgraduate students and 
postdoctoral fellows - Phase 1: 2018 to 2022’. This policy 
is a mechanism to drive transformation for the SARAO 
university programme through the provision of targets for 
the award of bursaries and postdoctoral fellowships over a 
five-year period. 

SARAO is in the process of contacting its postdoctoral 
fellows’ alumni to establish their movements since exiting 
the SKA human capacity development programme. 
Qualified artisan students who have been employed by 
SARAO (SKA) have been included in the study. Of 285 
individuals, 184 (65%) have responded to date. Of the 
48 HCD alumni, 36 are scientists and engineers. These 
36 account for approximately 30% of the total number of 
scientists and engineers employed by SARAO. Over and 
above the research staff employed by SARAO, 50 HCD 

alumni are employed in research positions in South African 
universities and research facilities. In total, 123 alumni 
have been employed in relevant research positions, in 
South Africa.
Knowledge generation 

Optical Astronomy

A SALT-SAAO paper entitled ‘Optical spectra of ultracool 
dwarfs with the Southern African Large Telescope’ in the 
monthly notices of the Royal Astronomical Society journal 
presents a robust spectral classification method for very 
cool stars. Very cool stars with surface temperatures 
lower than about 3000 degrees emit most of their light in 
the infrared wavelengths, making them very dim at optical 
wavelengths, thus making classification challenging unless 
a large telescope such as SALT is used. In the study, a 
robust template-fitting method was used to classify the 
stars and reassess literature classifications. The paper may 
help improve the method of classification of very cool stars 
which is, an essential step in adressing scientific problems.

SALT, SAAO 1-metre telescopes, and smaller telescopes 
in Chile, were used to pinpoint the location of an old nova 
spotted by Korean astronomers in Seoul almost 600 years 

SAAO RESEARCH HIGHLIGHT 
In August 2017, SAAO researchers successfully 
observed a transient Kilonova that resulted from a 
merger of two neutron stars awhich was first detected as 
a 100s gravitational wave event called GW170817.  The 
gravitational wave signal was first observed by the Laser 
Interferometer Gravitational-Wave Observatory  (LIGO) 
and Virgo detectors, allowing ~70 observatories, including 
SALT and several other SAAO telescopes, the opportunity 
to observe the phenomenon. This was the single, most-
followed astrophysical event of all time, across the globe. 
It resulted in the first gravitational wave observation to 
have been confirmed by non-gravitational means and the 
establishment of a new branch of science, namely Multi-
Messenger Astronomy. SALT provided one of the first 
spectra of the merger, with several other SAAO telescopes 
also observing the explosion where the creation of new 
elements such as gold and platinum was observed in real 
time.

Artist  rendering of the merger of two neutron stars
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ago. This is the first nova ever recovered with certainty. 
The observations revealed deep eclipses that allowed the 
team to very accurately derive the system’s orbital period. 
In addition, the SAAO photometry demonstrated that the 
white dwarfs rotate with a period of 1 859 seconds, the 
same periodicity that is present in X-ray observations.

SAAO astronomers led the process to define the 
requirements for SALT second-generation instrumentation. 
This also determines the thematic areas for optical and 
near-infrared astronomy in South Africa. This initiative 
yielded three key science areas, namely transient and 
time domain astrophysics, galaxy evolution and exo-
planets. It informed the core of the SALT generation 1.5 
instrumentation package proposal, which was finalised in 
early-2018, and will be funded by the NRF through an MoU 
between SAAO and SARAO.  This funding will leverage 
future support for generation 2 SALT instrumentation from 
the international SALT partners, as well as attract new 
partners. An engagement process is due to start before the 
SALT Board meeting of June 2018.

SALT science continues to grow.  There were 49 refereed 
publications in 2017 setting a new record. Half of these 
papers result from data emanating from South African 
observation time, and 24 of these papers have SAAO 
authors.

Radio astronomy 

MeerKAT construction was completed as per schedule 
on 31 March 2018; however, the telescope had already 
generated its first published science results in October 
2017. MeerKAT observations were included in a paper 
published in the Astrophysical Journal Letters, reporting on 
electromagnetic follow-up of a pair of inspiralling neutron 
stars detected by the LIGO and Virgo gravitational wave 
detectors.

SARAO participates in a number of collaborations towards 
SKA Data Infrastructure and research and development. 
Some of these initiatives include the:

• Data Intensive Research Initiative of South Africa 
(DIRISA) Tier 2 funding that has been awarded to 
a consortium that includes SKA SA to set up storage 
and computing infrastructure and activities to service 
astronomy, including MeerKAT and other domains;

• SKA SA collaboration with IBM Research Africa on the 
use of machine learning for astronomy and explore its 
application for MeerKAT and serendipitous discovery; 

• International SKA Organisation endorsing the concept 
of SKA “Regional Centres” as a major component of 
its data system, and the SKA SA participation on a 
committee that is defining the requirements for such an 
international network;

• Single-dish monitoring observations at the SARAO 
Hartebeesthoek site  that provide high temporal 
resolution observations at multiple frequencies to radio 
and high-energy astronomers in order to complement 
the high spatial resolution observations from VLBI 
observations and observations at higher frequencies, 
such as gamma rays;

• Recent research projects to promote competitive 
research including the next-generation International 
Celestial Reference Frame (ICRF-3), Improving 
the K-band Celestial Reference Frame, Gaia link 
sources, high angular resolution observations of new 
3FGL sources, and lunar laser link calculation and 
optimization.

SARAO has embarked on a technology localisation 
strategy for the high-end electronics and mechanical 
systems that were developed for the MeerKAT telescope. 
It is anticipated that this will also assist in preparing local 
industry for greater participation in the international Square 
Kilometre Array project once the construction phase 
begins. Currently, four technologies  are being progressed, 
namely, the reconfigurable architecture boards (SKARAB) 
real- time transient analyser (RTA), the low cost robust high 
performance computing solution (IRONHIVE) and the Data 
Storage Solution (DSS). 

Aircraft flying close to the radio telescopes in the Karoo 
create a radio frequency interference (RFI) risk that is 
mitigated by tracking of all aircraft in the Karoo without use 
of new transmitters.  One of the most promising solutions is 
passive radar technology or commensal radar, COMRAD. 
Recent trials to test the suitability of the system were 
undertaken in partnership with the developers and the 
results were positive. 
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TABLE 22: ASTRONOMY PERFORMANCE AGAINST STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 1 – 2017/18

STRATEGIC OUTCOME
An internationally 

competitive, 
transformed and 
representative 

research system

NRF Objective 1 links to:

• MTSF Priorities 2, 5, 
6, 7, 8 and 10 through 
the implementation 
and support of the 
HCD Excellence 
Pipeline, including the 
creation of Research 
Chairs and Centres of 
Excellence.

Driving research competitiveness through the support of high-
quality research and innovation, as well as the generation of 
knowledge and the development of human capacity in critical 
areas.

• Increase and provide support for next-generation, emerging 
and established researchers to grow the doctoral pipeline; 
and

• Support multidisciplinary research and innovation.

Objective  
statement

Critical  
implementation 

activities

1

INDICATORS Actual 
2016/17

Target 
2017/18 

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Number of post graduate 
students supported by 
the National Research 
Facilities

118 121 125 3%
More interest displayed by honours students for projects 
at SAAO. One doctoral student transferred from UJ late 
in 2017 to be supervised at SAAO and UCT.

ISI publications at the 
National Research 
Facilities

141 164 217 32%
A surge in SAAO publications due to the gravitational 
wave discovery, improved productivity of SALT, the 
1.9m telescope and research on internationally hosted 
telescopes.

Number of users of 
National Research 
Facilities

1 293 1 378 1 207 -12% The higher number of users is due to increase in time 
allocation on SALT.

Citation impact of National 
Research Facility outputs 
(annual cumulative)

1.32 >1.25 1.47 -18%
A greater than 2 citation impact is an aspirational target, 
given that the global benchmark is 1. Though the facilities 
strive to reach the target, the actual performance is a 
very good result.

BUDGET (R (000)) Actual 
2016/17

Budget 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Promote globally 
competitive research and 
innovation

112 116  152 404  128 775  23 629 

Promote globally competitive research and innovation

10.6.2 Enhance strategic international engagements 

The SAAO Electronics workshop is working towards an 
agreement with the Inter-University Centre for Astronomy 
and Astrophysics in India to develop and test new CCD 
controller cards for the Wide-field Nasmyth Camera 
(WiNCam) on Lesedi. These cards will replace the current 
ageing and unsustainable cards and are planned in two other 
instruments that SAAO will support over the next few years: 
SALT’s Robert Stobie Spectrograph Near-Infrared arm and 
the Wide Area Linear Optical Polarimeter being installed 
by Dr Steve Potter and international collaborators on the  
1- metre telescope.

SAAO astronomers have led one of the China-NRF 
bilateral conference series, ‘Sharing resources and 
building collaborations in optical and infrared astronomy’ 
(Petri Vaisanen, Subo Dong), for which 19 South African 
astronomers and engineers, 15 from SAAO, travelled 
to China for a three-day science workshop at Yunnan 
Observatories in Lijiang. A significant outcome of the 
meetings was a mutual agreement to share telescope time 
and resources between Sutherland and NAOC sites in 
China. An MoU was drafted in March 2018 with the aim to 
start with the agreement in mid-2018.
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SAAO has helped the Entoto Observatory develop two 
1-metre telescopes, and continues to assist Ethiopian 
astronomers to develop their observing facilities and 
university astronomy curriculum.

SARAO is responsible for the Africa VLBI Network. Over 
the year in review: 

• A successful Presidential launch of the Ghana telescope 
took place during August 2018. Ghana is the first 
telescope commissioned as part of the AVN project, and 
seeks to develop radio astronomy as an African partner 
country. The station successfully participated in another 
European VLBI Network (EVN) observation session 
and completed successful fringe tests with the HartRAO 
26-metre dish during the financial year.

• The modification and integration work on the two-antenna 
interferometer for Botswana, continued in earnest.  Two 
technicians from the Botswana International University 
of Science and Technology (BIUST) visited SARAO 
to gain knowledge on radio astronomy technologies, 
systems and science.

• Initial renovations have been conducted at the 
Madagascan facility. The country is ready to proceed 
with the conversion project. Although Mauritius has 
been identified to be part of the latter phase of the  AVN 
roll out, Mauritian stakeholders recently indicated the 
possibility of co-funding for a new-build telescope, that 
will be progressed towards the end of the new financial 
year.

• The HartRAO site continued to assist with the 
maintenance of collaborative equipment such as the 
Russian Radio Astron VLBI satellite ground control. A 
meteorological station, GNSS and seismic installation 
has been completed and is being tested in Lesotho 
(Sani Pass).

• Installation of the Russian satellite laser ranger (SLR) is 
complete and initial tests have indicated that all systems 
are functional and operating to specifications. All capital 
and running funds are provided by Roscosmos. Data 
collection has started and has been provided to the 

international services, but is still in quarantine. The 
station will be accepted as part of the international 
network in the next financial year; and 

• A number of staff attended a five-day workshop on 
‘Radio Astronomy, Geodesy and Space Science” 
in China, focused on building and strengthening 
collaborations in radio astronomy, space geodesy 
and related technologies between the South African 
and Chinese astronomy communities. An MoU was 
signed between SARAO Hartebeesthoek and Shanghai 
Observatory for the installation of a Chinese-designed 
and -constructed VLBI global observing system antenna 
at Matjiesfontein.

Work to finalise the SKA Observatory Convention has 
continued under the leadership of the Italian Presidency. 
Progress with the development of the telescope site 
Hosting Agreement between South Africa and the to be 
established Intergovernmental Organisation (IGO). The 
primary outstanding issue surrounding an acceptable 
text for Convention article 11.4 (concerning Intellectual 
Property) was resolved. At the time of writing, the position 
is as follows: 
• Following the Lisbon meeting, a finalised Convention 

text (including the associated Protocols) has been 
prepared. In addition, a ‘Final Record’ text has been 
prepared; 

• Delegations, at the request of the Presidency, have 
approved the addition of Portugal to the signature block 
of the Convention, permitting them to sign alongside 
other States who participated in the Convention 
negotiation;  

• The Presidency has released the Convention text and 
Final Record to all delegations, seeking their approval 
of the documents. Once approval has been received 
from all delegations, the Presidency will distribute the 
documents to seek authorisation to ‘initial’; and 

• Positive responses from almost all delegations have 
been received. Activity to expedite the remaining 
responses continues. 2.6. As agreed in the earlier 
schedule, the intention is to move as quickly towards 
signature as possible. Signatories at this stage are 
likely to be South Africa, Australia, The United Kingdom, 
China, India, the Netherlands, Sweden, Italy and New 
Zealand.
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MeerKAT 

The highlight of the 2017/18 financial year was the 
successful delivery of the MeerKAT radio telescope at 
the end of March 2018. Located 90km from Carnarvon in 
the Northern Cape, the 64-dish array has dish diameters 
of 13.5 metres, and is distributed across a span of 8 
kilometres. The ‘Off-set Gregorian’ optical layout ensures 
excellent optical performance, sensitivity and image 
quality.  Cryogenic coolers, receivers, digitiser, and other 
electronics support each antenna. MeerKAT First Light in 
2016, was a survey done with Array Release 1 i.e. the first 
16 dishes. The MeerKAT First Light image shows more 
than 1300 galaxies in the distant Universe, compared to 
70 known in this location prior to MeerKAT.

Now that 64 dishes are on site and operational, it is 
expected that MeerKAT science will be nothing short of 
revolutionary. Given the telescopes, densely packed core, 
which boosts sensitivity and the dispersed, arms, that 
provide the baseline for improved resolution, MeerKAT 
is ideal for mapping hydrogen, which is the fuel of stars 
and galaxy formation.  One of the allocated Large Survey 
Projects is called LADUMA and looks at the distant 
Universe through an ultra-deep survey of neutral hydrogen 
gas in the early Universe. Other Large Survey projects, 
which have been allocated include, Radio Pulsar Timing, 
the results of which will be used to test Einstein’s theory 
of gravity.

But, it’s not just about the science, the project has committed 
to the translation of its innovation and development activities 
into economic benefits through a commercialisation and 
localisation strategy. The MeerKAT antenna have a local 
content of 75%, which is the value traced to a local source 
and not the resale of imported goods. The 200km optic 
fibre network completed in 2014 was predominantly local. 
The Digital Back End (DBE) is core technology and is a key 
sub-system, which was designed and developed in South 
Africa. The digitizers have been an in-house production 
project with the exception of the masers, required for 
timing distribution. 

The correlator technology was initially a part of the 
CASPER collaboration with the University of California 
at Berkeley, subsequent design and development of the 
MeerKAT correlator are now an initiative and product of 
local project team. This is the same for the control and 
monitoring software for the telescope.

MeerKAT has been a project based on the ideal of Mission 
Driven Innovation and it has not only yielded the scientific 
benefits for the global community but, through the human 
capacity development , commercialisation and localisation 
programmes, the telescope will continue to benefit the 
local community and the South African economy.
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STRATEGIC OUTCOME
An internationally 

competitive, 
transformed and 
representative 

research system

NRF Objective 2 links to:

• MTSF Priority 4 – Decent 
employment through inclusive 
growth through the promotion 
of governance and compliance 
as a strategic asset, and 
drives compliance with 
respect to Broad Based Black 
Empowerment and the Industrial 
Policy Action Plan (IPAP).

Promote system-wide international engagement and 
collaboration to support emerging knowledge fields 
and provide local researchers with access to innovative 
research infrastructure.

• Promote system-wide international engagement; and
• Facilitate international research platform access.

Objective  
statement

Critical  
implementation 
activities

2

INDICATORS Actual 
2016/17

Target 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Number of joint 
international agreements 
at the National Research 
Facilities

48 47 21 -55% Some expired agreements have not been formally 
approved for extension.

BUDGET (R (000)) Actual 
2016/17

Budget 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Internationalisation  311 859  270 996  378 799  -107 803
The variance is largely due to a delay in the handover 
of the new building extension and vacancies across the 
business unit. 

Enhance strategic international engagements

TABLE 23: ASTRONOMY PERFORMANCE AGAINST OBJECTIVE 2 - 2017/18
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10.6.3 Establish and maintain research 
infrastructure and platforms

Optical astronomy

Lesedi is being commissioned, with technical teams from 
the manufacturer having visited Sutherland during the 
financial year. Motor and software issues need to still be 
resolved, but the telescope can track with an accuracy far 
better than specified in a 60km/h wind, which is the wind 
speed limit of operation. 

After consultation with the South African astronomical 
community, it has been decided to build two spectrographs 
for Lesedi. The first instrument is a low-resolution, high-
throughput spectrograph to allow transient observations. 
Approval is awaited from National Treasury to finalise the 
MoU for Liverpool John Moores University (LJMU), UK, to 
provide the instrument and collaborate on research. The 
first collaborative visit of the LJMU team to South Africa was 
in November 2017 and was funded primarily by LJUM. The 
second instrument to be built will be an innovative, fibre-fed, 
high-resolution, echelle spectrograph to support exoplanet 
observations. The project is in the initial planning stages 
and Lesedi will be the first remotely-run operable telescope 
by SAAO. To allow for observations from the full suite of 
instruments, a multi-instrument mounting will be developed. 
Work is also progressing on WiNCam, a large-format 
imaging instrument for the new telescope that is scheduled 
for completion in mid-2018. 

A 30-year asset Renewal Plan was prepared and presented 
at the SALT Board meeting and the plans for the next five 
years were approved with increased future asset renewal 
funding. Some of the important sub-systems that will be 
replaced in the foreseeable future are the primary mirror 
segment positioning system and the RSS-VIS collimator 
optics. The Board also approved new staff positions to 
improve the quality and standard of operations of SALT. 
This will reduce downtime even further, while decreasing 
the workload on critical and continuously overloaded staff. 

Radio astronomy

So far 42 farm portions have been secured for SKA 1, but the 
Environmental Impact Assessment identified the potential 
for adverse impact on the local agricultural economy due 
to the land acquisition programme. Various initiatives are 
being implemented to mitigate the risk. A project has been 
identified, approved and will be implemented in partnership 
with Williston Vleis Kooperasie to establish a feedlot that 
will provide a steady supply of lamb for slaughter to the 
Williston abattoir. 

An additional 1 400 hectares is required for the three spiral 
arms and this land will be secured through  servitude 
agreements with individual landowners. ARFI measurement 
campaign is being undertaken on the land to inform 
landowners of the potential impact of the Astronomy 
Geographic Advantage (AGA) Act regulations. This will 
assist with the determination of compensation to be 
considered for the servitudes.

The tarring of the 80km gravel road from Carnarvon to the 
telescope observing site for MeerKAT was completed in 
September 2017 and the road will be handed over to the 
Northern Cape Province who will be responsible for all 
future maintenance. 

A geostation and weather station was installed at NECSA 
during July 2017 and is completely functional. This 
collaboration was initiated by NECSA due to its requirement 
for an on-site seismometer to monitor the seismic activity in 
the region of the SAFARI nuclear reactor. The data from this 
station is a valuable extension to the distributed network of 
stations for geodetic data collection and research.

During the year, SKA SA achieved ISO 9001 certification, 
with the scope including the provision of scientific radio 
astronomy, engineering, design, development, project 
management, construction, operations and maintenance for 
the radio telescope projects (South Africa and the African 
continent).
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STRATEGIC OUTCOME
Leading-edge 
research and 
infrastructure 

platforms

NRF Objective 1 links to:

• MTSF priorities 2 and 
10, since the provision of 
research equipment and 
platforms supports research 
across all areas of the HCD 
excellence pipeline.

Providing and facilitating access to world-class equipment 
and infrastructure through the acquisition of high-end 
equipment and support of National Research Facilities.

• Provide science infrastructure in priority areas; and
• Incubate, nurture and strategically locate research 

platforms.

Objective  
statement

Critical  
implementation 
activities

4

INDICATORS Actual 
2016/17

Target 
2017/18 

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Total infrastructure 
investment National 
Research Facilities (Rm)

625.59  581.42 623.45 7%
Expenditure is higher than planned due to roll over from 
the previous year as well as the achievement of the 
March 2018 target date for completion of MeerKAT.

BUDGET (R (000)) Actual 
2016/17

Budget 
2017/18 

Actual 
2017/18 Variance Summary comment on variance

Platform and  
infrastructure  
provision

 637 447  731 164  631 901  99 264 
The variance is largely due to a delay in the handover 
of the new building extension and vacancies across the 
business unit. 

Establish and maintain research infrastructure and platforms

TABLE 24: ASTRONOMY PERFORMANCE AGAINST OBJECTIVE 4 - 2017/18
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GOVERNANCE

PART C:  REGULATORY REPORTING

11
11.1 Introduction

The governance structures of the NRF consist of systems 
and processes that assist the NRF to be directed, controlled 
and held accountable. Legislation including the NRF Act (No 
23 of 1998), the Public Finance Management Amendment 
Act (PFMA) (No 29 of 1999) and the Companies Act (No 
71 of 2008) contribute to the compliance requirements of 
the entity, as do national and departmental frameworks, 
instructions and policies. In addition, the NRF also 
applies leading governance practices by adhering to the 
requirements in the King Report on Corporate Governance 
for South Africa (King IV).

11.2 Accountability structure

The NRF is accountable to Parliament through the 
Parlimentary Portfolio Committee (PPC) on Science and 
Technology. The Minister of Science and Technology is the 
Executive Authority in terms of the PFMA and the Accounting 
Authority is the NRF Board. The Board of the NRF delegates 
to the Chief Executive Officer the role of Accounting Officer 
of the NRF. This structure is represented in Figure 25.

11.3 Parlimentary Portfolio Committe (PPC) on 
Science and Technology

The PPC of the National Assembly processes legislation 
and conducts oversight of the work of the NRF. During the 
2017/18 financial year, the CEO and the NRF Corporate 
Executive Committee had two interactions with the PPC on 

Science and Technology, where the PPC exercised oversight 
of the planning and performance of the organisation through 
the:

•  NRF Annual Report for 2016/17 in September 2017; 
and 

• APP for 2018/19 in March 2018

11.4 Minister of Science and Technology as 
Executive Authority

The Honourable Ms Naledi Pandor served as the Minister of 
Science and Technology until 26 February 2018, when the 
Honourable Ms Nkhensani Kubayi-Ngubane was appointed. 
Table 25 lists the accountability documents submitted to the 
Accounting Authority during the 2017/2018 financial year.

FIGURE 25:  ACCOUNTABILITY STRUCTURE  
   OF THE NRF

Accountability Report Date of submission

Annual Report 2016/17
Presentation to the Minister –  September 2017

Tabling in Parliament – 7 September 2017

Annual Performance Plan  2017/18 to 2019/20 Tabling in Parliament – 15 March 2018

Fourth quarterly report 2016/17 Submission to DST 20 April 2017    

First quarterly report 2017/18 Submission to DST –  20 July 2017

Second quarterly report 2017/18 Submission to DST–  20 October 2017

Third Quarterly Report 2017/18 Submission  to DST–  20 January 2018

Parliamentary Portfolio Committee (PPC)

Accounting Officer: The Chief Executive Officer of the NRF

Corporate Executive Committee

Accounting Authority: The NRF Board

Executive Authority: The Minister of Science and Technology

TABLE 25:   ACCOUNTABILITY DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED TO THE MINISTER OF SCIENCE AND  
         TECHNOLOGY DURING THE 2017/18 FINANCIAL YEAR
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11.5 NRF Board as Accounting Authority

The NRF Board is appointed by the Minister of Science 
and Technology (Minister) with the approval of Cabinet in 
terms of Section (6) of the NRF Act. The role of the Board 
is to exercise oversight in ensuring that the organisation 
effectively carries out its functions, powers and duties and 
realises its object, as set out in the NRF Act.
The Board therefore directs and governs the organisation, 
putting in place the necessary controls for effectiveness and 
overall good governance including:
• Establishing committees of the Board in support of 

oversight and the execution of its duties;
• Supporting the appointment of the CEO as the 

accounting officer of the organisation with all delegations 
and powers for the incumbent to execute the legislative 
and implied mandate of the organisation; 

• Supporting the execution of the organisational mandate 
including rules regarding disclosures; and 

• Reporting obligations of the business through the 
Corporate Executive Committee.

11.6 NRF Board Charter

The functions of the Board of the public entity are outlined in 
the NRF Act, and explicated in the Board Charter. The Board 
of the NRF has compiled a progressive Board Charter that 
outlines its role, responsibility and governance oversight.   
The Charter provides a concise overview of: 

•  Delineation of the roles, functions, responsibilities and 
powers of the Board;

• Delegation of Authority to various Committees of the 
Board; and

• Matters reserved for final decision-making or pre-
approval by the Board.

The Board has adhered to the provisions of its Charter 
for the 2017/18 financial year and met five times during 
the 2017/18 financial year, including its annual strategic 
planning meeting as follows: 

TABLE 26:  THE NRF SUPPORTING POLICY FRAMEWORK 

Board members
26 and 27 July 2017

[annual strategic 
planning workshop]

28 July  
2017 9 November 2017 29 January 2018 27 March  

2018

Prof L Nongxa (Chairman) ● ● ● ● ●

Ms CA Busetti [appointed April 2017] ● ● ● ● ●

Ms GM Campbell X X ● ● X

Dr P Clayton ● ● ● ● ●

Prof M Leibbrandt ● ● ● ● ●

Ms M Letlape ● ● X ● ●

Mr R Lubisi ● ● ● ● ●

Prof SD Maharaj ● ● ● ● X

Prof T Maluleke X X X ● X

Prof S Mosoetsa X X ● X X

Dr V Papu-Zamxaka X X ● ● X

Prof R Singh ● ● ● ● ●

Prof E Tyobeka X X ● ● ●

Ms J Yawitch ● ● ● ● X

Dr M Qhobela (Ex-officio) ● ● ● ● ●

● In attendance 
x Absent with apology        
- Not an attending member
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11.7 Shareholder compact between Accounting 
Authority and Executive Authority

The Chairman of the Board and the Minister of Science 
and Technology may agree on a schedule of performance 
targets for the organisation that are set out in the shareholder 
compact between the Accounting Authority and Executive 
Authority. 

11.8 NRF Board term of office
The Board is appointed and reconstituted every 4 years 
in accordance to a process outlined in Section 6(2) of the 

NRF Act (Act No. 23 of 1998 as amended). The current 
NRF Board was reconstituted by the Minister of Science 
and Technology and extends from 1 October 2014 to 30 
September 2018. 

11.9 Composition of the NRF Board

At 31 March 2018, the NRF Board was constituted as set 
out in Figure 26.

FIGURE 26: BOARD MEMBERS AS AT 31 MARCH 2018

Prof Tinyiko Maluleke
University of Pretoria

Dr Vathiswa  
Papu- Zamxaka

Syneus Research sA 
(Pty) Ltd

Dr Molapo Qhobela
Ex-officio Member

Mr Ronny Lubisi
MRL Chartered

Accountants

Prof Sunil Maharaj
University of

KwaZulu-Natal

Prof Errol Tyobeka
Namibia University of

Technology
Ms Mpho Letlape

Independent

Dr Sarah Mosoetsa
National Institute of the
Humanities and Social

Science
Ms Claire Busetti

Independent
Prof Mala Singh

Rhodes University

Dr Peter Clayton
Rhodes University

Ms Joanne Yawitch
National Business

Initiative

Prof Murray 
Leibbrandt

University of Cape Town

Prof Loyiso Nongxa
Chairman: University of 

the Witwatersrand
Ms Gail Campbell
Zenex Foundation
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11.10 NRF Board members with Board directorships

Additional directorships held by NRF Board members are shown in Table 27.

TABLE 27: NRF BOARD MEMBERS WITH BOARD DIRECTORSHIPS AT 31 MARCH 2018

Prof L Nongxa
(Chairman of the NRF Board)

Rothschild [South Africa] (Pty) Ltd
Rothschild South Africa Foundation
BP South Africa Education Foundation

Ms MCA Busetti
[Appointed April 2017]

National Advisory Council on Innovation (NACI)
Special Economic Zones Advisory Board 
Board Investment Committee of the National Empowerment Fund
South African Venture Capital and Private Equity Association VC sub- committee member  
Spartan Technology Rentals (Pty) Ltd Board
Women’s Development Bank Private Equity Advisory Committee 
Executive Advisory Board of SiMODiSA
Ariya Africa Investments Limited

Ms GM Campbell
GDE Science Education Centre t/a Sci-Bono Discovery Centre
Gauteng Education Development Trust
Independent Philanthropy Association of SA (IPASA)

Dr P Clayton
African Journals Online
GBS Mutual Bank
Rhodes University [Executive Council member]

Prof MV Leibbrandt None

Ms M Letlape

Standard Bank Tutuwa Community Foundation [NPC]
Lethushaneng Advisory Services 
Lethushane (Pty) Ltd
Tower Group
T-Systems South Africa
Sapphire Logistics
T-Systems Community Trust [trustee]
SA Women in Dialogue [trustee]
Africa Harm Reduction Alliance
Food Forward South Africa

Mr R Lubisi

Jungle Babies Shop
MRL Human Capital
MRL Auditing Services
MRL Development and Project
MRL Electrical and Consulting
Siyaraga Accounting Services

Prof SD Maharaj Council of the Academy of Science of South Africa
University of KwaZulu-Natal Retirement Fund

Prof T Maluleke
Board of Khulumani [NGO]
Get Me to Graduation (NGO)
University of Pretoria

Prof S Mosoetsa
Member of Task Team for Department of Higher Education and Training
Council member for Rhodes University
Wits University (staff)

Dr V Papu-Zamxaka Sci-Bono Discovery Centre [NPC]

Prof R Singh Council of Higher Education [CHE]
Council of Nelson Mandela University [NMU]

Prof E Tyobeka Namibia University of Technology

Ms J Yawitch
National Business Initiative
Trustee on the Boris Yawitch Trust
Chairperson of South African National Parks Board
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11.11 Competencies of NRF Board members

The competencies and experience of Board members are summarised in Table 28.

TABLE 28: HIGHEST QUALIFICATIONS AND AREAS OF EXPERTISE

Board member Highest qualification Areas of Expertise

Prof L Nongxa Doctoral Degree Mathematics Higher education 
management

Ms CA Busetti Masters of Business 
Administration Investment Banking Private Equity and Project 

Finance
Small Technology Business 
Support

 Ms GM Campbell B Social Science [social 
work] Honours Corporate social 

Dr P Clayton Doctoral Degree Research and development Higher education 
management

Prof M Leibbrandt Doctoral Degree Development economics Poverty, inequality and 
labour markets

Ms M Letlape Masters (currently busy 
with doctorate ) Procurement

Human resource 
management and STEM 
education

Governance

Mr R Lubisi Chartered Accountant [CA] Corporate accounting 
services

Prof SD Maharaj Doctoral Degree General relativity Cosmology Relativistic astrophysics

Prof T Maluleke Doctoral Degree Theology Higher education 
management

Prof S Mosoetsa Doctoral Degree Sociology

Dr V Papu-Zamxaka Doctoral Degree Public Health

Prof M Singh D Phil International higher 
education policy

Comparative higher 
education

Quality assurance in higher 
education

Prof E Tyobeka Doctoral Degree Biochemistry

Ms J Yawitch MSc Agricultural development Sustainability and climate 
change Governance
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11.12 NRF Board committees – purpose and 
composition

The NRF Board appointed five standing committees to deal 
with relevant issues regularly:

•  Audit and Risk Committee;
• Remuneration and Human Resources Committee;
• Research Development Committee; 
• Procurement Committee; and
• Social and Ethics Committee

11.12.1 Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee ensures that the assurance 
coverage provided by management, risk management, as 
well as the internal and external audit functions is optimised, 
and adequately focuses on priority risk areas. The committee 
plays an integral role in the risk management of the 
organisation and oversees the annual risk-based internal 
audit in terms of the King Report on Corporate Governance 

for South Africa (King IV). The committee engages with an 
external audit initiated by the Auditor-General in line with 
the PFMA. The committee also evaluates the organisation’s 
integrated reporting with specific focus on:

• Financial reporting;
• Risk management;
• Internal controls;
• Fraud risk as it relates to financial reporting; and
• IT governance.

The committee has adopted formal terms of reference 
through the Audit and Risk Committee charter in line with 
the requirements of Section 51 (1) (a) of the PFMA and 
Treasury Regulations 27.1.7 and 27.1.10. The committee 
discharged all its responsibilities for the year in line with the 
charter. During 2017/18, the committee held four meetings. 
For more information on the meetings held by the Audit and 
Risk Committee, refer to Table 29.

TABLE 29: AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE MEETINGS: 1 APRIL 2017 TO 31 MARCH 2018

Board members 13 July  
2017

17 October 
2017

8 December 
2017

9 March  
2018

Dr P Clayton (Chairman) ● ● ● ●

Ms CA Busetti [appointed 28 July 2017] - ● ● ●

Prof M Leibbrandt ● ● ● X

Mr R Lubisi ● ● ● ●

Dr V Papu-Zamxaka ● ● ● ●

Prof L Nongxa (Ex-officio) - - - -

Dr M Qhobela (Invited member) X ● ● ●

Mr B Singh (Invited member) ● ● ● ●

● In attendance
x Absent with 

apology        
- Not an attending 

member
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11.12.2   Remuneration and Human Resources    
Committee

The committee has adopted formal terms of reference and 
monitors the performance of the organisation regarding 
human resources and remuneration. Through the 
committee, the Board within the terms of the agreed policy, 
determines the scope of the remuneration packages of the 
executive and general staff, including, where appropriate, 
bonuses and incentive payments schemes.  The Committee 
also sets the CEO’s performance contract and oversees 
the general organisational climate and ethical conduct and 
any other matters formally delegated by the Board to the 
Committee from time to time. During the 2017/18 financial 
year, the committee held 3 meetings as shown in Table 30

11.12.3 Research Development Committee 

This committee facilitates the effective exercise of the NRF 
Board’s responsibility for governance oversight of the core 
mandate of the NRF to support research and research 
capacity development, promote science engagement and 
knowledge transfer, and advise the Minister on relevant 
research related matters. 

The Research Development Committee convened 3 times 
this year as shown in Table 31.

TABLE 30: REMUNERATION AND HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE MEETINGS: 1 APRIL 2017 TO  
31 MARCH 2018

Board members 3 July  
2017

31 October 
2017

2 March  
2018

Mrs M Letlape (Chairman) ● ● ●

Ms G Campbell ● ● ●

Prof SD Maharaj X ● X

Ms J Yawitch X ● ●

Prof L Nongxa (Ex-officio) - - -

Dr M Qhobela (Invited member) ● ● ●

Mr P Thompson (Invited member) ● ● ●

TABLE 31: RESEARCH DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE MEETINGS: 1 APRIL 2017 TO 31 MARCH 2018
Board members 28 June  

2017
16 October 

2017
16 March  

2018
Prof M Singh (Chairman) ● ● ●
Prof T Maluleke X ● X
Prof S Mosoetsa X ● ●
Ms J Yawitch X X ●
Prof L Nongxa (Ex-officio) - - -
Dr M Qhobela (Invited member) ● ● ●
Dr B Damonse (Invited member) ● ● ●
Dr P Matutu (Invited member)
[appointed August 2017] - ● ●

Dr G Pillay (Invited member) ● ● ●
 

● In attendance 
x Absent with apology        
- Not an attending 

member

● In attendance 
x Absent with apology        
- Not an attending 

member
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TABLE 32: PROCUREMENT COMMITTEE MEETINGS: 1 APRIL 2017 TO 31 MARCH 2018

Board members 25 April  
2017

13 July  
2017

19 October 
2017

26 February 
2018

Prof E Tyobeka (Chairman) X ● ● ●

Ms CA Busetti  
[Appointed 28 July 2017] - - ● ●

Dr P Clayton ● ● ● X

Ms M Letlape ● X ● ●

Prof L Nongxa (Ex-officio) - - - -

Dr M Ghobela (Invited member) ● X ● ●

Mr B Singh (Invited member) ● ● ● ●

11.12.4   Procurement Committee

The Board committee was formed mainly to facilitate 
supply chain management requirements of the organisation 
considering the time bound nature of some activities. 
The approved terms of reference allow the committee 
to consider and approve procurement requests above 
R10 million and consider and recommend procurement 
requests over R20 million to the NRF Board in line with 
the delegation of authority framework. The committee 
has regular scheduled meetings, but can also convene at 
short notice should urgent matters require approval. The 
committee held 4 meetings during the 2017/18 financial 
year: as indicated on Table 32

11.13 Remuneration of the Board

The remuneration of the NRF Board is determined in line 
with the National Treasury guidelines. The NRF Board was 
categorised as level A1 for the financial year in review. 
Table 33 on page 128 details remuneration of the Board for 
the 2017/18 financial year.

Board members are not paid a daily allowance when 
travelling for NRF purposes. However, all travel costs (such 
as airfares and car hire) are covered by the NRF. ‘Other 
reimbursements’ include actual costs incurred by Board 
members for incidental expenses such as airport parking 
costs, toll fees, Gautrain fares and use of personal vehicles 
(reimbursed per kilometre as per NRF travel policies).

● In attendance 
x Absent with apology        
- Not an attending 

member
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TABLE 33: REMUNERATION OF BOARD MEMBERS (2017/18)

Name Remuneration
(R’000) Other allowance Other

reimbursements
Total

(R’000)

Ms GM Campbell 31 Nil Nil 31

Ms CA Busetti [appointed April 2017] 66 Nil Nil 66

Dr P Clayton 103 Nil Nil 103

Prof M Leibbrandt 62 Nil Nil 62

Ms M Letlape 109 Nil Nil 109

Mr R Lubisi 72 Nil Nil 72

Prof SD Maharaj 50 Nil R802.30 51

Prof T Maluleke 39 Nil Nil 39

Prof S Mosoetsa* Nil Nil Nil Nil

Prof L Nongxa 129 Nil Nil 129

Dr V Papu-Zamxaka 50 Nil Nil 50

Prof R Singh 80 Nil Nil 80

Prof E Tyobeka 40 Nil Nil 40

Ms J Yawitch 63 Nil Nil 63

* As per National Treasury Regulations, government employees/civil servants who serve on a Board of a state entity do not qualify for 
Board remuneration.

11.14 NRF organisational structure

The CEO with the Corporate Executive Committee, 
supported by Programme 1, provide an enabling governance 
and compliance structure that ensures the organisation 
meets its mandate, while operating within an established 
control environment. This structure provides combined 
assurance to the NRF Board.

11.14.1 NRF Corporate Executive Committee

The Board of the NRF delegates to the CEO, who performs 
the function of the Accounting Officer of the NRF in line with 
the Act. The CEO is also the Chairman of the Corporate 
Executive Committee. This committee is the formal internal 
NRF decision-making structure and is constituted as 
shown in Figure 27. The Corporate Secretary provides 
the secretariat function to Corporate Executive Committee 
meetings. To ensure cascading of key business and 
strategic information and engagement with all business 
units, the NRF has created a consultative forum, namely 
the NRF Directors’ Forum, which meets twice a year.
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Dr Beverley Damonse
Group Executive

Science Engagement 
and Corporate 

Relations

Dr Clifford Nxomani
Deputy CEO

 National Research 
Infrastructure Platforms

Mr Bishen Singh
Group Executive

Finance and 
Business Systems

Dr Phethiwe Matutu
Group Executive 

Strategy, Planning and 
Partnerships 

Mr Patrick Thompson
Group Executive 

Human Resources
and Legal Services

Dr Gansen Pillay
Deputy CEO

Research and 
Innovation Support
and Advancement

Dr Molapo Qhobela
Chief Executive Officer

FIGURE 27: CORPORATE EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
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11.14.2 Corporate Secretary

The Corporate Secretary function is mandatory in terms 
of the NRF Act and plays a pivotal role in the governance 
of the organisation. The Corporate Secretary guides and 
advises the Board on governance principles and legislative 
compliance, in so doing supporting the Board and its sub-
committees. The Corporate Secretary is also the formal 
point of contact for the organisation, its Board, the Ministry 
and parliamentary committees.

11.15 Risk management

The NRF adopts a balanced approach to ERM to achieve 
strategic goals while safeguarding the direct interests of the 
organisation’s stakeholders. The NRF risk management 
framework provides a common ‘risk language’ and 
describes the roles and responsibilities of key players in 
managing enterprise risk and measures the risk appetite of 
management. The implementation of the ERM framework 
contributes to:

• Proactively identifying, managing and monitoring 
enterprise risks so as to minimise losses and disruption 
to the NRF;

• Promoting and embedding a risk-conscious culture and 
behaviour throughout the NRF;

• Complying with legal and regulatory requirements; and
• Integrating risk into the internal audit methodology such 

that internal audit becomes risk based.

Risk management and the tabling of the strategic risk 
register of the organisation are standing items on the 
agenda of the Corporate Executive Committee and the 
Audit and Risk Committee. During the financial year, the 
Corporate Executive Committee reviewed the operational 
and strategic risk registers of the organisation. Operational 
risks are managed on an ongoing basis and all business 
units report on critical operational risks as part of the 
quarterly reporting cycle.

11.16 Internal control

The NRF has established a centralised internal control 
development unit to support the organisational philosophy of 

integrating control across the organisation through policies 
and procedures. These internal controls are developed, 
reviewed and implemented in, inter alia, risk management, 
policy development, system design, corporate governance, 
audits, standard operating procedures, and legislative 
compliance and sustainability initiatives.

11.17 Internal Audit

The Internal Audit function derives its mandate from the 
Audit and Risk Committee terms of reference, whereby 
the committee is pivotal in ensuring that the internal audit 
function is independent and has the standing and authority 
to discharge its functions.

As crucial assurance providers, both internal and external 
auditors are encouraged to cooperate and ensure that there 
is an optimal level of overlap between them. The Audit and 
Risk Committee tasks the in-house Internal Audit function 
with compiling a three-year rolling annual audit plan that is 
approved annually to:

• Test the key internal controls across the business;
• Audit specific areas based on the outcome of a risk 

assessment;
• Provide advisory services to the organisation as 

necessary; and
• Provide ad hoc audit and investigative services as 

necessary.

The NRF Internal Audit unit has adopted a co-sourced 
model, comprising an internal audit service provider and an 
in-house audit. The purpose, authority and responsibility 
of the Internal Audit unit is defined in a Board-approved 
charter that is consistent with the Institute of Internal 
Auditors definition of internal auditing, Treasury Framework 
on Internal Audit and the principles of King IV Report.  The 
primary scope in providing assurance includes:

• Evaluating the reliability and integrity of information and 
the means used to identify, measure, classify and report 
such information;

• Evaluating the systems established to ensure 
compliance with policies and procedures, plans and 
legislation that could be significant to the organisation;
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TABLE 34 : INTERNAL AUDIT REVIEWS FOR THE YEAR ENDING 31 MARCH 2018

# Type of review Type of review
Responsibility  

(In-house/ 
outsourced)

Quarter Current 
status Report rating

1 Grant management  -  University of 
Zululand Agreed-upon procedures In-house Q1 Finalised Medium

2 Grant management - national health 
laboratories Agreed-upon procedures In-house Q1 Finalised High

3 Grant management (THRIP) – 
University of North West Assurance In-house Q1 Finalised Extreme

4 Grant  management – SKA SA Assurance In-house Q2 Finalised Insignificant

5 Grant  management –GMSA Assurance In-house Q2 Finalised Medium

6 Labour relations management Assurance In-house Q2 Finalised Low

7 Procure to pay Assurance In-house Q2 Finalised Medium

8 Business continuity
Maturity assessment Maturity assessment Co-source partner Q4 Finalised Below maturity

9 Financial Management (three audit 
areas) Assurance In-house Q3 Finalised Medium

10 IT general controls review Assurance Co-source partner Q4 Finalised Medium

11 Fraud awareness (all facilities Consulting In-house Q3 Finalised N/A

12 SCM (three audit areas) Assurance In-house Q3 Finalised Medium

13 Audit of performance information Assurance Co-source partner Q4 Finalised High

14 Fixed asset management (four audit 
areas) Assurance In-house Q4 Finalised Medium

 

• Evaluating the means of safeguarding assets and, as 
appropriate, verifying the existence of such assets;

• Evaluating the effectiveness and efficiency with which 
resources are employed;

• Evaluating operations or projects to ensure results are 
consistent with established objectives and whether the 
operations are being carried out as planned;

• Monitoring and evaluating governance processes; and
• Monitoring and evaluating the risk management 

process.

The assurance mandate is informed by the results of the 
risk-based Audit Coverage Plan, which is approved annually 
by the Board Audit and Risk Committee, as well as the 
Combined Assurance Forum that assists with monitoring 
of internal controls, governance and risk management at 
operational levels of the organisation.
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11.18 Fraud and corruption

The NRF has an all-encompassing policy entitled, 
‘The prevention, detection and resolution of fraud and 
corruption’, which includes the Fraud Prevention Plan. The 
organisation subscribes to the National Anti-Corruption 
Hotline (NACH), which ensures that all allegations of fraud 
and corruption cases are investigated in line with policy 
and NACH turnaround times. Depending on the outcome 
of the investigation and based on the recommendations 
of the oversight committee, issues raised are reported for 
consideration to the NRF Board in terms of the Act. Over 
the reporting period, a pre-populated risk and control 
framework template for fraud risk self-assessments was 
made available. Internal Audit conducted various fraud 
awareness sessions. 

11.19 Minimising conflict of interest

A conflict of interest occurs when an individual or an 
organisation is involved in multiple interests and where 
there is potential to possibly corrupt the motivation to act 
in one’s or another’s interests. While it is understood that 
conflict of interest can be voluntarily identified and defused 
before corruption occurs, the NRF, given its strategic role in 
the national landscape, minimises the risk of such conflicts 
by ensuring proper segregation of duties at all levels of 
the organisation. In grant management, the business uses 
independent external review and evaluation as opposed to 
taking decisions internally.

All the organisation’s processes and operating processes 
are open to audit, evaluation and review and the NRF 
undertakes an organisation-wide review once every 
five years as set out in the White Paper on Science and 
Technology. Specific programmes and units are also open 
to external review as necessary or as part of the governance 
of the programme or unit.

All members of committees involved in contracts, from the 
drafting of specifications to the award of the bid, sign a 
disclosure statement on conflict of interest. Non-disclosure 
of interest is taken very seriously and punitive action is 
instituted in line with the NRF disciplinary code for breach 

of policy. Employees are required to disclose business 
interests in writing upon joining the NRF and communicate 
any changes thereafter to the business unit and corporate 
human resources offices.

11.20 Code of conduct

The NRF adopted a code of ethics, values and business 
conduct as part of its consolidated human resources 
policies and procedures. The code is complementary to 
the conditions of service of the NRF and is a statement 
of the NRF’s values in its dealings with people and 
organisations, internally and externally. The spirit of the 
code is to support ethical conduct by all individuals. To help 
employees comply with both its letter and spirit, the NRF 
has developed guidelines that are published with the code. 
A breach of the code attracts censure and is dealt with in 
terms of the NRF’s disciplinary code.

11.21 Health safety and environmental issues

The Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) Act prescribes 
specific compliance requirements for specific environments. 
Given the diverse nature of the NRF, health and safety 
requirements vary and require specific interventions. The 
Risk unit ensures that specific needs are met by customising 
compliance solutions across the NRF.

11.22 Social and ethics responsibility

The NRF has conducted, and will continue to conduct, 
business in a manner that meets existing needs without 
compromising possibilities for future generations. The 
NRF takes cognisance of the impact that the business 
has on its stakeholder community. To this end, the NRF 
Board enhanced its terms of references to include the 
implementation of legal requirements and prevailing codes 
of best practice and standards on social and ethics matters. 

Guided by Section 72(4) of the Companies Act, read with 
Regulation 43 of the Companies Regulations and the King 
IV report, the organisation will ensure the implementation 
of the codes of best practice and standards on social and 
ethics responsibilities. These include the following: 
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• Good corporate citizenship by ensuring that the 
organisation is and is seen to be a responsible corporate 
citizen.

• Labour and employment, including:
 – The International Labour Organisation protocol on 

decent work and working conditions; 
 – The Employment Equity Act; and
 – The entity’s employment relationships and its 

contribution to the educational development of its 
employees. 

• Social and economic development, including the NRF’s 
standing in terms of:

 – The 10 principles set out in the United Nations 
Global Compact; 

 – The OECD recommendations on corruption; 
 – Enabling ethical research conduct; and
 – The Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment 

(BBBEE) Act.

11.23 Corporate social investment

The NRF participated in the following social investment 
programmes: 
• Nelson Mandela Day: The donation of obsolete IT 

equipment in support of the DST’s Mandela Day event 
at Diepsloot combined school;

• SARAO and associated partners, invested heavily in 
the Northern Cape Province (Carnarvon, Vosburg, 
Williston, Van Wyksvlei and Brandvlei). Social 
investment in the area includes supporting local service 
providers, employing and developing people from the 

surrounding area, and establishing cyber laboratories 
where members of the community are trained. To date 
the investment included, amongst others: 

 – R136m to local service providers and contractors 
for the construction of MeerKAT and related 
projects;

 – R162m to employees from the Northern Cape 
alone;

 – R1m invested in training in the Northern Cape; 
and

 – R5m for materials from local suppliers for the 
construction of the Hydrogen Epoch of Reionisation 
Array (HERA).

11.24 Compliance with laws and regulations

The organisation uses a priority compliance listing that 
identifies applicable pieces of priority legislation, regulations 
and codes of best practice. This list is continuously 
monitored and updated. King IV urges the organisation’s 
leadership to not only drive compliance with laws, but to 
focus on non-binding rules, codes and standards.  The 
tables below contain some key (but not all-inclusive) laws 
and best practice codes applicable to the NRF’s operations 
and mandate. Tables 35 and 36 are summary of the NRF 
aplicable legislation and best practice.



NRF Annual Report 2017/18

PART C: REGULATORY REPORTING

134

TABLE 35:  PRIORITY COMPLIANCE LISTING OF APPLICABLE LEGISLATION 

Legislation RI
SA

SA
EO

N

SA
AS

TA

SA
IA

B

Ha
rtR

AO

SA
AO

iT
he

m
ba

 
LA

BS

SK
A

1 National Research Foundation Act 23 of 1998

2 Occupational Health and Safety Act 85 of 1993

3 National Water Act 36 of 1998

4 NEMA - National Environmental Management Act 107 of 1998

5 Public Finance Management (PFMA) Act 1 of 1999 

6 New Companies Act 71 of 2008

7 Intellectual Property Rights from Publicly Financed Research and Development Act 51 of 2008

8 Skills Development Act 97 of 1998

9 Employment Equity Act 55 of 1998

10 Labour Relations Act 66 of 1995

11 Basic Conditions of Employment Act 75 of 1997

12 National Environmental Management: Biodiversity Act 10 of 2004

13 National Environmental Management: Biodiversity Act, 2004 (Act 10 of 2004): Threatened or Protected 
Species Regulations

14 Astronomy Geographic Advantage Act 21 of 2007

15 Mine Health and Safety Act 29 of 1996

16 Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development Act 28 of 2002

17 Marine Living Resources Act 18 of 1998

18 National Environmental Management: Air Quality Act (NEM:AQA), 39 of 2004

19 National Environmental Management: Waste Act 59 of 2008

20 Promotion of Access to Information Act 2 of 2000

21 Occupational Health and Safety Act 85 of 1993: Diving Regulations

22 Occupational Health and Safety Act 85 of 1993: Construction Regulations

23 National Radioactive Waste Disposal Institute Act 53 of 2008

24 National Health Act 61 of 2003

25 South African National Space Agency Bill (B20 of 2008)

26 Compensation for Occupational Injuries and Diseases Act 130 of 1993

27 Animal Protection Act 71 of 1962
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TABLE 36: APPLICABLE CODES AND  STANDARDS 

Best practice  codes and standards RISA SAEON SAASTA SAIAB SARAO SAAO iThemba 
LABS

1 King IV  Code of Corporate Governance 
for SA

2 International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) for Financial Reporting

3 ISO 14001 2004 Environmental 
Management System    

4 ISO 9001 2008 Quality Management 
System   

5 Current Good Manufacturing Practices       

6 International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) 
standards       

 
11.25 Supply Chain Management (SCM)

In accordance with Regulation 16 A of the PFMA, the NRF 
has implemented an effective and efficient SCM system to 
acquire goods and services, and dispose of, and let, state 
assets (including the disposal of goods).

The organisation ensures that SCM processes adhere to 
international best practices, legislation and internal control 
in demand management, logistics management, disposal 
management, SCM risk management and assessment 

of SCM performance. This is achieved by designing and 
implementing  appropriate processes, including workflow, 
and providing support through training, policies, systems, 
templates, advisories, advice, directives, forums, quality 
assurance for tenders, and contributing to the bid 
adjudication processes. Transversal agreements and 
bulk rates are used where feasible. The NRF Board have 
approved the formal terms of reference of BAC and the 
committee is functioning well, with members serving three-
year terms.
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12.1 Introduction

The corporate human resources and legal services (HRLS) 
function responds to the needs expressed in the strategic 
plan and APP of NRF divisions and business units for 
2017/18 by contributing to a qualified staff complement 
through a number of processes, tools and interventions in 
the HR value chain:
• Ensuring transparent, fair and equitable recruitment 

processes to attract staff who are qualified, motivated 
and competent to excel in their appointed positions;   

• Inculcating commitment to organisational goals, 
fostering a positive client-centric organisational culture 
and building competencies on an ongoing basis in staff 
and management in line with the strategic goals and 
needs of the NRF;

• Ensuring that key competencies were maintained, 
managing the risks and planning for long-term 
succession in strategic and key management and 
leadership positions;

•  Building relationships and maintaining harmony 
among staff, management and stakeholder labour 
organisations; and

• Striving continuously to improve the execution and 
effective management of basic processes and tools to 
ensure current and future success. 

12.1.1 Overview of HR matters 

Priorities included a range of strategic shifts and adjustments 
in policy and processes and the implementation of tools to 
enable the organisation to adapt to the changing demands 
in the environment and stakeholders. These priorities 
included:
• Continued implementation and refinement of the 

performance management framework and associated 
reward mechanisms to align to a team and client-centric 
culture required to meet the organisation’s performance 
delivery expectations by a range of internal and external 
stakeholders;

• Facilitation and negotiation of the transfer of the NZG 
to SANBI;

• Increased investment in staff development through the 
review of the Part-Time Education Assistance Scheme 
funding levels;

• The implementation of the Management Development 
Programme and New Managers Development 
Programme;

• The implementation of the NRF Executive and 
Leadership Coaching Programme as one of the various 
interventions and strategies for learning and skills 
transferral, which offers development opportunities for 
NRF management and leadership to acquire skills from 
expert and experienced coaches;

• The implementation of a contract management policy 
and effective tools for the management of existing and 
new NRF contracts, and putting in place guidelines, 
tracking processes and other mechanisms to ensure 
ease of compliance by all employees of the NRF who 
deal with contracts; and

• Continued implementation of the customised NRF 
Diversity Management Programme in partnership with 
the Wits Centre for Diversity Studies as a key driver of 
transformation in all business units.

Workforce planning framework and key strategies to attract 
and recruit a skilled and capable workforce

The NRF Staff Planning Policy strategically aligns the 
organisation’s human resources with its business direction, 
thereby ensuring that it has the correct number of people 
with the right skill sets or competencies in the right jobs at 
the right time. The process enables the organisation to: 

• Determine and source human resources capable of 
meeting strategic and operational objectives; 

• Obtain the required quality and quantity of staff; 
• Make optimum use of available human resources; 
• Anticipate and manage surpluses and staff shortages; 

and 
• Develop a multi-skilled, representative and flexible 

workforce, which enables the organisation to adapt 
rapidly to the changing environment in which it 
functions.

This planning process is integrated, in both approach 
and engagement of senior and line management. It takes 
into account the organisation’s strategic direction and is 
reconciled to the available budget.

HUMAN RESOURCES12



NRF Annual Report 2017/18

PART C: REGULATORY REPORTING

NRF Annual Report 2017/18 137

NRF structure fit for purpose

In reflecting on the alignment of the organisation to 
deliver on its mandate and strategic goals, the Corporate 
Executive, led by the CEO, conceptualised a new high-level 
structure, which was implemented in 2017 and included the 
NZG transfer to SANBI, as well as the merger between the 
SKA project office and HartRAO to establish SARAO.

Employee performance management framework

The NRF strives to be a high-performance knowledge 
organisation that yields ongoing, long-term value 
to its stakeholders. It, therefore, needs to maintain 
total commitment to high standards of performance, 
collaboration and teamwork, openness to new ideas and 
ongoing learning in line with the NRF Act, the NRF vision, 
strategic objectives, underpinned by the NRF values.  It 
is within this context that the NRF Integrated Performance 
Management System and its requirements are positioned, 
driven and implemented.

The IPMS enables the NRF and its employees to strive for 
excellence in the achievement of set goals at all levels, 
through effective performance planning, performance 
monitoring and measurement, and appropriate skills 
development.  Key principles of the IPMS are enhancement 
of organisational performance, recognition of individual 
and team contribution, and effective management of 
underperformance.
More specifically, the IPMS facilitates and ensures the 
following:
• Alignment of organisational, divisional, business unit, 

departmental and individual goals and objectives;
• Agreement on clearly defined employee performance 

goals and objectives, in alignment with business goals;
• Monitoring and measurement of employee and team 

performance against agreed goals and objectives;
• Provision of regular feedback between management/

supervisors and their direct reports on performance 
relative to agreed goals and objectives;

•  Improvement of performance through multifaceted 
employee development approaches and appropriate 
skills development;

• Effective discussions on career-pathing, which 
may inform employee development and movement 
considerations; and

• Enhancement and reinforcement of a culture of 
performance and teamwork among employees at all 
levels in the organisation.

Improve staff and succession planning

The NRF reviewed its staffing and succession plans in key 
positions to ensure that:

• Risks to the organisation are managed;
• Resources are optimally used; and 
• Sustainability of the organisation is assured.

Areas of improvement were identified and actions to be 
taken fed into the short- to medium-term implementation 
plans.

Employment Equity Plan (EEP)

The EEP is at the core of the NRF’s commitment to 
transformation and to achieve representivity in all occupation 
levels and categories of its workforce, and gives effect to 
the NRF Employment Equity and Redress Policy adopted 
by the Board. The plan sets out measures to ensure legal 
compliance with the Employment Equity Act, 55 of 1998 
as well as the business imperative to be representative 
of the areas in which the NRF operates. This includes the 
setting of objectives, activities, numerical goals and targets 
to progressively move towards representivity of designated 
groups across the organisational structure.

Improve staff competency through training and 
development

Phase two of the NRF Diversity Management Programme 
was implemented, and focused on the role and responsibility 
of leadership (management and the executive) in leading 
the NRF diversity and transformation agenda, and building 
the capacity of leaders/managers/change agents to respond 
practically to key themes needing attention. In addition, 
compliance with the WSP process was maintained across 
the organisation.
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12.2 Human resource oversight statistics 

12.2.1 Personnel cost by programme 

TABLE 37: PERSONNEL COST BY PROGRAMME

Occupational level
Personnel 

expenditure 
(R’000)

Personnel 
expenditure 

as a % of total 
expenditure

Number of 
employees

Average 
personnel cost 
per employee 

(R’000)

Programme 1 - Corporate 55 487 9% 65 854

Programme 2 - Science Engagement 30 121 5% 63 478

Programme 3 - Research RISA 101 537 16% 185 549

Programme 4 – Research Infrastructure Platforms 449 821 71% 880 511

TOTAL 636 966 100% 1 193 534

 
12.2.2 Personnel cost by salary band 

TABLE 38: PERSONNEL COST BY SALARY BAND AS AT 31 MARCH 2018

Occupational level
Personnel 

expenditure 
(R’000)

Personnel 
expenditure 

as a % of total 
expenditure 

Number of 
employees

Average 
personnel cost 
per employee 

(R’000)

Top management 20 070 3% 8 2 509

Senior management 39 936 6% 26 1 536

Professionally qualified and experienced specialists and mid-
management 245 050 38% 292 839

Skilled technical and academically qualified workers, junior 
management, supervisors, foremen and superintendents 309 194 49% 717 431

Semi-skilled and discretionary decision making 13 328 2% 72 185

Unskilled and defined decision making 9 387 1% 78 120

TOTAL 636 966 100% 1 193 534

Support for the Diversity Management Programme continues to grow among management and staff at all levels and 
diversity workshops were scheduled for completion just after year-end.

Salary benchmarking

The NRF undertakes salary benchmarking every three years to determine where the organisation’s remuneration is relative 
to the market and its desired positioning.  This exercise, which was concluded in March 2018: 
• Compared individual salaries to those of similar positions in the market; 
• Identified scarce skills positions/roles qualifying for premium salaries; and
• Identified and addressed misalignment of NRF grades relative to the grades of similar positions in the market.
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12.2.3 Performance rewards

TABLE 39: PERFORMANCE REWARDS AS AT 31 MARCH 2018

Occupational level Performance 
Rewards (R'000)

Personnel 
Expenditure (R'000)

% of rewards to 
total personnel cost 

Top Management 936 20 070 4,66%

Senior Management 1 039 39 936 2,60%

Professionally qualified and experienced specialists and mid management 3 149 245 050 1,29%

Skilled technical and academically qualified workers, junior management, 
supervisors, foremen and superintendents 1 529 309 194 0,49%

Semi - skilled and discretionary decision making 30 13 328 0,22%

Unskilled and defined decision making 5 9 387 0,05%

TOTAL 6 688 636 966 1,05%
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12.2.4 Training cost 

TABLE 40: CORPORATE TRAINING INVESTMENT

Directorate/ business unit Intervention Expenditure 
(R`000)

Number of 
employees 

Average  cost 
per employee

Corporate HR Data management 26,106 10 2 611

Corporate HR Financial fitness - 25 -

Corporate HR Financial management - 11 -

Corporate HR Induction training - 13 -

Corporate HR Project management (internal) - 23 -

GMSA Emotional intelligence 20 513 6 3 419

Corporate Finance and SCM Strategic sourcing and commodity management 9 063 1 9 063

RCCE Monitoring and evaluation 23 000 2 11 500

Corporate HR Financial management (internal) - 9 -

GMSA Microsoft Excel - 11 -

Corporate HR Job evaluation training 43 950 11 3 995

Corporate Finance and SCM BAC training 111 600 31 3 600

SAASTA Diversity workshop - 15 -

SAIAB Diversity workshop - 18 -

iThemba LABS Diversity workshop - 10 -

SAASTA Job evaluation training 44 600 12 3 716

SAAO Job evaluation training 43 950 11 3 995

SKA Job evaluation training 43 300 10 4 330

iThemba LABS Job evaluation training 42 650 9 4 738

Corporate HR Diversity workshop - 16 -

Corporate Finance and SCM Microsoft Excel intermediate 3 979 2 1 989

Corporate HR ER training - 56 -

Corporate HR Records management and law 5 185 1 5 185

TOTAL 417 896 313 1 335
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12.2.5 Employment and vacancies 

TABLE 41: VACANCIES PER PROGRAMME 

Programme
2016/17 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18 %

Number of 
Employees

Approved 
Positions

Number of 
Employees Vacancies Vacancies

Programme 1 - Corporate 72 74 65 9 12%

Programme 2 - Science Engagement 61 68 63 5 7%

Programme 3 - Research and Innovation Support 
and Advancement (RISA) 186 198 185 13 7%

Programme 4 - Research Infrastructure Platform 1125 935 880 55 6%

Grand Total 1444 1275 1193 82 6%

TABLE 42: VACANCIES PER LEVEL

Level
2016/17 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18 %

Number of 
Employees

Approved 
Positions

Number of 
Employees

Vacancies Vacancies

Top Management 6 8 8 0 0%

Senior Management 28 29 26 3 10%

Professionally qualified and experienced specialists 
and mid management 328 315 292 23 7%

Skilled technical and academically qualified 
workers, junior management, supervisors, foremen 
and superintendents

790 764 717 47 6%

Semi - skilled and discretionary decision making 203 74 72 2 3%

Unskilled and defined decision making 89 85 78 7 8%

Grand Total 1444 1275 1193 82 6%
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TABLE 43: EMPLOYMENT CHANGES AT 31 MARCH 2018 – REASONS FOR STAFF LEAVING

Re
as

on
s f

or
 Le

av
ing

Reason No. of Employees % of Total No. of staff 
leaving

Absconded 0 0%

Deceased 3 2.86%

Dismissal 2 1.90%

End of Fixed Contract 21 20%

Ill-health/Disability 0 0%

Resignation 66 62.86%

Retirement 13 12.38%

Retrenchment 0 0%

Transfers 0 0%

TOTAL 105 100.00%

 
12.2.6  Labour relations – misconduct and disciplinary action 

TABLE 44: DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS

Nature of disciplinary action Number

Dismissal 4

Final written warning 2

Written  warning 10

Verbal warning 5

Counselling 2

Grand total 23
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12.2.7 Equity target and employment equity status

TABLE 45: MALE EQUITY TARGET AND EMPLOYMENT EQUITY STATUS 

Occupational level
African Coloured Indian White

Current Target  
2020 Current Target  

2020 Current Target  
2020 Current Target  

2020

Top management 3 2 - - 2 1 1 -

Senior management 6 10 2 1 1 1 11 6

Professionally qualified and 
experienced specialists and mid-
management

44 67 27 22 7 4 115 78

Skilled technical and academically 
qualified workers, junior management, 
supervisors, foremen and 
superintendents

150 232 102 103 9 11 89 89

Semi-skilled and discretionary decision 
making 21 72 17 17 - 2 1 14

Unskilled and defined decision making 9 18 21 21 - - 1 3

Total permanent 233 401 169 164 19 19 218 190

Non-permanent employees 15 17 11 7 - - 3 9

TOTAL 248 418 180 171 19 19 221 199

TABLE 46: FEMALE EQUITY TARGET AND EMPLOYMENT EQUITY STATUS 

Occupational level
African Coloured Indian White

Current Target 
2020 Current Target 

2020 Current Target 
2020 Current Target 

2020

Top management 1 2 1 1 - - - -

Senior management 1 5 - 2 2 - - 1

Professionally qualified and 
experienced specialists and mid-
management

16 60 5 22 4 6 30 30

Skilled technical and academically 
qualified workers, junior management, 
supervisors, foremen and 
superintendents

187 220 63 89 12 11 70 62

Semi-skilled and discretionary decision 
making 15 72 14 13 - 4 - 14

Unskilled and defined decision making 9 21 19 28 - 1 1 2

Total permanent 229 380 102 155 18 22 101 109

Non-permanent employees 8 7 - 1 - - 4 2

TOTAL 237 387 102 156 18 22 105 111
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13.1 Statement of Responsibility for Performance Information for The Year Ended 31 March 2018

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the preparation of the public entity’s performance information and for the 
judgments made in this information. 

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for establishing and implementing a system of internal control designed to 
provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of performance information. 

In my opinion, the performance information fairly reflects the actual achievements against planned objectives, indicators 
and targets as per the strategic and annual performance plans of the public entity for the financial year ended 31 March 
2018. 

The NRF performance information for the year ended 31 March 2018 has been examined by the external auditors and 
their report is presented on page 155 

The performance information of the entity set out on page 145 to 148 were approved by the NRF Board. 

Dr Molapo Qhobela
Chief Executive Office
National Research Foundation 
July 2018

 
13.2 Auditor’s Report: Predetermined Objectives

The Auditor-General of South Africa/auditor currently performs the necessary audit procedures on the performance 
information to provide reasonable assurance in the form of an audit conclusion. The audit conclusion on the performance 
against predetermined objectives is included in the report to management, with material findings being reported under 
‘Predetermined objectives’ heading in the report on ‘Other legal and regulatory requirements’ section of the auditor’s 
report. 

Refer to page 155 for the auditor’s report, published as Part D: Financial Information
 

13 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR REPORT
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 INDICATORS Actual 
2014/15

Actual 
2015/16

Actual 
2016/17

Target 
2017/18

 Actual
2017/18

% 
Variance Explanation

      

OUTCOME: An internationally competitive and transformative research system

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 1  Promote globally competitive research and innovation

Number of NRF 
funded researchers  
from designated 
groups

Black 1 235 1 355 1 563 1 960 1 698 -13%

The variance is attributed to 
the slow rate of transformation 
within the national human 
capacity development pipeline 
from next generation, emerging 
to established researchers. An 
additional exercise has also 
been undertaken to determine 
the full cost of study for 
post graduate students. The 
transformation strategy in this 
regard will be informed through 
a comprehensive roadmap and 
policies.

Female 1 514 1 610 1 699 2 450 1 786 -27%

Number of post 
graduate students 
funded from 
designated groups

Black 7 057 8 980 10 747 10 350 11 328 9%

The target of 69% has been 
exceeded through concerted 
efforts to achieve the Ministerial 
Guideline target of 80% black 
students supported. The 
higher percentage is due to an 
achievement of 94% Black for 
Honours bursary beneficiaries

Female 5 976 7 032 8 017 8 700 8 266 -5%

The variance is attributed to 
the slow rate of transformation 
within the national human 
capacity development pipeline 
from next generation, emerging 
to established researchers. An 
additional exercise has also 
been undertaken to determine 
the full cost of study for 
post graduate students. The 
transformation strategy in this 
regard will be informed through 
a comprehensive roadmap and 
policies.

13.3 KPI report

The following section contains tables on the performance targets set for 2017/18 and the NRF’s actual performance 
against these targets.
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Number of NRF 
rated researchers  
from designated 
groups

Black 765 866 970 936 1 069 14%

There is an overall growth in the 
credibility of the rating system 
which has attracted a higher 
number of applicants since the 
Higher Education system have 
started to use the NRF rating 
system as a proxy and criteria for 
performance management and 
promotion. The NRF in a prior 
year through the office of the 
DCEO: RISA has encouraged 
DVCs of research institutions to 
identify female black scientists 
to apply for a rating. This was 
well received resulting in an 
increased number of successful 
applications.

Female 962 1 054 1 176 1 188 1 285 8%

ISI publications published by the 
National Research Facilities 369 225 458 370 574 55%

All facilities exceeded target, 
and several papers which were 
submitted for print in the previous 
year have now been published. 
In addition, productivity at both 
SAIAB and SALT has increased 
together with an increase in 
publications through use of the 
SAAO small telescopes and 
hosted international telescopes. 
Collaborative projects with 
other international research 
platforms have also enhanced the 
publication rates e.g. gravitational 
waves, HESS and CERN.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE  2 Enhance strategic international engagements 

Number of active grants 
emanating from binational, 
multinational as well as agency to 
agency agreements

1 055 1 161 1 008 1 404 996 -29%
The underperformance is due to 
international partners not always 
being able to adhere to the NRF 
timeframes. 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE  3 Provide best practice systems in support of grant making, reviews and evaluations

Total Number of Researchers 
rated through the NRF system 3 161 3 161 3 663 3 600 3885 8%

There is an overall growth in the 
credibility of the rating system 
has attracted a higher number 
of applicants since the Higher 
Education system have started to 
use the NRF rating system as a 
proxy and criteria for performance 
management and promotion. The 
NRF in a prior year through the 
office of the DCEO: RISA has 
encouraged DVCs of research 
institutions to identify female 
black scientists to apply for a 
rating. This was well received 
resulting in an increased number 
of successful applications.

 INDICATORS Actual 
2014/15

Actual 
2015/16

Actual 
2016/17

Target 
2017/18

 Actual
2017/18

% 
Variance Explanation
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OUTCOME: Leading edge research and infrastructure platforms

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE  4 Establish and maintain research infrastructure and platforms

Number of users of equipment 
that was funded by the NEP and 
NNEP programme

1700 2360 2937 2000 2 881 44%

The performance on the KPI 
numbers is not entirely within the 
NRF control and is proving not to 
be easily predictable. In 2016/17 
157 equipment were used by 
2 937 users with an average 
of 18.7 users per equipment 
grant. In 2017/18 157 equipment 
were used by 2 881 users with 
an average of 18.3 users per 
equipment grant. The targets 
were adjusted in the 2018/19 
NRF APP.

Number of publications 
emanating from the usage of 
equipment funded by the NEP 
and NNEP programme

1700 1105 779 1250 908 -27%

The general lag period between 
the commissioning of equipment 
and the outputs produced has 
been factored into the APP 
planning process. The number 
of publications emanating from 
the use of equipment decreased 
due to the implementation of the 
improved online annual reporting 
system which was launched in 
December 2017.

OUTCOME: A reputable and influential agency shaping the science and technology system

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 5 Grow NRF influence, impact and reputation

Number of internal 
and external 
users of the 
NRF business 
intelligence 
systems

0 0 0 74 70 129 84%

The increasing need for data 
analysis in the sector resulted in 
more users requesting access 
to inform business decisions. 
Specifically the number of HEIs 
utilising the BI systems have 
increased significantly 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 6 Optimise Return on Investment

Unqualified audit 
report yes yes  yes yes  yes  n/a  

Corporate overheads: calculated 
as a percentage of total 
expenditure

2% 1% 1.4% <3% 1.8% 40%

Management of overheads is 
well within the threshold set 
for the NRF and aligned to 
the operational and financial 
sustainability initiative. The 
marginal increase in comparison 
to the previous financial year is 
primarily due to the creation of 
the new Strategy Planning and 
Partnerships division.

 INDICATORS Actual 
2014/15

Actual 
2015/16

Actual 
2016/17

Target 
2017/18

 Actual
2017/18

% 
Variance Explanation



NRF Annual Report 2017/18

PART C: REGULATORY REPORTING

148

Total Overheads: calculated as a 
percentage of total expenditure 8% 6% 5% <10% 6.2% 38%

Management of overheads is 
well within the threshold set 
for the NRF and aligned to 
the operational and financial 
sustainability initiative. The 
increase in comparison to the 
previous financial year is due 
to a reduction in the Science 
Advancement management 
fee following the DST contracts 
consolidation exercise. There 
is also an increase in the 
SARAO (SKA) overheads as 
the business unit ramps up for 
MeerKAT operations, as well as 
the increase in cost for the initial 
relocation and refurbishment of 
the new lease building in Cape 
Town.

OUTCOME: Scientifically literate and engaged society

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 7 Entrench science engagement

Approximate number of public 
reached through SAASTA's 
science awareness activities

972 547 1 013 716 1 084 760 1 080 000 1 191 892 10%
Minimal positive variance. It 
is noted that with uncontrolled 
public access, it is not possible to 
accurately set a target. 

OUTCOME: A skilled and committed NRF research and technical workforce

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 8 Improve talent management

Proportion of South 
Africans from 
designated groups 
in senior technical, 
and managerial 
positions incl SKA 
(Peromnes 1 - 8)

Black 250 275 287 262 277 6%

Deliberate and consistent 
application of the NRF 
Employment Equity Plan has 
resulted in the black targets being 
exceeded. 

Female 179 195 198 187 185 -1%
Deliberate and consistent efforts 
are being made to increase the 
number of female employees in 
senior positions

 INDICATORS Actual 
2014/15

Actual 
2015/16

Actual 
2016/17

Target 
2017/18

 Actual
2017/18

% 
Variance Explanation
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ALIGNMENT MAPPING

No
MTSF priority 

outcomes
Strategic 
outcomes

Responding NRF 
programme Initiatives

DST strategic 
oriented goals 

1 Quality basic 
education 4 Programme 2

• 13 SARChI Chairs focusing on Mathematics; numeracy 
education; integrated studies of learning languages, 
mathematics and science; teacher education; higher 
education and human development; and work-integrated 
learning; and

• Science education is an integral component in 
encouraging the exploration of STEMI as a career. 
Focused initiatives cater for teacher training and learner 
engagement opportunities.

Human capital 
development

2 A long and healthy life 
for all South Africans

1

Programmes 3 
and 4 

• 40 SARChI Chairs focusing on HIV vaccination 
translation; detection of cardiovascular diseases; poverty-
related diseases; TB biomarkers; malaria, among others;

• Three CoEs focusing on epidemiology, HIV prevention 
and biomedical TB research; and

• iThemba LABS supplies rare isotopes globally for the 
early detection and treatment of cancers and provides the 
only cancer treatment facility of its kind on the continent.

Increased 
knowledge 
generation

2

3
All people in South 
Africa are and feel 
safe

4
Decent employment 
through inclusive 
growth

3

Programme 1

The NRF adheres to fair and transparent procurement 
and employment practices, and subscribes to the BBBEE 
Act. Furthermore, the organisation supports the DST/NRF 
Internship Programme by training and, where possible, 
retaining interns in various fields. The professional 
development programme supports PhD graduates’ transition 
into positions within the business, while the management 
development programmes support staff in becoming better 
managers within the NRF.

5

5
A skilled and capable 
workforce to support 
an inclusive growth 
path

1 Programme 3
In order to ensure that the organisation continues to 
create and support a skilled and capable workforce, the 
NRF provides support for postgraduate studies, assists 
researcher development at the HEIs (including the provision 
of targeted grants for this purpose), and supports staff 
internal to the NRF.

Increased 
knowledge 
generation5 Programmes 1 

and 4

6
An efficient, 
competitive and 
responsive economic 
infrastructure network

1 Programme 3

The NRF funds research on renewable energy solutions 
through:
• the Energy Human Capacity Development and 

Knowledge Generation (EHCD&KG) Programme and the 
Energy Research Programme (ERP); and

• iThemba LABS provides nuclear research infrastructure. 

The NRF also provides world-class research infrastructure 
in various science domains.

Increased 
knowledge 
generation

TABLE 25: NRF ALIGNMENT WITH MSTF PRIORITY OUTCOMES AND DST STRATEGIC ORIENTED GOALS

14
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No
MTSF priority 

outcomes
Strategic 
outcomes

Responding NRF 
programme Initiatives

DST strategic 
oriented goals 

7

Vibrant, equitable 
and sustainable 
rural communities 
contributing towards 
food security for all

1 Programmes 3 
and 4 

• 2 UK–SA SARChI bilateral chairs focusing on food 
security;

• 2 SARChI chairs focusing on systems biology for food 
security and phytochemical food networks from a nutrition 
perspective; and

• 1 CoE focusing on sustainable food systems to realise 
food security for poor, vulnerable, and marginal 
populations.

Increased 
knowledge 
generation

8
Sustainable human 
settlements and 
improved quality of 
household life

1 Programmes 3 
and 4 

The NRF is currently creating a community of practice 
around human settlements.

Increased 
knowledge 
generation

9
Responsive, 
accountable, effective 
and efficient local 
government

10
Protect and enhance 
our environmental 
assets and natural 
resources

1

Programmes 3 
and 4

• 30 SARChI chairs focusing on environmental research 
in areas such as agricultural sciences; agro-chemistry; 
evolution biology; as well as climate change; Earth system 
science; marine ecosystems and palaeo-environmental 
studies;

• CoEs in biodiversity, conservation, and biotechnology; 
and

• The National Research Facilities, through SAEON and 
SAIAB, have contributed to national policy development 
around the protection of environmental assets.

Responsive, 
coordinated and 
efficient NSI

Increased 
knowledge 
generation

2

11
Create a better South 
Africa and contribute 
to a better Africa and 
a better world

3 Programme 1 The NRF builds on its brand and reputation to foster 
international research partnerships and scientific 
collaboration on the African continent and globally, thus 
playing a role in creating a better South Africa and Africa.  

Responsive, 
coordinated and 
efficient NSI1 Programmes 3 

and 4 

12
An efficient, effective 
and development-
oriented public service

13
A comprehensive, 
responsive and 
sustainable social 
protection system

14
A diverse, socially 
cohesive society with 
a common national 
identity

4 Programme 2 The NRF contributes through the effective generation, 
communication and dissemination of knowledge to society. 
To this end, the NRF has created two SARChI chairs in 
science communication.

Human capital 
development3 Programme 1
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PART D:  ANNUAL F INANCIAL STATEMENTS

BOARD’S RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL15
The Board is required by the Public Finance Management 
Act (Act 1 of 1999), as amended, to maintain adequate 
accounting records and is responsible for the content 
and integrity of the annual financial statements and 
related financial information included in this report. It is 
the responsibility of the Board to ensure that the annual 
financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the 
NRF as at the end of the financial year and the results of its 
operations and cash flows for the period then ended. The 
external auditors are engaged to express an independent 
opinion on the annual financial statements and were given 
unrestricted access to all financial records and related data.

The annual financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any interpretations, 
guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting 
Standards Board.

The annual financial statements are based upon appropriate 
accounting policies consistently applied and supported by 
reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The Board acknowledges that they are ultimately responsible 
for the system of internal financial control established by the 
NRF and places considerable importance on maintaining a 
strong control environment. To enable the Board to meet 
these responsibilities, the Board sets standards for internal 
control aimed at reducing the risk of error or deficit in a 
cost effective manner. The standards include the proper 
delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined 
framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate 
segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. 

These controls are monitored throughout the NRF and all 
employees are required to maintain the highest ethical 
standards in ensuring the NRF’s business is conducted 
in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above 
reproach. The focus of risk management in the NRF is on 
identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known 
forms of risk across the entity. While operating risk cannot 
be fully eliminated, the NRF endeavours to minimise it by 
ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems 
and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within 
predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Board is of the opinion, based on the information and 
explanations given by management, that the system of 
internal control provides reasonable assurance that the 

financial records may be relied on for the preparation of 
the annual financial statements. However, any system of 
internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and 
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or 
deficit.

The Board has reviewed the NRF’s cash flow forecast for 
the year to March 31, 2019 and, in the light of this review 
and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the 
NRF has or has access to adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

Although the Board is primarily responsible for the financial 
affairs of the NRF, they are supported by the NRF’s external 
auditors.

The external auditors are responsible for independently 
reviewing and reporting on the NRF’s annual financial 
statements. The annual financial statements have been 
examined by the entity’s external auditors and their report 
is presented on page 155.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 159 
to 218, which have been prepared on the going concern 
basis, were approved by the Board on 27 July, 2018 and 
were signed on its behalf by:

 
Prof Loyiso Nongxa

Chairperson: NRF Board

Dr Molapo Qhobela
Chief Executive Officer
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We are pleased to present our report for the financial year 
ended March 31, 2018.

Audit and Risk Committee responsibility

The Audit and Risk Committee reports that it has complied 
with its responsibilities arising from section 51(a)(ii) of the 
PFMA and Treasury Regulation 3.1.13.

The Audit and Risk Committee also reports that it has 
adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its Audit 
and Risk Committee charter, has regulated its affairs in 
compliance with this charter and has discharged all its 
responsibilities as contained therein.

The effectiveness of internal control

The system of internal control applied by the NRF over 
financial and risk management is effective, efficient and 
transparent. In line with the PFMA and the King IV Report 
on Corporate Governance requirements, Internal Audit 
provides the Audit and Risk committee and management 
with assurance that the internal controls are appropriate 
and effective. This is achieved by means of the risk 
management process, as well as the identification of 
corrective actions and suggested enhancements to the 
controls and processes. 

From the various reports of the Internal Auditors, the 
Audit Report on the annual financial statements, and the 
management report of the Auditor General South Africa, it 
was noted that no matters were reported that indicate any 
material deficiencies in the system of internal control or any 
deviations therefrom. Accordingly, we can report that the 
system of internal control over financial reporting for the 
period under review was efficient and effective.

Evaluation of annual financial statements

The Audit and Risk Committee has:

• reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial 
statements to be included in the annual report, with the 
Auditor General and the Accounting Authority;

• reviewed the Auditor General of South Africa’s 
management report and management’s response 
thereto;

• reviewed changes in accounting policies and practices;
• reviewed the entity’s compliance with legal and 

regulatory provisions; and
• reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the 

audit.

The Audit and Risk Committee concurs with and accepts 
the Auditor General of South Africa’s report on the annual 
financial statements, and is of the opinion that the audited 
annual financial statements should be accepted and read 
together with the report of the Auditor General of South 
Africa.

Internal audit

The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied that the internal 
audit function is operating effectively, and that it has 
addressed the risks pertinent to the entity and its audits.

Auditor General of South Africa

The Audit and Risk Committee has met with the Auditor 
General of South Africa to ensure that there are no 
unresolved issues.

Dr Peter Clayton
Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee
Date: July 2018

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT16
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17 REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT  
ON THE NATIONAL RESEARCH FOUNDATION

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

1. I have audited financial statements of the National 
Research Foundation set out on pages 159 to 218, 
which comprise statement of financial position as at 31 
March 2018, the statement of financial performance, 
statement of changes in net assets, cash flow statement 
and statement of comparison of budget and actual 
amounts for the year then ended, as well as the notes 
to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.

2. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial position of National 
Research Foundation as at 31 March 2018, and its 
financial performance and cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with South African Standards of 
General Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) and 
the requirements of the Public Finance Management 
Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act no.1 of 1999).

Basis for opinion

3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the auditor-
general’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of this auditor’s report.

4. I am independent of the entity in accordance with the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
Code of ethics for professional accountants (IESBA 
code) and the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
my audit in South Africa. I have fulfilled my other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements 
and the IESBA code.

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion.

Responsibilities of accounting authority for the 
financial statements

6. The accounting authority is responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in accordance with GRAP and the 
requirements of the PFMA the accounting authority 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

7. In preparing financial statements, the accounting 
authority is responsible for assessing the National 
Research Foundation’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating 
to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the accounting authority either 
intends to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements

8. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the ISAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these financial statements.

9. A further description of my responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements is included in the annexure 
to this auditor’s report. 

Report on the audit of the annual performance 
report

Introduction and scope

10. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South 
Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the 
general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a 
responsibility to report material findings on the reported 
performance information against predetermined 
objectives for selected programmes presented in the 
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annual performance report. I performed procedures to 
identify findings but not to gather evidence to express 
assurance.

11. My procedures address the reported performance 
information, which must be based on the approved 
performance planning documents of the entity. I have 
not evaluated the completeness and appropriateness 
of the performance indicators included in the planning 
documents. My procedures also did not extend to 
any disclosures or assertions relating to planned 
performance strategies and information in respect 
of future periods that may be included as part of the 
reported performance information. Accordingly, my 
findings do not extend to these matters.

12. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the reported 
performance information in accordance with the criteria 
developed from the performance management and 
reporting framework, as defined in the general notice, 
for the following selected programmes presented in 
the annual performance report of the entity for the year 
ended 31 March 2018:

Programmes  Pages in the annual
performance report

Programme 3 (RISA) – HCD 
through bursaries and research 
and equipment grants

71 – 87

Programme 4 – National 
Research Infrastructure Platform
(National Research Facilities)

87 – 118

13. I performed procedures to determine whether the 
reported performance information was properly 
presented and whether performance was consistent 
with the approved performance planning documents. 
I performed further procedures to determine whether 
the indicators and related targets were measurable and 
relevant, and assessed the reliability of the reported 
performance information to determine whether it was 
valid, accurate and complete.

14. I did not raise any material findings on the usefulness 
and reliability of the reported performance information 
for the following programmes:
Programme 3 (RISA) – HCD through bursaries and 
research and equipment grants

Programme 4 – National research infrastructure 
platform (national facilities)

Other matters

15. I draw attention to the matters below.

Achievement of planned targets

16. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 144 
to 148 for information on the achievement of planned 
targets for the year and explanations provided for the 
under/ over achievement of a number of targets.

Adjustment of material misstatements

17. I identified material misstatements in the annual 
performance report submitted for auditing. These 
material misstatements were on the reported 
performance information of Programme 4 - National 
research infrastructure platform. As management 
subsequently corrected the misstatements, I did not 
raise any material findings on the usefulness and 
reliability of the reported performance information.
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Report on the audit of compliance with legislation

Introduction and scope

18. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued 
in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material 
findings on the compliance of the entity with specific 
matters in key legislation. I performed procedures to 
identify findings but not to gather evidence to express 
assurance.

19. The material finding on compliance with specific matters 
in key legislations is as follows:

Expenditure management

20. Effective and appropriate steps were not taken to 
prevent irregular expenditure amounting to R30 460 
052 as disclosed in note 40 to the annual financial 
statements, as required by section 51(1)(b)(ii) of the 
PFMA. The majority of the irregular expenditure was 
caused by noncompliance with instruction note 3 of 
2016-17.

Other information

21. The accounting authority is responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report. The other 
information does not include the financial statements, 
the auditor’s report and those selected programmes 
presented in the annual performance report that have 
been specifically reported in this auditor’s report.

22. My opinion on the financial statements and findings on 
the reported performance information and compliance 
with legislation do not cover the other information 
and I do not express an audit opinion or any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

23. In connection with my audit, my responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements and the selected programmes 
presented in the annual performance report, or my 
knowledge  obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated.

24. I did not receive the other information prior to the date 
of this auditor`s report. After I receive and read this 
information, and if I conclude that there is a material 
misstatement, I am required to communicate the matter 
to those charged with governance and request that the 
other information be corrected. If the other information 
is not corrected, I may have to retract this auditor`s 
report and re-issue an amended report as appropriate. 
However, if it is corrected this will not be necessary.

Internal control deficiencies

25. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the 
financial statements, reported performance information 
and compliance with applicable legislation; however, my 
objective was not to express any form of assurance on it. 
The matters reported below are limited to the significant 
internal control deficiencies that resulted in the findings 
on the findings on compliance with legislation included 
in this report.

Financial and performance management

26. Management implemented policies and procedures and 
detected current irregular expenditure as disclosed in 
note 40 however the review and monitoring processes 
were not sufficient to prevent these instances of irregular 
expenditure.
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Annexure – Auditor-general’s responsibility for 
the audit

1. As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout my audit of the financial 
statements, and the procedures performed on reported 
performance information for selected programmes and 
on the entity’s compliance with respect to the selected 
subject matters.

Financial statements

2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the 
financial statements as described in this auditor’s 
report, I also:
• identify and assess the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial statements whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the 
accounting authority

• conclude on the appropriateness of the accounting 
authority’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements. I also conclude, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the National Research 
Foundation ability to continue as a going concern.  

If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements about the material uncertainty or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify the opinion 
on the financial statements. My conclusions are 
based on the information available to me at the date 
of this auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the entity to cease continuing 
as a going concern

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation

Communication with those charged with governance

3. I communicate with the accounting authority regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify 
during my audit.

4. I also confirm to the accounting authority that I have 
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and communicate all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to have 
a bearing on my independence and, where applicable, 
related safeguards.

Pretoria
31 July 2018

A U D I T O R - G E N E R A L

S O U T H  A F R I C A

Audit ing to bui ld publ ic conf idence



NRF Annual Report 2017/18

PART D: ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NRF Annual Report 2017/18 159

 Statement of Financial Position as at March 31,          2018

Note(s) 2018
R’000

2017 
R’000

Assets
Current Assets 

Inventories 11 6,129 7,080
Other financial assets 7 629,910 615,914
Receivables from exchange transactions 12 427,923 471,602
Grants paid in advance 10 6,812 409,205
Cash and cash equivalents 13 463,408 494,775

1,534,182 1,998,576 

Non-Current Assets 

Property, plant and equipment 3 2,688,342 2,148,038 
Intangible assets 4 41,615 46,200
Heritage assets 5 15,479 15,479
Investments in associates 6 16,133 18,447
Employee benefit asset 8 3,996 3,701
Prepayments 9 16,110 16,269

2,781,675 2,248,134 
Total Assets 4,315,857 4,246,710 

Liabilities 

Current Liabilities 
Finance lease obligation 16 51 88
Payables from exchange transactions 19 107,714 134,761
Provisions 17 35,188 8,374
Designated income received in advance 18 1,335,866 1,798,739 

1,478,819 1,941,962 

Non-Current Liabilities 

Finance lease obligation 16 36 87
Total Liabilities 1,478,855 1,942,049 

Net Assets 2,837,002 2,304,661 

Reserves 

SALT Fund 15 16,133 18,447
Capital fund 14 2,745,430 2,209,717 
Infrastructure fund 72,878 76,066
Accumulated surplus 2,561 431

Total Net Assets 2,837,002 2,304,661 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 201818
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
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Note(s) 2018
R’000

2017 
R’000

Revenue

Revenue from exchange transactions
Sale of goods and services 20 81,041 67,968
Other income 21 7,645 13,882
Entrance fees 32,102 34,576
Interest received   investment 22 46,264 103,463
Total revenue from exchange transactions 167,052 219,889

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Parliamentary grant 925,964 882,805
Ring fenced income 23 2,383,803 2,177,930
Contract income 24 1,249,078 1,218,254
Total revenue from non-exchange transactions 4,558,845 4,278,989
Total revenue 4,725,897 4,498,878

Expenditure

Programme 1: Corporate (89,954) (77,459)
Programme 2: Science Engagement (169,924) (169,509)
Programme 3: Research and Innovation Support and Advancement (2,794,099) (2,690,504)
Programme 4: National Research Infrastructure Platforms (1,137,738) (1,067,956)
Total expenditure (4,191,715) (4,005,428)
Operating surplus 29 534,182 493,450
Loss on disposal of assets and liabilities (299) (1,281)
Profit/(loss) on foreign exchange 520 (1,873)
Actuarial gains/(losses) 8 295 2,242
Share of deficits from associates, accounted for using the equity method 6 (2,314) (4,348)
Finance cost (43) (47)

(1,841) (5,307)
Surplus for the year before asset acquisitions* 532,341 488,143

The accounting policies on pages 158 to 162 and the notes on pages 163 to last page of AFS form an integral part of the annual financial 
statements.
* R536m (2017: R501m) of this figure has been applied to the net acquisition of assets (refer to Statement of Changes in Net Assets).

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
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SALT fund Capital fund Infrastructure 
fund

Total 
reserves

Accumulated 
surplus

Total net 
assets

 '000  '000  '000  '000  '000  '000

Balance at April 01, 2016 22,795 1,708,296 81,317 1,812,408 4,110 1,816,518

Changes in net assets
Surplus for the year - - - - 488,143 488,143
Transfer from SALT fund (4,348) - - (4,348) 4,348 -
Transfer to capital fund - 501,421 - 501,421 (501,421) -
Transfer from infrastructure fund - - (5,251) (5,251) 5,251 -

Total changes (4,348) 501,421 (5,251) 491,822 (3,679) 488,143

Balance at April 01, 2017 18,447 2,209,717 76,066 2,304,230 431 2,304,661
Changes in net assets

Surplus for the year - - - - 532,341 532,341
Transfer from SALT fund (2,314) - - (2,314) 2,314 -
Transfer to capital fund - 535,713 - 535,713 (535,713) -
Transfer from infrastructure fund - - (3,188) (3,188) 3,188 -

Total changes (2,314) 535,713 (3,188) 530,211 2,130 532,341

Balance at March 31, 2018 16,133 2,745,430 72,878 2,834,441 2,561 2,837,002
Note(s) 15 14

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
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2018 2017

 '000  '000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts
Parliamentary grant 925,964 882,805
Ring-fenced funding received 1,980,427 1,925,348 
Designated income 1,175,200 1,333,592 
Interest income 46,264 103,463
Other receipts 178,848 54,420

4,306,703 4,299,630 

Payments

Employee costs (688,087) (628,114)
Suppliers (626,120) (613,445)
Finance cost (43) (47)
Grants, bursaries and other research (2,330,425) (2,604,967)

(3,644,675) (3,846,573) 
Net cash flows from operating activities 30 662,028 453,057

Cash flows from investing activities 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (690,262) (628,994)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 3 781 475
Purchase of other intangible assets 4 (3,826) (1,052)
Net cash flows from investing activities (693,307) (629,571)

Cash flows from financing activities 

Finance lease payments   (88)  (186)     
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   (31,367)  (176,700) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   494,775  671,475     

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 13 463,408  494,775 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS

Budget on accrual basis

Budget on Accrual Basis Final Budget 
Actual amounts 
on comparable 

basis 

Difference 
between final 
budget and 

actual

Reference

 R’000 R’000  R’000

Statement of Financial Performance 

Revenue 
Revenue from exchange transactions 

Sale of goods and services  82,284 81,041 (1,243)
Other income   7,013 7,645 632
Entrance fees  44,955 32,102 (12,853) 42
Interest received - investment  63,120 46,264 (16,856) 42

Total revenue from exchange transactions  197,372 167,052 (30,320)

Revenue from non-exchange transactions 

Ring-fenced income  2,391,922  2,383,803  (8,119)
Parliamentary grant  925,964 925,964 -  
Contract income  1,100,456  1,249,078  148,622    42

Total revenue from non-exchange transactions  4,418,342  4,558,845  140,503

Total revenue  4,615,714  4,725,897  110,183 42

Expenditure 

Employees related costs  (749,962)  (717,782)  32,180 42 
Depreciation and amortisation  (112,685)  (154,773)  (42,088) 42
Grants, bursaries and other research expenditure  (2,495,596)  (2,718,821)  (223,225) 42 
Programme and operating expenses  (589,078)  (600,339)  (11,261)       

Total expenditure  (3,947,321)  (4,191,715)  (244,394)       

Loss on disposal of assets and liabilities  (145)  (299)  (154)  
Gain/(loss) on foreign exchange  (293)  520  813  
Actuarial gain/(losses)  -  295  295  
Share of surpluses or deficits from associates or joint ventures 
accounted for using the equity method  -  (2,314)  (2,314)  

Finance cost  (33)  (43)  (10)       

  (471)  (1,841)  (1,370)       

Actual amount on comparable basis as presented in the Budget 
and Actual Comparative Statement  667,922  532,341  (135,581)  



NRF Annual Report 2017/18

PART D: ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

164

1. Presentation of Annual Financial 
Statements

The annual financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP), issued by the Accounting 
Standards Board in accordance with Section 89 of the Public 
Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999), as amended.

These annual financial statements have been prepared on 
an accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance with 
the historical cost convention as the basis of measurement, 
unless specified otherwise. They are presented in South 
African Rand.

In the absence of an issued and effective Standard of GRAP, 
accounting policies for material transactions, events or 
conditions were developed in accordance with paragraphs 
8, 10 and 11 of GRAP 3 as read with Directive 5.

Assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses were not offset, 
except where offsetting is either required or permitted by a 
Standard of GRAP. 

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which 
have been consistently applied in the preparation of these 
annual financial statements, is disclosed below.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous 
period.

1.1 Presentation currency

These annual financial statements are presented in South 
African Rand, which is the functional currency of the entity.

1.2 Going concern assumption

These annual financial statements have been prepared 
based on the expectation that the entity will continue to 
operate as a going concern for at least the next 12 months.

1.3 Significant judgements and sources of 
estimation uncertainty

In preparing the annual financial statements, management 
is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect 

the amounts represented in the annual financial statements 
and related disclosures. Use of available information and 
the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of 
estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these 
estimates which may be material to the annual financial 
statements. Significant judgements include:

Trade receivables and loans and receivables

The entity assesses its trade receivables and loans and 
receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting 
period. In determining whether an impairment loss should be 
recorded in surplus or deficit, the entity makes judgements as 
to whether there is observable data indicating a measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial 
asset. Each receivable is reviewed individually at year end.

Fair value estimation

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade 
receivables and payables are assumed to approximate 
their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for 
disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future 
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate 
that is available to the entity for similar financial instruments.

Impairment testing

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and 
individual assets have been determined based on the higher 
of value-in-use calculations and fair values less costs to 
sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and 
assumptions. 

The entity reviews and tests the carrying value of assets 
when events or changes in circumstances suggest that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Assets are 
grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows 
are largely independent of cash flows of other assets and 
liabilities. If there are indications that impairment may have 
occurred, estimates are prepared of expected future cash 
flows for each group of assets. Expected future cash flows 
used to determine the value-in-use of tangible assets are 
inherently uncertain and could materially change over time. 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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Provisions

Provisions were raised and management determined an 
estimate based on the information available. Additional 
disclosure of these estimates of provisions is included in 
note 17 - Provisions.

Post-retirement benefits

The present value of the post-retirement obligation depends 
on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial 
basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions 
used in determining the net cost/(income) include the 
discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions will impact 
on the carrying amount of post-retirement obligations.

Other key assumptions for post-retirement benefits are 
based on current market conditions. Additional information 
is disclosed in Note 8.

Effective interest rate

The entity used the prime interest rate to discount future 
cash flows.

Property, plant and equipment and Intangible assets

The entity’s management determines the estimated useful 
lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets.  These assessments are made on 
an annual basis and use historical evidence and current 
economic factors to estimate the values.

Administrative computer equipment, office furniture 
and equipment, exhibits and motor vehicles are not 
componentised.  These assets do not have significant parts 
that are considered to have an estimated useful life different 
to the estimated useful life of the asset as a whole.

1.4 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current 
assets (including infrastructure assets) that are held for use 
in the production or supply of goods or services, rental to 
others, or for administrative purposes, and are expected to 
be used during more than one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset when:

• it is probable that future economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the item will flow to the entity; 
and

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
the purchase price and other costs attributable to bringing 
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it 
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. Trade discounts and rebates are deducted in 
arriving at the cost.

Where an asset is acquired through a non-exchange 
transaction, its cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition.

Where an item of property, plant and equipment is acquired 
in exchange for a non-monetary asset or monetary assets, 
or a combination of monetary and non-monetary assets, the 
asset acquired is initially measured at fair value (the cost). 
If the acquired item’s fair value was not determinable, it’s 
deemed cost is the carrying amount of the asset(s) given 
up.

When significant components of an item of property, 
plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) of 
property, plant and equipment. 

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct 
an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred 
subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a 
replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an 
item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount 
of the replaced part is derecognised.

The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing 
the item and restoring the site on which it is located is also 
included in the cost of property, plant and equipment, 
where the entity is obligated to incur such expenditure, 
and where the obligation arises as a result of acquiring the 
asset or using it for purposes other than the production of 
inventories.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment ceases when the item is in 
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management.



NRF Annual Report 2017/18

PART D: ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

166

Items such as spare parts, standby equipment and servicing 
equipment are recognised when they meet the definition of 
property, plant and equipment.

Major inspection costs which are a condition of continuing 
use of an item of property, plant and equipment and 
which meet the recognition criteria above are included 
as a replacement in the cost of the item of property, plant 
and equipment. Any remaining inspection costs from the 
previous inspection are derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the 
straight line basis over their expected useful lives to their 
estimated residual value.

The depreciable amount of an asset is allocated on a 
systematic basis over its useful life.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a 
cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item 
is depreciated separately.

The depreciation method used reflects the pattern in which 
the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential are 
expected to be consumed by the entity. The depreciation 
method applied to an asset is reviewed at least at each 
reporting date and, if there has been a significant change in 
the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic 
benefits or service potential embodied in the asset, the 
method is changed to reflect the changed pattern. Such 
a change is accounted for as a change in an accounting 
estimate.

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is 
any indication that the entity expectations about the residual 
value and the useful life of an asset have changed since the 
preceding reporting date. If any such indication exists, the 
entity revises the expected useful life and/or residual value 
accordingly. The change is accounted for as a change in an 
accounting estimate.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in 
surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying amount 
of another asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised 
when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further 
economic benefits or service potential expected from the 
use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item 
of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or 
deficit when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss 
arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant 
and equipment is determined as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of 
the item.

The entity separately discloses expenditure to repair and 
maintain property, plant and equipment in the notes to the 
financial statements (see note 3).

The entity discloses relevant information relating to assets 
under construction or development, in the notes to the 
financial statements (see note 3).

Zoological animals

Zoological animals have not been included as an asset 
in the Statement of Financial Position.  The reason is 
that the essential recognition criteria of measurement for 
recognising assets cannot be met for the majority of the 
animals.  The majority of zoological animals are received 
as donations, transfers from othe zoos or from births.  As a 
result, they do not have a cost.  

It is considered impracticable to assign a fair value to the 
animals due to a variety of reasons.  These reasons include, 
among other things, considerations such as the lack of a 
market for the majority of the animals, because they are not 
commodities, as well as restrictions on the trade of exotic 
animals, which precludes the determination of a fair value.

The animals for which it may be possible to determine 
an arbitrary value approximates 8% of the total animal 
collection.  It is the view of the NRF that it is unethical and 
not in the best interest of the National Zoological Gardens 
(NZG) to attach values to these animals.  In addition, the 
NZG is not in the business of trading with these animals.

Therefore, on the basis that many species cannot be valued 
and any attempt to attach values to any species may be 
unethical, it was considered that any assessment of value 
would be misleading to the users of the financial statements.
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1.5 Intangible assets

An asset is identifiable if it either:

• is separable, i.e. is capable of being separated or divided 
from an entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or 
exchanged, either individually or together with a related 
contract, identifiable assets or liability, regardless of 
whether the entity intends to do so; or

• arises from binding arrangements (including rights 
from contracts), regardless of whether those rights are 
transferable or separable from the entity or from other 
rights and obligations.

A binding arrangement describes an arrangement that 
confers similar rights and obligations on the parties to it as 
if it were in the form of a contract.

An intangible asset is recognised when:

•  it is probable that the expected future economic benefits 
or service potential that are attributable to the asset will 
flow to the entity; and

• the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured 
reliably. 

The entity assesses the probability of expected future 
economic benefits or service potential using reasonable 
and supportable assumptions that represent management’s 
best estimate of the set of economic conditions that will 
exist over the useful life of the asset.

Where an intangible asset is acquired through a non-
exchange transaction, its initial cost at the date of acquisition 
is measured at its fair value as at that date.

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an 
internal project) is recognised as an expense when it is 
incurred.

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the 
development phase of an internal project) is recognised 
when:

• it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it 
will be available for use or sale.

• there is an intention to complete and use or sell it.
• there is an ability to use or sell it.
• it will generate probable future economic benefits or 

service potential.

• there are available technical, financial and other 
resources to complete the development and to use or 
sell the asset.

• the expenditure attributable to the asset during its 
development can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and any impairment losses.

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite 
useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is 
no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is 
expected to generate net cash inflows or service potential. 
Amortisation is not provided for these intangible assets, but 
they are tested for impairment annually and whenever there 
is an indication that the asset may be impaired. For all other 
intangible assets amortisation is provided on a straight line 
basis over their useful life.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for 
intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a 
finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an 
indicator that the asset may be impaired. As a result the 
asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying 
amount is amortised over its useful life.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, 
customer lists and items similar in substance are not 
recognised as intangible assets.

Internally generated goodwill is not recognised as an 
intangible asset.

Amortisation is provided to write-down the intangible assets, 
on a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:

Item  Depreciation 
Method 

Average  
Useful Life 

Computer 
software

Straight line 3-10 years

The entity discloses relevant information relating to assets 
under construction or development, in the notes to the 
financial statements (see note 4).
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Intangible assets are derecognised:

• on disposal; or
• when no future economic benefits or service potential 

are expected from its use or disposal. 
The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of intangible 
assets is included in surplus or deficit when the asset is 
derecognised.

1.6 Heritage assets

Heritage assets are assets that have a cultural, 
environmental, historical, natural, scientific, technological 
or artistic significance and are held indefinitely for the 
benefit of present and future generations.

An inalienable item is an asset that an entity is required 
by law or otherwise to retain indefinitely and cannot be 
disposed of without consent.

Recognition

The entity recognises a heritage asset as an asset if it is 
probable that future economic benefits or service potential 
associated with the asset will flow to the entity, and the cost 
or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

Initial measurement

Heritage assets are measured at cost.

Where a heritage asset is acquired through a non-exchange 
transaction, its cost is measured at its fair value as at the 
date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

After recognition as an asset, a class of heritage assets is 
carried at its cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Impairment

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is 
an indication that it may be impaired. If any such indication 
exists, the entity estimates the recoverable amount or the 
recoverable service amount of the heritage asset.

Transfers

Transfers from heritage assets are only made when the 
particular asset no longer meets the definition of a heritage 
asset.

Transfers to heritage assets are only made when the asset 
meets the definition of a heritage asset.

Derecognition

The entity derecognises heritage asset on disposal, or 
when no future economic benefits or service potential are 
expected from its use or disposal.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of a heritage 
asset is included in surplus or deficit when the item is 
derecognised.

1.7 Investments in associates

An investment in an associate is carried at cost.

The entity applies the same accounting for each category 
of investment.

The entity recognises a dividend or similar distribution in 
surplus or deficit in its separate annual financial statements 
when its right to receive the dividend or similar distribution 
is established.

1.8 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a 
financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or a 
residual interest of another entity.

The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is 
the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is 
measured at initial recognition minus principal repayments, 
plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective 
interest method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount, and minus any reduction (directly 
or through the use of an allowance account) for impairment 
or uncollectibility.

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument 
will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to 
discharge an obligation.

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates.

Derecognition is the removal of a previously recognised 
financial asset or financial liability from an entity’s statement 
of financial position.
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The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability 
(or group of financial assets or financial liabilities) and of 
allocating the interest income or interest expense over 
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or 
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument 
or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When 
calculating the effective interest rate, an entity shall 
estimate cash flows considering all contractual terms of 
the financial instrument (for example, prepayment, call 
and similar options) but shall not consider future credit 
losses. The calculation includes all fees and points paid or 
received between parties to the contract that are an integral 
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs, and all 
other premiums or discounts. There is a presumption that 
the cash flows and the expected life of a group of similar 
financial instruments can be estimated reliably. However, in 
those rare cases when it is not possible to reliably estimate 
the cash flows or the expected life of a financial instrument 
(or group of financial instruments), the entity shall use the 
contractual cash flows over the full contractual term of the 
financial instrument (or group of financial instruments).

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

A financial asset is:
• cash;
• a residual interest of another entity; or
• a contractual right to:

 – receive cash or another financial asset from 
another entity; or

 – exchange financial assets or financial 
liabilities with another entity under conditions 
that are potentially favourable to the entity.

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual 
obligation to:
• deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; 

or
• exchange financial assets or financial liabilities under 

conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the entity.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates.

Liquidity risk is the risk encountered by an entity in the 
event of difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or 
another financial asset.

Loan commitment is a firm commitment to provide credit 
under pre specified terms and conditions.

Loans payable are financial liabilities, other than short-term 
payables on normal credit terms.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows 
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: 
currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices (other than those arising from 
interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes 
are caused by factors specific to the individual financial 
instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar 
financial instruments traded in the market.

A financial asset is past due when a counterparty has failed 
to make a payment when contractually due.

Financial instruments at amortised cost are non-derivative 
financial assets or non-derivative financial liabilities that 
have fixed or determinable payments, excluding those 
instruments that:

• the entity designates at fair value at initial recognition; 
or

• are held for trading.

Financial instruments at cost are investments in residual 
interests that do not have a quoted market price in an active 
market, and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured.

• derivatives;
• combined instruments that are designated at fair value;
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Classification

Class  Category 
Trade and other 
receivables  

Financial asset measured 
at amortised cost 

Cash and cash equivalents Financial asset measured 
at amortised cost 

Grant deposit accounts 
& infrastructure bridging 
funding  

Financial asset measured 
at amortised cost 

The entity has the following types of financial assets (classes 
and category) as reflected on the face of the statement of 
financial position or in the notes thereto:`

Class  Category 
Trade and other payables Financial liability measured 

at amortised cost 

Finance leases Financial liability measured 
at amortised cost 

Initial recognition

The entity recognises a financial asset or a financial liability 
in its statement of financial position when the entity becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The entity recognises financial assets using trade date 
accounting.

Initial measurement of financial assets and financial 
liabilities

The entity measures a financial asset and financial liability 
initially at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset 
or financial liability.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets and 
financial liabilities

The entity measures all financial assets and financial 
liabilities after initial recognition using the following 
categories:

• Financial instruments at amortised cost.

All financial assets measured at amortised cost, or cost, are 
subject to an impairment review.

Fair value measurement considerations

The best evidence of fair value is quoted prices in an 
active market. If the market for a financial instrument is not 
active, the entity establishes fair value by using a valuation 
technique. The objective of using a valuation technique is to 
establish what the transaction price would have been on the 
measurement date in an arm’s length exchange motivated 
by normal operating considerations. Valuation techniques 
include using recent arm’s length market transactions 
between knowledgeable, willing parties, if available, 
reference to the current fair value of another instrument 
that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow 
analysis and option pricing models. If there is a valuation 
technique commonly used by market participants to price 
the instrument and that technique has been demonstrated 
to provide reliable estimates of prices obtained in actual 
market transactions, the entity uses that technique. The 
chosen valuation technique makes maximum use of market 
inputs and relies as little as possible on entity specific inputs. 
It incorporates all factors that market participants would 
consider in setting a price and is consistent with accepted 
economic methodologies for pricing financial instruments. 
Periodically, an entity calibrates the valuation technique 
and tests it for validity using prices from any observable 
current market transactions in the same instrument (i.e. 
without modification or repackaging) or based on any 
available observable market data.

The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature 
(e.g. a demand deposit) is not less than the amount payable 
on demand, discounted from the first date that the amount 
could be required to be paid.

Gains and losses

For financial assets and financial liabilities measured 
at amortised cost or cost, a gain or loss is recognised in 
surplus or deficit when the financial asset or financial liability 
is derecognised or impaired, or through the amortisation 
process.
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Impairment and uncollectibility of financial assets

The entity assesses at the end of each reporting period 
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost:
• If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss 

on financial assets measured at amortised cost has 
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as 
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
(excluding future credit losses that have not been 
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset 
is reduced directly OR through the use of an allowance 
account. The amount of the loss is recognised in surplus 
or deficit.

• If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment 
loss is reversed directly OR by adjusting an allowance 
account. The reversal does not result in a carrying amount 
of the financial asset that exceeds what the amortised 
cost would have been had the impairment not been 
recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. The 
amount of the reversal is recognised in surplus or deficit. 
 

Derecognition

Financial assets

The entity derecognises financial assets using trade date 
accounting.

The entity derecognises a financial asset only when:
• the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 

asset expire, are settled or waived;
• the entity transfers to another party substantially all 

of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 
asset; or

• the entity, despite having retained some significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, 
has transferred control of the asset to another party and 
the other party has the practical ability to sell the asset 

in its entirety to an unrelated third party, and is able to 
exercise that ability unilaterally and without needing to 
impose additional restrictions on the transfer. In this 
case, the entity:

 – derecognises the asset; and
 – recognise separately any rights and 

obligations created or retained in the 
transfer.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the 
difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received is recognised in surplus or deficit.

Financial liabilities

The entity removes a financial liability (or a part of a financial 
liability) from its statement of financial position when it is 
extinguished — i.e. when the obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged, cancelled, expires or waived.

The difference between the carrying amount of a financial 
liability (or part of a financial liability) extinguished or 
transferred to another party and the consideration paid, 
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities 
assumed, is recognised in surplus or deficit. Any liabilities 
that are waived, forgiven or assumed by another entity by 
way of a non-exchange transaction are accounted for in 
accordance with the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from 
Non-exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers).

Presentation

Interest relating to a financial instrument or a component 
that is a financial liability is recognised as revenue or 
expense in surplus or deficit.

Losses and gains relating to a financial instrument or a 
component that is a financial liability is recognised as 
revenue or expense in surplus or deficit.

A financial asset and a financial liability are only offset and 
the net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position when the entity currently has a legally enforceable 
right to set off the recognised amounts and intends either to 
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.
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In accounting for a transfer of a financial asset that does 
not qualify for derecognition, the entity does not offset the 
transferred asset and the associated liability.

1.9 Tax

Tax expenses

The NRF is exempt from paying income tax and Value 
Added Tax (VAT).

1.10 Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership. A lease is classified as an operating lease if 
it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership.

When a lease includes both land and buildings elements, 
the entity assesses the classification of each element 
separately.
 
Finance leases - lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in 
the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the 
fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding 
liability to the lessor is included in the statement of financial 
position as a finance lease obligation.

The discount rate used in calculating the present value of 
the minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit in 
the lease.

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the 
finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. 
The finance charge is allocated to each period during the 
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of 
reduction on the remaining balance of the liability.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period in which 
they are incurred.

Operating leases - lessor

Operating lease revenue is recognised as revenue on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging 
operating leases are added to the carrying amount of the 
leased asset and recognised as an expense over the lease 
term on the same basis as the lease revenue.

Income for leases is disclosed under revenue in the 
statement of financial performance.

Operating leases - lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference 
between the amounts recognised as an expense and the 
contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease 
asset or liability.

1.11 Inventories

Inventories are initially measured at cost except where 
inventories are acquired through a non-exchange 
transaction, then their costs are their fair value as at the 
date of acquisition.

Subsequently inventories are measured at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of operations less the estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the 
sale, exchange or distribution.

The cost of inventories comprises of all costs of purchase, 
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition.

The cost of inventories is assigned using the first-in, first 
-out (FIFO) formula, except restaurant and animal-related 
inventory that uses the weighted average method. The 
same cost formula is used for all inventories having a 
similar nature and use to the entity.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amounts of those 
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period in 
which the related revenue is recognised. If there is no related 
revenue, the expenses are recognised when the goods are 
distributed, or related services are rendered. The amount 
of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value or 
current replacement cost and all losses of inventories are 
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or 
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loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of 
inventories, arising from an increase in net realisable value 
or current replacement cost, is recognised as a reduction in 
the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the 
period in which the reversal occurs.

1.12 Impairment of cash-generating assets

Cash-generating assets are assets used with the objective of 
generating a commercial return. Commercial return means 
that positive cash flows are expected to be significantly 
higher than the cost of the asset.

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or 
service potential of an asset, over and above the systematic 
recognition of the loss of the asset’s future economic benefits 
or service potential through depreciation/(amortisation).

Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is 
recognised in the statement of financial position after 
deducting any accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses thereon.

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of 
assets used with the objective of generating a commercial 
return that generates cash inflows from continuing use 
that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other 
assets or groups of assets.

Identification

When the carrying amount of a cash-generating asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount, it is impaired.

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there 
is any indication that a cash-generating asset may be 
impaired. If any such indication exists, the entity estimates 
the recoverable amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, 
the entity also tests a cash-generating intangible asset with 
an indefinite useful life or a cash-generating intangible 
asset not yet available for use for impairment annually by 
comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount. 
This impairment test is performed at the same time every 
year. If an intangible asset was initially recognised during the 
current reporting period, that intangible asset was tested for 
impairment before the end of the current reporting period.

Value-in-use

Value-in-use of a cash-generating asset is the present value 
of the estimated future cash flows expected to be derived 
from the continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at 
the end of its useful life.

When estimating the value-in-use of an asset, the entity 
estimates the future cash inflows and outflows to be derived 
from continuing use of the asset and from its ultimate 
disposal and the entity applies the appropriate discount rate 
to those future cash flows.

Discount rate

The discount rate is a pre tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money, represented by 
the current risk free rate of interest and the risks specific to 
the asset for which the future cash flow estimates have not 
been adjusted.

Recognition and measurement (individual asset)

If the recoverable amount of a cash-generating asset is less 
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset 
is reduced to its recoverable amount. This reduction is an 
impairment loss.

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in surplus 
or deficit.

When the amount estimated for an impairment loss is 
greater than the carrying amount of the cash-generating 
asset to which it relates, the entity recognises a liability only 
to the extent that is a requirement in the Standard of GRAP.

After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation/
(amortisation) charge for the cash-generating asset is 
adjusted in future periods to allocate the cash-generating 
asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if 
any), on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Cash-generating units

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the 
recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. 
If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of 
the individual asset, the entity determines the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs (the asset’s cash-generating unit).
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If an active market exists for the output produced by an 
asset or group of assets, that asset or group of assets is 
identified as a cash-generating unit, even if some or all of 
the output is used internally. If the cash inflows generated 
by any asset or cash-generating unit are affected by 
internal transfer pricing, the entity uses management’s best 
estimate of future price(s) that could be achieved in arm’s 
length transactions in estimating:

• the future cash inflows used to determine the asset’s or 
cash-generating unit’s value-in-use; and

• the future cash outflows used to determine the value-
in-use of any other assets or cash-generating units that 
are affected by the internal transfer pricing.

Cash-generating units are identified consistently from 
period to period for the same asset or types of assets, 
unless a change is justified.

The carrying amount of a cash-generating unit is determined 
on a basis consistent with the way the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit is determined.

An impairment loss is recognised for a cash-generating unit 
if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than the carrying 
amount of the unit. The impairment is allocated to reduce 
the carrying amount of the cash-generating assets of the 
unit on a pro-rata basis, based on the carrying amount of 
each asset in the unit. These reductions in carrying amounts 
are treated as impairment losses on individual assets.

In allocating an impairment loss, the entity does not reduce 
the carrying amount of an asset below the highest of:

• its fair value less costs to sell (if determinable);
•  its value-in-use (if determinable); and
•  zero.
The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise 
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro-rata to the 
other cash-generating assets of the unit.

Where a non-cash-generating asset contributes to a cash-
generating unit, a proportion of the carrying amount of 
that non-cash-generating asset is allocated to the carrying 
amount of the cash-generating unit prior to estimation of the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit.

Reversal of impairment loss

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is 
any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior 
periods for a cash-generating asset may no longer exist 
or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the 
entity estimates the recoverable amount of that asset.

An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a cash-
generating asset is reversed if there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable 
amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 
amount. The increase is a reversal of an impairment loss. 
The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable 
to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of 
depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss for a cash-generating 
asset is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

After a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised, the 
depreciation/(amortisation) charge for the cash-generating 
asset is adjusted in future periods to allocate the cash-
generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual 
value (if any), on a systematic basis over its remaining 
useful life.

A reversal of an impairment loss for a cash-generating unit is 
allocated to the cash-generating assets of the unit pro-rata 
with the carrying amounts of those assets. These increases 
in carrying amounts are treated as reversals of impairment 
losses for individual assets. No part of the amount of such 
a reversal is allocated to a non-cash-generating asset 
contributing service potential to a cash-generating unit.

In allocating a reversal of an impairment loss for a cash-
generating unit, the carrying amount of an asset is not 
increased above the lower of:

•  its recoverable amount (if determinable); and
•  the carrying amount that would have been determined 

(net of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.
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The amount of the reversal of the impairment loss that would 
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro-
rata to the other assets of the unit.

Redesignation

The redesignation of assets from a cash-generating asset to 
a non-cash-generating asset or from a non-cash-generating 
asset to a cash-generating asset only occurs when there is 
clear evidence that such a redesignation is appropriate.

1.13 Impairment of non-cash-generating assets

Non-cash-generating assets are assets other than cash-
generating assets.

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or 
service potential of an asset, over and above the systematic 
recognition of the loss of the asset’s future economic benefits 
or service potential through depreciation/(amortisation).

Identification

When the carrying amount of a non-cash-generating asset 
exceeds its recoverable service amount, it is impaired.

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there 
is any indication that a non-cash-generating asset may be 
impaired. If any such indication exists, the entity estimates 
the recoverable service amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of 
impairment, the entity also tests a non-cash-generating 
intangible asset with an indefinite useful life or a non-
cash-generating intangible asset not yet available for use 
for impairment annually by comparing its carrying amount 
with its recoverable service amount. This impairment test 
is performed at the same time every year. If an intangible 
asset was initially recognised during the current reporting 
period, that intangible asset was tested for impairment 
before the end of the current reporting period.

Value-in-use

Value-in-use of non-cash-generating assets is the present 
value of the non-cash-generating assets’ remaining service 
potential.

Recognition and measurement

If the recoverable service amount of a non-cash-generating 
asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount 
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable service amount. 
This reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in surplus 
or deficit.

When the amount estimated for an impairment loss is greater 
than the carrying amount of the non-cash-generating asset 
to which it relates, the entity recognises a liability only to 
the extent that is a requirement in the Standards of GRAP.

After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation/
(amortisation) charge for the non-cash-generating asset 
is adjusted in future periods to allocate the non-cash-
generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual 
value (if any), on a systematic basis over its remaining 
useful life.

Reversal of an impairment loss

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is 
any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior 
periods for a non-cash-generating asset may no longer 
exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, 
the entity estimates the recoverable service amount of that 
asset.

An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a non-
cash-generating asset is reversed if there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable service amount since the last impairment 
loss was recognised. The carrying amount of the asset 
is increased to its recoverable service amount. The 
increase is a reversal of an impairment loss. The increased 
carrying amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of 
an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined (net of depreciation or 
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for 
the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss for a non-cash-generating 
asset is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.
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After a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised, the 
depreciation/(amortisation) charge for the non-cash-
generating asset is adjusted in future periods to allocate 
the non-cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount, 
less its residual value (if any), on a systematic basis over 
its remaining useful life.

1.14 Grant deposits

The NRF advances funding to higher education and research 
institutions in the form of grant deposits. The advances are 
calculated based on the expected grant awards for the 
year.  The balance is reviewed annually by the NRF to 
determine the adequacy of the amount. The advances are 
done in order to facilitate adequate cash flow for the grant-
making process at these institutions. Grant deposits must 
be preserved and maintained at the approved normal level.  
Per agreement, the interest earned on the grant deposits 
by the institutions is used to fund administration costs, 
inclusive of staff of the institutions that are dedicated to 
the NRF grant administration process.  Should the interest 
earned be more than funding requisites to fund extra human 
capacity for staff supporting NRF projects, the institution 
has the right to utilise such amounts for research purposes 
as it deems appropriate. The approved normal level of grant 
deposits are repayable to the NRF on 30 days’ notice in an 
event of the funding being discontinued.

1.15 Grants paid in advance

Grant advances to grant holders represent advances paid 
on specific grant awards, for which the conditions of grants 
were finalised, and the specific grant awards released by 
the NRF.  The balance of the grant advances is depleted as 
and when the recognition criteria for grants and bursaries 
expenditure are met, i.e. approved and validated claims.

1.16 Employee benefits

Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by 
an entity in exchange for services rendered by employees.

Termination benefits are employee benefits payable as a 
result of either:

•  an entity’s decision to terminate an employee’s 
employment before the normal retirement date; or

•  an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy 
in exchange for those benefits.

Other long-term employee benefits are employee benefits 
(other than post-employment benefits and termination 
benefits) that are not due to be settled within twelve months 
after the end of the period in which the employees render 
the related service.

Vested employee benefits are employee benefits that are 
not conditional on future employment.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other 
than termination benefits) that are due to be settled within 
twelve months after the end of the period in which the 
employees render the related service.

Short-term employee benefits include items such as:

• wages and salaries;
• short-term compensated absences (such as paid annual 

leave and paid sick leave) where the compensation for 
the absences is due to be settled within twelve months 
after the end of the reporting period in which the 
employees render the related employee service;

• bonus, incentive and performance related payments 
payable within twelve months after the end of the 
reporting period in which the employees render the 
related service; and 

• non-monetary benefits (for example, medical care, and 
free or subsidised goods or services such as housing, 
cars and cellphones) for current employees.

When an employee has rendered service to the entity during 
a reporting period, the entity recognises the undiscounted 
amount of short-term employee benefits expected to be 
paid in exchange for that service:

• as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any 
amount already paid. If the amount already paid 
exceeds the undiscounted amount of the benefits, the 
entity recognises that excess as an asset (prepaid 
expense) to the extent that the prepayment will lead to, 
for example, a reduction in future payments or a cash 
refund; and
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• as an expense, unless another Standard requires or 
permits the inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an 
asset.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised 
as an expense as the employees render services that 
increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating 
absences, when the absence occurs. The entity measures 
the expected cost of accumulating compensated absences 
as the additional amount that the entity expects to pay as 
a result of the unused entitlement that has accumulated at 
the reporting date.

The entity recognises the expected cost of bonus, incentive 
and performance related payments when the entity has 
a present legal or constructive obligation to make such 
payments as a result of past events and a reliable estimate 
of the obligation can be made. A present obligation exists 
when the entity has no realistic alternative but to make the 
payments.

Post-employment benefits

Post-employment benefits are employee benefits (other 
than termination benefits) which are payable after the 
completion of employment.

Post-employment benefit plans are formal or informal 
arrangements under which an entity provides post-
employment benefits for one or more employees.

Post-employment benefits: Defined contribution plans

Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit 
plans under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a 
separate entity (a fund) and will have no legal or constructive 
obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not 
hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating 
to employee service in the current and prior periods.

When an employee has rendered service to the entity during 
a reporting period, the entity recognises the contribution 
payable to a defined contribution plan in exchange for that 
service:

• as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any 
contribution already paid. If the contribution already 
paid exceeds the contribution due for service before 
the reporting date, an entity recognises that excess 

as an asset (prepaid expense) to the extent that the 
prepayment will lead to, for example, a reduction in 
future payments or a cash refund; and

• as an expense, unless another Standard requires or 
permits the inclusion of the contribution in the cost of 
an asset.

Where contributions to a defined contribution plan do not 
fall due wholly within twelve months after the end of the 
reporting period in which the employees render the related 
service, they are discounted. The rate used to discount 
reflects the time value of money. The currency and term of 
the financial instrument selected to reflect the time value of 
money is consistent with the currency and estimated term 
of the obligation.

Actuarial assumptions

Actuarial assumptions are unbiased and mutually 
compatible. 

Financial assumptions are based on market expectations, at 
the reporting date, for the period over which the obligations 
are to be settled. 

The rate used to discount post-employment benefit 
obligations (both funded and unfunded) reflect the time 
value of money. The currency and term of the financial 
instrument selected to reflect the time value of money are 
consistent with the currency and estimated term of the post-
employment benefit obligations.

Post-employment benefit obligations are measured on a 
basis that reflects:

• estimated future salary increases;
• the benefits set out in the terms of the plan (or resulting 

from any constructive obligation that goes beyond those 
terms) at the reporting date; and

• estimated future changes in the level of any state 
benefits that affect the benefits payable under a defined 
benefit plan, if, and only if, either:

• those changes were enacted before the reporting date; 
or

• past history, or other reliable evidence, indicates that 
those stated benefits will change in some predictable 
manner, for example, in line with future changes in 
general price levels or general salary levels.

Assumptions about medical costs take account of estimated 



NRF Annual Report 2017/18

PART D: ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

178

future changes in the cost of medical services, resulting 
from both inflation and specific changes in medical costs.

Other post-retirement obligations

The entity provides post-retirement health care benefits 
upon retirement to some retirees.

The entitlement to post-retirement health care benefits 
is based on the employee remaining in service up to 
retirement age and the completion of a minimum service 
period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued 
over the period of employment. Independent qualified 
actuaries carry out valuations of these obligations at least 
every three years.

The amount recognised as a liability for other long-term 
employee benefits is the net total of the following amounts:

• the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the 
reporting date;

• minus the fair value at the reporting date of plan assets 
(if any) out of which the obligations are to be settled 
directly.

The entity shall recognise the net total of the following 
amounts as expense or revenue, except to the extent that 
another Standard requires or permits their inclusion in the 
cost of an asset:

•  current service cost;
•  interest cost;
•  the expected return on any plan assets and on any 

reimbursement right recognised as an asset;
•  actuarial gains and losses, which shall all be recognised 

immediately;
•  past service cost, which shall all be recognised 

immediately; and
• the effect of any curtailments or settlements.

1.17 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:

• the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past 
event;

• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits or service potential will be required 
to settle the obligation; and

• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting date.

Where the effect of time value of money is material, the 
amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditures 
expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a 
provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, 
the reimbursement is recognised when, and only when, 
it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received 
if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement is 
treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for 
the reimbursement does not exceed the amount of the 
provision.

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted 
to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions are reversed 
if it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits or service potential will be 
required, to settle the obligation.

Where discounting is used, the carrying amount of a 
provision increases in each period to reflect the passage 
of time. This increase is recognised as an interest expense.

A provision is used only for expenditures for which the 
provision was originally recognised.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating surplus/
(deficit).

If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present 
obligation (net of recoveries) under the contract is 
recognised and measured as a provision.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not 
recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 33.

1.18 Commitments

Items are classified as commitments when an entity has 
committed itself to future transactions that will normally 
result in the outflow of cash.

Disclosures are required in respect of unrecognised 
contractual commitments.
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Commitments for which disclosure is necessary to achieve 
a fair presentation should be disclosed in a note to the 
financial statements, if both the following criteria are met:

• contracts should be non-cancellable or only cancellable 
at significant cost (for example, contracts for computer 
or building maintenance services); and

• contracts should relate to something other than the 
routine, steady, state business of the entity – therefore 
salary commitments relating to employment contracts or 
social security benefit commitments are excluded.

1.19 Revenue from exchange transactions

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service 
potential during the reporting period when those inflows 
result in an increase in net assets.

An exchange transaction is one in which the entity receives 
assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and 
directly gives approximately equal value (primarily in the 
form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other party 
in exchange.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume 
rebates.
 
Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the 
following conditions have been satisfied:

• the entity has transferred to the purchaser the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

• the entity retains neither continuing managerial 
involvement to the degree usually associated with 
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits or service 

potential associated with the transaction will flow to the 
entity; and

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the 
transaction can be measured reliably.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the 
following conditions have been satisfied:

• the entity has transferred to the purchaser the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

• the entity retains neither continuing managerial 
involvement to the degree usually associated with 
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits or service 

potential associated with the transaction will flow to the 
entity; and

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the 
transaction can be measured reliably.

Sale of goods includes the sale of food and curios at the 
NZG and isotopes at iThemba LABS.

Rendering of services

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering 
of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated 
with the transaction is recognised by reference to the stage 
of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The 
outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably when all 
the following conditions are satisfied:

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits or service 

potential associated with the transaction will flow to the 
entity;

• the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting 
date can be measured reliably; and

• the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to 
complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

When services are performed by an indeterminate number 
of acts over a specified time frame, revenue is recognised 
on a straight line basis over the specified time frame unless 
there is evidence that some other method better represents 
the stage of completion. When a specific act is much more 
significant than any other acts, the recognition of revenue is 
postponed until the significant act is executed.
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When the outcome of the transaction involving the 
rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, revenue 
is recognised only to the extent of the expenses recognised 
that are recoverable.

Service revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of 
completion of the transaction at the reporting date. Stage of 
completion is determined by services performed to date as 
a percentage of total services to be performed.

Service revenue includes fees for parking at the NZG and 
providing tours to the public at some business units.

Interest

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets 
yielding interest is recognised when:

• it is probable that the economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the transaction will flow to the 
entity, and

• the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the 
effective interest rate method.

Entrance fees

The NZG charges patrons an entrance fee to visit the NZG.  
This revenue is recognised at point of sale of the tickets.

1.20 Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits or 
service potential received and receivable by an entity, which 
represents an increase in net assets, other than increases 
relating to contributions from owners.

Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations that 
specify that the future economic benefits or service potential 
embodied in the asset is required to be consumed by the 
recipient as specified or future economic benefits or service 
potential must be returned to the transferor.

Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not 
exchange transactions. In a non-exchange transaction, 
an entity either receives value from another entity without 
directly giving approximately equal value in exchange, 
or gives value to another entity without directly receiving 
approximately equal value in exchange.

Recognition

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction 
recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue, except 
to the extent that a liability is also recognised in respect of 
the same inflow.

As the entity satisfies a present obligation recognised as 
a liability in respect of an inflow of resources from a non-
exchange transaction recognised as an asset, it reduces the 
carrying amount of the liability recognised and recognises 
an amount of revenue equal to that reduction.

Measurement

Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured at 
the amount of the increase in net assets recognised by the 
entity.

When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, the 
entity recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue 
equivalent to the amount of the asset measured at its fair 
value as at the date of acquisition, unless it is also required 
to recognise a liability. Where a liability is required to be 
recognised, it will be measured as the best estimate of the 
amount required to settle the obligation at the reporting 
date, and the amount of the increase in net assets, if any, 
recognised as revenue. When a liability is subsequently 
reduced, because a condition is satisfied, the amount of the 
reduction in the liability is recognised as revenue.

Gifts and donations, including goods in-kind

Gifts and donations, including goods in-kind, are recognised 
as assets and revenue when it is probable that the future 
economic benefits or service potential will flow to the entity 
and the fair value of the assets can be measured reliably.

Government grants and designated income

Government grants and designated income are recognised 
in the statement of financial performance, in the period 
to which the income relates.  The government grant and 
designated income are recognised if there is reasonable 
assurance that the entity will comply with the conditions 
attached to the grant or contract, and that the grant or 
designated income will be received.
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The portion of government grants and designated income 
that is earmarked for a specific purpose and thus conditional, 
relating to expenditure that will be incurred in future financial 
years, is reflected as income received in advance in the 
statement of financial position, as it represents an actual 
liability if conditions are not met.

1.21 Cost of sales

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those 
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in 
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of 
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all 
surplus/(deficit) of inventories are recognised as an expense 
in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount 
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising 
from an increase in net realisable value, is recognised as 
a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an 
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

The related cost of providing services recognised as 
revenue in the current period is included in cost of sales.

 Contract costs comprise:

• costs that relate directly to the specific contract;
• costs that are attributable to contract activity in general 

and can be allocated to the contract on a systematic and 
rational basis; and

• such other costs as are specifically chargeable to the 
customer under the terms of the contract.

 
1.22 Grants, bursaries and other research 

expenditure

Grants, bursaries and other research awarded are 
recognised as expenditure in the statement of financial 
performance in the period in which the grants, bursaries 
and other research are claimed and validated.  Included 
in grants, bursaries and other research are membership 
affiliations to research science and technology organisations 
and councils as well as the funding for science activities.

1.23 Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial 
recognition in Rands, by applying to the foreign currency 
amount the spot exchange rate between the functional 
currency and the foreign currency at the date of the 
transaction.

At each reporting date:

• foreign currency monetary items are translated using 
the closing rate;

• non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using 
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction; and

• non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in 
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary 
items or on translating monetary items at rates different from 
those at which they were translated on initial recognition 
during the period or in previous annual financial statements 
are recognised in surplus or deficit in the period in which 
they arise.

Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency 
are recorded in Rands by applying to the foreign currency 
amount the exchange rate between the Rand and the 
foreign currency at the date of the cash flow.

1.24 Comparative figures

Where necessary, comparative figures have been 
reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in the 
current year.

1.25 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made 
in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care 
been exercised.
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All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure 
is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial 
performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. 
The expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature 
of the expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently 
accounted for as revenue in the statement of financial 
performance.

1.26 Irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA is 
expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred 
in contravention of or that is not in accordance with a 
requirement of any applicable legislation, including this Act.

1.27 Segment information

A segment is an activity of an entity:

• that generates economic benefits or service potential 
(including economic benefits or service potential relating 
to transactions between activities of the same entity);

• whose results are regularly reviewed by management to 
make decisions about resources to be allocated to that 
activity and in assessing its performance; and

• for which separate financial information is available.

Reportable segments are the actual segments which are 
reported on in the segment report. They are the segments 
identified above or alternatively an aggregation of two or 
more of those segments where the aggregation criteria are 
met.

Measurement

The amount of each segment item reported is the measure 
reported to management for the purposes of making 
decisions about allocating resources to the segment and 
assessing its performance. Adjustments and eliminations 
made in preparing the entity’s financial statements and 
allocations of revenues and expenses are included in 
determining reported segment surplus or deficit only if they 
are included in the measure of the segment’s surplus or 
deficit that is used by management. Similarly, only those 
assets and liabilities that are included in the measures of 
the segment’s assets and segment’s liabilities that are used 
by management are reported for that segment. If amounts 

are allocated to reported segment surplus or deficit, assets 
or liabilities, those amounts are allocated on a reasonable 
basis.

If management uses only one measure of a segment’s 
surplus or deficit, the segment’s assets or the segment’s 
liabilities in assessing segment performance and 
deciding how to allocate resources, segment surplus or 
deficit, assets and liabilities are reported in terms of that 
measure. If management uses more than one measure 
of a segment’s surplus or deficit, the segment’s assets or 
the segment’s liabilities, the reported measures are those 
that management believes are determined in accordance 
with the measurement principles most consistent with 
those used in measuring the corresponding amounts in the 
entity’s financial statements.

1.28 Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research is recognised as an expense when 
it is incurred.

An asset arising from development is recognised when:

• it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it 
will be available for use or sale.

• there is an intention to complete and use or sell it.
• there is an ability to use or sell it.
• it will generate probable future economic benefits or 

service potential.
• there are available technical, financial and other 

resources to complete the development and to use or 
sell the asset.

• the expenditure attributable to the asset during its 
development can be measured reliably.

1.29 Budget information

The entity is typically subject to budgetary limits in the form 
of appropriations or budget authorisations (or equivalent), 
which is given effect through authorising legislation, 
appropriation or similar.

General purpose financial reporting by the entity shall 
provide information on whether resources were obtained 
and used in accordance with the legally adopted budget.
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The approved budget is prepared on an accrual basis and 
presented by economic classification linked to performance 
outcome objectives.

The approved budget covers the fiscal period from 
2017/04/01 to 2018/03/31.

The budget for the economic entity includes all the entities’ 
approved budgets under its control.

The annual financial statements and the budget are on 
the same basis of accounting therefore a comparison with 
the budgeted amounts for the reporting period have been 
included in the Statement of comparison of budget and 
actual amounts.

Comparative information is not required.

1.30 Related parties

A related party is a person or an entity with the ability 
to control or jointly control the other party, or exercise 
significant influence over the other party, or vice versa, or 
an entity that is subject to common control, or joint control.

Control is the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The entity operates in an economic sector currently 
dominated by entities directly or indirectly owned by 
the South African Government.  As a consequence of 
the constitutional independence of the three spheres of 
government in South Africa, only entities within the national 
sphere of government are considered to be related parties.

Key management are those persons responsible for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, 
including those charged with the governance of the entity 
in accordance with legislation, in instances where they are 
required to perform such functions.  All individuals from the 
level of Corporate Executive up to the Board of Directors 
are regarded as key management.

Close members of the family of a person are considered 
to be those family members who may be expected to 
influence, or be influenced by, that management in their 
dealings with the entity.

Only transactions with related parties not at arm’s length or 
not in the ordinary course of business are disclosed.

1.31 Capital Fund

The proportion of income used to acquire property, plant 
and equipment, intangible assets and heritage assets 
is transferred to the capital fund from the accumulated 
surplus/(deficit) in the proportions and over the periods in 
which depreciation/amortisation on such property, plant and 
equipment, intangible asset or heritage asset is charged or 
when the asset is retired.

1.32 Infrastructure Fund

This fund represents funds set aside to fund future 
infrastructure and related projects.  It can also be utilised 
for the decommissioning of assets, where applicable.
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2 New standards and interpretations

2.1 Standards and interpretations issued, but 
not yet effective

The entity has not applied the following standards and 
interpretations, which have been published and are 
mandatory for the entity’s accounting periods beginning on 
or after April 01, 2018 or later periods:

GRAP 36:  Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures

The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the accounting 
for investments in associates and joint ventures and to 
set out the requirements for the application of the equity 
method when accounting for investments in associates and 
joint ventures.

The effective date of the standard is not yet set by the 
Minister of Finance.

The entity expects to adopt the standard for the first time 
when the Minister sets the effective date for the standard.

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on 
the entity’s annual financial statements.

GRAP 110:  Living and Non-living Resources

The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the:

• recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure 
requirements for living resources; and

• disclosure requirements for non-living resources

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning 
on or after April 01, 2020.

The entity expects to adopt the amendment for the first time 
in the 2021 annual financial statements.

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on 
the entity’s annual financial statements.

GRAP 110  (as amended 2016): Living and  
Non-living Resources

Amendments to the Standard of GRAP on Living and 
Non-living Resources resulted from editorial changes 
to the original text and inconsistencies in measurement 
requirements in GRAP 23 and other asset related Standards 
of GRAP in relation to the treatment of transaction costs. 
Other changes resulted from changes made to IPSAS 17 
on Property, Plant and Equipment (IPSAS 17) as a result 
of the IPSASB’s Improvements to IPSASs 2014 issued in 
January 2015 and Improvements to IPSASs 2015 issued 
in March 2016.

The most significant changes to the Standard are:

• General improvements: To clarify the treatment of 
transaction costs and other costs incurred on assets 
acquired in non-exchange transactions to be in line with 
the principle in GRAP 23; 

• To clarify the measurement principle when assets may 
be acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset or 
assets, or a combination of monetary and non-monetary 
assets;

• IPSASB amendments: To clarify the revaluation 
methodology of the carrying amount and accumulated 
depreciation when a living resource is revalued; 

• To clarify acceptable methods of depreciating assets; 
and 

• To define a bearer plant and include bearer plants within 
the scope of GRAP 17 or GRAP 110, while the produce 
growing on bearer plants will remain within the scope of 
GRAP 27.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning 
on or after April 01, 2020.

The entity expects to adopt the amendment for the first time 
in the 2021 annual financial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact 
on the entity’s annual financial statements.



NRF Annual Report 2017/18

PART D: ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NRF Annual Report 2017/18 185

GRAP 20:  Related parties

The objective of this standard is to ensure that a reporting 
entity’s annual financial statements contain the disclosures 
necessary to draw attention to the possibility that its financial 
position and surplus or deficit may have been affected by 
the existence of related parties and by transactions and 
outstanding balances with such parties.

An entity that prepares and presents financial statements 
under the accrual basis of accounting (in this standard 
referred to as the reporting entity) shall apply this standard 
in:

• identifying related party relationships and transactions;
• identifying outstanding balances, including 

commitments, between an entity and its related parties;
• identifying the circumstances in which disclosure of the 

items in (a) and (b) is required; and
• determining the disclosures to be made about those 

items.

This standard requires disclosure of related party 
relationships, transactions and outstanding balances, 
including commitments, in the consolidated and separate 
financial statements of the reporting entity in accordance 
with the Standard of GRAP on Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements. This standard also applies to 
individual annual financial statements.

Disclosure of related party transactions, outstanding 
balances, including commitments, and relationships with 
related parties may affect users’ assessments of the financial 
position and performance of the reporting entity and its 
ability to deliver agreed services, including assessments of 
the risks and opportunities facing the entity. This disclosure 
also ensures that the reporting entity is transparent about 
its dealings with related parties.

The standard states that a related party is a person or an 
entity with the ability to control or jointly control the other 
party, or exercise significant influence over the other party, 
or vice versa, or an entity that is subject to common control, 
or joint control. As a minimum, the following are regarded 
as related parties of the reporting entity:

• A person or a close member of that person’s family is 
related to the reporting entity if that person:

 – has control or joint control over the reporting 
entity;

 – has significant influence over the reporting 
entity;

 – is a member of the management of the entity 
or its controlling entity.

• An entity is related to the reporting entity if any of the 
following conditions apply:

 – the entity is a member of the same economic 
entity (which means that each controlling 
entity, controlled entity and fellow controlled 
entity is related to the others);

 – one entity is an associate or joint venture 
of the other entity (or an associate or joint 
venture of a member of an economic entity 
of which the other entity is a member);

 – both entities are joint ventures of the same 
third party;

 – one entity is a joint venture of a third entity 
and the other entity is an associate of the 
third entity;

 – the entity is a post-employment benefit 
plan for the benefit of employees of either 
the entity or an entity related to the entity. 
If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, 
the sponsoring employers are related to the 
entity;

 – the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by 
a person identified in (a); and

 – a person identified in (a)(i) has significant 
influence over that entity or is a member 
of the management of that entity (or its 
controlling entity).

The standard furthermore states that a related party 
transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations 
between the reporting entity and a related party, regardless 
of whether a price is charged.
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The standard elaborates on the definitions and identification 
of:

• Close member of the family of a person;
• Management;
• Related parties;
• Remuneration; and
• Significant influence

The standard sets out the requirements, inter alia, for the 
disclosure of:

• Control;
• Related party transactions; and
• Remuneration of management.

The effective date of the standard is 01 April 2019.

The entity expects to adopt the standard for the first time in 
the 2020 annual financial statements.

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on 
the entity’s annual financial statements.

GRAP 109:  Accounting by Principals and Agents

The objective of this Standard is to outline principles to 
be used by an entity to assess whether it is party to a 
principal-agent arrangement, and whether it is a principal 
or an agent in undertaking transactions in terms of such 
an arrangement. The Standard does not introduce new 
recognition or measurement requirements for revenue, 
expenses, assets and/or liabilities that result from principal 
agent arrangements. The Standard does however provide 
guidance on whether revenue, expenses, assets and/or 
liabilities should be recognised by an agent or a principal, 
as well as prescribe what information should be disclosed 
when an entity is a principal or an agent.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning 
on or after April 01, 2019. The entity expects to adopt the 
amendment for the first time in the 2020 annual financial 
statements

The impact of this standard is currently being assessed.

IGRAP 18:  Interpretation of the Standard 
of GRAP on Recognition and 
Derecognition of Land

This Interpretation of the Standards of GRAP applies to the 
initial recognition and derecognition of land in an entity’s 
financial statements. It also considers joint control of land 
by more than one entity.

The effective date of the interpretation is for years beginning 
on or after April 01, 2019.

The entity expects to adopt the interpretation for the first 
time in the 2020 annual financial statements.

It is unlikely that the interpretation will have a material 
impact on the entity’s annual financial statements.
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3. Property, plant and equipment

2018 2017

Cost / 
Valuation 

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment 

Carrying value Cost / 
Valuation 

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment 

Carrying value

Land 280,155  -  280,155  98,886  -  98,886
Buildings 395,898  (75,039)  320,859  348,823  (59,533)  289,290
Plant and machinery 67,228  (21,253)  45,975  61,551  (15,265)  46,286
Furniture and fixtures 28,041  (14,547)  13,494  24,315  (12,769)  11,546
Motor vehicles 61,523  (29,747)  31,776  48,602  (24,834)  23,768
Office equipment 69,119  (43,410)  25,709  62,576  (41,875)  20,701
IT equipment 181,491  (98,416)  83,075  137,068  (75,735)  61,333
Infrastructure 288,280  (49,713)  238,567  288,029  (36,700)  251,329
Exhibits 7,612  (3,472)  4,140  7,311  (2,806)  4,505
Capital work in progress 1,120,783  - 1,120,783  866,193  -  866,193
Research equipment 917,398  (396,070)  521,328  794,623  (321,958)  472,665
Books and journals 3,048  (567)  2,481  1,767  (231)  1,536

Total 3,420,576 (732,234) 2,688,342 2,739,744 (591,706)  2,148,038 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2018 

Opening 
balance 

Additions Disposals Transfers Depreciation Total 

Land 98,886  178,825 - 2,444 - 280,155
Buildings 289,290  5,879 - 41,197 (15,507) 320,859
Plant and machinery 46,286  3,216 - 2,462 (5,989) 45,975
Furniture and fixtures 11,546  4,020 (3) - (2,069) 13,494
Motor vehicles 23,768  13,823 (112) - (5,703) 31,776
Office equipment 20,701  5,907 (18) 4,665 (5,546) 25,709
IT equipment 61,333  31,081 (858) 17,126 (25,607) 83,075
Infrastructure 251,329  253 - - (13,015) 238,567
Exhibits 4,505  304 (2) - (667) 4,140
Capital work in progress 866,193  365,775 - (111,185) - 1,120,783
Research equipment 472,665  79,899 (87) 43,291 (74,440) 521,328
Books and journals 1,536  1,280 - - (335) 2,481 

2,148,038  690,262 (1,080) - (148,878) 2,688,342

Depreciation includes R 0.076m (2017: R 0.173m), relating to leased assets.  Transfers during the year, relate to assets 
capitalised from capital work in progress, upon completion of the assets.
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Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2017 

Opening 
balance 

Additions Disposals Transfers Depreciation Total 

Land 29,898  68,988 - - - 98,886
Buildings 204,209  13,372 (509) 84,481 (12,263) 289,290
Plant and machinery 21,267  28,391 (23) 870 (4,219) 46,286
Furniture and fixtures 9,339  3,859 (22) 75 (1,705) 11,546
Motor vehicles 18,688  9,682 (71) - (4,531) 23,768
Office equipment 19,740  4,578 (63) 1,289 (4,843) 20,701
IT equipment 39,767  38,477 (640) 423 (16,694) 61,333
Infrastructure 261,932  1,421 - 986 (13,010) 251,329
Exhibits 4,287  847 - - (629) 4,505
Capital work in progress 804,581  431,118 - (369,506) - 866,193
Research equipment 224,465  27,577 (408) 281,382 (60,351) 472,665
Books and journals 898  825 - - (187) 1,536

1,639,071  629,135 (1,736) - (118,432) 2,148,038

Depreciation rates 

The depreciation methods and average useful lives of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Buildings Straight line 2 - 40 years 
Machinery and equipment Straight line 5 - 15 years 
Office furniture Straight line 3 - 30 years
Motor vehicles Straight line 5 - 14 years
Office equipment Straight line 3 - 25 years 
IT equipment Straight line 3 - 13 years 
Computer software Straight line 2 - 10 years 
Infrastructure Straight line 5 - 25 years 
Exhibits Straight line 3 - 10 years 
Books and journals Straight line 5 - 10 years 
Research equipment Straight line 2 - 28 years 
Leased assets Straight line 3 years 

Assets subject to finance lease (Net carrying amount) 2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Office equipment 80 157
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Details of properties

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Portion 1 of the farm Scientia No 627, Pretoria, with buildings thereon 

Land 1,277 1,277
Buildings 119,958 111,563

121,235 112,840

Portion 4 of the farm No 996, Blue Downs, Stellenbosch, with buildings thereon 

Land 9,717 9,717
Buildings 29,537 28,792

39,254 38,509

Portion 6 of the farm Kuilenburg No 96, Sutherland, with buildings thereon

Land 346 346
Buildings 9,601 9,151

9,947 9,497

Erf 26423, Observatory, Cape Town, with buildings thereon

Land 263 263
Buildings 7,733 7,733

7,996 7,996

Astronomy reserve properties for SKA project, Carnarvon (former farms - register available)

Land 250,257 68,988
Buildings 31,005 6,640

281,262 75,628

Stand No 2859, 211 Nana Sita Street, Pretoria

Land 92 92
Buildings 9,784 9,177

9,876 9,269

Portion 1 of Erf 1, Observatory, Johannesburg

Land 1,685 1,685
Buildings 1,866 1,866

3,551 3,551

Portion 1 of the former farm Losberg No 73, Fraserberg Regional District

Land 7,796 7,796
Buildings 134,029 132,145

141,825 139,941
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Mey's Dam Farm No 68, Fraserburg Regional District

Land 8,722 8,722
Buildings 7,050 7,672

15,772 16,394

Leasehold improvements - HartRAO

Capitalised expenditure 1,655 1,655

Leasehold improvements - SAIAB

Capitalised expenditure 30,123 21,596

Leasehold improvements - SKA Klerefontein

Capitalised expenditure 11,557 10,833

Leasehold improvements - SAEON

Capitalised expenditure 2,000 -

Total cost of land and buildings 676,053 447,709

All property in Carnarvon was former farms.  These farms are not being farmed on, but  are held as part of the astronomy 
reserve for the SKA project. 

The land and buildings situated in Pretoria, on the CSIR campus, are subject to a pre-emptive right in favour of the 
CSIR should the NRF decide to sell the property.  It will revert back to the CSIR for no consideration should the NRF be 
disbanded. 

Land and buildings of the NZG are situated in Boom Street, Pretoria.  This property is not reflected in the records of the NRF 
as ownership thereof resides with the Department of Public Works.  The NZG occupies the property for no consideration. 

Reconciliation of Work-in-Progress 2018

Land & 
Buildings 

Research 
equipment Other PPE Total

Reconciliation of Work-in-Progress 2018

Opening balance  16,352 844,692 5,149 866,193 
Additions/capital expenditure  39,764 295,763 30,248 365,775 
Transferred to completed items  (42,951) (45,679) (22,555) (111,185)

 13,165 1,094,776 12,842 1,120,783

Reconciliation of Work-in-Progress 2017

Opening balance  79,787 722,595 2,199 804,581 
Additions/capital expenditure  21,046 403,479 6,593 431,118 
Transferred to completed items  (84,481) (281,382) (3,643) (369,506)

16,352 844,692 5,149 866,193 

2018
R’000

2017
R’000
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Expenditure incurred to repair and maintain property, plant and equipment 

Expenditure incurred to repair and maintain property, plant and equipment included in Statement of Financial Performance  

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Contracted Services

37,559 29,609

NZG animal collection 

Refer to note 1.4 for reasons why no financial values are attached to the animal collection.
2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Number of specimens: 

Mammals 1,229 1,309 
Aves 941 1,061 
Reptiles 373 348 
Pisces 1,980 1,838 
Amphibia 52 95 
Invertebrates 383 464

4,958 5,115 

4. Intangible Assets

2018 2017

Cost / 
Valuation 

Accumulated 
amortisation  

and 
accumulated 
impairment 

Carrying value Cost / 
Valuation 

Accumulated 
amortisation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment 

Carrying value

Computer software, other 72,691  (31,725)  40,966  69,524  (23,324)  46,200
Other intangible assets 649  -  649  -  -  -

Total 73,340 (31,725) 41,615 69,524 (23,324) 46,200 

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2018

Opening 
balance 

Additions Amortisation Total

Computer software, other 46,200 3,177 (8,411) 40,966 
Other intangible assets - 649 - 649

46,200 3,826 (8,411) 41,615
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Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2017

Opening 
balance 

Additions Disposals Amortisation Total

Computer software, other  53,743  1,052 (13)  (8,582)  46,200 

5. Heritage assets

2018 2017

Cost / 
Valuation 

Accumulated 
impairment 

losses

Carrying 
value

Cost / 
Valuation 

Accumulated 
impairment 

losses

Carrying 
value

Collections of rare books, manuscripts 
and records  53  -  53  53  -  53

Objects of scientific and technological 
interest  15,370  -  15,370  15,370  -  15,370

Historical structures and monuments  56  -  56  56  -  56

Total 15,479 - 15,479 15,479 - 15,479 

Reconciliation of heritage assets - 2018
Opening 
balance Total

Collections of rare books, manuscripts and records 53 53

Objects of scientific and technological interest 15,370 15,370

Historical structures and monuments 56 56 

15,479 15,479

Reconciliation of heritage assets - 2017
Opening 
balance Total

Collections of rare books, manuscripts and records 53 53

Objects of scientific and technological interest 15,370 15,370

Historical structures and monuments 56 56 

15,479 15,479

Heritage assets which fair values cannot be reliably measured 

Rare books 

The SAAO hosts the National Library for Astronomy of South Africa.  Some of the books are rare as they are hand written, 
one of a kind and irreplaceable.  These books cannot be reliably measured for economic value as there is no market for 
them and they are irreplaceable.  These books contributed significantly to the research output of the Observatory in the 
past and are being preserved for future generations.  They are being kept for historical purposes only. 
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Sammy Marks Fountain

The Sammy Marks fountain has been part of Pretoria’s landscape for more than 115 years, having first been erected in 
Church Square.  Sammy Marks presented the fountain to Pretoria in 1905.  It served as a water supply point as well as 
for its ornamental value.  The fountain cannot be reliably measured for economic value as there is no market for it and it 
is irreplaceable. 
 
National Biological Specimen Collection 

The collection of museum specimens comprise over 100 000 containers of fish and other aquatic organisms, such as 
amphibians, invertebrates and diatoms.  Many of the specimens in the collection are unique and largely irreplaceable.  
There is also a molecular tissue bank of aquatic samples for genetic analysis and a dry collection of fish skeletons and 
otoliths.  Some specimens date back more than 100 years.  The biological collection is supported by scientific graphic 
images.  The collection cannot be reliably measured for economic value as there is no market for it and the collection is 
irreplaceable.

6. Investments in associates 

Name of entity Listed / 
Unlisted 

% holding 
2018 

% holding 
2017 

Carrying 
amount 2018

Carrying 
amount 2017

SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd. Unlisted 35.92% 35.92% 16,133 18,447 

The carrying amounts of associates are shown net of impairment losses. 

Movements in carrying value 2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Opening balance  18,447 22,795
Share of surplus/deficit  (2,314) (4,348) 
  16,133 18,447

Principal activities, country of incorporation and voting power

    Legal name  Principal activity Country of 
incorporation 

Proportion of 
voting power

SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd. Development, upgrade and operation of an 11-metre telescope for 
astronomical research S.A. 35,92%

Summary of associate’s financial information

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Current assets 54,868 38,315
Non-current assets 143,332 157,844
Total liabilities 22,328 23,268
Revenue 38,005 34,264
Surplus/(deficit) (6,444) (12,105)
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7. Other financial assets

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

At amortised cost 
Grant deposit accounts  614,910 606,110
The approved grant deposits are repayable to the NRF on 30 days' notice, in an event of the 
funding being discontinued.
Infrastructure bridging funding  
Funding advanced to institutions for infrastructure, repayable in full to the NRF within 12 months. 
The funding is non-interest bearing.

15,000 9,804 

629,910  615,914 

8. Employee benefit obligations

Defined benefit plan 

Post-retirement medical aid plan 

The NRF has a subsidy obligation for those members who did not accept the buy-out offer in 2012.  To manage the residual 
liability that has remained, the NRF has acquired an annuity policy which qualifies as a plan asset.

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows: 

Carrying value 2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Present value of the defined benefit obligation wholly funded (12,612) (12,759)   
Fair value of plan assets 16,608 16,460     

3,996 3,701

The plan assets consist of an annuity insurance policy. The annuity portfolio is made up of a growth account and a 
guaranteed account.  Increases are guaranteed at a minimum of CPI per annum.  Funds are transferred from the growth 
account to the guaranteed account annually to fund any increase in employer contributions in excess of the guaranteed 
annuities. 

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Opening balance (3,701) (1,459) 
Net expense recognised in the statement of financial performance (295) (2,242)

(3,996) (3,701)
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Net expense recognised in the statement of financial performance
2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Current service cost 26   22
Interest cost 1,038 1,083
Actuarial (gains)/losses -  (1,979)

Assets not recognised - (117)
Expected return on plan assets (1,359) (1,251)  

(295) (2,242)

Calculation of actuarial gains and losses
2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Actuarial (gains)/losses – Obligation - 260
Actuarial (gains)/losses – Plan assets    - (2,239)

- (1,979)

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:
2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Opening balance   16,460  13,814 
Expected return   1,359  1,367 
Actuarial gains/(losses) -  2,239 
Benefits paid   (1,211)  (960)     

16,608 16,460

Key assumptions used

Assumptions used at the reporting date:
2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Discount rates used 8.57%  8.57% 
Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) 6.33%  6.33% 
Net discount rate 0.69%  0.69% 
Health care cost inflation 7.83%  7.83% 

Normal retirement age 65  years 65  years
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Amounts for the current and previous four years are as follows:    
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014   
'000  '000  '000  '000  '000 

Defined benefit obligation (12,612)  (12,759)  (12,355)  (12,411)  (12,363) 
Plan assets   16,608  16,460  13,814  12,870  12,127 
Surplus/(deficit)   3,996  3,701  1,459  459  (236) 

Defined contribution plan 

It is the policy of the entity to provide retirement benefits to all its employees through the National Research Foundation 
Pension Fund, which is subject to the Pensions Fund Act.  The fund is administered by Alexander Forbes Consultants and 
Actuaries.  

The entity is under no obligation to cover any unfunded benefits.

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

The amount recognised as an expense for defined contribution plans is 56,888 49,900

9. Prepayments 

Prepayments consist mainly of a 10-year usage membership to be part of the Large Synoptic Survey Telescope, which will 
commence in 2019, from which time the prepayment will be amortised. 

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Prepayment on membership fees   15,882   15,882 
Other prepayments   228   387     

   16,110   16,269

  
10. Grants and bursaries paid in advance

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Funding advanced for grants and bursaries   6,812  409,205  

11. Inventories 

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Consumable stores and maintenance spares   5,541  6,225 
Restaurant stock   588  855     

   6,129  7,080 
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12. Receivables from exchange transactions
 

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Trade debtors   74,414  24,705 
Employee costs in advance   240  232 
Prepayments   102,056  215,841 
Deposits   6,730  4,268 
Designated income and other receivables   244,483  226,556     

   427,923  471,602

Credit quality of trade and other receivables 

Credit risk, with respect to trade and other receivables, is limited due to the large number of customers comprising the 
NRF’s customer base, and their dispersion across different industries and geographical areas. 

Trade receivables

None of the financial assets that are fully performing have been renegotiated in the last year. 

Fair value of trade and other receivables 

The fair value of financial assets is not expected to differ materially from their carrying values, due to the short-term nature 
thereof. 

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired 

Trade and other receivables which are less than 3 months past due are not considered to be impaired. At March 31, 2018, 
R20,434m  (2017: R7,489m) was past due but not impaired. 

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows: 

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

1 month past due   15,369  26 
2 months past due   2,357  171 
3 months past due   2,709  7,292  

Trade and other receivables impaired 

As of March 31, 2018, trade and other receivables of  R863K (2017: R625K) were impaired and provided for. 

The amount of the provision was R863K as of March 31, 2018 (2017: R625K). 
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Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Opening balance   625  664 
Provision for impairment   262  61 
Amounts written off as uncollectible   -  (4) 
Unused amounts reversed   (24)  (96)     

   863  625 

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in operating expenses in surplus or 
deficit (note 29). Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of 
recovering additional cash. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. 
The entity does not hold any collateral as security.

13. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of: 

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Cash on hand   901  364 
Short-term deposits and bank balances   462,507  494,411     

   463,408  494,775 

The balance includes R195 million for the SKA project and R170 million for infrastructure projects at the National Facilities. 

Credit quality of cash at bank and short-term deposits, excluding cash on hand.

Cash equivalents and short-term deposits are placed with highly rated and National Treasury approved financial institutions.

14. Capital fund

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Opening balance 2209,717  1708,296 
Net acquisition of assets   3+4 535,713 501,421
Acquisition of property, equipment and intangible assets   3+4 694,091 630,187
Depreciation, amortisation and disposals (158,378) (128,766)

   2745,430  2209,717
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15. SALT fund 

The SALT fund represents income received from the Department of Science and Technology, for the purpose of investing 
the funds in the SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd.  The balance is adjusted with post-acquisition surpluses/losses of the SALT 
Foundation (Pty) Ltd.  Refer note 6 

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Available income for the SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd.     16,133 18,447
 

16. Finance lease obligation 

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

 Minimum lease payments due

- within one year    59  104  

- in second to fifth year inclusive         37 96

96 200 

less: future finance charges (9) (25)     

Present value of minimum lease payments 87  175   

Present value of minimum lease payments due 2018
R’000

2017
R’000

- within one year    51 88

- in second to fifth year inclusive         36 87 

87 175

Non-current liabilities 36 87

Current liabilities 51 88 

87 175

It is entity policy to lease certain equipment under finance leases.  

The average lease term was two to  three years and the average effective borrowing rate was 18% (2017: 14%).  

The entity’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s charge over the leased assets. Refer note 3. 

Market risk 

The fair value of finance lease liabilities approximates their carrying amounts.
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17. Provisions

Opening 
Balance Additions Utilised during 

the year 
Reversed 

during the year Total 

Reconciliation of provisions - 2018
Provision for performance bonus  8,374  35,188  (6,688)  (1,686)  35,188

Reconciliation of provisions - 2017 
Provision for performance bonus  18,095  8,374  (13,438)  (4,657)  8,374  

The provision represents an estimated amount to be paid for performance bonuses.  The process of finalising performance 
reviews for the current year will be concluded in the next financial year, when the actual payments, and the determination 
thereof will occur. 

18. Designated income received in advance 

Funding that is earmarked for a specific purpose, and thus conditional, relating to expenditure that will be incurred in future 
financial years, is transferred to income received in advance, until the related costs are incurred. 
 

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Income not yet expensed   1,335,866  1,798,739

19. Payables from exchange transactions

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Trade payables   34,964  65,616 

Accrued leave pay   61,388  58,583 

Remuneration accrual   5,329 5,252 

Other payables   6,033  5,310     

   107,714  134,761 

 

20. Sales of goods and services

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Sale of isotopes   61,934  53,068 

Services rendered   8,598  3,829 

National Zoological Gardens sales   9,547  10,119 

Other sales   962  952     

   81,041  67,968 
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21. Other income

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Sundry income   2,955  5,776 

Rent received   3,201  2,945 

Donations received   549  62 

Participation fees   833  986 

Insurance recoveries   107  4,113     

   7,645  13,882  

22. Interest income

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Bank   43,370  102,551 

Interest charged on trade and other receivables   66  39 

Interest - other   2,828  873     

   46,264  103,463 

23. Ring-fenced income 

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Ring-fenced funding received   1,980,427  1,925,348 

Net ring-fenced funds carried forward from 2016/17   403,376  252,582     

   2,383,803  2,177,930 
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24. Contract income 

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Department of Science and Technology 737,658 778,874 

Other government organisations 430,452 374,700 

Private and international organisations 80,968 64,680     

   1,249,078  1,218,254  

The NRF manages a number of projects/programmes for government departments and local as well as international 
organisations, on a contractual basis.  These funds are designated for specific projects.

25. Board and Corporate Executive members remuneration 

Non-Executive Members (Board members) Short-term benefits 
R’000

Total Package 2018
R’000

Total Package 2017
R’000

Ms CA Busetti (From 1 April 2017) 66 66 -
Dr PG Clayton (From 1 October 2011) 103 103 68
Advocate L Zondo (Up to 31 October 2016) - - 27
Ms J Yawitch (From 1 September 2014) 63 63 30
Ms M Letlape (From 1 March 2015) 109 109 52
Dr V Papu-Zamxaka (From 1 October 2014) 51 51 49
Prof MV Leibbrandt (From 1 October 2011) 62 62 47
Mr MR Lubisi (From 1 October 2014) 73 73 40
Prof R Singh (From 1 October 2011) 80 80 50
Prof T Maluleke (From 1 October 2014) 40 40 21
Prof L Nongxa ( Chairperson from 1 October 2014) 130 130 108
Ms GM Campbell (From 1 October 2014) 31 31 31
Prof SD Maharaj (From 1 October 2011) 51 51 35
Prof EM Tyobeka (From 1 October 2011) 40 40 59

899 899 617 
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Members of the Corporate 
Executive

Short-term 
benefits 

Bonuses and 
performance 

related payments 

Retirement 
Fund 

contributions 

Medical 
contributions 

Other 
benefits 

Total 
package 

2018 

Total 
package 

2017 
R' 000 R' 000 R' 000 R' 000 R' 000 R' 000 R' 000 

Dr M Qhobela (CEO of the NRF) 2,438 233  359  171 41 3,242 2,828 
Dr BA Damonse 1,985  168  267  36 39 2,495 2,157 
Dr D Pillay  2,357 208 281  - 40 2,886 2,487 
Prof N Chetty (on part-time 
contract)  278 - - - 4 282 1,101

Mr B Singh  2,148 192 280 51 39 2,710 2,459
Mr PB Thompson  2,137 192 300 - 752 3,381 2,302 
Dr C Nxomani 923 135 84 41 16 1,199 - 
Dr P Matutu 996 - 163 - 22 1,181 -

13,262 1,128 1,734 299 953 17,376 13,334

Total remuneration 14,161 1,128 1,734 299 953 18,275 13,951 

* Denotes ex-officio member of the NRF Board. 

Corporate Executive members are considered to be key management personnel as they are the delegated key decision 
makers. 

26. Finance costs 

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Finance leases 15 21  
Other interest paid 28 26      

43 47 

27. Cost of sales 

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Sale of goods    
Cost of goods sold - Isotopes   23,506  26,283 
Cost of goods sold - NZG   5,210  5,474 
Cost of goods sold - Other   374  893     

   29,090  32,650
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28. Auditors’ remuneration 

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Current year audit   1,117  1,084 
Prior year audit   2,862  2,876 
Other services   73  138     

   4,052  4,098  

29. Operating surplus 

Operating surplus for the year is stated after accounting for the following

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Operating lease charges   
Contractual amounts - Premises   12,475  11,253 
Contractual amounts - Equipment   420 230

12,895 11,483
Loss/(gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment   299  1,281 
Loss/(surplus) on exchange differences   (520)  1,873 
Finance costs 43 47
Amortisation on intangible assets   8,414  8,581 
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment   146,358  116,132 
Employee costs   717,782  627,097 
Defined contribution plan   56,888  49,900 

30. Cash generated from operations 

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Surplus 532,341 488,143 
Adjustments for: 

Depreciation and amortisation 157,292 127,007 
Gain/(loss) on sale of assets and liabilities 299 1,281 
Income from equity accounted investments 2,314 4,348 
Movements in post-retirement benefit assets and liabilities (295)  (2,242) 
Movements in provisions 26,814  (9,721) 

Changes in working capital: 
Inventories 951  (900) 
Receivables from exchange transactions 43,678 (25,965) 
Prepayments 159  18,647 
Grants and bursaries paid in advance 388,396  (5,292) 
Payables from exchange transactions (27,047) 31,034 
Designated income received in advance (462,874) (173,283)     

662,028  453,057 
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31. Financial instruments disclosure 

Categories of financial instruments 
2018 At amortised cost Total 

Financial assets
Other financial assets 629,910 629,910 
Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions 318,897 318,897 
Cash and cash equivalents   463,408 463,408

1,412,215 1,412,215     
Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables from exchange transactions 40,997 40,997 
Finance leases 87 87     

41,084 41,084     
2017 
Financial Assets
Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions 251,261 251,261
Cash and cash equivalents   494,775  494,775 
Other financial assets   615,914  615,914     

   1,361,950  1,361,950  
Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables from exchange transactions    70,926  70,926 
Finance leases   175  175     

   71,101  71,101 
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32. Commitments  

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Authorised capital expenditure
Already contracted for but not provided for

Property, plant and equipment 122,259 375,833
Not yet contracted for and authorised by delegated authority

Property, plant and equipment 27,372 15,873
Total capital commitments  

Already contracted for but not provided for 122,259 375,833
Not yet contracted for and authorised by delegated authority 27,372 15,873

 149,631 391,706

Authorised operational expenditure

Already contracted for but not provided for
Mainly technical services 181,988 141,354

Not yet contracted for and authorised by delegated authority
Consumables, goods & services 52,714 35,374

Total operational commitments
Already contracted for but not provided for 181,988 141,354
Not yet contracted for and authorised by delegated authority 52,714 35,374

234,702 176,728

Total commitments
Authorised capital expenditure 149,631 391,706
Authorised operational expenditure 234,702 176,728

384,333 568,434

The operational and capital expenditure will be financed from the parliamentary grant (MTEF) and designated funds. 

Operating leases - as lessee (expense) 
2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Minimum lease payments due   
- within one year 13,208 13,567
- in second to fifth year inclusive 26,687 716

39,895 14,283

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the entity for certain of its office properties and equipment. Leases are negotiated for a term of 
between one year and 100 years and rentals escalate between 0% and 10% annually. No contingent rent is payable.
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Operating leases - as lessor (income) 
2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Minimum lease payments due   
- within one year 208 268
- in second to fifth year inclusive 191 371

399 639

The entity has entered into non-cancellable commercial property leases for the duration of the lease period.  These leases 
are negotiated for a term of between one year and 10 years and rentals escalate between 5% and 10% annually.  There 
are no contingent rents receivable. 

33. Contingencies 

Contingent liabilities 

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Future grants awarded 5,104,385  4,288,248

The NRF has awarded multi-year grants for up to 5 years, with subsequent years’ payments conditional upon receipt of 
progress reports. 

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Removal of historic packageable radioactive waste 4,730  4,730 

Packageable radioactive waste consists of low - medium level radioactive contaminated solid waste with relatively short 
half-lives (< 5 years).  All the radioactive waste produced by iThemba LABS, since its inception, has been stored on site.  
New regulations, with regards to radiation waste management,  are envisaged that may result in a possible obligation for 
the NRF to dispose of such radioactive waste from the NRF premises, whilst also meeting set requirements.  The possible 
obligation calculated represents a best cost estimate of such disposal process, for which funding has been set aside.

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Cash surplus for 31 March 2017, per Instruction 6 of 2017/18 42,821 -

The NRF calculated the cash surplus for 31 March 2017 as R 42,821 million, based on the requirements of National 
Treasury Instruction 6 of 2017/18.  A request for retention was submitted to National Treasury, but no correspondence for 
the approval has been received as yet.  Since the funds were committed towards activities in 2017/18, it has been spent.
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34. Related parties 

Relationships   

Members of key management  Refer to note 25

Controlling entity Department of Science and Technology

Associates  Refer to note 6

Fellow controlled entities  Academy of Science of South Africa (ASSAf), Council for Scientific and 
Industrial Research (CSIR), Human Sciences Research Council (HSRC), 
South African National Space Agency (SANSA) and Technology Innovation 
Agency (TIA) 

By virtue of the fact that the NRF is a national public entity, and controlled by national government, any other controlled 
entity of the national government is a related party.  All transactions with such entities are at arm’s length, and on normal 
commercial terms. 

Related party balances 

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Amounts included in Trade receivables (Trade Payables)  
regarding related parties:

SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd.   1,937  1,862 
Prepayment to SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd.   19,529  17,012 

The outstanding balance at year-end is unsecured, interest free and settlement occurs in cash.  There have been no 
guarantees received.  No impairment has been recorded of the amount owed. 

Related party transactions 

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Payments to the SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd.    
Levy for the use of the telescopes   17,279  15,052 

Receipts from the SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd.    
The recovery of services rendered   23,844  25,136 

Department of Science and Technology    
Parliamentary grant and ring-fenced funding received   2,906,391  2,808,153 
Contract income   737,658  778,874
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35. Change in estimate 

Property, plant and equipment 

A change in the depreciation estimate, due to a change in the residual values and useful lives of certain assets, had an 
impact of R 0,2m decrease for the current and future periods.

36. Risk management 

Financial risk management 

The entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk and cash flow interest rate 
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

The entity’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 
potential adverse effects on the entity’s financial performance. Risk management is carried out by a central treasury 
department under policies approved by the board. Entity treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close 
co-operation with the entity’s business units. The board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well 
as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and investment of 
excess liquidity. 

Liquidity risk 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding.  

The entity’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The entity manages liquidity risk 
through an ongoing review of future commitments, through proper management of working capital, capital expenditure and 
actual vs. forecasted cash flows and its investment policy.  Adequate reserves and liquid resources are also maintained. 

The table below analyses the entity’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at 
the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not 
significant.

Less than 1 year Between 1 and 2 years
At March 31, 2018

Trade and other payables 40,997 - 
Finance leases 59 37 

At March 31, 2017
Trade and other payables 70,926 - 
Finance leases 104 96 
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Credit risk 

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents and trade debtors. The entity only deposits cash with major 
banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party. 

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluates credit risk relating to customers on 
an ongoing basis. Risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past 
experience and other factors. The entity does not have any significant exposure to any individual customer or counter-party.

Market risk 

Interest rate risk 

Financial assets and liabilities affected by interest rate fluctuations include bank and cash deposits. 

Interest rate exposure and investment strategies are evaluated by management on a regular basis.  Interest-bearing 
investments are held with reputable banks in order to minimise exposure.  The entity furthermore manages its interest rate 
risk by obtaining competitive rates from different banks.  No significant risks have been identified with regards to interest 
rates. 

Cash flow interest rate risk 

Financial instrument Current interest rate Due in less than a year Due in one to two years 
Trade and other receivables - normal credit terms 10.25% 74,414 - 
Other receivables - normal credit terms 0% 244,483 -
Cash in current banking institutions   5.25%  111,864  - 
Short-term deposits   7.00%  350,643  - 
Trade and other payables 0% 40,997  - 
Other financial assets 0% 629,910  - 
Finance leases 18.00%  51  36 

Foreign exchange risk 

The entity does not hedge foreign exchange fluctuations. 

37. Events after the reporting date 

The Minister of Science and Technology has gazetted the transfer of the NZG, as a going concern, from the NRF to SANBI 
with effect from 1 April 2017.  The transfer was postponed to 1 April 2018 to enable SANBI’s processes and systems to 
accommodate the transfer.  A transfer agreement in this regard was signed by the Department of Science and Technology, 
the Department of Environmental Affairs, SANBI and the NRF.  The NZG will transfer to SANBI on 1 April 2018 in a break-
even financial position. 
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38. Losses due to criminal conduct 

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Stipends paid to invalid volunteers   -  1,779 
Fraudulent travel claims by employee   -  24     

   -  1,803 

The loss incurred due to stipends paid to invalid volunteers in the prior year was reported for criminal investigation and was 
concluded. An approved insurance pay-out of the loss is to be received in 2017/18. 

The loss incurred due to fraudulent claims by an employee in the prior year has been recovered and the employee 
dismissed. 

39. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Other minor expenditure   27  7 
Volunteers paid beyond their contract period   -  583 
Laptops stolen   -  292 
Written off by the NRF   (27)  (882)     

  -  - 

Each of these have been investigated and disciplinary steps have been taken, where necessary.

40. Irregular expenditure 

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Opening balance  3,389  7,533 
Add: Irregular Expenditure - current year  30,460  4,545 
Less: Amounts condoned  (32,019)  (8,689)    

  1,830  3,389  

Analysis of expenditure awaiting condonation per age classification

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Current year  1,136  3,069 
Prior years   694  320    

  1,830  3,389 
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Details of irregular expenditure – current year  Disciplinary steps taken/criminal proceedings 2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Non-compliance with Practice note 8 of 2007/08 Internal disciplinary steps taken   1,008    
Non-compliance with section 44 of the PFMA Internal disciplinary steps taken   2,171   
Non-compliance to Instruction note 3 of 2016/17 Internal disciplinary steps taken   26,826    
Non-compliance to Instruction note 7 of 2017/18 Internal disciplinary steps taken   455        

    30,460

Details of irregular expenditure condoned Condoned by (condoning authority) 2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Non-compliance with Practice note 8 of 2007/08 Internal delegated authority   1,662 
Non-compliance to Treasury Regulation 16A9(d) Internal delegated authority   1,213    
Non-compliance to Instruction note 3 of 2016/17 National Treasury and the Board   26,826    
Non-compliance with section 44 of the PFMA Internal delegated authority   1,891    
Non-compliance to Instruction note 7 of 2017/18 Internal delegated authority   427

32,019

41. Segment information 

General information 

Identification of segments 

The entity is organised and reports to management on the basis of nine business units of the entity.  The segments 
were organised around the type of service delivered.  Management uses these same segments for determining strategic 
objectives. 

Information reported about these segments is used by management as a basis for evaluating the segments’ performance 
and for making decisions about the allocation of resources. The disclosure of information about these segments is also 
considered appropriate for external reporting purposes. 
The Corporate office is regarded as an administrative department, which does not generate economic benefits or have 
service potential. It has subsequently been disclosed as a reconciling item to the entity surplus/deficit.
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Types of goods and/or services by segment 

These reportable segments as well as the goods and/or services for each segment are set out below: 

Reportable segment Goods and/or services

Research and Innovation 
Support and Advancement 
(RISA)

The business unit provides for the promotion and support of research and research capacity development in 
all fields of knowledge and technology, through investing in knowledge, people and infrastructure; developing 
research capacity, and advancing equity and equality, to unlock the full creative potential of researchers; 
assisting with the development of institutional capacity; and, facilitating strategic national and international 
partnerships and knowledge networks.

iThemba Laboratory for 
Accelerator Based Sciences 
(iThemba LABS)

The facility provides advanced, viable, multidisciplinary facilities for training, research and services in the fields 
of sub-atomic nuclear science and applied radiation medicine.

South African Astronomical 
Observatory (SAAO)

SAAO is the national centre for optical and infrared astronomy in South Africa.  Its primary function is to 
conduct fundamental research in astronomy and astrophysics.  SAAO operates SALT, located at its site near 
Sutherland, on behalf of an international consortium and promotes astronomy and astrophysics in Southern 
Africa.

Hartebeesthoek Radio 
Astronomy Observatory 
(HartRAO)

HartRAO focuses its research agenda on stellar evolution, pulars, and masers.  The Space Geodesy 
research uses space-based techniques to study the earth and make a contribution to both astronomy and 
the earth system sciences.  The facility is also used by university students for carrying out research, and it 
also undertakes science awareness programmes for schools and the general public.  HartRAO has been 
incorporated into the newly established South African Radio Astronomy Observatory (SARAO).

South African Institute for 
Aquatic Biodiversity (SAIAB)

SAIAB serves as a research hub for aquatic biodiversity in southern Africa by housing and developing the 
National Fish Collection and associated resource collections as research tools and resources of aquatic 
biodiversity data.  It also generates knowledge on aquatic biodiversity through interactive and collaborative 
scientific research, and disseminates scientific knowledge at all levels. 

South African Agency for 
Science and Technology 
Advancement (SAASTA)

SAASTA is positioned as a science engagement agency in advancing the public awareness, appreciation and 
understanding of science, engineering and technology in South Africa, as well as the integration of science 
awareness activities across the entity. 

National Zoological Gardens 
of South Africa (NZG) 

The NZG is a national facility and an active participant for research in terrestrial biodiversity.  The NZG will be 
officially transferred to the custodianship of the South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI) from 1 April 
2018. 

South African Environmental 
Observatory Network 
(SAEON)

SAEON is a research unit that establishes and maintains nodes (environmental observatories, field stations 
or sites) linked by an information management network to serve as research and education platforms for 
long-term studies of ecosystems that will provide for incremental advances in our understanding of ecosystems 
and our ability to detect, predict and react to environmental change.  An application has been submitted to the 
Minister of Science and Technology to declare SAEON as a national facility.

South African Square 
Kilometre Array (SKA) 

The SKA project is an international effort to build the world’s largest radio telescope, with about a square 
kilometre of collecting area.  Deploying thousands of radio telescopes, in three unique configurations, it 
will enable astronomers to monitor the sky in unprecedented detail and survey the entire sky thousands of 
times faster than any system currently in existence. All existing and future radio astronomy activities are now 
incorporated into a single radio astronomy observatory called the South African Radio Astronomy Observatory 
(SARAO), which includes MeerKAT, KAT-7, AVN, HartRAO and international radio astronomy experiments in 
the SKA site. 
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Segment surplus or deficit, assets and liabilities

2018 RISA iThemba 
LABS SAAO HartRAO SAEON SKA SAIAB SAASTA NZG 

Inter-
segment 

transfers & 
Corporate 

office

Total         

Revenue

Parliamentary grant 469,429 171,099 51,696 27,196 11,658 - 18,277 23,503 65,851  - 838,709 

Ring-fenced income 1,415,282 - 7,903 -  21,000 922,732 8,986 - 7,500 - 2383,403

Designated income 1,045,904 12,958 27,906 2,534  39,864 46,891 3,667 62,734 1,391  - 1,243,849 

Revenue from 
exchange 
transactions

231 63,520 3,301 650  90 7,250 384 1,177 44,108  - 120,711 

Inter-segment 
transfers 10,234 58,703 23,286 15,358  31,713 502 26,455 8,737 29,703 (204,691) - 

Interest revenue 63 3 - -  - 18,942 1 - -  - 19,009

Total segment 
revenue  2,941,143  306,283  114,092  45,738   104,325  996,317  57,770  96,151  148,553   (204,691)  4,605,681 
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R’000

2018 RISA iThemba 
LABS SAAO HartRAO SAEON SKA SAIAB SAASTA NZG 

Inter-
segment 

transfers & 
Corporate 

office

Total         

Corporate office 
revenue 154,687  154,687 

Corporate inter-
segment transfers (33,824) (33,824)             

Total revenue 
reconciling items 120,863  120,863 

Entity's revenue  2,941,143  306,283  114,092  45,738   104,325  996,317  57,770  96,151  148,553   (83,828)  4,726,544

Expenditure            

Salaries and wages  110,137  133,975  66,493  19,547   33,620  156,430  24,590  26,424  84,184   - 655,400

Grants, bursaries 
and other research 
expenditure  

2,608,610 7,767  2,596  1,847   5,528  56,544  3,925  26,643  -   -  2,713,460 

Programme and 
operating expenditure  75,032 137,337  44,792  16,115   29,874 305,262 19,031 40,287 58,807   -  726,537 

Inter-segment 
transfers  158,334  6,273  2,027  1,175   4,480  8,340  444  2,620  1,901   (185,594)  -             

Total segment 
expenditure 2,952,113  285,352  115,908  38,684   73,502  526,576  47,990  95,974  144,892   (185,594)  4,095,397 

Total segmental 
surplus/(deficit) (10,970)  20,931  (1,816)  7,054   30,823  469,741  9,780  177  3,661   (19,097)  510,284

Total revenue 
reconciling items 120,863  120,863 

Corporate office 
expenditure (151,731)  (151,731) 

Corporate inter-
segment transfers 52,921  52,921 

Entity's surplus/
(deficit) for the 
period

(10,970)  20,931  (1,816)  7,054   30,823  469,741  9,780  177  3,661   2,956  532,337 

Opening segment 
accumulated surplus/
(deficit)

(26,811)  8,629  513  (2,051)   (374)  -  927  (316)  -   19,914  431

Transfer from SALT 
fund - - 2,314 - - - - - - - 2,314

Transfer from 
infrastructure fund - 3,188 - - - - - - - - 3,188

Segment net capital 
expenditure  (3,217)  (53,158) (6,643)  (8,673)   (36,633)  (548,561)  (17,245)  (1,846)  (8,084)   -  (684,060) 

Depreciation and 
amortisation  17,156  28,392  8,249  5,277   5,914  78,820  7,219  1,842  4,423   -  157,292 

Corporate office net 
capital expenditure - - - - - - - - - (8,941) (8,941)  

Accumulated 
Surplus/(Deficit) (23,842)  7,982  2,617  1,607   (270)  -  681  (143)  -   13,929  2,561
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R’000

2018 RISA iThemba 
LABS SAAO HartRAO SAEON SKA SAIAB SAASTA NZG 

Inter-segment 
Transfers & 
Corporate 

office
Total         

Assets

Segment assets 1,111,526 333,693 110,448 105,048 129,739 2,300,049 104,485 82,322 38,547 - 4,315,857

Total assets as 
per Statement of 
Financial Position 4,315,857

Liabilities 

Segment liabilities 879,902 69,552 20,001 24,878 72,477 296,416 41,819 59,134 14,676 - 1,478,855
Total liabilities as 
per Statement of 
Financial Position 1,478,855

Segment assets  and liabilities for the RISA segment includes Corporate office assets and liabilities as these are not separately identified or internally reported.

R’000

2017 RISA iThemba 
LABS SAAO HartRAO SAEON SKA SAIAB SAASTA NZG 

Inter-segment 
Adjustments 
& Corporate 

office
Total         

Revenue

Parliamentary grant 448,009 162,951 49,234 25,901 11,103 - 17,407 22,384 62,714 - 799,703

Ring-fenced income 1,340,392 - 2,530 - 14,974 794,299 8,000 - - - 2,160,195

Designated income 1,046,034 19,219 30,076 1,789 9,714 28,742 5,159 67,320 9,117 - 1,217,170

Revenue from 
exchange 
transactions  

702 58,318 3,189 1,004 11 3,559 354 1,149 47,320 - 115,606

Inter-segment 
transfers    27,565 90,293 35,664 37,789 22,996 752 17,927 9,880 25,475 (268,341) -

Interest revenue    39 4 - - - 48,742 1 - - - 48,786

Total segment 
revenue   2,862,741 330,785 120,693 66,483 58,798 876,094 48,848 100,733 144,626 (268,341) 4,341,460

Corporate office 
revenue  177,731 177,731

Corporate inter-
segment transfers  (20,313) (20,313)

Total revenue 
reconciling  items 157,418 157,418

Entity's revenue    2,862,741 330,785 120,693 66,483 58,798 876,094 48,848 100,733 144,626 (110,923) 4,498,878

Expenditure    

Salaries and wages   109,875 126,838 59,551 19,369 30,538 108,488 20,556 23,811 79,368 - 578,394
Grants, bursaries 
and other research 
expenditure 

2,494,313 7,379 3,782 1,478 4,170 47,851 2,721 36,522 - - 2,598,216



NRF Annual Report 2017/18

PART D: ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NRF Annual Report 2017/18 217

2017 RISA iThemba 
LABS SAAO HartRAO SAEON SKA SAIAB SAASTA NZG 

Inter-segment 
Adjustments 
& Corporate 

office
Total         

Programme 
and operating 
expenditure  

86,887 128,964 46,198 16,333 16,477 350,89 14,841 37,673 55,743 - 754,006

Inter-segment 
transfers    195,408 6,517 1,991 1,108 367 4,237 445 2,475 2,624 (215,172) -

Total segment 
expenditure   2,886,483 269,698 111,522 38,288 51,552 511,466 38,563 100,481 137,735 (215,172) 3,930,616

Total segmental 
surplus/(deficit)   (23,742) 61,087 9,171 28,195 7,246 364,628 10,285 252 6,891 (53,169) 410,844

Total revenue 
reconciling items  157,418 157,418

Corporate office 
expenditure   (153,601) (153,601)

Corporate inter-
segment transfers   73,482 73,482

Entity's surplus/
(deficit) for the 
period  

23,742 61,087 9,171 28,195 7,246 364,628 10,285 252 6,891 24,130 488,143

Opening segment 
accumulated 
surplus/(deficit)  

(15,467) 8,521 1,653 677 (2,888) - 1,671 25 157 9,761 4,110

Transfer from SALT 
fund  - - 4,348 - - - - - - - 4,348

Transfer from 
infrastructure fund  - 875 - - - - - - - - 875

Segment net capital 
expenditure  (2,768) (84,994) (21,339) (35,854) (7,695) (429,946) (15,531) (2,304) (9,645) - (610,076)

Depreciation and 
amortisation   15,166 23,140 6,680 4,931 2,963 65,318 4,502 1,711 2,597 - 127,008

Corporate office 
transfers   - - - - - - - 4,377 4,377

Corporate office net 
capital expediture  - - - - - - - - (18,354) (18,354)

Accumulated 
Surplus (Deficit)    (26,811) 8,629 513 (2051) 374 - 927 (316) - 19,914 431

Assets    

Segment assets    1,589,967 247,202 92,516 76,017 28,481 2,104,724 52,405 31,108 24,290 - 4,246,710

Total assets as 
per Statement of 
Financial Position

4,246,710

Liabilities    

Segment liabilities    1,348,014 3,994 2,568 2,902 2,043 570,833 (481) 8,096 4,080 - 1,942,049

Total liabilities as 
per Statement of 
Financial Position

1,942,049
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Segment assets and liabilities for the RISA segment includes Corporate 
office assets and liabilities as these are not separately identified or 
internally reported.

Measurement of segment surplus or deficit, assets 
and liabilities

Basis of accounting for transactions between 
reportable segments 

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as 
those described in the summary of significant accounting 
policies. 

The nature of differences between the measurements 
of the reportable segments’ surplus or deficit and the 
entity’s surplus or deficit and discontinued operations

Inter-segment transfers: segment revenue and segment 
expense include revenue and expense arising from 
transfers between segments. Such transfers are eliminated 
on consolidation. 

The Corporate office is regarded as an administrative 
department and is a reconciling item to the entity’s surplus/
deficit.

The nature of differences between the measurements 
of the reportable segments’ assets or liabilities and the 
entity’s assets or liabilities

There are no differences between the measurements of the 
reportable segments’ assets or liabilities in comparison with 
that of the entity. 

Information about geographical areas 

The entity’s operations are in different regions around the 
country.  However, geographical areas are not used by the 
entity for decision-making purposes and information is not 
reported or collected in such a manner. 

42. Budget differences 

Material differences between budget and actual 
amounts 

The budget is prepared well in advance of the financial 
year.  Significant differences can occur between the budget 
compared with the actual results.  The entity normally 
receives additional contract income during the financial 
year and funds carried forward are only confirmed at year-
end, thus subsequent to the preparation of the budget. 

Income 

The decrease in entrance fees at the NZG is due to the 
poor economic climate and a decline in the use of the 
facility.  Interest income decreased mainly within the SKA 
project, due to the accelerated spending of cash reserves 
and the delays in income received from the DST.  Higher 
contract income is attributable to additional funding from 
the Department of Trade and Industry (dti) to close out the 
THRIP programme and the Department of Higher Education 
& Training for the Scarce Skills Development Fund.   

Expenditure 

The decrease in employees’ remuneration is due to the 
reclassification of a portion to cost of sales for isotope 
sales as well as delays in the recruitment of personnel 
for two projects at SAEON. Depreciation increased in line 
with increased capital expenditure at iThemba LABS and 
SARAO. Grants, bursaries and other research expenditure 
increased as the incentive funding for rated researchers 
exceeded the budget as a result of the cost of downscaling 
this programme. In addition, the reprioritisation from the 
SARChi programme resulted in additional funding being 
allocated for human capacity development.  And lastly, the 
grants, bursaries and other research expenditure increased 
in line with additional contract income received for the 
THRIP programme and for the Scarce Skills Development 
Fund.
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ACEP African Coelacanth Ecosystem Programme
AIMS African Institute of Mathematical Science
AISA Africa Institute of South Africa
ALICE A Large Ion Collider Experiment
AVN African VLBI Network
BCM Business continuity management 
BI Business intelligence 
CEO Chief Executive Officer
CERN European Organization for Nuclear Research (Organisation européenne pour la 

recherchenucléaire)
CLS&IR Corporate Legal Services and Industrial Relations 
CoE Centre of Excellence
CoEs Centres of Excellence
DAFF Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries
DEA Department of Environmental Affairs
DHET Department of Higher Education and Training
DST Department of Science and Technology
ERM Enterprise risk management 
ERP Energy Research Programme 
GRAP Generally Recognised Accounting Practice 
GRI Global Reporting Initiative 
HartRAO Hartebeesthoek Radio Astronomy Observatory
HCD Human capacity development
HEI Higher education institution
HR Human resources
ICSU International Council for Science
ICT Information and communication technology
IKS Indigenous knowledge systems
IT Information technology
iThemba LABS iThemba Laboratory for Accelerator Based Sciences
JINR Joint Institute for Nuclear Research
KAT Karoo Array Telescope
KPI Key performance indicator
MTEF Medium-Term Expenditure Framework
MTSF Medium Term Strategic Framework
NASA National Aeronautics and Space Administration
NASSP National Astrophysics and Space Science Programme
NDP National Development Plan 2030

ACRONYMS19
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NECSA Nuclear Energy Corporation of South Africa
NEPAD New Partnership for Africa’s Development
NRDS National Research and Development Strategy
NRF National Research Foundation
NSI National Innovation System
NSW National Science Week 
NZG National Zoological Gardens
PFMA Public Finance Management Act
R&D Research and development
RIMS Research Information Management System
RISA Research and Innovation Support and Advancement
SAAO South African Astronomical Observatory
SAASTA South African Agency for Science and Technology Advancement
SADC Southern African Development Community
SAEON South African Environmental Observation Network
SAIAB South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity
SALT Southern African Large Telescope
SANBI South African National Biodiversity Institute
SANParks South African National Parks
SARAO South African Radio Astronomy Observatories
SARChI South African Research Chairs Initiative
SARIMA Southern African Research and Innovation Management Association
SET Science, engineering and technology
SKA Square Kilometre Array
SKA SA Square Kilometre Array South Africa
SRIG Strategic Research Infrastructure Grant
STEMI Science, technology, engineering, mathematics and innovation 
The dti Department of Trade and Industry
THRIP Technology and Human Resources for Industry Programme
VLBI Very Long Baseline Interferometry
WRC Water Research Commission
WSP Workplace skills plan 
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Advancing knowledge. 
Transforming lives. 
Inspiring a nation.
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